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DIXONS CARPHONE
WHAT WE DO

A LEADING OMNICHANNEL
RETAILER OF TECHNOLOGY
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Dixons Carphone pic is a leading We are the market [eader in the UK
omnichannel retailer of technology and Ireland, throughout the Nordics
products and services, operating and in Greece, employing 35,000
through 829 stores and 16 websites in capable and committed colleagues

7 countries. We Help Everyone Enjoy across the Group. By offering the hest
Amazing Technology, however they range of products, credit and services
choose to shop with us, through digital-first omnichannel we

arg building customey relationships

that are stickier and more valuable
Q over ime. This will benefit our
www.dixonscarphone.com/investors  gustomers, our colleagues, out

Far the latest news visit our website. sharehoiders and suciety.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Revenue
= 10,344m
+2%

Free Cash flow
T 438
+302%

T

[ 2019720 210,170 |

[2019720 | 2109m

[2018/19 £10,433m |

[2018/19 £15am |

Adjusted profit before tax

2 1506m

+34%

2020/21 £156m
2019/20 £116m

J 2018/19 (Pre-IFRS 16}

339 |

Adjusted EPS

10.7p

+60%

2020/21 10.7p
57

Statutory profit before tax
s 2 .
Q&) ) ﬂ
2020/21 [JJJf £33m

2016/20  (£140m)
[2018/19 (Pre-IFRS 15} (£259m)
Statutory EPS
F 2020/21 | Gp
2019/20 (13.8p)
{ 2018/19 (Pre-IFRS 18) {26.8p)

[2018/19 Pra-IFRS 16) 23.2p]

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

!_!\ 3 See our Key Performance Indicators
on pages 54 to 55

Kept colieagues safe and provided
customers with vital technology
during the pandemic

Adapted quickly to overcome
challenges of muitiple enforced
store closures

Strang trading across all markets;
share gains in every open channel

Electricals online sales growth
+103% to £4.7bn

Further development of colleague
tools and training; all invested in our
success through share-award schemes

New commitments to reach net zero
emissions by 2040 and to help end
digital poverty in the UK

Our Business
Model

6

Y
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Strategy

in Action

Performance
Review

56
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OUR VISION

WE HELP EVERYONE
TECHNOLOGY

As a market leading consumer electrical, Customers find technology incredibly We put our purpose at the heart of what
mobile phone and services retailer, our axciting, but also confusing and we do, using our expertise, scale and
vision drives gverything we da in all axpensive. Our vision goes beyond reach, 1o bring technology 1o everyone.
countries in which we operate. ensuring customers can choosea,

T ts, colleagues, capatilities
afford and enjoy the nght tech. he assets, coleagy apabilties and

scale that we have means that no ong is
better placed than Dixons Carphone to
help customers de all this.

(QUR BUSINESS MODEL

O

CHOOSE > AFFORD %

We help customers choose the right Customers find techrolagy exciting We help customers make the most of

technology. across a huge range but confusing and expersive. We help their amazing tech through our unique
of products and through stores or evaryong afford the technology they services. We get the product working.
onling. Our capable and commutted want, We won't be beaten on price keap it working. melp customers make
collzaguss provide expert advice to and we can spread tha cost of tech ihe most out of it and at the end of the
heip customers make the right cnoice. through tha responsitle use of credit. lfecycle, trade in and recycle products.

We are uniguely positioned to he's
! custorners throughout ther Iife. ana by
doing so we will drive relationships that
are iong-lasting and more valuable to
our customers and 1o us
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OUR STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

Technaology plays a more important rele in our lives teday than ever. We provide the vital technology
our custamers need, to keep them connected with loved ones, their families fed, clean, healthy and
entertained, to work from home and home-school thelr children,

Our strategy sets out to buid on our strengths to help everyone enjoy amazing technalogy.

Executing on these prionties will enable the Group to achieve an EBIT margin of at least 4.0°% and to generate free cash flow of more
than C1bon over 2015/20 10 2023/24.

1) OMNICHANNEL (]) CREDIT

Omnichannel is our way of
bringing the strengths of all

our channels, stores and online,
to all our customers, however
they choose to shop.

Read more on page 14.

SERVICES

We are uniquely positioned to
pravide services to our customers
to help them enjoy technology for
life, We can provide this range
of services al scale in ways no

competitor can match.

OUR VALUES

= Read more on page 18.

Credit appeals to customers
as technology is exciting but
expensive, and credit makes
it more affordabte by allowing
them to spread the cost.

N

i, Read more on page Z0.

MOBILE

Mobile is essential technology
for customers. We are on
track %o restore mobile
to profitability and cash
generation.

- Read more on page 21.

Our values unite us, helping vs achieve our strategic objectives.

We put our
customers first

We putihe customer at the
heart of everything we do,

we are passionate about technology
and proud 1o scll it 1o customers to
help then throughout therr ives.,

We welcome diversity

and are always learning. growing,
developing, having fun and
celebrating our sUCcesses logether
to deliver as part of one business.

We are sligned to our vision.
clear and accountable on our goals
and are super helpful We are all
awners and spend every pound

as if it is our cwn
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THE IMPORTANCE OF TECHNOLOGY
TO OUR CUSTOMERS

THE AMAZING
WE SELL

IN OUR
CUSTOMERS’
LIVES

Sales have been strong
in all markets as we
helped customers
choose, afford and enjoy
the vital technology
we sell to keep them
connected with loved
ones, their families
fed, clean, healthy and
entertained, to work
from home and home-
school their children.
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OUR BUSINESS

AT A GLANCE

DIXONS CARPHONE IS A LEADING OMNICHANNEL RETAILER
OF TECHNOLOGY PRODUCTS AND SERVICES, OPERATING
THROUGH 829 STORES AND 16 WEBSITES IN 7 COUNTRIES.
WE HELP EVERYONE ENJOY AMAZING TECHNOLOGY,
HOWEVER THEY CHOOSE TO SHOP WITH US.

FURTHER
INFORMATION

Qur strategy

Read more on our
Strategy in the

‘Strategy in Action’

section.

I
& Read more
on page 14.

We are the market leader in the UK and
{reland, throughout the Nordics and

in Greece, employing 35,000 capable and
committed colleagues across the Group.

Our full range of services and support makes it gasy
for our customers 1o discover, choose, afford and enjay
the right technglogy for them, throughout therr [ves.
The Group's operations are supported by a sourcing
office n Hong Kong. state-of-tha-art reparr facilities and
an extensive cistnbution network enabling delivery to
stores and homes.

Our brands include Currys PCWorld in the UK and
Ireland as well as Carphong Warehouse and iD Mobile
in the UK, where our services are provided through
Team Knowhow; Elkjop, Elgiganten and Giganttl in the
Nordics; and Kotsovolos in Greece,

829

Stores

1.4 st

Selling space

10

Websites

7

Countries

50,000

Colleagues

&/

Distribution Facilities

. Currysf'\PCWorId A9

Carphonhe Warchouse
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UK and Ireland International

Our main brands include: Qur main brands include:

*  Currys PCWorld - Nprrates 314 stores across s Elkjup and Elkjep Phonehouse - Norway
the UK and Ireland * Elgiganten and Elgiganten Phone House —

* Carphone Warehouse - Operates within our Sweden and Denmark,
Currys PCWorld stores *  Gigantti - Finland

* Team Knowhow - Qur service brand sets up or installs » Infocare - Largest consumer electrical repair
over 2m products each year company in Nordics

s iD Mobile is our MVNO offering innovative and flexible e  Kotsovolos — Greece.
propositions.

BRANDS BRANDS

The next 12 months will see Currys PGWorld, Carphone
Warehouse and Team Knowhow become one brand, Currys.

Currys @PCWorld ELKJOP> GIGANTTI)
] - =
A B) @ KATEOBOAOE ELGIGANTEN
i) KATIOBOAOL >
Stores Logistics facilities and space Stores Logistics facilities and space
Over 3m sq ft including 190 Over 2m sqg ft
frenchige stores
Colleagues Market share Colleagues Nordics Market share

including 13,500 retail inclucking 6,500
colleagues and 5,500 retail colleagues
service colleagues

21000 \ 14,000 \

REVENUE 2020/21

Performance . ; PN Bl Performance
Review : I ‘ g R ’ B Review
b on page &5, ' ‘ : on page 60.
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OUR BUSINESS
MODEL

Our business model is to help everyone to choose, afford and enjoy technology however they want

to shop.

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS

MODERN OMNICHANNEL
NETWORK

Qur network of over 800 stores are
primarily well located in retail parks,

well invested to provide an excellent
customer experience and aligned with
our online digital channels to provide
a true omnichannel experience.

LARGE AND FLEXIBLE
INFRASTRUCTURE

Our extensive infrastructure can be
flexed to support sales and provide
services in any channel and wherever
is most convenient tor our customers.

ESTABLISHED AND
WELL LOVED BRANDS

Each of our brands has a long history
as the cystomers' preferred brand in
all our markets.

Our move to a single brand in the UK&!
will make it even easier for customers to
see and experience us as number one.

STRONG SUPPLIER
RELATIONSHIPS

Qur strong relationships with suppliers
enable us to provide the best range of
relevant products at unbeatable prices.

CAPABLE AND
COMMITTED COLLEAGUES

Our colleagues are our greatest

advantage in helping customers
choose, afford and enjoy the
technology that is right for them.

WHAT WE DO

Q) cusTomERs

We help customers make the most of their amazing tech through our
umigue services, We get product working, keep it working, help
customers make the most out of it and at the end of the Tifecycle,
trade in and recycle products. We arg uniquely positioned to

help customers throughout their life, and by doing so we

drive relationships that are long-lasting and maore valuable

to our gustomers and 1o us.

GET IT WORKING
Installation and sot up

KEEP IT WORKING
Protection and repals

MAKE MOST QUT OFIT
Connactivity and subscriptions

END OF LIFE
Trade in and recycle

®

AFFORD

Customers find technology exciting but confusing and
expensive. We help everyone afford the technology they
need, We won't be beaten on price and we can spread
the cost of tech through the responsibie use of credit.
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Customers are the heart of everything we do. Constant focus
on improving customer experience is key to achieving our
objectives and delivering value for all stakeholders,

\/
Y O’
CHOOSE

We help customers choose the right technology.
across a huge range of products and through
our stores or online. Our capable and committed
colleagues provide expert face-to-face advice to
help customers make the right choice,

RIGHT PRODUCTS

Large and relevant range of preducts including
more sustainable products in every market
EXPERT ADVICE

Qur 35,000 highly trained, capable and
commitied colleagues provide expert advice

10 help customers shop where and when

they want

OMNIGHANNEL

We help customers choose the right technology,
from the best range of products and through
stores or enline

SHOPLIVE

24/7 live video shopping service

RIGHT PRICE AND PRICE MATCH
“We wan't be beaten on price”

CREDIT
Spread the cost of products using credit

See owr sustainahliity approam' =

VALUE CREATION
FOR STAKEHOLDERS

SATISFYING OUR
CUSTOMERS

Customers need the amazing
technology we sell to keep connected,
healthy, productive and entertained.
Helping them choose from the vast
range of products and making sure they
can get the most out of it is at the heart
of what we do.

ENGAGING OUR
COLLEAGUES

We can only keep our customers
happy if we have happy colleagues.
Paying colleagues fairly, building
skills for life and making all colleagues
shareholders are essential

1o our long term success.

GENERATING GROWTH
FOR OUR SUPPLIERS

Cur scale and our stores provide an
omnichannel customer experience
that our suppliers can find nowhere
else, and because of that we have
strong relationships with all the major
manufacturers.

SUPPORTING OUR
ENVIRONMENT
AND COMMUNITIES

We care for the world around us.

We are proud to be a leading retail
repairer and recycler of tech in all our
markets. We will reduce our impact
on the globe while investing in our
communities and cause.

DELIVERING RETURNS
FOR OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Our business is cash generative and
we ensure sustainability of this cash
generation through careful capital
deployment,

09
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CHAIR’S
STATEMENT

DIXONS GARPHONE EXISTS
TO HELP EVERYONE ENJOY
AMAZING TECHNOLOGY

Wher we came into the year with all

of cur UK stores shut by government
mandate, many commentators doubted
our business would survive and our share
price reflected the huge uncertainty and
challenges our busingss faced.

This meant making some difficult
decisions, including placing cver 16,500
colleagues on furlough. suspending large
parts of our transformation programme
and cutting back on all discretionary
costs. Qur Board and senior management
took temporary pay cuts. No bonwses or
dividends were paid.

However. the pandemic underscored

how vital our products and services are 10
keeping customers fed. clean, entertained
and connected across all the countries we
serve, We adapted fast to keep customers
and cofleagues safe, do the right thing

for society, and secure the future of our
pusingss. We can now look forward 1o the
start of the 2021,22 financial year from a
position of strength and optimism that few
thought possizle 12 months ago.

44

It is because of the
efforts of all of our
pcecple that we exit

the year in a much
better position. ..

vyith cur transformation
crogramme now hack
up to speed. . the
DUSINESS can genuinely
ook forward with

a lot of optimism.”

Lord Livingston of Parkhead
Chair of the Board
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Customers

With stores shut, our UK business moved
from being 25% online o 100% cnline
overnight. This allowed us to continue to
help our customers vath the technology
they needed but this jarring change in
our operations created some gustomer
service problems that took a period to
resolve. We moved our contact centre
colleagues to home working, trained 700
colleagues to jon our customer services
team and invaested in the customer
experience, ncluding spending £20m

in additional resources for contact
cenfres. By the year end. things had

got significantly better. Qur call centre
answer rate improved hugely together
with customer service. Our Net Promoter
Score has improved back to pre-
pandemic levels. There is mare to do, but
mnovations such as zero contact order &
collect and Shoplive 24/7 video shopping
are loved by our custamers and are a
great part of our ommchanngl future.

We did not see the same degree of store
closures outside the UK except in Greece
and despite the chailenges, we powered
ahead in the Nordics. A great innovatior,
our Custemer Club. grew spectacuarly
and now has over 40% of Nardics
households signed up.

Colleagues

The role of our colleagues in this
transformation has been and will be
critical. We are investing heavily in traming
and support systems 1o help them serve
our customers even better,

We wiil invest nearly £25m over two years
in skills, weltbeing and reward programmes
for UK colleagues. During the vear, some
600,000 hours of colleague learming were
consurned across ihe Group n technical
skitts and customer service.

In Cctober. we will ncrease by 9% the
minimum rate of pay for almaost 12,000
hourly paid colleagues in the UK, taking
the rate up to that set by the Living
Wage Foundation.

Our highty commended share award
scheme seeks to make all our colleagues
shareholders and attows them to both
contribute and share in the success of
our company.

GOVERNANCE

Suppliers

We demonstrated our value to our
suppliers in this cmnichanne!l waorld
through our scale, stores and colleague
expertise. Our strong relationsthips allow
us o provide a wide range at unbeatable
prices and exclusive tochnelogy products.
Qutaide of the product area, | wantito
thank some of our banks such as NatWest
and BNF Paribas who aiso demonstrated
real partnership throughout the pandemic.

Society

We are grateful for government support
received during the pandemic. it was
used as intended to preserve jobs and
we haven't made any Cowd-related
redundancies. However, given our strong
financial positon, we reimbursed all
government support for the £73m of
furlough paid to UK and reland colleagues
N the vear and also repaid £144m of VAT
deferral early, total payment of £217m.

Qur purpose, 10 help everyone enjoy
amazing technology, goes oeyond
ensunng customers can choose, afford
and enjoy the nght technology.

During the year. we pledged £1m to
nelp close the digital poverty gap and
tackled 1solation among older people
whilst committing o further reducing
our environmental impact.

We launched our first 'Go Greener'
marketing campaign and have
collaborated with The British Retail
Conserburn on a Climate Action Roadmap
1o achieve Net Zero by 2040 - a target
also set for the Group, We've introduced
our first electric vans as we move to
electnc vehickes by 2030 as part of Climate
Group EV100. We have mantained our
FTSE4Good status, scored in the top
decile of 1ISS's ESG Environment rating
and set out our first disclosures against
the Taskforce for Climate-related Financial
Disclosures Framework.

Our colleagues have a vital role to play
here, and we have introduced two new
environmental metrics into cur annual
bonus scorecard from FY2021/22 to align
our ESG goals with our reward framewark.

Shareholders

We appreciate the engagement and
support of our shareholders, Whilst we've
had to make some difficult decisions in
secunng our future, we close the year with

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

a significantly strengthened balance sheet.
new debt facilties and remain on track

for our medium-term guidance of more
than £1bn of cumulative free cash flow
over FY2019/20 to FY2023/24. In addition
{am plaased to report the resumption of
our dividend of 3.0p por share for the full
202021 year.

Board

The Board has been a great source of
counsel and experience for hoth me and
the management team. | would tike to thank
Jonny Mason, our Group Chigf Financial
Officer, who will be leaving the company
this Summer. He leaves a business in a
much better position than when he jomed.
I'wauld also ke to welcome Bruce Marsh,
whio will join in July, to the role.

Looking ahead

As part of our transformation, we
announced in May that we would re-brand
the various parts of our UK and Ireland
business to the much loved “‘Currys’

by October. We will also change the
corporate brand to Currys ple following
the AGM in September.

The Board also took the decision to
investigate the potential of a partial IPO

of our very successful Nordics business.
There was alot of enthusiasm in the
Nordc market for an IPO, recognising
Elkjop's strong position across the region.
However, the Group's streng financial
position and the growth potental of the
business have led us to decide that full
ownership remainsg the best alternative.

Cur management team led by Alex
Baidock has done a remarkable job in very
difficult circumstances. | am truly grateful
for their tenacity. nnovation and care for
our colleagues. itis because of the efforts
of all of our people that we exit 2020/21

in a much better position, We now have

a true omnichannel business that 1s a
market leader wherever it operates. With
our transformatian programme back up to
spead and more than £150m cash at the
year end, the business can genunely look
forward with a lol of optimism.

ool

Lord Livingston of Parkhead
Chair of the Board
29 June 2021

1
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
STATEMENT

STRONG PERFORMANCE IN
A CHALLENGING YEAR

The last year has been extraordinary and challenging with
unprecedented national lockdowns and enforced store closures
in the UK, Ireland, Greece, Penmark and paris of Norway.

Throughout the pandemic our priorities
have been to kesp our colleagues and
custemers safe, and to help customers
with the vital technology they need 1o
keep thermn connected with loved ones,
therr familes fed, clean and entertained,
0 work from home and to home-gchog
their children.

To do this. and restiicted by enforced
store closures, we transformed our

operations and services aimost avernight,

ncluding operating our UK and Greek

businesses as cnline-only retallers for
the first ume in thair higtory. We were
able to do so because of our hard work
pre-pandemic to build a stranger onlne
arm 1o our business. Our Investments n
a bigger range, unbeatable prces. better
availability. improved delivery options
and performance, and a higher capacity
techrology piatform, all pad off. We
Built on thig with innovation during the
pandemic. introducing zero-contact
one-hour order & collect and ShoplLive,
our 24/7 live video shapping service.

11

This has been an
extracrdinary year
for our business
and scciety, and
our coileagues
have stepped up
maghificently to

the exceptional
pressures Covid-19
nas presented.”

Alex Baldock
Chiet Executive
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With heightened demand came
unprecedented disruption in customer
service, especially in customer support.
With the enforced closure of our contact
centres, we had 1o develop instant work-
from-home solutions. and recruit heawly,
ncluding the transfer of over 700 store
colleagues who volunteered to help meet
demand. Ther work has been rewarded
by the recovery of customer satisfaction 1o
flat {or better) year-on-year for the full year.

These actions, together with haightened
dernand for technology, allowed us 1o
generate strong and sustained sales
growth in every market. We saw growth
in every major product category, but
computng was the standout performer
as people adjusted to home working.
learning and entertainment.

Despite the impact of the pandemig,
we're a stronger business than a year ago.
We've gained share i all open channels.
our onkne business has more than
doubled. we've gained millions of new
customers and our Mobile transformation
has been highly cash generative. Our
sales and profits are up healthily in the
year and our halance sheet position has
matenatly improved. From net debt of
£(204)m a year ago, we ended the year
with £169m of net cash alongside lower
pensicn and lease labkilties and new
financing fachities in place to Aprit 2025.

We've also contnued to streamling and
simpldy the business, with difficult but
necessary actions taken to exit Carphone
Warehouse Ireland and Dixons Travel.

Nane of this would have been possible
without the outstanding commitment
and skilt of our 35,000 colleagues.
They've shown remarkable resilience and
resourcefulness in testing circumstances.
Capable and committed colleagues are
at the heart of cur agenda for a reason:
happy colleagues make for happy
customers, and we continue to invest in
the skills, wellbeing. systems. tools and
processes 1o help colleagues do their job
well. WeTre recognising thelr exceptional

GOVERNANCE

work through fair reward: we have
committed to increasmg minimum hourly
wages for almost 12,000 UK colleagues
from October (to at least current real bving
wage levels) and continue o make all
colleagues shargholders, havng granted
share awards to an additional 7,000
colleagues during the year. Our colleagues
have recegnised all this progress in
sharply increased engagement scores.

We've remained mindfut of our
respensibilities to all stakeholders. We've
increased support to our chanty partners,
including a £1m donation to "Digital
Access for All' 1o tackle the digital dwvide.
We've paid all our suppliers and landlords.
made all pension contributions on tme
and in full, and reimbursed all government
support for the £73m of furlough paid

to UK and fretand colleagues during the
year. We'rg also restarting the payment

of dmvidend to shareholders.

We believe that Covid-19 has structurally
increased the size of the technology
market. Hybnd working will become
normal. and in-home entertaimment will
stay bigger. More tme at home means
more usage. and more customers’
eyes have been opened to what new
technology can do, both of which point
o faster replacement, A larger installed
base means more upgrades. repairs and
recycling and means more opportunity
to sell complementary products and
services. Technology, in short. is
playing a gger, more important role

in many milions cf lives, and accounts
for an accordingly higher share of
wallet. We're not alone in this view: our
partners, some of the world's leading
technology suppliers, believe, as we
do, that technology is now an essential
(and sustainably larger} category for
CONSUMErs.

As the leading omnichannel retailer of
technology products and services in all
our markets, we are ideally positioned
1o capitalise on this apportunity, and will
make sure we da 30 by continuing our

FINARCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

transformation. The coming year 15 the
final year of accelerated investment. [t
wiil see a step change to cur consumer
websites in the UK and Nordics, with a
rachcally easier and ncher online customer
experence. We'll continue Yo scale

10 Shnplive, and improve our oredit
offers across the Group. In the UK, we'l
be launching an exciting new mobile
proposition and we're moving to one
brand - Currygs. Under this brand we'll
contnue to make it easier for customers
o choose, afford and enjoy amazing
technology, however they want to shop.

The combination of & structural market
tailwind, our stores returning to full
trading and the execution of these
transformational programmes mean we
also expect future market share gains.
provding stronger revenue growth
prospects for our business over the
medium term.

Alongside this. we expect improvements in
our profitabyity to come through after this
year as we eliminate Mobile losses and
complete the transition t© One Business.
We see greater opportunities to create
more value in all cur markels, including

n the Nordics and the Group's capital
position has alzeady been significantly
strengthened. We've therefore decided
to keep our strong Nordics business as a
fully owned part of this Group and will not
be pursuing a partial IPO.

These results. and the plentiful progress
pehind them, demonstrate why I'm more
confident than ever that we're on the right
path to create a world class business for
colleagues, customers, shareholders and
society. | am privileged and excited to be
part of it.

W

Alex Baldock
€hief Executive
29 June 2021

13
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STRATEGY IN ACTION
OMNICHANNEL

Omnichannel is our way of bringing the strengths of all our
channels, stores and online, to all our customers, however

they may be shopping.

OMNICHANNEL =

Our omnichannel capabilities have been tested as never before. We innovated and improved our offer
at unprecedented speed, driving our already large enline business to grow significantly faster than

the market.

Across the Group, we landed multiple 'mprovements 1o the
website, app and our stores to deliver a better experience for
customers. These enabled Electricals online sales 1o more than
double, resulting in additional sales of aimost £2.4bn in the year,

We have achieved this through delivering cur plan for stronger
online growth we first set out in December 2018. Alsc, we
have grown our anline range without compromising availability,
sharpenad our pricing and madg it easier © shop.

But it's the combination of our stores and online waorking
together that customers value the most. Customers in stores
can access our full range online for delivery to their homes via
our Store Mode tablets. This allows every store, whatever its size

STORE BENEFITS

* Face-to-face expert advice =
* Techdemos

Full range of services

and stock, 1o offer our full range 1o every customer. Meanwhile,
customers can order onling and collect instore, often within

an howr. Customers onling can alsc use our in-store services
1o get this tech working, keep it working (repain). trade it in,
and recycle it.

We now have strong foundations in omnichannel but there
is a lot more 1o go for here. We wil continue to buld on our
progress, as demonstrated Dy innovations like Shoplive.

This service brings the best of stores {face-to-face advice
from trusted experts) to customers online, Gustomers prefer
this to unassisted online sales and we like Shoplive as it

is an innovation competitors will struggle to copy at scale.

ONLINE BENEFITS

»  24x7 .
=  Engaging content
=  Full range of products

Convenient
*  HNext day delivery

OMNICHANNEL: BEST OF BOTH

CUSTOMER IN-STORE

Store colleagues can offer customers
our full range, via tablets in store
(Store Mode). We are never out of stock.

CUSTOMER ONLINE
Customers can get their tech right now
as stores give quick and easy access
to products.

SHOPLIVE

Access to the same expert advice
online as in store, via video chat.

LAUNCHED 1HR ORDER & COLLECY,

TRANSACTIONAL IN STORE TABLETS

UK Onfine in Store Sales

+/6%

Nordic O&C Sales

+85%

CONTACTLESS PICK UP + VERTUAL QUEUING

LAUYNGHED SHOPLIVE

UK 0&C Sales

+112%

Colleagues supporting ShopLive customers

>2,800
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Most customers prefer 1o shob both
onlire and in-store, this was true even
in the midst of a global pandemic.”

Mark Allsop
Chief Operating Officer

SHOPPING GHANNEL
PREFERRED BY UK CUSTOMERS

B sBoth online and In-store
M in-store only

Online only

20%
38%
Pre-Covid

42%

Source: Dixens Carpnone Corsumer
Irsige

SE
ZSErs A

&

£4.704m

Electricals online sales

+103% 4

40%

51% Mid-Covid

9%

Source; Dions Garrhene Corsurnees
Insignt Survey Puret el
used 1In Lz Bese:
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STRATEGY IN ACTION
OMNICHANNEL CONTINUED

By making it easier for customers, we grow the revenue that is generated by customers shopping
across more than a single channel.

Progress in 2020/21 Future priorities

* Inthe year. we provided customers an uninterrupted +  New omnichannel website for Currys co.uk that will drive an
anfing service even whean shaps were closed. This eagier shopping expenence for our customers
generated online sales of £4.7on. +103%, year on year o Grow ShopLive in all markets

¢ We launched and rolled out ShopLive, our market leading «  Roliout our "Next Generation Retair” platform to Nordic

online live shopping service. We have trained over 2.800
colleagues, and carried out over 2.8m calls in the year.
See case study on page 17 ‘

+  Order & collect from store within ong hour launched
including virtual gueuing and contactless coliection.
In the UK it was 30" of online sales when stores were
open {22%1n 2019/20Q). In Nordics it grew to 41% of orders
from 39% in 2019/20)

customers, creating a more searmless omrchannel experience.

The next 12 months will ses g improsens
N our webhsites, we are nal anywhere close 1o

our potental

* Inthe UK, Grder Online In-Store’ sales, where our in-siore
colleagues sell customers products from the cnline rarge.
arew by +78%, despite sales from this being zero in four
months of the yvear.

Andy Gamble
Chief Technology Officer

Electricals online sales

A 704m
+103%

2020/21 £4,704m
2019/20 £2.318m

Winning online
Much of the growth we have generated 1s through getting the basics of retal night, we have extended our praduct ranges,
improved our availability, made sure we are on the money on price and Improved the customer experience.

i

Larger range
across the Group

UK

Total SKUs: 18,000 (+50% YoY)
Small Box Online Orders: +154%

Nordics

More than 100,000 SKUs {including
marketplace) and still growing

UK

Number One for availability of stock
1hr erder & coilect from stores

Nordics

System changes for faster and
more flexible deliveries being
rolled out

nvested in price
Clear price promise:
You won't get it cheaper

UK
Price 97-102% vs competitors
(vs: 105% in 2018}

Nordics
Price <100%-102% vs competitors

investing in the
customer experience

UK

Detvery Customer Satisfaction:
65, +5pts vs 2019/20

Nordics

Delivery Customer Satisfaction:
86, +2pts vs 2019/20
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SHOPLIVE

24/7 live video shopping service

Shoplive puts instore experts in front of onling customers in
a striking example of how orline and stores can be stronger
together, for everyone’s benefit.

The customer can get expert advice they cannot get from
unassisted online competitors without leaving their scfa. The
colleague can keep selling, evan when the store is quieter,
which is good for their earning power and sustains the viability
of their store. The colleague can also build skills in a way that
would be out of reach if they just served customers walking

in off the street. Customers like it too, they are four times as L .
likely to buy something, spend over 50% mare, have much If I visit a store for a technology purchase it
higher customer satisfaction scores, and are likelier to repeat I8 for the staff expertise rather than the feel
purchase than an unassisted online customer. The bigger and experience, so havmg that need met

Shoplive gets, the better it gets. The more customers and . .
colleagues on it, the more often custorners are connected without needlng to travel from my home

L o
with the rignt expert colleague, the better the service, the offers significant benefits
higher the extra sales, the less spare capacity ameng store .
colleagues, and the more profitabls it is. Retail Week

CUSTOMER BENEFITS COLLEAGUE BENEFITS BUSINESS BENEFITS

Face-to-face advice from expert National reach for their skills: Benefit vs online unassisted:

colleagues online as well as in store. * can develop specialism e 4x conversion

More expert help: access 1o national = higher earning opportunity *+  55% higher ATV

pool of specialists. Supports store ecenomics: Use of in-store downtime to sell nationally:

* increased job security colleague costs more efficient.

. Supports store economics and national network.
Customer rating Trained colleagues -
Competition cannot match at scale:

Z_]- 6/6 ? BOO * 20,000 expert colleagues; and
o — 3

* 829 stages (stores); Network benefits
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STRATEGY IN ACTION

SERVICES

We are uniquely positioned to provide services to our customers
to help them enjoy technology for life. We can provide this range
of services at scale in ways no competitor can match.

SERVICES ©

We aim to grow the number of customers and proportion of sales that use our valued services.

Progress in 2020/21

*  We have helped customers make the most of
their amazing tech through our unigue services

¢ 8% of UK sales had a Service attached, down over
10% from 2019/20 due 10 the impact of store closures

* |nthe UK, our 1,350-person repair team fixed over
1 million preducts, including nearly 350,000 computing
and vigion repairs, over 370,000 mobile phones and
more than 280,000 white goods repairs, most of these

n customers' homes

*  Nordics Customer Club continues o grow, and we had
5.4m members at the end of the year. Club contributed
33% of sales, well up on the 23% in 2019/20.

UK and Ireland Services

GETIT

WORKING

Instaliation

* 16.6m big-box,
two-person deliveries

s §.4m installations in
homes, +61% YoY

Setup
» 100,000 prodkuct set ups

KEEP IT
WORKING

Protection

» 8.6m insurance and
warranty plans

Repair

» Europe's largest
electrical product
repair centre

¢ 1m repairs

& 270 in-home technicians

Future priorities
Increase proportion of orders that are 'right first tme’

L3

and speed up issue resolution

Use Customer Club data and insight this gives us to
improve personalsed communication and strengthen

customer relationships

New omnichannel platform to make it easier to offer,
and for cusiomers to buy, services.

MAKE MOST

OUT OF IT

END OF
LIFE

Connectivity

* 1.1m ID Mobile
customers, +2% year
on year

+ Nationwide switching
on broadband

Lifestyle subscriptions

s Apple bundle of Apple
Music, Apple Arcade
and Apple News +
launched in UK

Re-use

* 50k customers
appliances diverted
for reuse

* »250k used/refurbished
products through resale

Recycle

* >1m products collected
from customer’s homes

= Number One retait
recycler of tech in the UK

* 43% of UK retail
electrical recycling
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| could not recommend Currys PCWorld highly
enough after this! A few of my friends are looking
for laptops and beyond doubt 1 be suggesting
they purchase their laptops from hers”

Gurrys customer

Nordics customer club

We are continuing to join up the services
we offer with improved data to create
customers for life.

Our Nordics Customer Club continues to grow. and we had
&4m members at the end of the year These customers
have clear benefits such as permanent discount on some
products, early access or exclusive deals, extendad buy and
try periods and access 1o sireaming services besides other
partnership benafits.

Club customers shop more frequently and are more
profitabile 1o us. We will continue growing scale
and data in this mpaortant area.

’ Successful rollout in the Nordics
Number of customer club members

B 202021 5.4m

Launched in Norway,
201820 3.2m Denmark and Finland
in Octoher 2019

Increase in number of
customer club members
in the Nordics

~>A40% 5.4m

Nordic households
are cluh members from 3 2m

201819 1.3 Sweden only
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STRATEGY !N ACTION
CREDIT

Credit appeals to customers as technology is

exciting but expensive, and credit makes it more

affordable by allowing them to spread the cost.

GREDIT

S

N

QOver the last three
- years the adoption rate of
. credit in the UK has grown

two-fifths to

10.8%

We aim to grow the number of customers and proportion of sales that use our Credit solutions.

Progress in 2020/21

UK credit adoption almost stable
aespie store closures for most of
the year. UK active credit customers
over 14m, resulting :n +8% growth

Future priorities
«  More flexible and talored credit
propositions to be rolled cut I UK

» Stimulating repeat soend and
utilisation of availabie balances

1

Our credit proposition is

loved by customers and
suppliers. We expect
many improvements
over the next year.”

David Buxton
UK Credit Director

in Credit sales

+ UK onine adoption rate 10% and
repeat credit sales +28% vs fast year

e Optimising shopping journey to
encourage higher take-up of credt.

*  New partnerships with Ecster
{in Sweden and Finland) and
Santander (in Norway and Denmark).

Rise in UK Electricals credit customers

We are going with the flow of how customers want to buy as two thirds of customers already
use some form of credit to buy technology in the UK. We are building on strong foundations
in a responsible manner.

Credit appeals to to customers as technology is exciting but
expansive, and credit makes the amazing technology they
want more affordable: demonstrated by a +10ppts higher
satistaction score than for non-credit customers. And credit is
good for us. It gives customers a reason to shop with us, then
shap more, and adeption of other services by credit customers
is almost double that of cash customers. Credit is good for
suppfiers as well. Adl this produces stickier, more valuable
customer relationships.

Active credit accounts in UK&I Electricals

2020/21 1,407

2019/2G 1175

2018/19 864
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STRATEGY IN ACTION
MOBILE

Mobile is central to our Vision — it is the most important product
to customers. We are responding to our challenges, with a clear
plan to restore mobile to profitability and cash generation.

MOBILE &

Our aim is to transform UK Mobile into a profitable business while generating cash flow.

Progress in 2020/21 Future priorities

* Legacy contract with EE and O2 « Launch of cur new mobile offer
expired, significantly reducing the in FY 2021/22, this will be much )
unprofitable voiurme commitments more relevant for the needs We are exc &J[{—}d 8_DOL£J[
of the business of today's mobile customers _ M i : -

Dile offer,

*  Working capital release from Mobile see below) cur new Mobile ¢ ,
business accelerated, with segmental »  Streamlining of legacy cost base We <an foer SOM eﬂ’? ! I‘iQ
free cash flow of £143m despite to elimnate operatng losses U
operating losses and restruciuring v Completo ransiormaton away unigue that customers
costs. Year-end network receivable from loss making legacy post-pay Wi valuie hiah Ey
balance now £239m (2019/20: £616m, with a net positive cash flow. ¥
2018/18: £787m) Ed Connolly

e Standalone stores closed, business Chief Comtmercial Officer

transferred onfing and to 3-in-1 stores

+ Signed new terms with Three to extend
our iD Mobile MYNO.

New Mobhile offer

Our new Mobile offer will put customers
back in controf,

This year we will launch our new Motbile offer in the UK. This
will better reflect what customers want: flexibility, transparency
and vaiue. It will include deals they can't find anywhere eise,
nationwide face-to-face advice, the best range of handsets
from the biggest brands and a wide range of tariffs and
networks, underpinned by a market-beating price promise.

It will also be better for us, phones will be sold through the
same [T systems as our other products, both reducing costs
and allowing more fiexible data sharing while the financing of
handsets will be done through third-party lenders and not our
own balance sheet,

21
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CAPABLE AND COMMITTED

COLLEAGUES

OUR CAPABLE AND COMMITTED
COLLEAGUES - THE MAGIC INGREDIENT

Our ‘Capable and Committed Colleagues’ provide the magic ingredient in helping our customers
discover, choose and enjoy amazing technology. Expert face-to-face help is at the heart of why
customers shop with us, and that takes skilled and dedicated colleagues. Happy colleagues
make for happy customers, who make for happy shareholders.

2020 will forever be defined by the Covid-19 pandemic, with its
impact being felt throughout the world. The disrupton caused by
the pandemic meant that all of our operations N the UK, Ireland.
the Nordics and Greece had to adapt quickly. In the UK, for
instance. Covid-19 struck at a trme when our transformation nto a
digital first omnichannel business was already underway and we

were making great progress. However, as the UK went into its first
national lockdown in March, our business was classified by the

UK Government as non-essential which meant that most of our
stores were only open (if at all) for click-and-coliect and delivery.

totaling nearly £25m over two vears. Technology 1s amazing.
We know that. It's why we help everyone enjoy 1if. But the magic
that happens 1s because of every one of cur colleagues. When
we come together amazing things hagpen. It's that energy and
determination that make our colleagues amazing and halp us
keep more customers for life.

During this unprecedented period, we continued to tive
our values and do even more to:

As a result, over 18.500 colleagues were furloughed during the « priortise the safety and wellbeing of our colleagues
year across the Group. s attract the talent we need

As we adapted in response 10 the pandemic. these challenges * develop our colleagues and help them build skills for Iife
to our daly cperations only served to reinforce our belief that our s recognise and reward our peogle

colleagues are at the heart of our buginess and our cmnichannel
future. As a core piliar N cur strategy. we believe that now, even
more than ever. 15 the tme 1o invest in our colleagues and our

e puild a culture of inclusicn and diversity
* Duild a culture of communication and engagement

culture. Alongside our commitment 1o increase the mirkmum * enhance our colleague expenence by standardising

hourly pay rate for our fronthine UK colleagues. we are making a

series of mvestments in skills, wellbaing and reward programmes,

and harmanising cur systems, tools and processes.

PRIORITISE THE SAFETY AND
WELLBEING OF OUR COLLEAGUES

Safety

There remains no bgger prionty than

colleague and customer safety. We have

spent £14m to implement extensive

set up sandiser points and increased
frequency of cleaning

ensured the use of face coverings in
lire with local rules and best practice

and colleegues who were over 28
weeks' pregnant so they could shield
gt home

proviced fuil sick pay and support

nygiene and social distancng measures &t o provided Personal Pratective

our facilties and stores 10 ensure our sites
are Cowvid-secure. We were also ong of the
first companies in the UK to roll out rapid
workforce testing. This has enabled our

Equipmert (PPE) where appropriate

o our colleagues who tested positive
or were displaying sympicms for
Cowid-19 and needed to quaranting

¢ providea training and communicaion
to all colleagues ard visitors an our

+ deployed enhanced cantact tracing

colleagues 1o safely continue delvering
vital technology to customers.

Inthe UK and Ireland, we;

¢ introduced stric! 2m social distancing.

vath crne-way systems and floor
markings to help this

Covd safety measures
re-organiged work spaces 1o

keep colleagues apart and set up
measures tc reduce crowding in
stores and other iccations

prov-ded full pay or erhanced
COMPpPdany sick pay 1o our vulneracle
colleagues in customer-facng roles

and ceep cieaning processes in
“esponse (o any oulbreaks
ntredusced a mare roliust homes
remcte warking assessment process

mtroduced lateral fiow testing in

S5 and Stores N areas exnenencing
figher levels of high infection rates in
the community.
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In Greece and the Nordics, we also
put the safety and wellbeing of our
calleagues as their number one priority
and intrcduced many Névy measures,
which included:

¢ 4500 tests conducted in our
buildings in Greece to help
reduce the nisk of contamination

e use of plexi glass andsor tape n
the Nordics to create physical
barriers around customer-facing
tables/desks etc.

* proactve fever detection (either
completed manually or through
advanced thermographic cameras)
applied to all high-nisk facilities
in Greece

s new shift patterns to reduce the
nsk of contamination

* new measures o protect colleagues
and customers such as stnict
contactless processeas, click ana
collect, prepaid collection at store stc.

We continue to reman focused on
supporling the business through the
Covid-19 pandemic, enabling our
business to operate safely and in
accordance with national restrictions.

Wellbeing

The wellbeing of our colleagues contnues
to be a core prionty. In the UK and
Ireland. we:

¢ launched a new oniing welbeing
portal called “Wellbeing Corner’,
which offers support and resources
to help with mental, physical, financial
and environmental wellbeing. The site
has been wisited by 16,000 colleagues
with 250,000 page views since s
launch at the end of November

« nvestedin training and accreditation
for 450 Mental Health First Aders and
trained 315 Mental Health Champions

+  provided a six-month subscrption
for all colleagues to the Calm app,
the leading app for sleep, meditation
and relaxation support

* provided access for all colleagues
to the Aviva Digital GP App, which
enables colleagues to select from
a choice of NHS registered GPs

¢ launched the Aviva Weliness App
as part of cur Welloeing programme,
which allows colleagues to set up
personalised action plans to help
develop and maintain good health
habts.

The Wellbeing of our colleagues in our
international businesses was also a critical
prionty. For example. In Greece. the Stay
Jogether' imtiatve was designed to share
tips for boosting morale and staying
productive while working from home.

In the Nordics. the team developed a
playbook for how to work from home
and provided colleagues with weekly
online mental health training. They

also introduced team challenges
where teams should walk at least five
kilometres together and share pictures.

ATTRACT THE TALENT WE NEED

Attracting talent with the right knowledge, skills and mindset remained a core priority

for us during lockdown.

We recruited 4,994 Colleagues with 56% cf these
hires aligned to support cur Peak period in Retail.

We have continued t¢ build on the success of our
‘Tech Lovers Unite' employer brand and ieverage
our social channels o connect and engage with talent.

We invested heavily in upgrading our recruitment system this
vear and this saw benefits realised for external applications,
hiring managers and internal job seekers too. The investment
allowed us to build a new internal careers site — ‘Careers at
DG’ — which within a week of launch saw our visitors double
and the amount of time spent on the site triple.
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CAPABLE AND COMMITTED
COLLEAGUES CONTINUED

DEVELOP OUR COLLEAGUES AND
HELP THEM BUILD SKILLS FOR LIFE

In 2020, we have fuelled a movement of re-skilling and culture of learning for all colleagues.

In the UK and Ireland, we have;

provided nearly

200,000

hours of face-to-face iearning

UK AND IRELAND

provided nearly

280,000

hours of online learming with
colleagues consuming 2.47 million online modules

provided over

470,000

hours of combined learning

1. Upskilling

2020 saw a major focus on building
selling capability using our LIFE
(Listen, Ingpire & Find, Enjoy) selling
conversational framework where
our colleagues:

¢ listen to our customers' needs

* inspire them with amazing technology

* help customers find their
pergonalised solutions

*  answer any questions so our
customers can go and enjoy their
amazing technology.

By April 2021 over 6,000 colleagues
will have been trained in our new sales

framework. The programme will improve

the capability of cur colleagues to sell by:

* building knowledge, understanding
and application of selling technigues

such as benefit-led seling and
story telling

* build capability in product bundling
and making recommendations,
incorporating ways to pay and
Cur services

+ uild colleague confidence in seling
and engaging with customers

s gducate colleagues in the best use
of supporting tools and technology.

Within Supply Chain and Service
Operations, there has been a very
significant investment in technical
training and upskilling colleagues. 4,830
colleagues benefited from training,
which translated into over 41,000 hours.

2. Re-skilling and redeployment
The necessary changes in our business
model created opportunities for our
colleagues to be redeployed across the
business to areas where there was the
greatest need. This enabled them to
learn new skills and benefit from new
experiences. We:

+ redeployed 700 colleagues 10
support Contact Centres

* increased the number of colleagues
who trained to be ShopLive enabled
from 20 in April 2020 to 2,800 by
January 2021.

3. Leadership Development

We have invested in building the
capability of existing leaders and
harnessed new ways of working which
amerged through the crigis to more
effectively operate together as ‘One
Business”. To support them fead during
such a time of upheaval, we:

+ partnered with leading experts to
upskill our leaders virtually on critical
issues such as how 1o ‘lead in a
time of crigis’ and ‘communicate
when it really mattered’. Equally, at
a time when the Black Lives Matter
campaign gathered momentum
externally, we underlined the
importance of leadership in creating
aninclusive culture

s used the launch of cur new
performance management approach
to align leadership objectives behind
cur core strategic priorities.
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OUR LEADERSHIP PIPELINE

We have also made signficant progress in developing our leadership talent pipeline through:

» g quarterly review of leadership talent in core ‘value * astrategic hinng programme designed to inject those
generatng roles’ leadership capabilities required for our transformation

e regular diversity reviews. bringing our current pipelines into « investing N emerging talent ard building a pipehne for
Clear fucus wilh plans to promote an ncrease in diversity critical roles and managers of the future.

across our most senior roles

LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT IN OUR INTERNATIONAL BUSINESSES

The Nordics

In the Nordics, cur commitment to leadership development In addition, other programmes were run across the Nordics for

remains an enduring pricrity. YWe continued to run programmes our leaders to help them lead during the pandemic and respond

across our Leadership track (see below). Ag a result: to isswes connected to Cov.d-18.

* 136 coleagues partic:pated in cur Emerging Leaders Colleagues in the Nordic business followed the pattern we
program in Sweden and Denmark saw in the UK with an increase n oniing learning consumphon.

47 colleagues finished our Leading Cthers program in Sweden Over 400 training programmes were offered through nearly 106
suppliers and in-house training programs. In total, over 28,000

training hours have been completed from e-learnings alone.
and 82% of training was rated four stars or above by colleagues
fagainst a rating scale of one to five stars).

» 19 colleagues participated in our Leading Functions pilot
which was 100% digital.

Leadership track

NEW AS A LEADER EMERGING LEADERS LEADING OTHERS LEADING LEADERS LEADING FUNCTIONS

¢ |ntroduction to the * Propare fora s Prepare the transition  ® Select and lead * Set vision and build
leadership mindset leadership role from individual managers for towards the future
in Elkjop « Build a common performer 1o high performance * Balance trade-off
» Ensure understanding leadership learning a team * Integrate cross- between the short
of management tools understanding * Build confidence and functional perspectives and long term
and processes and language provide techniques in decisions = Ability to influgnce
s Increase personal 10 mprove team ¢ Handle complexity by effective
effectivenass and affectivencss and changes communication
performance « Integraie a growth » Foster a culture and collaboration

mindset and focus

of continuous Align the crganisaton

on strength-based improvement for strategy

leadership implemenlation
ALL NEW LEADERS SALES LEADERS / LEADERS WITH PEOPLE | LEADERS WHO LEAD FUNCTIONAL LEADERS
SALES STAFF RESPONSIBILIT!ES OTHER LEADERS
Greece
Our colleagues in Greece demonstrated a degp thirst for We continue to provide managers and leaders with ongoing
learning in 2020, consuming over 71.000 hours of learning development opportunities, some of which are run in
cortent Iin 2020. colaboraton with keading academics and business coaches
Greece.

A new Learning Experience Platform ('LXP'! is due to launch n fareete
in May 2021. During 2020, we transferred the vast majorty Cur commitmant to bulding a future talert pipeiine N Greece
of learn:ng material into dynamic onling ‘microlearn content’. remains strong. For example, n 20189-2020, 35 people on
These microlearns will be automatically released to colleagues average were active on our apprenticeship programme.

Based on their role and department. Colleagues will be
gncouraged to take advantage of the numerous resources
avalable to them through this system,
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CAPABLE AND COMMITTED

COLLEAGUES CONTINUED

RECOGNISING AND REWARDING OUR PEOPLE

In May 2021, we announced that, from 1 October 2021, we plan to pay the Real Living Wage to all hourly
paid UK colleagues. This will result in an average increase of 9%.

Pay

Almest 12,000 hourly paid frontine
colleagues will benefit from the increase.
That's irrespective of age and aligned to
the current rates set by the Real Living
Wage foundation.

During the pandemic, we introduced
a supptementary appreciation bonus
of £150 per pay period Tor colieagues
across Supply Chain. This recognised
those colleagues who continued o
attend their usual place of work.
despite facing real challenges which
have regured significant home and
working Ife adjustments.

Despie it not being a requirement o
publish in April this year, we voluntarity
published our fourth annuat Gender

Pay Report on 15 April 2021, Our
combined Group data showed that our
camparative median hourly Gender

Pay Gap continues to track well below
the ONS national average 15.5%). and
contnues to reduce (from 4.6% o 3.4%).
Similarly, year on vear the median Gender
Bonus Gap decreased from 24.3% to
22.9%. You can read our report here
www.dixonscarphone.com

Pension

All UK and frefand coleagues have access
to a defined contnbution warkplace
pension, and colleagues and their famites
also benefit from a 10% discount in our
stores on ouwr products and sérvices. In
Greece, the Company’s pension plan s a
private scheme that exceads state pension
scheme requirements. Every employee
Gan participate with voluntary contributions
fased on salary through payroll

Share ownership

We believe every colleague should be a
shareholder and invested in Our success,
sp after 12 months service, every
colleague below senior management lavel
13 granted an award of at least £1,000
shares. N Fetruary 2018, we launched
our award-wanning Colleague Sharehoider
Scheme and we have continued to grant
awards to new participants throughout
202021, granting awards 1o a further
7.000 colleagues globatty. In 2020/21

we also contnued to offer our UK and
Ireland colleagues the oppertunity to build
a personal stake in the business through
our Sharesave Schenme.

Flexibie Benefits

The flexible benefits programme in the UK
ncludes private medical (grade related)
eye care vouchars, dental plans, a cycle
to work programme, childcare vouchers
and many other benefits. The 'Better
Me, Better Team' programme 1s available
for cclleagues in Greece. This includes
promoting the mental and physical
wellness of colleagues through gym
discounts. life management workshops
and provision of psychological suppert.

UK calleagues also have access to help
via Salary Firance, providing access

to affordabie loans as well as tools and
tns on budgeting. Al UK and Ireland
colleagues have access o a confidential
employee assistance programime.

BUILD A CULTURE OF INCLUSION AND DIVERSITY

We’re for everyone (we help everyone enjoy amazing technology, after all). And if our customers are
‘everyone’, so must our colleagues be.

Far us, inciusion and diversity are strategic imperatives as well as
the nght thing to da. s0 we're committed to becoming an even
mare NGlusve company where everyong belongs. We have: .

careers/sccal channels and featuring in articles puished by
Retal Week ard the Retal Gazette

encouraged and supported the formatien of our Pride of
DC collzague diversity network — wath over 20C colleagues
now helping shape a more Inclusive workp'ace for LGBTQ+
colleagues.

e developed strong reiationsnips with leading partners 1o
help us create a diverse and inclusive culture, Partnerships
mnciude Business i the Commurity. Stonewa'l, Business

Disapsity Forum. everywomar, and Be Inspired
¥ B P We remam committed 1o creating a culture of nclusien and

ensunng our chileagues Fave avoce. In LK and lreland, we
have 11 coieague forums representing coleagues from across
the orgarisatior, In 2018, we created an Internatoral Forum
covering UK and Ireland. Greace. Horg Kong, Czech Repubiic
ard the Nord os,

¢ created a Leadership Inclusion Forum to shape and champion
our inclusion agenda. This forum is chared by our CEO

« signed the Race at Work Charter, continued to publish our
Gender Pay Report, shared stores nernally and externally
righiighiting our comemitment 1o inclusion threugh our
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Workforce gender data
The table below outlines cur Group level gender diversity position as at May 2021.

As at May 2021 Total Female Male

PLC Board 8 3 38% 5 629

Executive Committes o 2 22% 7 78°%

Dircct Reports of Executive Comimittes a1 18 30% 43 TO%,

All Employees 35,046 10,860 31% 24,186 59%

T Figures mclace A e margr  erin ovees wd Cxe tecor hacines as & 1 Moy 2020,

BUILD A CULTURE OF COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT

Our communications and engagement activity has played a vital role in keeping colleagues
energised, informed and connected during the pandemic. We have:

continued to builtd on strong
engagement with our primary
communication channets (Waorkplace
and email), encouraging colleague
feedback and two-way discussion

ran live leadershup/CEQC Q&A and
Town Halls which have attracted
audiences of 4000+ colleagues
at the height of lockdown

hosted our first ever fully virtual Peak
Event, opening it up to all colleagues,
with 8,500+ colleagues engaged,
30,000 views of man plenary content
and 165.000 visits to supplier stands.
In the Nordics. the tearm created an
internal "TV show’ where the senior

leaders shared and discussed the
strategic prionties. This replaced
‘Campus’, an annual leadership event

transitioned from an annual colleague
engagement survey to a more flexible
and continuous approach 1o colleague
sterning across the Company. Our first
bi-annual ‘On the Pulse’” engagement
survey ran in October 2020 with our
end of year survey scheduled for May
2021, This new pulse survey came at
an important time for our business as
we continued 10 face info the ongoing
pandemic, enabling us to take a
temperature check on colleague
maood and sentiment.

ENHANCE OUR COLLEAGUE EXPERIENGE BY
STANDARDISING AND HARMONISING OUR SYSTEMS,

TOOLS AND PROCESSES

We have made significant progress in creating a clearer, simpler and faster place to work for
our cclleagues. Our ‘One Business’ commitment continued in 2020. We have:

»  re-desigred the way we organise ourselves internally to .

Decome even morg customer-centric and work in a way
which is clearer, simpler and faster

* completed the successful migration of colleagues o a .
single Payraoll so'ution

¢ standardised and harmonised terms and conditions for
Retait colleagues

harnessed technology 1o increase colleague self-service
capahilties and ensure centralised support with extended
apening hours across the UK and lreland

launched a new platform for delivery of a digital-first
colleague experence - People Place — with integrated voice,
chat and automated communications channels providing
smarter access to retevant nformation and policies and
proactive query handling.
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS
STAKEHOLDER MANAGEMENT

This report sets out our approach to stakeholder management — our s172(1) statement -
and references where the cther non-financial information can be found.

SECTION 172(1) STATEMENT

Section 172{1) of the Companies Act 2006 requires each Director to act n the way
he or she considers, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of
the Company for the benefit of its mempers as a whole and n doing so have regard
famongst other matters) t© the:

Cur approach to
stakeholder management
There are different processes across

(a} likely consequences
of any decisions in

the long term;

interests of
the company’s
employees;

need to foster the
company’s business
relationships with

suppliers, customers

and athers:

impact of the

company’s operations

on the community
and environment;

desirability of the

company maintaining
a reputation for high
standards of business

conduct; and

need 10 act fairly as
between members
of the company,

What this means

The Board chaillenges what impacts any decision will have on

the Company’s stakeholder groups and ensures that poth the

immediate implications and possible curnulative outcomes are
considerad.

What this means

Capable and Committed Colleagues, as the interface between
the Company and our customers, are critical to the Jong-term
success of the Company and the Board considers the needs
of colleagues and how any decision wili impact them.

What this means

The Board ensures that any decision is made in the context of
the need to be a responsible partner, 1o collaborate effectively
with suppfiers and to maintain successful refationships with
custemers. The Board ensures the Company has strong
relationships with external stakeholders incluging its reguiators,
its banks and the external Auditor.

What this means

The Board considers how any decision will affect stakeholders
that are external to the Group togiether with any environmental
implications.

What this means

The Board challenges whother any decision made is the
‘right thing to do’ to ensure the best possible cutcome for all
stakehoiders.

What this means

The Company's shargholders include institutional investors and
retail shareholders. In considering the impact decisions have
on shareholders, the Board takes this into account and ensures
that all shareholders have equal access to informaticn and
engagement opportunities.

the business to ensure stakehoider
considérations are embedded into
the Group's decision-making. A clear
corporate governance structure i in
place which, together with the Group's
Delegated Authority Policy, ensures
that business decisions are made
by the appropnate people and in the
appropriate forum {in accordance with
the terms of reference of that forumi.
The supporiing documentation for
each Board and commitiee meeting
inciudes. for reference. a summary of
section 172(1) responsibilities immediately
atter the meeting agenda. To ensure
that the impact on stakenciders is duly
considered, Board and committee
decision paper templates include
nandatory fielas for papers’ authors to
include an impact assessment on each
stakeholder group,

Tre Board acknowledges that decisions
made will not cecessarily resuitin a
positve outcome for every stakeholder
group. By cansidering the Group's
purpose. vision and values 1ogether wath
18 strateqic prorities and having a process
in place for decision-making, the Baard
does. however, aim 10 make sure tnat

all decisions are considered and made
followeng reflection across a broader
view of stakeholder considerations.

Atable has been included in this report
10 provide examples. for each of the
Comrpany's key stakeholder groups, of

This statement explains how the Board Fas embedden staxkeholder considerations
across decision-making and, in particular, bow directors have had -egard to the factors
ncluded in sechon 172111 in addmon to other factors relovant to any decision baing made.

NON-FINANCGIAL INFORMATION STATEMENT

the matters that the Board considered
during the year. mcluding how decisions
were reached and provides exampies

of staxeholder considerations that were

ceniral 1o discussions and cutcomes.

We a:m to comply wath the Non-Financial

Reporting requirements contaned in sechons

M4CA and 414CB of the Companies Act

2008. The reqguirements of th.g disclosure are

addressed within this secuon by means of
Cross reference n order 10 avaid duphcaton
and 1o help stakeholders understand our
oosition on key ron-financial matters:

Environmental matters

{inclucling impact of business an the environment) Page 40
Colleagues Pages 22-27
Social matters Pages 38 and 38

Respect for human rights

Pages 22--27, 36-37

Anti-corruption and anti-bribery matters {incluging anti-slavery)

Page 36

Description of sur business model page

Pages8and 9

Details of the principal risks relating to non-financial matters

Pages 46-52
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CASE STUDY: COVID-19

The Board and Executive Committee have
considered the interests of the Company’s
stakeholders throughout the Covid-19 pandemic.

Following the store closures in Greece, UK and Ireland,

the Board considered the imphications for all stakeholders
including shareholders. One of the three immediate priorities
identified was to secure the future of the business. Securing
the long-term sustainable future of the business for the benefit
of shareholders was the main consideration for a number of
important Board decisions. These included the remcval of
almost all discretionary spend, measures to conserve cash
including the decision not to pay a final dividend for 2020/21,
putting in place additional bank facilities and the decision {0
place UK colleagues onto furlough.

The Board concluded that the Group performed an important
function in supporting custemers through the crisis by
providing them with vital goods, helping milions of people
sustain themselves in lockdown by keeping them connecled,
healthy and productive. The Board committed to ensure

that the online sales channel was kept operational during
cach period of mandated shop closures, while ensuring
compliance with best practice health and safety guidance.
Stores were adapted for safe shopping including a front-
of-store trading concept and a zero-contact, ‘Drive Thru’
maodel. Measures such as an enhanced cleaning regime,
rigorous social distancing and safety screens for stores

were implemented. The sudden change to the UK business,
moving to 100% online and with contact centre colleagues
warking from home, created customer service problams. The
Board challenged the management team on customer service
and call centre performance and monitored the issues closely
until significant improverments had been made.

The directors attended additional weekly update calls at the
height of the pandemic to keep them updated on the Group's
response to Covid-19, including, importantly, on the wellbeing
of colleagues, the steps being taken to protect colleagues and
feedback recelved from colleagues. The Supply Chain team
has continued to monitor government guidance during the
year to ensure the safe operation of the supply chain. Measures
taken included changes to working hours and rotas to reduce
the number of colleagues on sites, physical adjustments to
sites and work areas to support social distancing, additional
cleaning and hygiene measures and the provision of personal
protective equipment. Sites were transformed to include floor
markings, barriers and one-way systems, hourly tannoy health
and safety reminders, maximum oscupancy notices, extensive
site signage on handwashing and social distancing as well

as temperature checks at the start and end of driver shifts.
Certain installation services were temporarily discontinued, and
colleagues were advised not to Garry out any activity unless
they were satisfied it was safe t0 do so.

The Board agreed that it was in the best interests of the long-
term sustainable success of the business to put the majority
of store colleagues and a number of support team colleagues
on the government Corcnavirus Job Retenticn Scheme
during the Covid-18 pandemic. However, for those colleagues
that received a salary above the government furlough cap, the
Company decided 1o make up the difference 10 ensure that all
colleagues on furlough received 80% of their salary.

The Board censidered the interests of the Group's
pensioners during the vear as part of their strategic decision
making. The Board paid £47m towards the deficit reduction
in 2020/21 as agreed with the Pension Trustees prior to the
Covid-19 pandemic.

During March 2020, the Board considered how best the
Company could support the wider commumnity during the
Covid-19 lockdown. In considering whether or not to close
stores in all countries, the Board noted the critical role of
the business in providing vital goods to the public, and

in turn how trading would help millions of people sustain
the essential lockdown. In particular, the impartance of
technglogy that facilitates connectivity with loved ones,
including mobile phones and tablets, essential househotd
items including fridges, cookers and washing machines,
and laptops and equipment for working from home and
home-schocling. The Board agreed that it was important to
help customers as an online-cnly retailer in those countries
whare our stores could not remain open, subject always to
the requirement to keep colleagues and customers safe.
Measures included prioritising helping older and vulnerable
customers and requests for tablets, mobile phones, laptops,
webcams, headsets and chargers for NHS Trusts and
hospitals to help patients 1o stay in touch with friends and
families. In addition, iD Mobile cffered all existing customers
over 70 vears old free and unlimited minutes for the 12-
week isolation period advised by the government in the UK.
Stores in the Nerdics put in place special opening hours for
vulnerable and at-risk people.

In the UK, the Company sent hundreds of free laptops, mobile
phones, SIM cards and headsets to Age UK’s Silver Line
helpline teams, to help them maintain their vital support to
older people during the Covid-19 lockdown.

During the year the Commercial team collaborated effectively
with the Group's suppliers in helping our customers and
securing the future of the Group. The teams started work

o secure a supply of stock during the early stages of the
Covid-19 pandemic. Stock of key lines was increased as soon
as it bacame apparent that factories in China and the rest of
Asia might close, This ensured that the business was better
prepared 1o meet the sudden incraase in customer demand
for laptops, refrigeration, gaming and home office, The strong
relaticnships in place with suppliers ensured resilience during
the disruption of supply chains caused by the crisis.

29
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS

STAKEHOLDER MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

HOW WE ENGAGE

STAKEHOLDER FOCUS

OUR APPROACH TO ENGAGEMENT
AND HOW THE BOARD IS KEPT INFORMED

OUR CUSTOMERS
* In-sioie = Product avalabity * The Board receive weekly reporting an custormer
* Online « Product range satisfaction metrics thowever customers choose
0 shopy and root cause Analysis 1s carried oul 1o
+ Shoplve * Product value and attordabslity Pl ay
- i understand and resolve any cancerning trends.
* Customer app = Cuslomer journey experience AVoice of the Customer Dashboard 1s in place:
* Cuslomer carg canires ¢ Services and Croait for UK and Ircland and the Nordics reguon has a
* Crail ¢ Advice and support separite "Hapry or Not' satisfaction measure
* Post-sales survey * Chaoice of how to purchase.
o Media ncluding social inedia onlne orin-slore
* Seanless delivery expenence
* Sustainzbitty and elhicat sourcing
OUR COLLEAGUES
* Internal communications: Executive * Company cullure and values s New slore-based colleagues joning the business
Committee member updlates, - ot in the United Kingdorm attend a training event at
I Reward 9 g
Workplace nfranet, newsletiers. * Beonefits The Acadenty@Fort Dunlep centre biefore they
emals, Townhall events, teany T sturt work serving cuslomers in stores, Al of the
meetings, indwidual Imeetings * Flexible working directors wsited the traning centre pror to the
with ne managers * Health and safety Conid 19 pandemic 1o receve an insight into the
* Colleanue cngagement suveys * Training and dewclopent three-cay traning programme A separate inducton
rogranime 15 in place tor corporate colicagues
* Events - annual Peak event, campus prograi n pla 0 p ad
everit far Nordics region, fraining « Acentral 'People Place' intranet site s avalable
a1 The Acadeimy@Fon Dunlop 1o colleaqgues m the United Kingdem and provides
3 R access 10 all HR pohcwes and guidance and allows
+ Collcague hstenng forums ) X
colleagues 12 log any issues of questions and
* Inclusion and Diversity Forum a “welibeng corner Intranet site s avalable (o
support coleagues
OUR COMMUNITIES AND ENVIRONMENT
* Surveys and forums * We Help Everyone Engoy Amazing * An Environment, Social and Governance (ESG)
o Website, roports and media. Technology Committee 1$ 10 place 1o oversee all chantable
me uading social media o Being a responsible contnbulon 16 society and ESG activinies carmed out across the Group
* Engagement imeenings and cvents e Beng a good enmiployer Reprosentatives from ail countres attend this
yagemd HINGs ¢ ™ -ngag iy forur and prowde updates. The ESG Cormmittes s
« Charity and suppher partnersiips * Hawing sustamabile businigss practces, allended by a Non-Executive Director of 1he Board
s Multi-stakenholder collaborations recducing impact 1o the environment and Andrea Gisle Joosen. 1s chared by the General
takng eimiale aohon Counscl and Company Secretary and repors nio
ttie Execubive Comirnittes
OUR SUPPLIERS AND PARTNERS
s Formal engagerment strategy « Strong customer demand * The Board recees regular feedback on substantive
nchiding regular visits and meetings s Good collaboration Suppler matters wia the Group Chiel Executive.
* Supplicr relationship » Relabilt, ¢ The Group Chigt Executive participates n regular
management leam . Value meetings »ath the Group's largest suppliers and
» Supplier guestionnares e receres regular updates on all suppliers from the
I AT Sty gre] = F .
. DU hgence process * Heahr and salety Chief Commarcial Cfficer
2 I s ~
. 9 ! s Conohance
for new suppliors
* Effective comniunications
QUR SHAREHOLDERS
* Resuits arnoungements . .

and presentations
+ Annual Peport and Accourts
s Annua! General Meotings
* nvestor roardshows
* Sharsholder rgstings
* Compary webste

* Registrar contact

Consultation st maor
shargholders on ke (OpICs

Ersurnng the larg-tenin sostainable
future of the business

Financ.al and share pnce perfor ance
Dractend policy

Current rrading

Businesgs strategy and wizon

Director conwiteralion

Shareholer commuyrcatons and
2Ngagement

Ernaronment, Social and Gavermance asies

The Board receves updates from the [nvestor
Palatuns teart at every Board mieetng. Thase
mclude updates or any matenal changes to the
composhion of the shareholder registern, a summary
of Inuastor INtgracions that have taken place dunng
the penodd as well as upcomng nteractons and

a surmmary of investor guastions recerved, ant
topics discussed,
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AND HOW THE BOARD IS KEPT INFORMED CONTINUED

s Verbatn customer feedback s captured from thousands of
customers cach waek 10 gan insights and help the business
betler understand customer expectations and concerss, Machire
learning and Al salutions ave nsect 1o quantfy the sentimont of
the comments. This informaticn is rewewed internally anrd used o
generate improvements 10 the customer expenence The Board
continued 1O receve a synopsis of the results of this feedback
during the year and these insights into the cusiomer experience
arg considared Dy (rectors as part of Board dooision-making.

GOVERNANGE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INVESTOR INFORMATION

* ShopLive provides customers in refand. the UK and the Nordics an
m-store expenence from their awn homes via video Ink with oxpert
siore coleagues. ShopLive enables customers 10 receive advice on
optops, TVE washing nechines and refrlgeralion products 1o ensure
that customers. including the miost wuinerable. can benaht from
store colleagues’ expertise remaotety. The Board has been recewing
requiar updates on the demand for Shoplee and on those customer
satisfaction scores, The Board has consdered the possible medum-
1erm and long-termimpacts tat Sovid 19 might have on customer
shopping halns, The Board will keop undar review customer domand
and feedback on Shaplive as one axample of thess changes and this
wall proaede impaortant context for strategic discussions.,

A central International Colleague Forun s in place to winfy the
fong-term existing country forums o a single, listening and
engagement forum for all colleagues Tony DeNunzio. the Deputy
Char and Senior Independent Director, atiends these forun
meetings with the Chicf Peopls Officer, Pawa Coughlan Andrea
Gisle Joosen, Independant Nop-Executive Director, attends

the Nordics colleague forum meetings, The Board raceivacd an
update on Colleague Listening at a Board mecting in Mearch 2021,
Maore detals about the forum are gvanlable on page 26,

* Rogular colleague engagerment 'Pulse’ surveys have been
conducted during the vear ang the Board rocevos repors

on the results and actions being taken in response

The annual Peak even! was held virtualy durng November 2020 10
providle colleagues in the United Kingadom with strategic updates from
the Executve Committee members and to provide collcagues with
information and traimng.

Cowind-19 has tndered the ability of directors 1o wisit 310res and meet

colleagues n persen. These visils will resume when possible.

* A Colleague Shareholder Award schomens in place 1o allow colleagues
1o share n the success of the busness Further detals of this scheme
are svalable 0 the Remunerat:on Report on page 100

* Board and commities paper authors include therr contact detals on

papers submitted 1o the directors and dircctors requently contact

them dircetly when they have quenes on papers o are nlerested 1o

recowne more detail.

= Our Sustainatle Business team manages the Company’s chartahle
partnerships ncluding UK Neadiine charity partner Age UK

* The Company was one of three founding partners in the Digral
Poverty Alliance and agreed 1o donate 121 midion 1o Digial Access
for All. helping disadvantaged tleachers, pupils and parents without
aceess o lechnology at home

+ The Company bas jcined the Climate Group's EV100 initiative,
a globally recogrised movement for corparate acton on more
sustanable fransport options i paricular glectric vehicles,

¢ The Board recowed & comprehensive update on ESG in January 2021
and receives regular updates on sustainabiity, colleague matters and
chartatile activities within the CEO report at Board meetings.

o The Commercial team out 0 place a formal engagement strategy
with each large suppher This strategy 1s customised in each case
but mcludes regular meetings and calls between the Group Chief
Executive Officer and his counterpart at 1he Supplier company and
between the Chief Commecial Officer and his counterpart, Thus
is supported by a team of collsagues engaging at teast evary four
wiecks 10 45858 pProgress aganst agresd busingess plans

* A suite of policies and standards are in place to ensure that suppliers
and partners adhere to hgh ethical standards inchiding prevention of
mnodern slavery and anu-bribery. More wformation on this s avalable
in the Sustainable Busmass report on page 36.

* The lnvestor Relations team manages a pragramime of meetngs
with the top 30 shareholders and many of these meetings are also
attended by at least one Board Drector For other sharsholders.
the primary point of comact & the Company's registrar, although
any rmatters can be escalated 1o cither the Investor Relations or
Gompany Secrétanal leams &5 apponriate,

Due to the health and safety impacts of Cowd-19 and government
restrictons i1 place at the time, i was not possible to allow
sharehiclders 10 attend the Annual General Maetng 2020
Shareholders were invited 1o subnit guestions nstead and the
Charr of the Board responded to all of thege in a video released

an the external website on the date of the Annual General Meeting.
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS
OUR APPROACH

Our vision, to help everyone enjoy amazing technology, has a powerful social purpose at its heart.
We believe in the power of technology to improve lives, help people stay connected, productive,
healthy and entertained. We're here to help everyone enjoy those benefits and with our scale and
expertise we are uniquely placed to do so. -

United Nation SDGs

We are committed to operating a responsible business by understanding stakehclder

expectations and best practice and reflecting this in our business decisions. We report on the — PO —
. - . . ' ead more abou 3] ustainabie

sustainability issues most relevant to D_lxons Carphone and our value ;ham. We have deyeaoped Development Goals {'SDGS) at:

the framework below 1o report on key inivatives and our progress against these matenal issues. https://sdgs.un.org/goals

Material issues Achievements Link to related SDG
Capable and committed colleagues  ~77 I""“ N )
are our yreatest advantage. We are 4 ) Q W ~
- : R L4
INCreasing our tocus on colleague / - "‘
WE ARE PROUD OF OUR CAPABLE engagement o credte o happier, Total number of trained Mental
AND COMMITTED COLLEAGUES heaithier and more productive Health Champions and aceredited
workforce, united through our valtes  Mental First Aiders
33 and oulturg, andd with better acosss (o
physicat and mentat health suppart
We are a lnader i extending the - / l - [Y—1, 1} L
> ) : lite of technology through reparr, ,\/'
recyohng and reuse. Ve otios - F\ “' e
WE HELP CUSTOMERS REDUCE customers products thal belp tonnes e-wasie collected
THEIR ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT therm save energy, reduce across our Group for reuse
waste and save water. or recycling

We work iogether vaith A4 7 [t e
manufacturers and suppliers t / !’jﬁ] v @
affer custamers more sustanable ! i “‘

WE ARE COLLABORATING WITH products and 1o ensure our products Number of individual
SUPPLIERS AS A FORGE FOR GOOD are sourced responsibly. pieces of plastic

packaging removed

We bring technology to =3 =
everyone everyday, We partner - m ul E
with charitable organisations

WE ARE A COMPANY FOR to bring the benefits of amazing pledged to The

36

EVERYONE technoiogy 1o those wAo might Learning Foundation
otherwise he excludec 10 combat digital poverty
We will achieve net zero ; (’_’) 4 IIEET BE
emissions by 2040, We are i '/, & Q
reducing our impact on the

WE ARE TAKING ACTION TO REDUCE [N e B (e e T R Reduction in Scope
OUR ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT energy and resodrces used by our 1 and 2 emissions against
5 operatons, but alsoin our wider a 2019/20 baseline

== 40 valle chan.

We set clear targets and Wenymonmentie o 2 P [
‘ ) : cammittr ents and report on QUALITYSCORE { 1 : o~ & e
progress and performance dunng T "' m
WE MAKE IT EASY TO UNDERSTAND the year, We compry vath relevant Qur scorein ISSESG
OUR PROGRESS exaternal franeworks ancd inlialives Environment in April 2021
nclucding the recommendations of

the Task Force on Chimatc-related
Financial Cisclosures,
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WE ARE PROUD OF OUR CAPABLE
AND COMMITTED COLLEAGUES

Our colleagues are our greatest advantage and are critical and central to the success of our business
strategy and the realisation of our Vision. We prioritise their safety and wellbeing.

Health and Safety (H&S)

We work hard to make our colleagues
feel safe.

Since the onset of the Cowd-13 pandemic
the H&S team have been directly involved
n neary every part of the business,
providing cross-functional support to help
keep it operating. minMising disrugstion
for the business and creating Covid-19
safe environments for our Colizagues

and customers.

The commitment to meet our abligations
for health, safety and welfare is set out
in the company's Health and Safety
Pelicy, which was reviewed last year and
approved by our Group Chief Executive.

Our H&S Management System continues
to be developed to ensure we manage
significant risks 1o colleagues, contractors,
customers and vsitors to our locations.
Regular internal inspections in our retail
stores and audits across our supply chain,
contact certre and corporate offices are
undertaken to verify compliance with
these standards.

H&S objectives have been set for our
most senior managers and incarporated
into their annual performancs targets and
have been cascaded down throughout the
management structure 10 ensure broader
colleague engagement with our wider
H&S agenda.

In the UK and [reland we cantinue to
focus on colleague training, including:

*  H&S Induction — e-learring. which is
refreshed on an annual basis.

¢ Covid-19 Safe Working - a
cempulsory module for any colleague
that cannot work from home and
rigeds to attend ore of our sites.

« Display screen equipment ('CSE')
training and work-station agsessments
— colleagues are reguested to
complete these, whether working

fram home or I their usual place of
work, and appropnate DSE-related
equipment s provided to facititate
better work station s&t up.

s Driving assessments for new
employees and agency drivers with
regular refreshers, as well as reactive
and targeted assessments for anyone
involved in a road traffic accident.

+ Face-to-face traning on topics
including first axd, fire marshalling and
matenal handling equipment, as well
as refresher training to mamtain core
competency N these areas.

Overall accident numters have decreased
by 31% acress all our lecations, but
Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and
Dangerous Cccurrences Regulatiors
'RIDDORY accidents have increased

up 7% v 2019/20).

Renewed focus on manual handing
accidents 15 taking place 1o identfy root
causes and this presents an opportunity
to significantly reduce level of injury and
AIDDOR numbers through 2021/22. A
state-of-the-art training facility has been
Built in our new Regional Ristribution
Centre in Bolton praviding opportunities
for colleagues to practice handling
products in a vanety of simulated real-
world scenarios including van tail-ifts.
stairs, docrways and mock-up kitchens.
This academy will prowvide a bluepnint for
other locations.

For road safety, our Operations
Procedures cocument has undergoneg a
revamp to reflect changes put in place
to improve road safety. Regular briefs
and mail drops have continued to remind
drivers of the importance of carrying out
daily vehicte checks. inspect essential
equipment and assess potential nsks.
Furthermore, despite Cowd-19 we have
utiksed online meetings to aid us N
continuing to Improve driver behaviour.

FURTHER
INFORMATION

Cur people are at the centre of who we are
because it makes us what we are. Read
mare about our colleagues including:

« Safety and wellbeing of our
colleagues — see page 22

*  Attracting the talent we need -
see page 23

* Developing our colleagues and
help them build skills for life -
see page 24

* Recognising and rewarding our
people - see page 26

+ Building a culture of inclusion
and diversity - see page 26

* Building a culture of
communication and engagement
- see page 27

» Enhancing colleague experience
- see page 27

Ll

Gender Pay

Read our Gender Pay Report online at
www.dixonscarphone.com
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS
OUR CUSTOMERS

WE HELP CUSTOMERS REDUCE
THEIR ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

We recognise the pressing need to improve our use of resources and create circular business
models, We are a leader in extending the life of technology through repair, recycling and reuse
and we offer customers products that help them save energy, reduce waste and save water.

REUSE AND RECYCLING

=1.m

saved from our parts harvesting operation
in our Customer Repair Gentre, reducing the
demand for new parts and lead time on repairs

/] | 1 |
checks and repairs by our UK Repair Centre, in

store or in customer homes, ensuring customers
can continue to enjoy their amazing technology

45%

of all e-waste collected by UK
retailers in 2020 was cotlected by us

Qur ‘greener’ products

To help customers make more
sustainable purchasing decisions
and reduce their carbon footprint,
we introduced ‘Go Greener’ events
in store and online. Held in Autumn
and Spring, these events were designed
to promote the attnibutes of the products
and services we sell, with a focus on
saving energy, reducing waste and sawng
water, with free recycing when buying
products from our 'Go Greener’ range.

This year has also seen us adjust our
seting information in hng with the new
requirements for Energy Labelling.

Packaging

YWe offer custormers a free packaging
recycling service when we deliver and
unbox iarge household applances.
resuiting in thousands of tannes of
packaging retneved,

We are one of the largest recyclers of
polystyrene in tne UK, recycling 12% of
all post-consumer polystyrene recycled
I the UK. To help more of our customers
recycle EPS lexpanded polystyrene;, w
are launching take-back tnals at 14 stores
inthe UK in 2021, Large apphances,
such as TVs, purchased directly from our
storgs are commonly packed with EPS,
due to its outstandng impact pratection,
low weight and versatility. EPS is 100%
recyclable. yet very few councils collect it
from households, with most ending un
household waste. If successful, we wil rol
out the service across ail our UK sicras
enabiing EPS to be recycied nto rers
SUCh ag nsulaton panels for nome.

Plastics and pachaging

Product recycling

Throughout our channels, we
encourage everyone to bring old
or unwanted tech into our stores
to be recycled or reused ~ whether
they bought it from us or not.

Store colleagues are traned 1o tell
customers about our collechon and
recycling service. Customers shopping
online are prompted with the option cf
having their ofd appliance collected for
recycling for a small fee.

We collect our customers' unwanted
electncal eguipment and small electncal
applhances for recycling whéen we delwver
their new technology.

We also provide a free in-store take

back for all electronics and were the first
UK retailer to offer a free small e-waste
collection service as part of an existing
home delivery service We are exploring
how to offer recycling from home through
cur third-party delivery coungrs, so
customers buying smaller items onling
also have a convenienrt way to recyclée
their oid or unwanted tech.

Our award-winning waste management
programme for these items continues to
evolve, with 104,173 tonnes of e-waste
collectad across our Group, a shght
increase on 2019, In the UK this means
we collect over 402, of the waste
slectrcais collected by UK Retai.

Reuss and recycting

Read more abaut how we are working wiih
our suppliers 1o reduce plastic ang packag.~g
on page 37

Find out more a~d See OUT reuse a~d recychng
programme in action on wve w ©amrys 00 Uk
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WE ARE #1 AT SUSTAINABLY EXTENDING THE LIFE OF, AND RECYCLING, PRODUCTS

CHOOSE AFFORD

Discover and Choose
Afford

Delivery and Installation
Set up and connectivity
Protect

Maintain

Recycled components
used to build new products

Product repair

In the UK our 1,350-person repair
team processes and repairs over a
million products a year - incliuding
over 350,000 computing and vision
repairs, over 370,000 mobile phones
and more than 280,000 white goods
repairs. in the Nordics we repair
over 900,000 products each year.

We are the leader in repairs of electronics
n Norway, and repairs are an impaortant
focus area for ug In the future. We have
launched spare part solutions in all Nordic
countries with several million spare parts
available on our online platform. We have
also established several in-store repair

= 4

&

253Rm
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product people in our customer products used and
lifespans repair team collected through refurbished
extended trade in products sold

through repair

#]

retail recycler
oftech in UK

tonnes of electrical
reuse and recycling

locations this year, with several functioning
as regional werkshops, Our technical
Felpdesk assists our customers with
mecreasing product life and we launched
Ficare Extended warranty as a service for
all cateqories on all major product groups
in Novernber 2021,

Product reuse

We seek opportunities for the reuse
of unwanted tech that is returned
to us. For example, items can be
used to help train new repair or
installation engineers or repaired
and refurbished to support local
causes and low-income families.

104K

>50m

value of products
donated for reuse

We partner with the Reuse Network
who support over 150 charities across
the UK. Through thern. we helped 4,046
low income households save more than
C1mon 2020.

We also work w th the UK's largest
ndependent recycler of e-waste and
provider of reuse, Environcom, 1o support
mayor UK charities with approximately

£8 millon worth of refurbished white
goods each year,

Through the *Second Home’ programme
in our Kotsovoles stores, over 1,500
refurbished appliances have been
distributed to families in need since 2017.
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS
OUR SUPPLIERS

WE ARE COLLABORATING WITH OUR
SUPPLIERS AS A FORCE FOR GOOD

Our partnerships with suppliers make a big difference — they know their products best
and help us to bring amazing technology to life for our customers in meaningful ways.

Responsihle sourcing standards
For customers to enjoy cur amazing
technology, they need peace of mind
that we're sourcing responsibly. With
around 10,000 suppliers across the
globe, we strive to leverage our size
and unique capabilities to do good.

Our Standards for Respongble Sourcing
provide clear guidelings on the high
standards and common valuas we expect
from our suppliers; setting out minmum
requiremeants acress human rights, labour,
environment, anti-corruption, integnty,
business ethics, data secunty and

social imgact, which apply in addibion

to compliance with all relevant natonal
and international legislation.

An Anti-brbery. Hospitalty and Gifts
Policy is in place. The procedures in place
10 overses the anti-corruption and brbery
controi enviranment are reviewed by the
Audit Committee on at least an annual
basis and most recaently in June 2021.
Thie full Policy is reviewed by the Board
pencdically.

We are memizers of the Ethical Trading
Inative t ETIY) which helps dnve continuaus
improvement. through the shanng of best
practice and collaboration. Our Standards
for Responsibie Sourcing ask supplers
ard ther supply chains to work towards

full compliance w-ih the ET1 Base Code.

Responsible Sourcing

Our Responsible Sourcing Stardards
are avallabie on w ey dizcnecsrphars co N

Modern slavery

We fully support the government's
objectives to eradicate all forms
of modern slavery and human
trafficking. The fact that modern
slavery still exists today is
abhorrent and eradication requires
collaboration and transparency.

Since the ntroduction of the UK Modern
Slavery Act we have increased our efforts
o heip eradicate this 1Issue through
initiatves that miigate risk and identify
areas in need of more focus. All supplers
receive our Modern Slavery Policy,

which sets cut the achons 1o take if a
case of madern slavery is discovered

ar sLspected.

We are foundsr members of the Slave
Free Allance. which is a best practice
membership schere »un by the modsrn
slavery chanty. Hope for Justice. We are
leveraging ther gxperence 1o review our
recruitmenrt practices wihin our distrounen
network in the UK and are working in
partnershio with sur waste and recydling
partners 1 risk assess ther own supphers.

fAodern Slavery

Our Modern Slavery Statement 1s avalab e on

R L L

LTmE g

Assessing and improving

ethical performance

A dedicated team help colleagues
making purchasing decisions,
ensuring our Standards are upheld
and considered alongside traditional
drivers such as price, product
features and stock availability. This
process is helping us to grow our
product range from ethically and
responsibly aware supply chains
and safeguard against risk. We also
conduct targeted training on the
ETI Base Code, and modern siavery.

Audiiing and risk assessments are a
governing part of our own labe! and
hcensed brand supplier selection
process and ongaing refatonships.

Supplers must comply with our ngorous
terms and operaticnal procedures.
implementing and enfarcing effective
systems and controls 1o meet our minimuwm
standards in respect of health ard safety,
wages, working hours, equal opportunties,
freadom of association. collective
barganing and disciplinary procedures.
Employing forced or child labour 15 strictly
agamnst our terms of cperauon.

Ethicat audits on cur own label and
licenced brand supplers arg weli-
establisned. Our audit critena are reviewed
reqularly to rermain relevant. in 2020721

we completed an in-depth review and
entanced the criteria to enattle us to
mortor and dave imprévements in

areas such as gender equality im both
worker and management populatons
atranufactunng sites.

If issues are dentfed fram an audit. we
work vath the suppher cn a correcive
action plan. I 1t 1s not possit'e for the
suppher to improve ther cerformance or
we do not see positive results. they will
not be approyed, or they will be delisted.,
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Supplier sustainability

All suppliers are encouraged

to support our goal in being a
sustainable business with many
already having made good progress.

Our branded supplersg continue to reduce
plastic packaging and innovate. For
example, HP are reusing ocean-bound
plastic in their products — plastic that has
not yet found its way into the ocean, 1s

not lkely to be collected and found on the
ground within 50 kilometres of a waterway
or coastal area.

In 2020/21 we partnered with one of the
leading prowders of business sustainability
ratings, EcoVadis, to enable us to measure
supplier performance across a wide

range of metrics and identfy ways we can
champion positive actviies. collaborate to
improve performance. reduce our Scope
3 enmissions and benefit wider society.

GOVERNANGE

AL vy
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Plastics and packaging
Suppliers are key to helping us
address areas of public concern,
such as unnecessary plastic.

We have clear guidance for suppliers

to suppaort the reduction of plastic
packaging. We engage with our own label
and licensed brand suppliers 1o identfy
and implement improvements.

We have 140 products that are packaging
free or only essential plastic (where we
are yet to find a better solution to prevent
transit darmage) remains. In 202021 we
removed 1.7m ndividual pieces of plastic
packaging, that equated to 27 tonnes

of plastic, ngluding 16 tonnes = our
plastic packaaing free ADX gaming range
and a further eight tonnes across our
headphones and mobile accessornes
The packaging now used is fully
recyclable at kerbside by our customers.

In the next 12 months we expect 1o see
more products become plastic packaging
free and see the amount of plastic used
reduced significantty. We are working

with suppliers of larger items such as
microwaves and refngeration to create
solutions that find a balance betweean
reducing the envircnmental impact of
packaging and ensuring that our customers
recerve their products free from damage.

We remain committed to making all the
piastc packaging we use on our own label
products reusable or recyclable by 2023

Read more about how we are addrassing
our emissions on pages 40-4% and =5,

Read more abiout how we are addressing our
custiomers' concerns about packaging on page 24

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

&

Sector collaborations

We collaborate with our suppliers
and other external stakeholders as
a force for good, to advocate and
effect change.

We are members of a number of
organisations such as the British Retal
Consortium {'BRC", the Ethical Trading
Inihiative ('ETI') and the government's
All-Party Corporate Responsibility Group.

We support key sector initiatives such

as the BRC Taskfaorce on Climate Action
which launched a ground-breaking
decarbonisation plan to help guide the
Retall industry on the steps necessary to
accelerate progress to a Net Zere UK, tan
years ahead of the government's 2050
target. We were also the first electrical
retailer 10 sign up to EV100, a global
initiative bringing tagether forward locking
companies commitled to accelerating
the transition to electric vehicles.

Working with suppliers

to support communities

Our two-year partnership with Grundig
equipped community causes with new
kitchen technology. Through this supplier
collaboration, we donated a total of

300 cooking, laundry, refrigeration and
dishwashing appliances worth £145.000
to 150 foed related charities, which were
nominated by our store colicagues across
the UK.

37
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS
OUR COMMUNITIES

WE ARE A COMPANY
FOR EVERYONE

We bring technology to everyone everday. We partner with charitable organisations to
bring the benefits of amazing technology to those whe might otherwise be excluded.

PROVIDING DIGITAL ACGESS

1,000

premium refurbished laptops with an
estimated value of L2680 000 were

donated to the chanty Malforce. through
a natonal campagn run by the Daily ®Mal

1,105

refurbished devices to community
causes. ircluding Bamaria's, the Big lssus
local couneis and schaols across the UK

21,0004+

discounted devices sourced by
our business to business leam
for the Good Things Foundaten

Digital Access for All

At Dixons Carphone, we want
everyane to be able to enjoy equal
access to the benefits of technology.

We pride ourselves on the accessibiity (o
technofogy we pravde through competive
prcing, ommichannel and easy shopng.
and cur affordable and responsible credit
offermg. But because our social purpcse
1g at the heart of what we do. we also
support causes that help everyone,

who might otherw:se be excluded,

penefit from amazing technology t0o.

1115 -eported that nearly two million
chitdren., young people and their families
don't have adequate access to a suitable
device and / or connectivity at home.
Anissue accentuated as Covid-19 saw
schools and caleges close.

In February 2021 we announced a
Cimilion donatien to The Learring
Foundation (reg:stered charity number
1086306 to help progress ther 'Digital
Access for AR ['DAFAT ntiative, To
cement our cormmitment 1o tackling the
digital dhicle. we became one of three
Founding Partners of a new Digital Poverty
Aliarce alongside DAFA and the Instiate
of Engineermg and Technology {'IET 1.
Our aim is to tackle digital poverty i UK
wir N the next three ¢ five vears. sta-ting
with educaticn

We began our suppor by equipping
1.000 teachers and teaching assistan's
n the country's poorest communities
with the tech~clogy and support they
reed 1o delver rah guality nome-
schooing 1o ther pup s, These teachers
are helping us to form a community ¢
deas and Dest Lractce,

Cur Ketsovolos husiness supparted
Greece's Nat.ora Digital Support
Programme ‘or children and young

people by providing free €200 vouchers
for the purchase of a tablet. laptop, or
desktop for distance learning. This was
supporied by special offers and a range
of sutable devices.

Kotsovalos launched their ‘Technology
without cbstacles’ programme to tackie
digital exclusion for people with disabilites.

Since 2008 Elkjop have conducted a
survey on digital exclusion in the Nordics
10 measure people's attitudes, level

of knowledge and hehaviour towards
techrology and electronic products in
the hiome.

e
Tech Trouble

Find out more about Tech Trouble online at
httpsifrelkiop-nordic.webfiow joltech-
trouble-2020#Sprakgapet

DIGITAL ACCESS
FOR ALL

Jill Sweeney
Head Teacher st Aston Manor Academy,
Estan, Birmingham
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‘TECH GONNECTED’ WITH AGE UK

FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS INVESTOR INFORMATION 39

Age UK was chosen by colleagues in March 2020 as our corporate charity partner >
for a two-year period, with the aim of helping digitally exctuded older peopte benefit
from amazing technology and connecting them to those that love and need them.

We are aiming fo raise £1,000,000 for Age UK's Tech
Connected programme. The programme aims to heip older
people to build the skills to use technolegy to achieve their
goals; as well as providing older people with access to devices,
and the rescurces they need to make the most of them.

In November 2020, our support for Age UK during the Covid-19
pandemic was shortlisted in the Responsible Retailer category
of the UK Retail Week Awards, which incluged sending
hundreds of laptops, headsets, phones and connectivity to
allow Age UK's partner charity The Silver Ling to operate
remotely and equip 500 vulnerable, isolated older pecple

with new tablets, connectivity and support.

14

The gift of the tablet is making
such a difference to my life,

it is giving me independence

for shopping, dealing with
appointments and generally to
recover some of my social life lost
to Covid-19. My grateful thanks.”

Anne, aged 90

The Elkjop Foundation
Established in 2017 to fight digital
exclusion, the Foundation works
to raise awareness, increase
knowledge, and enable access

to people who are falling behind
in the rapid development of
technology.

Using technoclogy to connect, play
or learn should be easy and fun,

but this is not always the case. This
is why our Elkjap Foundation in the
Nordics supports organisations and
associations with technolagy and
help - as well as financial resources.

In 2020/21, the Foundation
donated a total of

156,492

11

Thanks to Dixons Carphone’s
donation of laptops, headsets,
phones and connectivity, The Silver
Line Helpline could enable over 90
staff to work from home and answer
thousands of Helpline calls from
isolated ana lonely older people
when they needed it the most.”

Laura, Age UK

Age UK Telephone Friendship
Volunteering is an impactiul way to
strengthen cormmunity bonds and develop
colleagues' skills. In February 2021, we
invested In Age UK's Telephone Friendship
service 10 enable 100 collsagues to
support lgnely older people through
ielaphone fnendshins.

To further support our customers
most in need, we also provided

174,857

customers aged 70+ with free
unlimited minutes through our
MVNO, iD Mobile, to help them keep
in touch with friends and family.

‘Pennies’

We have ambitious plans to
raise money through customer
donations for Age UK. Working
in partnership with Pennies, an
award winning fintech charity,
we successfully rolled out their
‘digital charity box’ in all Currys
PCWorld stores in October 2020.

This digital collection service offers
customers in store the chance to
make a 25p charitable donaticn

when they pay by card or digital wallet.

Despite stores closures,
our customers raised

~05,000

for Age UK in 2020/21
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS
OUR ENVIRONMENT

WE ARE TAKING ACTION TO
REDUCE OUR ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

We will achieve net zero emissions by 2040 by reducing our impact on the environment not only
through the energy and resources used by our operations, but also in our wider value chain.

Net zero

The climate crisis remains one of
the greatest threats to our planet
and we have a part in tackling it.

In July 2020, we collaborated with The
British Retal Consortium and ather major
retallers on the development of a Chimate
Action Roadmap to decarbhonise the retail
industry and its supply chamns. The plan
aims to bring the retail ndustry and its
supply chains to Net Zero by 2040,

10 years ahead of the government.

Qur owr specific roadmag ta net zero
ermissions includes amixtious targets
to reduce our environmental impact —
and help customers reduce therrs.

Dixgns Carphone commits to reduce
absolute Scope 1 and Scape 2 GHG
emissions by 50°% by 2029730 from a
2019,20 pase year. Dixons Carphone
also commits to reduce absolute Scope
3 GHG emissions from purchased goods
and services and use of sold producis
by 50% within the same timeframe.

Qur Scope 3 ermissions account for

over 90% of our total emissons. We will
achieve reductions in these emissicns
through a programme of actnities
nvelving our suppliers, our manufacturers
and through colleague engagerment.

The most material impacts are within
purchased goods and services and the
use of sold products.

Dixons Carphene has had ng emissicrs
reduction targets approved by the Science
Based Targets ininative as consistent with
levels required o meet the goals of the
Paris Agreemant.

Further information

For gur energy and carbon data.
Se€ pages 32 ard 43

For our TCFD disciosure. see page 35,

Energy reduction

We maintained our certification

of cur Energy Management System
{'EnMS") in 2020/21 for our UK

and ROI portfolio and fleet.

While our UK focus is on reducing

digsel consumption we wiil also set

new energy efficiency targets to reduce
energy consumgetion to further support
our emissions target. In line with the
British Retal Congortium’s Climate Action
Roadmanp. we have set a target o operate
100% LED coverage in &l new buildings
by 2025,

Energy reduction initiatives:

* |n 2020, our new Bristol
Distribution Centre benefited from
a further investment of £390k to fit
LED lighting, which will mean over
30% of our UK retail portfotio wil
use LED technology as the main
source of lighting.

+ In October 2020, we opegned our
new 330,000ft2 Bolton ERDC, an
EPC rated A building reflecting
our commitment to enargy
efficiency. It achieved a 'Very
Good' BREEAM rating, a leading
sustainability assessment method
for masterplanning projects,
infrastructure and buildings.

Renewable energy sources

100% of our properties on the

UK Mainland and in the Nordics
(where we are responsible for supply
contract) are powered by renewable
electricity. The renewable energy

is certified by Renewable Energy
Guarantegs of Ongin {REGOs) and
independently verfied.

We have four sites with Solar PV
instaled. with a capacity of over ZMWp.
This Includes Newark Distnbution
Centre Buldings 1 and 2 and three
retail sites. These panels contribute

to our commutment 10 the reduction

of aur locanon-hased CO emrissions
by ¢ rectly sourcing electncity from
arenewable energy infrastructure.

We continue to nvestigate practcal
opporturtes waih andicrds.

Qur Environmental Policy

Qur po'icy covers matenal 1ssues including energy
consumptian, carbon emiSsions, supE'y chan ard
operatonal waste and 15 avalable on:

WA T TITICRNENONE €O
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Electric vehicles

In line with our commitment to
achieve 100% electric or alternative
fuel vehicles by 2030, we are trialting
the use of electric vans at four sites,
including our Bolton Customer
Services Centre and have 31 electric
vehicle charging points across

five sites.

From March to July 2020, a small thal

to fit solar panels on the roof of two 7.5t
vehicles was carned out to support vehicla
battery power, The tnal resulted in savings
of 0.46 1onnes of CO, and & projected
annual cost saving of just under £500. We
are now exploring a proposal to fit solar
pangls onto Gur new fleet for 2021722 with
the aim of further reducing our fleet CO
emissions through the transition away
from diesel powered engines.

Member of EVi00

Find out more online at:

worw thectmsteoroup org whe et-evifl

Our waste

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

We have a target for zero operational waste to landfill in the UK and
Ireland by year end 2024/25 and have now met and exceeded our
interim target to divert 95% of this waste from landfill by 2022.

Recyclables from our UK and Ireland
stores are backhauled to our national
recycling facility in Newark. From
there, consistent grades of cardboard,
plastic and expanded polystyrene are
channelled through regicnal Custorner
Service Centre {{CSC') depets to

our recycling partners, minimising
trangportation and ensuring the best
return for our material. We have met
our target to divert 95% of operational
waste from landfili by 2022.

. Enabling colieagues 10

- Alicolldagues are actively -
. encouraged to recycls, and recycling

facilities ars available at all sites. We

- are always looking for sustainable .
- solutions for singlé use plastics, such
. as bioplastic cutlery and innovations
“ incliding the replatement of =

* polystyrene clam-shell boxes with
' biodegradable and compostable
'bagasse boxes, whichisaby-
product of sugarmaking. -

In 2020, our UK operation gengrated
4% less waste year on year. Of the
13,897 tonnes we collected, 99.1%
was diverted for recycling, anaerobic
digestion or energy recovery. This
was up 10.5% cn 2019 and driven by
a combination of stores being closed
and/or reduced services during Covid
lockdowns and improved waste data
resutting from the consolidation of
waste management provider.

In Ireland, 152 tonnes of waste were
generated by our stores and CSC
during 2020, of which 29.8% was
recycled and 70.2% recovered,

with zero waste ending up in landfil.

Further information

Read more aboit how we are reducing the
environmental impact of packaging on pages
34 and 37.
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS

OUR ENVIRONMENT CONTINUED

Energy and Carbon Reporting

Two successive Covid-19 lockdown
periods had a significant impact on
the operation of our estate. Store
closures, changing operational hours,
energy efficiency interventions,
increased home working and less
business-related travel contributed to
a reduction in energy consumption.
Heating requirements during the year
resulted in increased natural gas and
heating oil consumption, however our
overall emissions reduced.

This section details the enargy
consumption and greenhouse gas
emissions from the activities of Dixons
Carphone for the perod 1 May 2020

to 30 April 2021, as reguired by the
Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report
and Dreclors’ Reporti Regulations
2013 ['the 2013 Reguiaticns') and the
Companies {Directars’ Report) and
Limited Diakility Partnerships (Energy
and Carban Report) Regulations 2018
{'the SECR Regulations™.

An operational control approach has
been used to define the Greenhouse
Gas iGHG) emissions boundary. This
captures emissions assocated with the

operation of offices, retails, warehouses,

and distribution sites. plus transport;

campany-owned, ikased and employee-
owned vehicles used for buginess travel,

This includes emissions from the UK
and Offshore including the Republic of

Ireland, Greace, Sweden, Norway, Finland,
Denmark. There are no matenal omissions
from the mandatory Scope 1 and 2
emssion reporting reguirements.

Thiz information was collected and
reported using the methodology in Defra's
updated greenhouse gas reporting
gugance, Environmental Reporting
Guidelnes fref. PB 139441, issued June
2019, Emissions have been calculated
using the 2020 corwersion factors provided
by Department of Business. Energy and
Industnal Strategy for emissions in the UK
and Association of I1ssuing Bodies (AIB)
for overseas glectnioty conversion Tactors.
Assurance was provided by Lucideon
which has verfied the data for the current
reporting year 2020721 only.

The company-wide kWh energy consumption for the reporting period 1 May 2020 -~ 30 April 2021, are as follows:

GLOBAL ENERGY CONSUMPTION
DIXONS CARPHONE:

UK and UK and
Oftfshore Global Total Global Offshore Global Total
Energy consumption (kWh) 2020-21 2020=-21 Change {%} 2019-20 2619-2¢
Transport (including Diesel, Pelrol, LPG) 54,936,222 61,599,577 -14% 63,377.377 71,261,546
Natural Gas 27,318,959 28,500,590 29% 20,301,590 22142,355
Heating Cil 98,860 331,876 54% 214,868 214,668
Electricity 90,122,184 182,890,720 -19% 131,070,522 236,971,131
Taotal 172,476,225 283,322,763 -14% 214,964,357  330.589,800
Intensity (MWh / 1,000 f12) 14.58 13.65 -16% 18.02 16 24
The GHG emissions for our business for the reporting period 1 May 2020 - 30 April 2021, are as follows:
EMISSIONS ON LOCATION BASIS™
DIXONS CARPHONE: Tonnes of Tonnes of
CO,e emitted CO,e emitted
Category 2020-21 Change (%) 2019-20
Emissions from combustion of fuel ™ (Scope 1) 19,638 -1% 19,868
Emissions from the operation of facilities” (Scope 1) 1,314 50% 874
Emissions from purchase of electricity * > (Scope 2) 36,817 -28%% 51,131
Total 57,769 -20% 71,873
Intensity ratio: tCO,e / 1,000 fi? occupied floor area® ] 2.78 -21% 353
EMISSIONS ON MARKET BASIS®
DIXONS CARPHONE: Tonnes of Tonnes of
CO,e emitted COe emitted
Category 2020-21 Change (%) 2019-20
Emissions from combustion of fuel  (Scope 1) 19,638 -1% 19,868
Emissions from the operation of facilities® (Scope 1) 1,314 50% 874
Emissions from purchase of electricity ** (Scope 2) 14,368 1% 18121
Total: 35,321 -4% 36,863
1.70 6% 1.81

Intensity ratio: tCO,e / 1,000 M2 occupied floor area®
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EMISSIONS ON LOCATION BASIS Tonnes of Tonnes of
BY REGION: COcemitted  CO,e emitted
Tonnes of Tonnes of per 1,000 fi? per 1,000 2

CO,e emitted CO,e emitted of floor area of floor area

Category 2020-21 Change (%) 2019-20 2020-21 2019-20

UK and Offshore H{Scope 1 & 2) 39,951 -23% 51,866 3.38 4,35

Global (gacluding UK and Cifshore) (Boope 1 & 2} 17,817 1% 20,006 211 237

Total: 57,769 -20% 71.873 278 3.53

Tonnes of Tonnes of

EMISSIONS ON MARKET BASIS CO,eemitted  CO,e emitted
BY REGION: Tonnes of Tonnes of per 1,000 ft2 per 1,000 ft2
CO.e emitted CO,e emitted of floor area of floor area

Category 2020-21 Change (%) 2019-20 2020-21 2019-20

UK and Offshore' {Scope 1 8 2} 20,058 -8% 21.762 1.70 1.82

Giobal (excluding UK and Offshare} (Scope 1 & 2 15,263 156 15,101 1.71 1.79

Total: 35,321 -4% 35,863 1.70 1.81

Scope 3 emissions

The following table details Dixons Carphone's Scope 3 emessions. This data has not been externally verified. This data includes
indirect GHG emissions across our value chain which account far aver 0% of our total emissio~s. The most material impacts
are within purchased goods and services and the use of soid products. We will achieve reductions in these emissions througn
a programme of activities involving our suppliers. cur manufaciurers and through colleague engagement.

We have been able to use more prmary data 1o calculate our Scope 3 emissions for 2020721, Other notable changes include
ermissions from the use of sold products decreasing due to grid greening and increased home working, store closures and less
business-related travel due to Covid- 9 resulting in significant reductions in emiss.ons from business travel and empioyee commutng.

Tonnes of Tonnes of

CO,e emitted % change CO,e emitted

Category 2020-21 from baseline 2019-20
Purchasad goods and services 3,250,795 -24%, 4,300,632
Fuel and energy-related smissions not included in Scope 1 or Scope 2 13,085 -18% 15,905
Upstream transportation and distribution 53,653 -68% 165,115
Wasle generated in operations 2,588 166% 972
Business travel 415 -85% 2,754
Employee commuting 19,390 -29% 27,275
Downstream transportation and distribution 16,904 -53% 35,906
Use of sold products 23,061,342 -32% 34,001,509
End-of-life treatrment of sold products 9,990 1% 9,843
Total: 26,428,162 -31% 38,558,811

Lo kIt BNy CONE N U 0o g and Loateel-nazer method reflec s emsseons iom

IR OInT R clasof Cn gt 5oone 3 e onieg wnk
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS
OUR SHAREHOLDERS

WE MAKE IT EASY TO UNDERSTAND
OUR PROGRESS

Dixons Carphone is committed to operating a responsible and ethical business by understanding
stakeholder expectations and best practice and making sure this is reflected in our business decisions.

Our progress

In June 2020, our progress in

developing and reporting our
performance was recognised
with our repeated inclusion in
the FTSE4Good UK Index.

We continue to respond to the
Carboen Disclosure Project ((CDP?)
guestionnaire on Climate Change,
demonstrating our continued
commitment to identifying,
assessing and managing climate-
related risks and opportunities
across the Group. In 2020, we
maintained our ‘B’ score and are
using the results of a gap analysis
to aid continuous improvement.

We also scored in the top decils,
achieving a ‘1’ score, for 1SS ESG
Environment in April 2021.

T ENVIRONMENTAL
QUALITYSCORE
HIGHEST RANKED BY |SS ESGD>

INCDP

DERCLOBURE M3iguT ACTION

FTSE4Good

Furthier infcrmation

Read more about our pring pal risks on page <&.
Read our Tax Strategy online at

AW IO Carn b ae r oM

Governance and risk

Qur Sustainability and Social Impact strategy is signed off by our
Group Chief Executive and approved by the Environmental, Social

and Governance ('ESG') Committee.

It1s driven and delivered by our
colleagues - subject matter experts

that are fully integrated across our
business. Ther work 1S coordinated by
the Director of Group Sustainability and
overseen by the ESG Committee wh ch
reports into the Executive Committee and
comprises representatives from all levels
across the business.

The business has a systemat:c approach
10 ESG risk management. Our approach
has been nenchmarked against

other leading orga isatons, which
resuited in tme development of a more
comprehensive ESG risk orofile ard nsk
appetite statement.

This year a new pnnc:pal nsk «elating 1o
Sustainatility was added 10 the Princ oal
Risx RBegster jsee further detais o

page 51 which .s montored by the ESG
Comm tteg ard the Execotive Conmmitiee,
with the aim of better managing the bread
spectrun” of ESG rsks.

As part of cur risk assessment
approach. we have continued to

wiork with key internal stakeholders

‘o consicler the long-term impacts of
ciimate change with the aim of analysing
emrerging risks and opportunities. The
insights gained have been incorporated
nto our revised ESG Risk Register.

Thiz work is informing our business
conti~uity plans and has formed part of
our implementation of recommendations
by the Task Force on Cimate-relateq
Fnancal Disclosures {(TCFD),

As we progress on our transformation,
tne ESG related targets on our ancual
ocnus scorecard will be enhanced by two
Agve ervironment targets from 202122,
with the aim of growing a customer base
thas is configent we are on ther side -
and on the side of society. ingpirirg more
super engaged coliezagues. and bulding
abusiness meastors feet good about
mvest;ng M.
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

We support the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures ('TCFD') and its recommendations. We are
committed to assessing the impacts of climate risks and opportunities across our operations and supply chains.
This is our first vear of disclosure against the framewark and we plan to further enhance our aporoach and reporting in advance

of legal regurernents.

Governance

We have created a clear
communication line to the Board;
the ESG Committee reports to the
Executive Committee then Dixons
Carphoene Board. Further, the Risk
Committee reports up to the Main
Operating Subsidiaries and then
the Dixons Carphone Board.

The ESG Committee. chaired by General
Counsel and Company Secretary Niget
Paterson, rewews climate change related
issues in their meetings and submit
progress to the Risk Committee,
Executive Committee and Board.

We have assigned management level
responsibility for different climate-related
1Issues in the business and chmate-related
nsks and opportunites are incorporated
into the ESG Rigk Register.

Strategy

Our purpose, to help everyone
enjoy amazing technology, goes
beyond ensuring customers can
choose, afford and enjoy the right
technology. Addressing our climate
risks and opportunities is a part

of our Sustainability and Social
Impact strategy.

We have responded to the COP
questionnaire on climate change since
2016 and as part of this report identified
climate-related risks and opportunities.
We have undertaken workshops to identfy
short, medium and long term physical

and transitional climate-related nsks

which have been reflected in our ESG

Risk Regster. Our ESG Risk Register

is momitored by our ESG Committes.

We continue 1o invest in measures 10
mitigate our clmate change mpact, and
as part of this we have set new emissions
targets. We recognise the importance of
collaborative acton: we have committed
our support to EVI00 and the British Retad
Consortium Climate Action Roadmap.

THE UK'S

LARGEST TE(_.| i lD\..CJC:"‘(

STORE

/Mﬁ\ ¥

Risk management

Group risk assessment criteria
have been determined and the

net and gross risk profile. Priority
risks have been agreed by the ESG
Committee and Board and this
year a new principal risk relating
to Sustainability was added to the
Principal Risk Register.

We have an ESG Risk Register which
incorporates short, mediurm and iong term
physical and transitional climate-related
risks identified this year.

We will continue to monitor changes to
risk {increase, decrease or Nno change).
assess climate change as a principal
risk within the business and assess
risk annually in the Annual Beport.

Metrics and Targets
We are committed to delvering net zerc
emissions by 2040.

Dixons Garphone has had its emigsions
reduction targets approved by the
Science Based Targets intatve 'SBTI)
as consistent with levels required to
meet the goals of the Pans Agreement.

The targets covering greenhouse gas
emissions from Dixons Garphone’s
operations (Scopes 1 and 2} are consistent
with reductions required to keep warming

a1

| # A
I_g-l‘ﬁ_ﬁ%ﬂ?

o 1.5°C, the most ambitious goal of the
Paris Agreement. Dixons Carphone’s
target for the emissions from its value
chain (Scope 3 meet the SBTI's critaria
for ambtious value chain goals, meaning
they are in line with current best practice

We report on irtensity metrics,
MWh/1000sgft for energy and MPG for
fieet vehicles and have set a target for zero
waste to landfill for commercial waste in

UK and Ireland.

Looking ahead

We plan to undertake climate scenano
anatysis modeilng for the priarity nsks

in tow and high carbon scenarios and
assess business resilience under different
scenarios. We will also quantify exposure
10 gach risk evert and incorporate this into
our business strategy.

We will engage and drive action through
our supply chain as well as review our net
zero emissions roadmap. Including the
sequestration of CO, .

WEWE HAD CUR
SCIENCE-BASED TARGET APPROVED

TAHGETS

e g o ik
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RISK MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

PRINCIPAL RISKS TO ACHIEVING
THE GROUP’S OBJECTIVES

The Group recognises that taking risks is an inherent part of deing business and that competitive
advantage can be gained through effectively managing risk. The Group has developed and continues
to evolve robust risk management processes, and risk management is integrated into business
decision-making. The Group’s approach to risk management is set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 73 to 86. The risks are linked to the strategic priorities on pages 14 to 21.

Our approach to horizon scanning and emerging risks
A successful company 1s led by an effective and entreprenesurial - Our approach to undertaking hor.zon scanning 1s based on

board, whose role 1s to promeote the long-tlerm sustanable conducting both reviews of thought leadarship and also through
success of the company. generating value for shareholders obtaining the views of key business stakeholders. The honzon
and contnbuting to wider society. scanning exercise s updated semi-annually to ensure that the

horizon is consistently scanred for developments and changes
hat may impact the business. The Group Risk and Compliance
Committes 15 asked to review and discuss the horizon nsks and
to form a view as to whether any of these should be considered
in the Principal Rigk process or additional actions shauld be
tactored into strategic planning for the business.

In order to promote sustanable success, the business
continues 1o analyse the risks Iikely to amerge in the short.
medium and longer tenm that may impact the delvery of cur
Strategy. To provide a view over the medium to longer term.
a honzon scanning approach is reaured, This looks at future
complexity, challenges assumptons and review options for
future business plarning.

During 2020/21 two new risks were added to the Principal Risk Register - Sustainability and People -
reflecting the key importance of the effective management of these risks to the delivery of the Group’s strategy.

SUSTAINABILITY PEOPLE
Achieving our ambitions across the Sustainability Delivering Capable and Committed collagues requires
agenda will require the business to address many the business to invest in our people and HR processes.

challenges, amongst these is tackling climate change. .
Qur people risk covers three core areas; Leadership

To achieve real change businesses must address not only capability (including succession planning for business-critical
direct emissions within their operations tut also work in roles); Workfarce planning {including capacity, engagement
collaboration with all stakeholders within their value chains. and productivity and culture and values); and, compliance

) with legal and regulatory requirements.
For Dixons Carphone, over 80% of our indirect emissions * 9 4

come from the purchase of goods and services and use We actively manage and mitigate these risks. We have a
of sold products. To support aur commitment of Net Zero comprahensive programme designed to build ieadership
by 2040, we have become the first UK company to adopt capability and annual Beard and quarterly ExCo talent
the new Carbon Action Medule from EcaVadis, cne of the reviews providing oversight of succession planning.

leading providers of business sustanability ratings. We have placed a greater focus on wellbeing to support our

This will increase transparency across our supply chain colieagues and live our values, we continue to deliver on our
and enakble us to better measure aspects of our Scope 3 D&\ strategy and act on insights gained through colleague
emissions, a necessary step in our Net Zero journey. It will listening and 'On the Pulse’ surveys,

orovide us the means to drive climate action at scale by
collecting and analysing suppliers' critical emissions data.
We will use the data to work with suppliers to benchmark,
measure and, where needed, develop plans to reduce
carbon emissions,

Oversight is provided by the Remuneration Committee on
all director and ExCo compensation in alignment with our
Corporate Governance Gode. An annual process is in place
to meet the FCA 'Fit and Proper' requirements.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS
AND UNCERTAINTIES

RISKS AND

GOVERNANCE

POTENTIAL IMPACTS

The Group centinues to develop its risk management processes, fully integrating risk management
into business decision-making. The risk management process mirrors the operating model with
each business unit responsible for the ongoing identification, assessment and management of their
existing and emerging risks. The output of these assessments is ultimately aggregated to compile
an overall Group-level view of risk.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

The Group's approach to risk Mmanagement 15 set out in more detal in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 73 to 86.
The risks are iinked to the strategy on pages 14 to 21. The principal risks and uncertanties, together with ther potential impacts
and changes in net risk since the (ast report. are set out in the tables below along with an dustration of what is being done to

mitigate them.

STRATEGIC RISKS
Ccovip-19

Risk owner: Group Chief Executive

Risk level
[
Risk movement
Decreased
Link to strategy
o . . N St

Considered in the
Viability statement

v

What is the risk?
Fakire to adanpt the
aperatons of the
Group to ensure the
safety of colleagues
and customers and

in compliance with
novernment gudelines.

Risk level

Risk movement
Stabie

Link to strategy
B ew

Considered in the
Viability statement

X

Link to strateqy: T=2-

Omnichannel

What is the risk?
The Group s
dependent on
relationships with
key suppliers to
source products

o vhich availability
may be lited,

Sea]

DEPENDENCGE ON KEY SUPPLIERS

Credit

What is the impact?

e Reduced revenee
and profitatlity

* Detenorating cash flow

¢ Colleague © custormer
ress or loss of o

What is the impact?

s nvastrmenrts by
supplicrs scaled down

+ Pricing and stock
avalabilty terms oould
worsen, leading 1o
deceasing sales
reduced margm

e Reduced revenue
and profitatalty

¢ Ceteriorating cash flow

* Roduced market share

€2 Services ﬁ

How we manage it

s Aqrnge of nitiatves grouped undaer
‘hree Big Prontices’ = To Protect
Colleagues, Help Customers &1d
Socure Our Future

» For amore detailed rovices on
the response to Cowd-19, refer
to pages 22, 23 and 29

How we manage it

* Ensunryg ahgnment of koy
suppsliers to the Group's strategy

» Continuing ta leverage the scale of

Risk owner: Chief Commercial Officer

Changes since
lastreport

This nsk has decreased
due to the. group
succassiully adapting
to wperating in the
Cowvid cnvironment

and wader measures to
control the pandenmc.

Changes since
lastreport

This risk has remained
stable over 2020021

operations o suengthen relatiunshins

wth key suppliers and mantam a
good supply of scarce products

o Working with suppliers to engure
availability of products thiough
Covitd-19 crigs in orcier 4o help
aur customers

* Broadonrg the range of supphers

1o support extendead range offenngs

* Ethical supply chain Adus diigence
over our suppler base

s Contot structures (o ensure
appropriate Supphor Relationship
Managernent for GFR. GNFR
and CEM

Mohile
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

AND UBNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

BUSINESS TRANSFORMATION

Risk level

Risk movement
Decreased

Link to strategy
e e
Considered in the
Viability statement

X

REGULATORY RISKS

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH FINANGIAL CONDUCT AUTHORITY (‘FCA’)
AND OTHER FINANCIAL SERVICES REGULATION

Risk level

Risk movement
Stable

Low

Link to strategy
Ny

Considered inthe
Viability statement

v

What is the risk?

Failure to respond vetly
abusiness model that
onables the business
to cormpete agains

a broad range of
compeliors on sorvice,
prce and o or product
range.

Fature to optimise
Digital opportunties

Failure: 10 respond 1o
changes iy consumer
preferences and
Behaviours

What is the risk?

Fallure to manage the
business of the: Graup
1N comphancc vath
FCA regulaton and
ather inancial seraces
regilation 1o which
the Groupy s subject
in o number of arcas
ncivding the maobile
nsurance operations
ot The Carphone
Warehouse Limited
and the consumer
credd activities of
DSG RPotad Linuted

What is the impact?

Reduced revenue
and profitabilty

Deoteriorating cash flow
Feduced marked share

What is the impact?

.

Enforcoment action
by the reaulator
LLoss of authorisation
and inahuility 1o trade
requlated products

Reputational darmage
Financial penalties

Reduced revenuas
and profitabs ity

Detenoratng cash flow

Custormer
cornpensation

Risk cwner: Chief Operating Cfficer

How we manage it

Risk owner: Chief Commercial Officer

Continued strengthening of
digilal expertise as part of
ornichanncl capab ity

Transfonmanuon Management
Office estabhshed and delivening
ke strategic objectves

Future Mobile Strategy

Cevelopmont of customer
crecht propositions

Devalopment of omachanne
capabilities

Enhancement of data
analytics capabilites

How we manage it

Board oversight and sk
Management stractures moniror
compliance and ensure thal the
Company's cullure puts guod
custorrer outcomes firgt

Senior Manager andd Certrficaton
Regime and if required CBL other

reqgulators certification imiplenientca

Reguiatory Comphiance Caornmimitioe,

Product Governance and other
internal governance struciures
Contrei structures to ensure
approprinte compliance

Complance montonng and nternal

aurdit reviews of the cperation

and effectrcenass of comuplance
standards and ~ontrals
Recrutrment. remuneration 3md
Tranng COTEetens ; ROogranunes,

Conduct nsk and nontrol frama work

inC luding definedd e contol
standatds

Changes since
last report
Signficant progress
has beenmacls mn
the delvery of the
Transfonmation
Prograrmime anc
conseyuanthy

the overall risk s

drncreasing as projects

are bemg completed

Changes since
[ast report

This risk has
stahile over 2020-21.

remancd
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DATA PROTECTION

Risk level

Medium m

Risk movement
Increased

Lawer

Link to strategy

Considered in the
Viability statement

v

TECHNOLOGY RISKS

What is the risk?

Major l0ss of custororn

colleague ar business
sensive tafa

Adequacy of internal
SysICIms, policy,
procedures and
processes to comply
wIth Yhe requirements
ol EU General Data
Frotecton Regulation
{GOPR'

IT SYSTEMS AND INFRASTRUGTURE

Risk level

Risk movement
Stable

Link to strategy

Consideredin the
Viability statement
X

What is the risk?
A key sysiem
hecomes unavailable
for & period of trme

GOYERNANCE

What is the impact?
« Reputational dameage
¢ Financial penalties

* Reduced revenue
ane profiablity

* Deteriorating cash flow

* Loss of conpetitive
achvantage

* Customer
compensation

What is the impact?

* Reduced revenuge
and profitability

s Dictoriorating cash fow

o Loss of competitve
advantago

* Restncted growih
and adaptatdity

* Reputationat damage

Link to strategy: = Omnichannel ‘T tredit Services =

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

How we manage it

* The operation of a Dala Managarment
Functior 1o ensure colmplance
with GOFR compliant oparationa
processs and controls

* The operahon of a Data Profootien
Ofee to onsure approprate
guvarnance and cversight on the
Group's data protection activines

o Control activities operate over
managerment of customer anc
eployee data in accordance
with the Group's data protection
policy and processes

L]

Investment in informiahon sceurty
safeqguards and [T securnity controls
And montonng

Risk owner: Chief Operating Officer

How we manage it

= Ongoing T trarsiormation to
align T infrastructure 1o Future
DG strategy

o PEAK planning ard preparabinn
13 ensure systerm stabity and
avatahility over high-uernand
neriods

Incaidual systermn recovory plans

in place n the event of falure
which are tested reqularly, with

fult recovery iInfrastraciure avallahle
tor citical systems

* Long-tonn partnerstips with
tier 1 application and mfrastructure
providers estabfished

* Strengthening of Ted hnology
leader ship team

Mobile

Risk owner: Chief Operating QOfficer

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Changes since
last report

Thez risk termporardy
ncreascd ducto
[ wwat kg bul
with the ntrodduction
of mitigating controls
has reduced to the
vl prior to the
Covicdd-19 outbresk

Changes since

last report

Whilst the reliance

on [T systems and
wHrastructure «noreascd
during the penod
where the UK and
Ireskardd business traded
on-ling only, the contral
eraronment remained
stable over the penod
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

AND UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

OPERATIONAL RISKS

INFORMATION SECURITY

Risk level

Medium m

Risk movement
Increased

Lo

Link to strategy

Considered in the
Viability statement

v

HEALTH AND SAFETY

Risk level

Risk movement
Stable

Lo

Link to strategy
&

iR

Considered in the
Viability statement

v

What is the risk?

Vulnerability 1w
attack. makware. and
associated cyber risks

What is the risk?
Faiture to effectivcly
protect custoiners and
. or cofleagues and - or
contractors froninjury
ar loss of e

What is the impact?
+ Reputational damage
* Financiat penallies

Reducer! tevenueg
and profitahniity

*» Delenorating casnh flow

Custormer
compensation

¢ Loss of competitive
artvantaqge

What is the impact?
* Employoec - custonier
ifess, njury Qr loss

of g

¢ Repuiatondl damage

Financial penalties

* Legalaction

Risk owner: Chief Operating Officer

How we manage it

+ nvestment ininformaton
secunty safoguards, [T socurity
controls. moniforing. m-house
exportize and resources as part
cf a managed mfort nation security
nriprovernent plan

informiation secunty pelicy
and standards defingd and
communicaterd

Infermiation Secunty and Data
Protectinn Conmittee comprsing
SCIICK MATHUEMENT S6T LD

wath responsibility 'or oversight,
co-ordinzhon A montorng of
infonration securty policy and risk

Infosed training and awareness
programmes for employoes

nformation secunty standards

Intreduction of anhanced secunty
toohng and operations

-

Ongning prograimme ol
penetralion testing

Audhit programime over key supplisrs’

Changes since
last report

The tnove to home
workang dunng
Cowvid-19 presented
additional chatenges
but these were
successiully addressed
with the miroduetion of
ritigating controls. The
riSK OW Faimiains ar thie
same level as prior to
the Covid-19 outhreak,

Risk owner: Chief Supply Chain Officer

How we manage it

= Implementation of Cowid-19
controls 1o protect colleague in the
workplace and customers i the
retal estate. including continuous
micntong of Changuig governmicint
regulation in all junsdichons

« Group Health and Safety strategy

* Comprehensive Mealth and Safety
palicies and standards supporing
contirued improverent

* Heath and Safely management «
Governance Comn mitiee

* Opearaticnal Health ang Satety teams

[0Cated anross husiness units

* Fish a85e58MEnt programme
coverng retal support centies.
distnnuton ard hor e ecrices

* (ncidont reporting ool And process

* Health and Sate'y traring acd
ceveloptment framosork

and Satety nspection

Audit programime nciucd ny fctary
aurlits for cem brand prodiucts and
thired-party supely chans

Changes since
iast report

Thus risk has
remanad unchanged
over 2020 Z1.
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GOVERNANCE

BUSINESS CONTINUITY

Risk level

Risk movement
Stable

Link to strategy

Considered in the
Viahility statement

X

What is the risk?

A major ncident
mipacts the Gros's
alility 1o trade and
bulsingss contrwty
plans are not effective,
resusting 1y an
madequate incident
IESp0NSe

PRODUCT SAFETY

Risk level
Low M High

Risk movement
Stable

Link to strategy

Considered in the
Viability statement

X

SUSTAINABILITY

Risk level

[

Risk movement
New

Link to strategy
W @ &

Considered in the
Viability statement

Link to strategy: 1=

What is the risk?

Unsuitable procedures
and due dilgence
regarding product
salety, parbcularly

iy relaten 1o OEM
sourced prodact, may
renUlt In poar Gualty
or unsafe products
provided to castomers
which pose nsk to
custetrier health

aned safety.

What is the risk?

Mediurm m Cur comnutment

1o sustainability
and being a good
carporate ciZen s
cither not delivered
or ot adoquately
communicated to
or reconriscd by
custormers and
INVESTOrs.

=

Dmnichannes

Credit

What is the impact?

= Reduced revenug
and profitabity

* Detenorahing cash fiow
Reputatonal damage

s Loss of camnetitive
advanlage

What is the impact?
o Financial penaltes
e Raduced cash flow

* Reputational danmage

What is the impact?
+ Reduccd cash

flow as customers
shop clsowhere

» Reputational damage

Loss of compettive
atvantage

@ Services a

FINANGIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Risk owner: Chief Operating Officer

How we manage it

* Business conunuity and ¢isis
rmanagement plans a1 place and
tested for key buainess bocations

= Frablemertl of home working
for ottice-based and contact
centre colleagues

» [Disastor recovery plans i place
ann tested for key T gystems
and data centres

o Crsis team appomted to manage
response to significant evenis

» Magor nisks insured

Risk owner: Chief Supply Chain Officer

How we manage it

o Factory Audits conducted
over OEM supphicrs

o Technical Evaluation of OEM
products pror to production

s Product inspection of GEM
products pricr 1o shipment

e Montonng of reported mcrdents

* Sptoty Gouermanoe revienws
conducted by internal by Technical
and Business Slanaards teanis

Estabzlish protoonls and procodures
o manage product recalls

Risk owner: Strategy

and Corporate Affairs Director
How we manage it
* Rogdmap o Mot Zero
e« Commirment 1o EVI100
e Oversight from ESG Gomnittes
s ESG strategy which s
regularly revised
s Mantenance of a prand tracker

* Comnetment to TCFD ahnad
of mandatory compliance

Mabile

Changes since
last report

This nisk nas
remanesd unchanged
ower 20200

Changes since
last report

This nsk has
remangd unchanged
over 202021,

Changes since
fast report

Given the numiber of
inibiatives, regulatory
reduirements and
expeciations of
stakeholdors this
has boen added as
a new principal nsk
for 2020021,
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PRINCIPAL RISKS
AND UNGERTAINTIES CONTINUED

FINANCGIAL RISKS
TAX LIABILITIES

Risk owner: Chief Financial Officer

What is the risk? What is the impact?

Crystallisation of ¢ Financiai peralties .

How we manage it Changes since

last report

Risk level

Low M High

Eoard and internal camn:ittee

Risk movement
Stable

polential tax exposies o Roouced cash fow
resuftng from legacy
corporate trransactons,
emploves and sales

* Repuitatanal danege

oversght thal actively monitors
tax strategy miplomentation

v Approprate engage nent of

The Group remans
committed 10 achieving
a resclution vailh HWMRC
91 relation 1o open tax

Link to strate third-prarty speciaists 1o provide ’
o strategy taxes anaing from inrlependant advice wherg enquines The rsk
= 0o gt penodic lax audts deemed appropnate TCIIAMS un{(:huﬂgorﬁ
4 - over 202021

Considered in the
Viability statement

v

PEOPLE VRISKS 7

PEOPLE

Risk level

Low m High

Risk movement
New

Link to strategy

Considered in the

Viability statement

X

Link fo strategy:

= oOmnichannel

and investigations
across the vanuus
jursdictions 0 which
the Group operates,

What is the risk? What is the impact?
Not having the nght ¢ Reduced revenug
workloroe capacity anvd profitatlity

capabiity, and .

Failure 1o aotieve
colleague commdment shiategc objeaines
necessary 1o Jdelver

i sathout strong
cnour strategy., leadershin and
capable and
coinmutied colnagues

[£3 credit ¢ Services

Risk owner: Chief People Officer

How we manage it

Stiengthening lcadership
capabiky and successon

INcreasng cnlleague capatbhty
and engagoment to delver
aganst Cuglomer promise

Auvancing the People Operatiuns
Fixt the Fundamentals Transformation

* Approach for remuneration and

centass that supports a high-
petfoimance culture. reinforees
the ngnt biwhaviours alignesd 1o
ow values and supports seling
responsilly 1o customers

Mobile

Changes since

last report

The challenge tn satisty
nerad w0rking practices
and need 10 develop
Newy shalls to achinve
OUF Sratcgy neans
this has been added
as nesy principal nsk
for 2020.21
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GOING CONCERN AND
VIABILITY STATEMENT

FINANCIAL SYATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION 53

Going concern is the basis of preparation of the financial statements that assumes an entity will
remain in operation for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial
statements. The viability statement takes account of the company’s current position and principal
risks, stating whether there is a reasonable expectation that the company will be able to continue

in operation and meet its liahilities as they fall due over a longer term than the going concern period.

Going concern

A review of the Group's business activities,
together with the factors likely to affect 1its
future development. performance, anag
position, are set out within this Strategic
Report, including the risk management
section, The financial position of the
Group, its cash flows, liquidity postion
and borrowing facilities are shown in

the balance sheet. cash flow statement
and accompanying notes to the Annuas
Report and Accounts. The directors have
outlined the assessment approach for
goIng concern in the accounting policy
disclosure in note 1 of the consolidated
financial statemenis. Following that review
the directors have concluded that the
going concern basis remains appropriate.

Viahility statement

In accordance with the UK Corporate
Governance Cods, the directors have
assessed the viablity of the Group over a
period longer than the 12 months covered
by the 'Going Concern' provision above.

The directors, in making the assessment
that three years was appropriate,
considered the current financial and
operational postons of the Group.

the potential impact of the risks and
uncertainties as outlined on pages 46

to 52 of the Strategic Report and the
uncertainty regarding the duration, extent
and ultimate impact of the Covid-19
pandemic plus the further miigating
actions available 1o the Board. The Board
concluded that a perod of three years was
appropriate for this assessmenti as this
period is covered by the Group's strategic
planning process. which is updated
annually, and reflects the period of the five
year strategic plan where there s greater
certainty of cash fiows associated with the
Group's maor revenue streams.

The strategic plan considers the forecast
revenue, EBITDA, working capital. cash
flows and funding requirements on a
business by business basis, which are
assessed in agaregate with reference

to the avalable borrowing facilities to

the Group over the assessment penad
including seasonal cash flow and
borrowing requirements on a monthly
basis and the financial covenants to
which those facilities need to comply. The
model assessed by the directors has been
derved from the Board-approved annual
Group budget for 2021/22, and Board-
approved strategic plan for the remaning
two year penod. These forecasts have
been subject 1o robust stress-testing,
modelling the impact of a combimation of
severs but plausible adverse scenarios
based on those principal nsks facing the
Group, Including speciic consideration of
a range of mpacts that could arise from
the continued Cowvid-19 pandemic. These
scenarics Included more prolonged store
closures, transition from sales i stores to
onling. supply chain impact, and potential
recession N the markets we ocperate. As
part of this analysis. mitigating actions
within the Group's control have also been
considered. These forecast cash flows
ndicate that there remams sufficient
headroom in the viability period for the
Group 1o operate within the committed
faciities and to comply with all relevant
banking covenants.

As well as focusing on the potentially
prolonged impact of Cowd-19, these
scenarios also included other principal
rigks sUch as regulation or information
security incidents and reduced forecast
proitability and cash fiow as a resultin &
significant change in consumer behaviour,
The model assumres no further funding
faciities are required over and above
those currently committed to the Group
as disclosed in note 19 10 the Annual
Report and Accounts.

Based on the results of this analysis,

the directors have an expectation that
the Group will be able to continueg n
operation and meet its kabilities as they
fall due over the three year period of their
assessment. In doing so. 1t s recognised
that such future assessments are subject
to a level of uncertanty and as such
future outcomes cannot be guaranteed
or predicted with certainty.

FURTHER
INFORMATION

Going Concern

For further information on Going Concern,
see note 1 to the financial statements.

Read more on page 148.
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KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

FINANCGIAL

The Group's Key Performance Indicators and Alternative Performance Measures are used for performance analysis. KPIs are
far the penod untit 1 May 2021 are based on 52 weeks of trade (2019/20: 53 weeks). Defintons of measurement are gwen in
the glossary and defintions an pages 216 10 231, The Group's KPIs are set cut below:

Electrical LFL Revenue growth!
e /‘ O s
] ‘Ar 70

2020/21 14%
2019/20 | 2%

201319 3%
Eztionale
Like-for-ike  Firevenue growths the
revenue growth of the business, adusted for
new and closed stores and other changes n
busness Like for-ike revonue growth enables
the performance of tha Group to e measurer)
QN a consistent vear-on-year bhagis,

Performance iy 2020721

This vean's high growth vsas due to o strong
Dperformance across all markets. Onhne sales
weeere particularly strang, grcsang <1037

a

Revenue

v 10,344m

2020/21 £10,344m

Free cash flow™2
(YA A
TS0 an

2020/21 £438m

[2019:20 fa7om|  Tzoreze | risem
[201818 £10,433m | | 2018119 " e153m
Rutionale Ratignale

e ability 1O grovw revenue 1s an mporLant
treaslire of a brand s appeal 1o Customers
and its competitve position,

Poifornerce in 2020021

The -1+ grovweth was driven by sironyg ike-for-
I rverue growth in Llectricals, offset by

store Closures. the shar dnckre n Motls
resenug and ang less wook of trading v the year

4

= B €

\

Adjusted
Profit Before Tax™"

2020/21 £156m

Statutory Profit /
Loss Before Tax

S150m £80m

free cash flow s detined as cash gencrated
from operations kess restrictunng costs, finance
expense. tax pad and capital expenditure. It
ex.ludes penzion contnbutions and cadands
The managamont of cash oplimises resources
avatlable: for the Group 1oanvest m its future
agrewth and to generate shareholder value

Performance in 2470/21

The significant fron cash How wvas driven by
good profitability coupled with a large varking
capital infiow dus to the unvand of the mobile
network receivihle.

Adjusted Earnings
Per Share!"!

10,70

2020021 PG 2020/21 10.7p
2019720 [(C140m) 2019720 |6.7p

[2018/1 9 {Pre-IFRS 16)

£a3em | 2018119 (Pre-IFRS 16) | i€259m)

Statutory Eamnings /
Loss Per Share

Op

202021 | 0p

$ 2018718 (Pre-1IFRS 6

Fationale

Conticued growth of protit helore tax reprasents a m

of Grour pertarmance 1o external n
Ayarst aur strategic priorhes

Ferforivance in 2020/ 21

On an adjusten and statutery bass, prodit betore lax »as up aunneg
ite ear due to meroved proftatulity im all Llectrcals seqmments

Lo — -

= d e

L0510rg and stakonolders of &

2320 | 2018/19 Pre-IFRS 16) | (26.8p)

Rat'onale
Lre The

Perfenr
Increased Proft Buiore

T T 2
e = L g

‘evel of growdth i EPS presioes a suitabln mizasore of the iinancial Feaith
2 Grougp and 45 abity, to d

rrotuers 1o sharahaldors each pear

roein 202008
fax combined S0 stals o rats aro share noints

drose the mproesd EPS performancs in the sar
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NON-FINANCIAL
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INVESTGR INFORMATION

2] Credit Services (@

UK&) Electricals market share Nordics market share

D70/ PIEwley
24 TO FAONSYe

2020/ 24.7%

(2019720 z6.5% | [2oierz0 25 0% |
(201812 B asgn | lootene 25 5%
| 2017118 25 2% [201718 25.0%
I 2016117 25.1% ‘ 2016:17 24.2%
Rationtle
Market shire: 15 e clearsst incicator that the proposdion v are delvenng 1o custonen s s
miore Appeahng than the competition. Markat share s defingd as the Grong's product sales
renative to total consumor salos of teohrology products in each mearkst
Pertormanes (1 2020721
The Group has been pleased with market share performance across the year Intho
Nordics we ganed 0.8% of market share in @ buogant markat Enforced siore closures
in UK and ltelard meant that our sales underperformead market but we have seen
large onilne market share gaing and overdl share gans when stores haww boen open,
o e
Net Promater Score Colleague
{“NPS") Engagement
2020/21 +65 2020/21 +68
| I - R N N - -
201920 +68] | 2019120 +62] Approval of Strategic Report
2018:19 +64 } [2m18/19 +84 \ This Strategic Report was approved
. by the Board and signed on its
Raticnele Retionale

MNet Promoter Score — o rating used by the Croup
10 g AsUre customers' Tkelihood 1o recomirnend
15 oparatens, Thiss ou best lead indicator of
future spend actoss the Groap.

Petfermanes in 2020/21
NPS flaxt 1 the UK but cid miprove shghtly m
the hardies

Cur colleagues are the Croup s most important
Assel and our "Pulse” survey anabiles our
colleaguess to provide hanest and open feadback
onwhat it s like to work at Dixons Carphinne

Peitornance in 2020/21
Iggtrent in traiming, wellneing and roeeand
chove significant improvernents in collcague

engacernant
Selet o UCIEChY COn il T DL 3LE0 T

OO0 PrE wat from TO- L

CUhE UL NG DA TE LI DTNE T S BEheL L e e IT e and vl

Rk FE DI T o

behalf by:

Alex Batdock
Group Chief Executive
29 June 2021

crargs et ke UKEL erel and orana e

DL E0EG P e to tre closae of the Garph e

Trorarr el r xoas cong ged 1o 70 cinstore and

Mobile
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PERFORMANGE REVIEW
2020/21

Group sales were +2% higher than last year, as +12% growth in our Electricals business was
offset by the anticipated decline in Mobile sales. Adjusted EBIT grew +22% as UK & ireland
Electricals and Nordics grew profits, offset by a small decline in Greece and large operating
losses in UK & Ireland Mobile.

Segmental free cash flow more than tnpled to C497m, because of large working capital inflow m UK & reland Mobiie more than

offsetting the cperating losses and restructunng costs. Total free cash flow was £438m which after pension and other payrments
generated cash flow of £373m. improving the year end position 1o net cash of £169m.

Currency
2020/21 2019/20 Reported neutral
income statement £m £m % change % change
Revenue 10,344 10170 2y 1%¢
‘Adjusted EBITDA ' 598 550 5, 7
Admsted EBITDA marg;; a 5.8% 54% 40 Ly;';s 40 bps .
Drpreciation on nghi-ol-use assets (200) 217
Depreciation on other assets 79) "1
Amortisation {57} 144
Adjusted EBIT ) o N ) 262 214 AEVZ% - 7’7225':
Adusted EBIT margin 2.5% 215, A0 hps
Interest cn nght-of-use assals (77) 150
Finaneo meome 6 10
Adiusted tnance costs (35) 128
Adjusted PBT 156 16 - 3455 345
Adjusted PBT margn 1.5% 11, A0 s A0 bps
Adjusted tax (33) 138
Adjusted Profit after tax 123 T8
Adjusted EPS 10.7p 6.7
Statutory reconciliation
Adjusting tems to EBITCA (89) 12173
Statutory EBITDA 509 339
Adjsting itens 1o depreciation and amaortisation (26) 125
Statutory EBIT 147 [ Bz5-. BO3
EBIT Margin 1.4% 10035 170 bps TC nps
Adjusting tems to firanne nosts (4] Ha
Statutory PBT 33 11403
Adjnisting rferre tntax - v
Discortinued speratinng 12 12)
Profit / {loss) after tax - 12 HE

EPS - total 1.0p 1450
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Currency

2020/21 2019/20 Reported neutrat

Cash flow £m fm % change % change

Adjusted EBiTDAR 611 596 3% 565

Adjusted EBITDAR margin 5.9% 5.8% 10 bps 30 bps

Gash payiments Nl leasing costs, deht and mtorcet (288) 1324

Other non-cash tems in EBIT 15 27

Operating cash flow" 338 299 137 187

Operating cash flow 171ar<,3m . 3.3% 297 4-(3 E)[»% -

Capital expenditure (122) 191 367

Adjusting iterms 1o cash flow {173} 190 184)75

Free cash fiow before working capital - 43 14

Waorking captal 454 141

Segmental free cash flow 497 155 22175 2327

Cash tax pad (35} 12()

Cash interest paid (24) 120

Free cash flow ) 438 10049 302% - 324

Divickend - - (78} -

Purchase of own shares 13 b

Pension (47} 46)

Other (5) O

Movement in net cash / (debt) R 373 122)

Net cash / {debt)

Oniine Share of Business 2020/21 2019/20 YoY {%pts)

UK & Iretand Electricals 69% 35% 34

International 28% 185 110%

—MNordics 29% 19% =107

- Grooue 21% i3 +139,
275 B

Electricals

49%
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW
2020/21 CONTINUED

UK AND IRELAND ELECTRICALS

Currency
2020/21 2019/20 Reported neytral
Income statement £m £m % change % change
Revenue 4,921 4.638 fo i 8%
Adjusted EBITDA 393 344 146 145
Adiusted EBITDA margin 8.0% 7.6% 20 bps
Depreciation on right-of-use assets {104) 111
Deprocanan on other assets (42) iy
Arniortisation {38) 125)
Adjusted EBIT N 209 e 279, o
Adjusted EBIT margin 4,2% 368, #50 bps
Adjusting items o EBIT {131} 145)
Statutory EBIT - 7 ) 78 119 [30;’-1)“"; [TMJ%
Statutory EBIT margin - i 1.6% 7 2 6% . 100) bps
Cash flow
Adjusted EBITDAR 401 368 Q%
Adjusted EBITDAR margin 8.1% AR -bns
Cash payments of leasing costs, dabt and mtarest (155) (70
Other non-cash tems in EBIT - 12
Operating cash flow!" 246 aly! VﬂT% 220
Operating cash flow margin - 5.0% - 40 bps
Carntal expenditure (69) 106 447
Adjusting items to cash flow {63) 13} 1570
Free cash flow before working {éapital 124 58 -
Working capital 3 34
t 127 %

Segmental free cash flow

Sales increased +8%. as strong like-for-Ike growth was of set
by the anpact of s1ore ¢ o5ures and t~e moact of an additonal
wesk of trading 11 the prior vear. Like-for-"ke growih of +14%;
was driven by strong orling sales growth whch more than
compensated for sales lost through temporary enforced store

clasures and the alrrost complete loss of sales in Dixonis Travel,

which impac:ed lie-for-ike growih by 3ppts. In the year, we
c0sed eleven Currys PCWorla stores, including seven High
Street stores. We also ook the difficult But necessary dec sion
0 ¢i0ge our 35 Dixons Travel stores.

Dunng the year. online sales grew + 1475 and corprised
897% of segmertal sales. +34pets higher than ‘ast year.

Across the year, &l major categones grew with compuling

sales the standeout pe-former. growng +28% with especially
high growtr n Apple croducts, laotops and ganirg. Consursr
eiectricals sales were strong as sales of large TVs and smart
tech offset decines in Imaging and Audio products, desprie very
strong growth n Feadptones. Mgor demestic applance sales
were adversely mpacted by the closure of stores put trends
Since reope” ng Nave Heen encourag NG in this category.

The rarket graw +21% dureg the year as the stere channe:
declired (4812 and the onl ne market almost doucied. We ‘ost
1.7 of share due 10 the temporary enforced store Cicsures.
when not all competitor stores were required 1o close. Our anling
market share grew +6.000!s,
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Gress margin dechred (230bps (1H: (350)bps, 2H: (140ibps),
predominantly driven by the shift of sales to our lower gross
margin onling business and the loss of higher gross margin
Dixons Travel sales, This dechne improved in the second half of
the year due to the easier base of comparison aganst the Covid
disruption at the end of last year and aided by order & collect
being available. The pperating expense 1o sales ratho improved by
+300bps, with around +130bps of improvement coming from the
UK & Ireland business rates tax reliefs which lowered operating
costs by £62m [2018,20: £4m). The Group fully reimbursed all
government support for furlough money received for the year, so
it had no impact on Gperating costs (2019/20: £17m). In 2021722
changes in the IT systems being procured will increase operating
costs by c.£15m,

Adusted EBIT increased +27% to £209m, from £164m in
2019/20.

In the penad, adjusting tems to EB!T totaled C131m. impairmeant
losses of £100Im were recognised due 1o the closure of Dixons
Travel, store imparments and write-off of 1T assets. This pnmarly
related to scitware development costs, given a change 1n
strategic direction towards a best-in-class cioud-based solution
which will am tc achieve operatonal efficiencies and mprove the
customer journey. Strategic change costs of £21im were due to
restructuring of business. Amortisation of acquisition intangibles
totalled Li14pm. Alongside previously provided amounts these
had a cash impact of LB3)m in the period. Statutory EBIT for the
year decreased by £41m to £78m.

2020/21 2019/20

P&L Cash P&L Cash

Acquisition / disposal related itorms (t4) - 114} -
Strategic change programmaes (21) 51) 13 141
Datla incident costs - () - 15)
Impairman losses and onerous contracts (100} (16) (18) -
Regulatary M - - -
Other 5 5 - -
Total (131) {63) {45} 16

The operating cash liow increased by +17% to £248m, mostly driven by the better profit outturn. Capital expenditure was £58m, with
significant areas of expenditure Including supply chain investments in our new dstnbution centres and IT investmants. Expenditure
was down from last year due to the suspension of projects dunng the first UK lockdown. Adjusting tems are described above while
workeng capital infiow was small at £3m. In combination, this resulted in segmental free cash flow of ©127m. €35m better than last year,
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW
2020/21 CONTINUED

NORDICS
Currency
2020/21 2019/20 Reported neutral
Income statement £m m % change % change
Revenue 4,186 3.574 17 % 157%
Adjusted EBITDA 267 240 15, 1165
Acfusted EBITDA margm 6.4% 57 1300 bps
Depraciation on nght-of-Lse assots {77} 174)
Deprgcation on othor agsets (27) 25)
Amortisation {12) [&15)]
Adjusted EBIT 151 126 202, 20%¢
Achusted EBIT margin 3.6% 35 10 bps
Acljusting itens 10 EBIT (12) 1)
Statutory EBIT 139 15 21 235,
Statutory EBIT miargin 3.3% 327 0 hpes
Cash flow
Adjusted EBITDAR 2n 248 9%
Adjusted EBITDAR margin 6.5% G4 ) s
Cash payments of loasing costs, debt and inle-es) (100) Gt
Other non-cash tems n EBIT 5 5
Operating cash flow 176 162 g, 755
Operating cash flow margin 4.2% 45 1301 bhps
Capital expenditurg {52 E3 177

Adjusting items 1o cash flow -

Free cash flow before working capital 124 e

Working capital 64 17

Segmental free cash flow 216

Revenue grew Dy +15% on a currency neutral basis. and +17% Sweden where there has been no discernible impact on tradirg
on a 52-week basis, with douole dgit growthin all markets. from the ertry of Amazon. Durng tne year, we opened a net tola!
This was driven oy | xe-for-Ike growth of +16% and ncluded of six stores, fve in Norway and ong in Sweden.

onhne growth of +74%0 as orling sales grew 10 297%: of total sales,
+1Cppts hrgher than last year. Qur stere sales were broadly flat
N the secord haif of the year ag robust rading in opern stores
offset cosures in Denmark and Norway. This resulted ir overal
market share increas ng +0.8ppts 0 26.8%, wath share gars

IN evary marxket except Denmark where saies warg irmpacted

by tfemporary store o'osores. The fastest growing market was

Sates of laptops. smart TVs and gaming equicment saw
sigrif-cant nereases as peopie spent more time wor« g, and
more lgisure une, at home Coffee machings saw very streng
growt as peorle made coffee at home. fitness wezrabies had
good growth due 1© public gym closures and pecple working
aut on therr own. while domest < applances neluding vacuum
C'ganers werg strorg &s Lustcmers <ot homes c.ean
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Gross margin decined {130)bps {1H: (70Ibgs. 2H 1180)bos.
predominantly driven by the shift of sales towards the lower
gross margin online channei. The operating expense 1o sales
ratio improved by +130bps, due fo operating leverage.

As aresuit. adjusted EBIT increased £25m to £151m, from
T126m in 2018/20.

In the pericd, adjusting items to EBIT totalled £0121m, this was
ertraly due to the amartisation of acquisition intangitles and haa
no cash mpact. The statutory EBIT increased £24m to £138m.

The operating cash flow increased by 9% to £176m, driven by
the better profit outturn. Capital expenditure was £52m. with
significant areas of expenditure including our Next Generation
Retall platform and store refits. The total spend was down onast
year as some spend was reld back at the start of the Cowd-18
crisis Working capial infiow of £64m was driven by tming of
year end payments that will largely reverse in 2021,22.
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GREEGE
Currency
2020/21 2019/20 Reported neutral
Income statement £m £m % change % change
Revenue 518 470 108 3%
Adjusted EBITDA 40 40 — (e
Adjusted EBITDA margin 7.8% 85% 170) bps
Doepreciaton on nght-of-usc assets {13) 13)
Depreciahon on other assets 6} t3)]
Amarisation (2} iy
Adjusted EBIT 19 21 (101" {1415
Adjusted EBIT margin 37% 4 5% 800 bips
Adusiing ems to EBIT - 1)
Statutory EBIT 19 20 (5%
Stalutory EBIT margin 3.7% 4 3% 601 bps
Cash flow
Adjusted EBITDAR 42 a2 -
Adjusted EBITDAR margin 8.1% 207 18U bps
Cash paymoents of leasing costs. debt and interest {20) 18]
Other non-cash items in EBIT 2 1
Operating cash flow 24 28 114¥5 155
Operating cash flow margin 4.7% 650 {1300 bhps
Captal cxponditure {10) 15) 335
Adjusting items to cash flow - - —z
Free cash flow before working capital 14 13
Waorking capital 25 157}
Segmental free cash flow 39 a4y 1805, 1845

Reven.e increased +8% an a currency neutral basis, with
lke-for-lke sales growtn of +11%. Ontne saies grew +185%
and connbuted 21% of sales, from 8% 1 207920, Stores
were cosed front § November until 11 January and agan from
29 January until & Apnl, and as a result, store sales dec'ined
shightly duning the year.

Sales were strong n ail categeres. except air conc ticring which
saw siower sales due ¢ the milg weather. Sales in compuing and
teiscom were past cularly strong with the gover~ment's dgital
care niative. where low ncome students have been granted

& €200 coupan. Doosting sales towards e end of the year

Gross margin was down 13901ns over prar year i (28005,
ZH: (460ibps) as a result of lower acrigved product margn due
to channst and category mix, ower protection semase and crect
mceme and addtongl costs of fulfiling onlng sales as well as

collection costs for consumer crecht. Operating costs decreased
due o enforcement by government on landicrds of & 409 ertal
reduction for May, June. Novemier and December ard a furtner
100¢% reduct ¢n for January unti Agal.

AS a result, adiusted EBIT decreased "0/ 19 £19m. from €21m
in 2019-20. Thare were no adjusing terms to EBIT in the current
year, resultirg in statutey EBIT of £29m,

The aperanng cash fow was 247, cown from £28mMin the
prior year. Captal expenditure was C10m, with s.grificart areas
of expend ture mcluding digital transformation and property.
Waor<ng captal nlow of D22 was driven by strong traaing at
tm2 end of the per.od.

in the year a-sac we will enter Cyprus, an area wth a popdlaicn
aof 1.0 m. Two rew sicres will oper in Noosia and Lmeassol in
June, 1o comrplemenrt our onlineg shop and call centre.
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UK & IRELAND MOBILE
Cutrency

2020/21 2019/20 Reported neutral
income statement £m £m % change % change
Adjusted revenue 707 1,636 {7 57 P
Statutory revenue 21 1,584 {Bh)2 15575
Adjusted EBITDA {102) 168) 20§, 1505
Adjusted EBITDA rmargm (14.4)% 4.2 11,020) bps
Depreciation an right-cf-use assels (3] 1183
Depreciabion on ather assets 4) {7}
Amertisation {5) 3
Adjusted EBIT (117) 1971 {21)°. 123)
Acliusted EBIT margin {16.5)% 15,887 1.060) bps
Adjusting iteans 1o EBIT 28 (185}
Statutory EBIT (89} 1282) B8 68%
Statutory EBIT margin {12.3)% M7 70 H40 bps
Cash fiow
Adjusted EBITDAR (103) 64 166
Adusted EBITDAR iargin (14.6)% 15.8)5 {1180 bis
Cash payments of leasing casts, debt and interest” {13} 148
Other non-cagh tems in EBIT 8 g
Operating cash flow'" (108} 101 [71e 121°:
Operating casty How miargin {15.3)% 8.2/ 1910) bps
Capital expendiue (1 (7} 86%
Adjusting items to cash flow” (110} 148} 1295
Free cash flow before working canpital (219) (1561
Netwark delitor 3N 133
Cher working capital (29) ts18)]

Segmental free cash flow

143 103}

Adiusted revenue decreased by (57 )%, reflecting cur decision n
March 2020 1o close the small standalone Carphone Warehouse
stores in the UK and the negative impact from the enforced
closures of our larger stores in the UK due to Covid-19. In Apnl
we made the decision to close our 68 Carphone Warehouse
stores in the Repubhic of reland. The statutory tevenue decrease
was (5517 as there was a £14m positive impact on revenue and
EBIT from mobile network gebtor revatuations. against a £147im
negative revaluation in the prior year.

Durng the vear we ended our unprofitable legacy agreements
with O2 and EE. which ncluded receiving £2189m of outstanding
recenvable from EE. We also renewed the contract wth Three
on our D Mobile MVYNO which will mean the revenue s large'y
accounted for as cash is received. This will impact sales and
profit by ¢.215m in 2021/22 but will not change the cash flow.
After the year end. we agreed an exclusive multiyear partnership
with Vodafone based on a new commercial framewcrk focused
on drving great service. mnovation, ana loyalty.
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UK & IRELAND MOBILE CCNTINUED

The dechre in adusted EBIT 1o 2 C(1171m loss reflects the lost morg than cffset impairments. which were manly related
gross profit from lower sales. with sales transfer o Currys to closure of Carphone Warehouse Ireland. This resulted in
PCWorld stores 'nhipited by unexpeciaed closures. which statutory EBIT Igss of £189im. a signficant impravement on
was not fully offset by cost savings N the year. the LI282)m loss recorded :ast year.
Adiusting lems were £28m positive as maotile network debtor Together with previously provided tems the adjusting items
revailaticns, setlemants and release of previous provisions te cash flow were 2110im 0 the pencd.
2020/21 2019/20

PSL Cash PaL Cash
Mok e nebwork dettor reva.aations 14 - {471 -
Acquisihon » disposal reated tens - {2) 11 -
Strateqic change programimes (20) {102) 07 36
Regulatory 8 ) 30 2
Cther 26 @ _ _

28 (10)

The operating cash flow decreasen 0 £1108im from £101im. Cap tal expenditure was almast nil. Tre network debtor reduced by
L1377, vath tre accslsration in Dart due to sarly repayment by EE. The difference to cash flow of £114m s cug 10 17e revaluation in
the perod. The year-end posihon was L230m. down from £1.0577 three years ago. Other working cap tal cutflow was £128m anven
oy net unwinding of stock and crediors.

Ag previcusly announced, the trarsiion away from thre loss-making tracitonal nost-cay bus.ness wil o8 delvered cash positive
Queral, weth the operatirg «0sses and resiructuning cosis more than fundeg by tre arrwimd 0° the wor<ing capital positor over tme,

As described above, the LUK 8 Ireland Mol'le segent wil be reported as part of a single UK § Felard segment fram 2027122 cnveards.
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Finance Costs 2020/21 2019/20
Interest on lease Mabwhpes was Q77im. a shghtldecrease on pror [erost on lease lEbiies an &0
year due to lower capitalised leases. the cash impact of this
o Finance ncome 6 10
irterest is ncluded within segmental free cash flow.

Finance costs (35) 128)
The net adiusted finance mcome and finance costs were higher - N

Adjusted net finance costs (108) 198

than last year. as the mproved debt position was offset by the
amortisation of new facility arrangement fees and the write off Frrstce costs o defie

of arrangement and extension fees on legacy faciities that were benofit penson schemos ) (A4
replaced during refinancing. The net cash impact of these costs -
was Li24)m. from £26)m in the prior year. The fnance costs on
the defined benefit pensicn scheme was an adjusting item and
dechned in ine wath the assumptions used in the valuation of the Tax
pension obligations.

(114) 112)

Net finance costs

The fult vear adjusted effective tax rate at 21% was lower than
the prior year rate of 33% due o provison releases relating to
uncertain tax pasitions for pror periods. The cash taxin the year
was Di35m.

Cash fiow Currency
Reported % neutral
2020/21 2019/20 change % change
Operating cash flow 338 239 137 1875
Capital expenditure (122) 1191) 2655
Adjusting stems to cash flow (173) 194 B4y,
Free cash flow before working capital 43 1-;’1" .
Working capital and network commissions 454 14
Segmental free cash flow ) 497 ) 155 ’)21ﬂ 2325
Cashtax pad {35) 20
Cash interest pad (24 1265}
Free cash flow 438 109 N 30275 - 324%%
Dridend _ (78]
Net purchase of own shareg (13) 112
Pension (47 {46
Other (5) 5
Movement in net debt 373 22
Opening net cash /7 datt) (204) 1182)

Closing net cash / (debt)

169 1204

Segmental free cash flow was an inflowe of £497m 12019/20; £155m) and interest and 1ax tatalled £59im as descnbed above.
resultng in free cash flow of £438m (2018, 20. £109m;.

The Beard decided not to pay a dividend dunng the year and no cash was returned 1o shareholders in the penod. The employee
benefit trust acquired £13m of shares to satisty share awards to colleagues.

Pension contnbutions of T47m were :in-ine wath the prior year. Annual contribution will nse to £78m from 2021/22, as agreea with the
fund Trustees.

The closing net cash position was C1689m. compared to a net debt position of £(204m at 2 May 2020. This included £35m of
restreted cash (2 May 2020: £32mi. The average net cash for the year was £280m, compared o an average net debt position
of £E55IM in 2019/20

This year. the Group has redefined net debt to comprise cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits, less barrowings but
excluding leases previcusly designated as financing under |AS 17. Including these in net cash ¢ tdebt) would have reduced the balance
by £75m 1o £84m (2 May 2020: £1284)m debt).
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Balance sheet
1 May 2021 2 May 2020
£m fm
Goodwil 2,851 2802
Other fixed assets 1,661 1.823
Network comimession receivables anct contract assets 239 G616
Waorking capital (684) 1645}
Net cash 7 [debt) 169 (204
Lease babihes (1,322) 11,438
Pension (482) 1550
Detorred tax 100 Y7
Provisicns (85) 1150}
Other {66) [y

2,381

Goodwill increased in the pericd due to currency revaluation of
Nordics goodwill.

Other fixed assets decreased by £(162im as additions of £247m
were more than offset by amortisation and depreciation charge
of €362Im and mparrment of £{75jm related to nght-of-use and
UK store assets. the closure of Carphone Warehouse Ireland and
Dixons Travel and the write-off of sorme intangible assets.

Network commission recevables and contract assets decreased
by 01377 as the scale of cur mobile business reduced and the
amount of new revenue capitalised was lower than the payments
received. Thes decrease was acce'erated by EE payng ali s
outlstanding network receivable during the year,

At year end, total working capital was Ci884m. Group nventary
was £1.378m., higher than prior year due o unusually strong
sei-through of stock in the UK & Iretand and Nordics in the priar
year due to Cowd-19. Over the year stock turn ncreased 10 6.8
(2019/20: 6.1) due 1o strong trading and the growng porton of
sales fulfiled by cur less stock ntensive orline business, Trade
recevables decreased by LIBIM 10 £294m 12019/20: £300my
Trade payables ncreased by C171m to £1,420im 12012720
£01.2491m due 1o tming of payments around year end in ihe
Nordies and ore-coff early suppher payments in 2019,20 n the
UK & Ireiand due to Covid-19. At the year end. and since July
2020, tne suppler financirg facilty utilsation was £nib(2 May
2020: £51m).

Other receivables decreased by C{17im compared 1o 2 May
2020 due to prepayment and accrued income decing with
reciuced Mooile operaton. Other payables were broadly stable
N pror year.

1 May 2021 2 May 2020
£€m £m
watory 1,178 37
Trade reccranles 294 506
Trade paysbios {1,420) 1,240
Trarte worksuy captal 52 21
Ciher recarablos 192 i
Cther pavahles (910) 299
Derraties {18) 24
Working capnal ) . ) ) {684)
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Lease liabiiites reduced mainly becausge of the closure of our
Carphone Warehouse standalone UK stores in March 2020, as
these non-trading leases continue 10 come o an end throughaout
the pericc. Iy addition 1o this, there has been a smali decreass in
the average lease length outstanding across our store portfolc

The IAS 19 accounting deficit of the asfined benefit section of
the UK pension scheme amounted ta £482m at 1 May 2021

12 May 2020: £550m). Cortnbutions duning the perod under the
terms of the deficit reduction pian amourted to £47m 12019:20:
£46m). Pension contributions are tax deductble and there 1s a
£59m deferred 1ax asset associagted with the pension fiabilites
12 May 2020: 253m).

The deficit decreased largely as a resuit of increases in the
discount rate applied to future liabilities in ne with long term
bond vield returns, together with ncreased values of underlying
assets. This was partially offset by increases wn infiation rate
assumptions reflecting changes in long lerm RPI expectations.

Deferred tax was broadly flat year-onwyear.

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INVESTOR INFORMATION

Provisions primarly relate to rearganisation and property
provisions. In the period. the balance reduced Dy £(65IM
pricnarily as a result of uilsation of provisions, mainly refated o
Mobile restructuring, offset by increases in provisions dug 1o
the announced closura of the Carphone Warehouse Ireland and
Dixons Travel businesses.

Comprehensive income / changes in equity

Tetal equity for the Group nereased from £2 280m to £2,381m
in the penod. driven by the statutory profit of £12m, gain on
re-translatior. of cverseas aperations of £46m. actuarial gain
Inet of taxationi on the defined benefit penswon defict for the UK
pension scheme of £43m and gaing on investmeant revaluation
of £8m offset by the hedging losses of (16im and other
movemeants of £8m.

Impact of IFRS 16

Accounts are preserted using IFRS 16 accounting. To aid
understanding and comparability with prévious perods.
here we present the impact of IFRS 16 accounting.

2020/21 2019/20
Excluding Excluding
Reported IFRS 16 IFRS 16 Reported IFRS 16 IFAS 16
Adjusted EBIT

UK & irelsnd Electricals 209 (31) 178 TG4 12 162
Inernationas 170 (15) 155 147 i 136
- Nordlics 151 (1) 140 126 14 116G
- Greeos 19 {4) 15 21 ¥ 20
Electricals 379 (46) 333 are a3 208
Adusted EBIT margin 3.9% 3.5% 3.6 289 ¢
UK & Irefanrd Maobite {117} (3) (120) 197} i7) 104
Adjusted EBIT 262 (48) 213 214 201 194
Adjusied EBIT rmargin 2.5% 21% 215, 190
Fiance costs {105) 71 {35) 198) 70 (28
Adjusted PBT 156 22 178 16 50 166

Adjusted PET r'nar_;gm

1.7% 1,470 1.6%
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DIREGTORS’
REPORT

The Directors’ Report required by the Companies Act 2006 (the 'Act'), the corporate governance
statement as required by DTR 7.2 and the management report required by DTR 4.1 comprises

the Strategic Report on pages 1 to 67, the Corporate Governance Report on pages 73 to 86, together
with this Directors’ Report on pages 70 to 72. All information is incorporated by reference into this

Directors’ Report.

Directors

The names, biographies, commitiee memberships and dates
of appointment of eéach member of the Board are provided
an pages 68 and 69. Jonny Mason will step down from the
Board on 9 July 2021 and Bruce Marsh will be appointed as
an Executive Directer and the Group Chief Financial Officer
from 12 July 2021

The Board is permitted by 1ts Articles of Association (‘Articies’],
to appoint new directors to fill a vacancy as long as the total
number of dirgctors does not exceed the maximum limit of

15. The Articles may be amended by special resolution of the
sharehclders and require that any directer appointed by the
Board stand for election at the following annual general meetng.
In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code

fthe 'Code’), all directors submit themselves for election

or re-election on an annual basis.

The Remuneration Report provides detals of applicatle
service agreements for Executive Duectors and terms of
appointment for Non-Executive Directors. Al the directors
proposed by the Beard for re-election are baing unammously
recommended for ther skills. experience and the contribution
they toring to Board delberations.

During the year. no Director had any material interest in

any contract of significance to the Group's business. Their
interosts 1n the ghares of the Company, iIncluding those of any
connected persons. are outlined in the Remuneraticn Report.

The Board exercise all the powers of the Company subject to the
Articies, the Act and sharehelder resclutions. A formal schedu's
of matters reserved for the Board 15 1n place and is availatle on
the Company's webele at www.dixonscarphone.com.

Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors' respons i ties for the financial stecements
contamed wihirn this ARA and the directors' confirmat-ons
as requred under DTR 4112 are set out on page 130

Directers’ indemnities and insurance

The Company has made cualifying thrd-party indemnity
orovisions fas defined n the Act) for the benefit of s a.rectors
during the year: these provisions remain 11 force &t the date
of th s Directore” Report.

In accordance wath the Articles, and to the extent permitted
Ly law, the Company may indemrify its direciors out of s
own funds to cover lizkh hes incurred as a result of their office.

The Group holds directors' and officers” iability insurance
cover for any claim brought against directors or officers for
alleged wrongful acts in connection with their pesitions., to

the paint where any culpability for wrongdoing is established.
The insurance provided does not extend to claims arsing from
fraud or dishanesty.

Information required by Listing Rule 9.8.4R

Details of long-term incentive schemes as required By Listing
Rule @ 4 3R are located in the Directors’ Remuneration Report
on pages 100 to 129. There s no further information required
G be disclosed under Listing Rule 9.8.4R.

Dividend

The Board did not pay an intenm dividend during the vear but
has proposed a full year dividend for the year ended 1 May 2021,
Detalls of dividends paid dunng the year are included in the
below table.

Year ended Year ended
1 May 2021 2 May 2020
Imerim divedersd Nil 225p
Final dividend Nil Ml
Ful \,»éarrchvidcr id 306p - Nil
Total dividends ' 3.00p 228

Ag at 29 Jung 2021 the Company's Ermployee Benefit Trust
'EBT'} held 26.028.451 shares, The right to receive the final
drvidend for 202021 will be waived by the trustees of the EBT in
respect of the balance of shares held as at the dividend record
date 'n September 2021

Colleague involvement

The Group has a rebust commuricatons programme in place
to provide colleagues wath informator an matters of corcern

to them. This includes regular publicatons or the Group's
mtranet, emal Lodatas rom the Group Chief Executive and
regular meetings with Ine managers. The Executive Comm tiee
team regurarly comrunicates matters of current interest and
cencerr 0 cailsagues. Trere are colleague forums ir place n
UK and Ireiana and &an Irtermatcnal Forem nas bee establshed
representing ar countries in the Group as the certre of a
co'gague hstering frameworx 10 ersure that ol eague feennack
s recewved effectively and consistently across ail the courtries
that the Growup operates in. This forum supoorts vano.s init atves
and more detals are avalab'e or nage 26. Detals of the
colleagues’ INvolvement in the Group's share plans are fisclosed
in the Bermunerat.on Report on pages 100 to 129.
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Employment of disabled people

The business i committed 1 providing equal opportunities In
recruitment, franing. development and promotion. We encourage
applications from individuals with disabilities who can do the job
effectively and candidates will be considered for each role. Al
efforts are made to retain disabled colleagues in cur employment
including making any reascnable re-adusiments 1o therr roles
Every endeavour is made to find sutable alternative employment
and to re-train and support the career development of any
emplovee who becomes disabled while serving the Group.

Information on greenhouse gas emissions

The information on greenhouse gas emissions that the Cormpany
15 required to disclose 1$ set out in the Sustainable Business
Report on pages 42. This information 15 ncorporated into this
Directors' Report by reference and is deemed to farm part of
this Directors” Report.

Political donations
No political donations were made by the Groug duning the period.

Capital structure

The Company's only class of share 1s ordinary shares. Detalls

of the moverments in issued share capital during the year are
provided in noate 23 to the Group financial stalements. The vating
rights of the Company's snares are identical, with each share
carrying the right to one vote. The Company holds no shares

in Treasury.

Details of employee share schemes are provided in note 4 10
the Group financial statements. As at 1 May 2021. the Dixons
Carphone plc EBT held 20.5 milion shares. The EBT acquired
11,6 milion shares by market purchase during the financial year.

Restrictions on transfer of securities of the Company
There are no specific restrictions on the size of a hotding nor

on the transfer of shares, which are both governed by the
general provisions of the Articles and prevaiting legistation.

The directors are not aware of any agreements between

holders of the Comipany's shares that may result in

restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights.

No person has any special rights of controt over the
Company's share capital and all issued shares are fully paid.

Change of control - significant agreements

All of tre Company's share incentive scheme rules contain
provisions which may cause ophions and awards granted
under thesa schemes 1o vest and become exercisable in
the event of a change of control.

The Group’s main committed borrowing facility has a change
of control clause whereby the participating banks can require
the Comipany o repay all outstanding amourts under the
facility agreement in the event of a change of control. There
are a number of significant agreements which would allow
the counterparties to terminate or aiter those arrangements
in the event of a change of control of the Company.
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These arrangements are commercially confidential, and their
disclosure could be sericusly prejudicial to the Company.

Furthermore. the directors are not aware of any agreements
between the Company and its directors or employees that
provide for compensaticn for loss of office or employment
In the event of a takeover bid.

Significant shareholdings

As at 1 May 2021, the Company had been notified of the following
woting interests n the ordinary share capital of the Company in
accordance with Chagter 5 of the FCA's DTR. Percertages are
shawn as notfied, calculated with reference to the Company's
disclosed share capital as at the date of the notfication.

Number of Percentage of
Name shares  share capital
RWC Assat Management LLP 62,906,333 HA1%
Wishhone Managemoent LLP 41.500.000 5.25%:
Tameside MBC re Groater
Manchaster Pension Fund 58,722,740 5.03%:
Lansduwnie Partnors 57.675.527 5010
Rutfer 52845115 500

Majedic Asset Managament 59,063.41

O P JRoss 55,738,699
Cubiasg Asset Management 47,366,831

Sir Charles Dunstone CVO

14,440,134

Following the year end, Madjedie Asset Management disclosed
to the Company a holding of 60,112,120 shares representing
5.15% of the Company's issued share capital.

Cn 29 June 2021, being the last practicable date prior to the
nublicaton of this Annual Report and Accounts, no further
changes to the shareholdings reported above had been
notfied to the Company in accordance with DTR 5.

Directors’ interests i the Company's shares and the movements
thereof are detailed in the Rermuneration Report on pages 100
to 129,

Issue of shares

In accordance with section 551 of the Act. the Articles and
within the fimits prescribed by The Investment Association,
shareholders can authonse the directors to allot shares in

the Company up to one third of the 1ssued share capital of

the Company. Accordingly, at the AGM in 2020 shareholders
approved a resolution 1o give the directors authority to allot
shares up to an aggregate nominal value of £388,819. The
cirectors have no present intention to issue ordinary shares.
other than pursuant to obiligations under employee share
schemes. This resolutian remains valid until 2 November 2021
or i earler, untd the conclusion of the Company's AGM in 2021,
The Company will seek the usual renewal of this authority at the
2021 AGM.

Il
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Purchase of own shares

Authonty was gven by the shareholders at the AGM in 2020 to
purchase a maximum of 116,645,844 shares, such authority
remaming vald unti 2 Novermnber 2021 or, f sarler. untl the
conclusion of the Company's AGM in 2021, The authority was
not exercised dunng the pericd or oner 1o the date of this Report.
The Company will seek the usual renewal of this authority at the
2021 AGM.

Use of financial instruments
Informaticn about the use of financial instruments 1s given
in note 26 to the Group financial statements.

Post-balance sheet date events

Events after the balance sheet date are disclosec in note 34
to the Group financial statenients,

Auditor

Fach Director at the date of approval of this Annual Repart and
Accounts confirms that:

* sofar as the Director 1s aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company's auditor is unaware; and
+ the Director has taken all the steps that they ought 1o
have taken as a Director in order 1 make themself aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
Company's auditor 1 aware of that information.

This confirmaton is given and should be interpreted in
accardance with the provisions of section 418 of the Act.

During the year. the Audit Cecmmittee managed the tender
DrocesSs to appoint a naw extarnal Auditar far the 2022/23
firancial year, KPMG LLP wall be appointed subject to
shareholder approval at the AGM 2022 Following the
recommendation of the Audit Committee that Deioitte LLP
remain effective, the Board is proposing that Deloitte bhe
reappointed at the AGM n 2021,

Certain information regured o be ncluded in this Directors’
Renort may be found within the Strategic Report.

By Order of the Board

Nigel Paterson
Company Secrelary
29 June 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Compliance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code 2018

The Beard confirms that throughout the year ended 1 May
2021 and as at the date of this report, the Company applied
the principles of, and was fully compliant with the provisions
of the Code.

A copy of the Code is available from the website of the
Financial Reporting Council www frc.org.uk,

Further information on how the Company has implemented
each of the Code provisions matters can be found as follows:

Board leadership and company purpose Page 73
Division of responsibilities Page 77
Composition, succession and evaluation Page 79
Audil, risk and internal control Page 82
Remuneration Page 86

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INVESTOR INFORMATION 3

Chair of the Board statement

| am pleased to present the Corporate Governance report for
the vear to 1 May 2021, The Board 1s responsible for the overall
leadership of the Group o ensure the long-term, sustainabie
success of the husiness. This year, that has included the Board
providing oversight of the Company’s response to the Covid-18
cnsis and the difficult decisions that the management 2arm nas
faced in progress ng the long-term strategic transformation plans
for the business in the face of the disruction caused by Covid-18.

This Corporate Governance repart describes the governance
frarmework that we have in place 1o ensure that the Board

is operating effectively and supporting and challenging
management 0 maintain hgh standards of corporate
governance across the Group. | believe that robust corporate
governance is the foundation to ensuring the long-term
suslainable success of a besiness and helps us deiver the right
outcomes for our shareholders, our customers. cur colleéagues.
our suppliers and our communities.

The Board is fully compliant with all prowvisions of the Code.
This year we have structured this report by the Code provisions
G help show how we have applied these 0 each cass.

BOARD LEADERSHIP
AND COMPANY PURPOSE

Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for overall leadership and promoting
the long-term sustainable success of the Company, generating
value for shareholders and contributing to wider society.

The Board sets the Company strategy and oversees its
implermentation within a framewark of efficient and effective
controls that allow the key issues and nisks facing the business
to be assessed and managed. The Board considers the
impact on. and the responsibility it has to, all the Company's
stakeholders as part of decision-making. The Board delegates
clearly defined responsibilities 10 ts committees and the

terms of reference for these committees are avalable on the
Company's website at www.dixonsearphone.com/nvestors.

The Company’s viSIoN. purpose, values and strategy are
described i mere detail In the Strategic Report on pages 1
to 67. The Board oversees the delivery of the strategy within
the context of the values and culture.

Culture

The directors are focused on monitonng culture in the business
and recewe regular updates on the results of colleague *Pulse
surveys’. All non-executive directors have access to the
Company's intranet and corporate email addresses and receive
all communications sent to colleagues, In addition, the non-
executive directors freguently have direct contact with Executive
Committee members and thew direct reports Non-executive

directors are invited to Company events such as the annual Peak
event and wisit key sites and stores. Unfortunately. these visits
have not been able to take place during this financial year dug

to Covid-19. There is representation from the non-executives on
each of the two coleague histening forums and the Inctusion and
Diversity Forum which further facilitates the Board monitoring of
corporate culture,

Corporate Governance Framework
The Dixons Carphone plc Board is supported by four committees:

*  Audit Committee -~ oversces the financial reporting, internal
controls and the relationship with the external auditor;

» Disclosure Committee — oversees the procedures and
controle for the identification and disclosure of price sensitive
information:

+« Nominations Committee — oversees the composition of
the Board and its committees and that a diverse pipeline s
in place for succession planning; and

* Remuneration Committee - oversees the remuneration
of the Exacutive Directors and sernior management and the
structure of remunegration for the workforce.

These commitiees are each comprised of directars of the
Dixons Carphone ple Board, with the exception of the General
Counsel and Company Secretary who 13 a member of the
Disciosure Commuttee.
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The day (o day management of the business is delegated to

the Group Chief Executive whao is responsitle tor lsading the
implementation of the strategy that has been approved by the
Board. The Group Chief Executive s supported by an Executive
Committee which consists of ning senior leaders in the business
and also by a wider Group Leadership Team of appréximately
80 colleagues who support the Executive Committee in driving
the management agenda. The Group Risk and Compliance
Committee comprises the members of the Executive Committee
and oversees the management of principal and emerging risks.
isee page 82 for further informaton), Audit, Rigk and internal
Controls, The Environmental, Social and Governance {ESG)
Committee reports into the Executive Committee. The ESG
Committee drives the sustainability, wellbeing and ethical impact
rtiatives in the Group ncluding consideration of the impacts of
chmate change.

Dixons Carphone plc s the ultimate beneficial owner of the
man operating subsidiares in the Groun. In UK and Ireland. the
Hegutatory Comphance Gommiitee overseas the management
of risks in relation to regulated products and the Product
Governance Committes oversees the development of. and

any subsequent mMaterial changes to. such products. Simitar
governance frameworks for regulated products are replicated
n the International businesses.

THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

DIXONS CARPHONE PLC BOARD

Board reserved matters

The formal schedule of matters reserved for the decision of the
Board is considered by the directors on an annual basis. [his
was last considered in January 2021 and the directors agreed
that the balance of matters reserved and matters delegatedt
remain appropriate. The matters reserved for Board decision are
avalable on the Campany's website www.dixonscarphone.com
and these include:

» approval of published financal statements, dividend palicy
and other disciosures requinng Board approval:

¢ declaration of nterim and recommendation of finat dividends;

¢ approval of budget and Group strategy and objectives;

appointment and remunération of directors. the Company
Secretary and other senior executives:

¢ approval of maor acauisitions and disposals:
approval of authority levels for expenditure;

»  anproval of certain Group policies; and

» approval of shareholder communications.

Key areas of focus for the Board during the year
s Strategy

= The Group's response to Covid-19: keeping customers
and colleagues safe, helping customers and protecting
the future of the business

+ Succession and leadership

+  Financial and operational performance
+ Colleagues. values and cuiture

«  Business updates.

- AUDIT COMMITTEE

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
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BOARD ACTIVITIES

DURING 2020/21

FINANGIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

STRATEGY * Three-Year Plan » Customer Contact and Support Straiegy update
* Project approval requests and * Reviewed the strategic plans for Credit,
progress updates Future Mobile Offer and Services
s UJK&! Commercial Trading deep dive s Considered partial listing of the Nordic business
* Lipdates on the management of the = Approved new banking facility arrangements
impacts of Brexit » Oversight of Group performance against strategy
and delivery of transformation projects
coviD-19 » | ockdown scenarios - financial updates e Re-consideration of strategic projects
* Business response to Covig-19 updates following Covid-19
FINANCIAL AND » The Company’s preliminary and interim  * Dividend, treasury and tax strategies

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

rasults, trading staterments and the
Annual Report

Going Concern and Viability Statements
Fair, balanced and understandable
assessment

Appointment of new external Auditor
for 2022/23

Budget 2020/21
Capex items
Share purchase and cash sweeping proposals

COMMITTEE UPDATES

Detailed summaries from each Committee Chair — Audit, Disclosure,
Nomination and Remuneration — following the relevant Committee meetings

OTHER STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

GUSTOMERS * Customer experience updates « Customer feedback and metrics
and insights
SHAREHOLDERS ¢ Annual General Meeting documents * |nvestor Relations updates
COLLEAGUES « Annual health and safety review e Talent, succession planning and leadership
* Colteague Shareholder Scheme award ¢ Inciusion and diversity update
* Modern slavery update and statement ¢ Colleague engagement and colleague listening
* 2019-21 people plan and priorities survey insights
¢ Company values and culture update * People operations proposal
* Gender pay gap reporting
GOVERNANCE AND RISK * Risk framework and internal control » Confiicts of Interest and new appointments

review

Principal risks and uncertainties review
Risk horizon scanning

Regulatory Compliance updates

ESG updates

Litigation and disputes updates

Group Delegation of Authority Policy review
Committes Terms of Reference review

Role descriptions of the Chair of the Board,
the Group Chief Executive and the Senior
independent Director review

Board effectiveness process

75
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Communication with investors

The Board supports the initiatives set out in the Code and the
UK Stewaraship Code and encourages regular engagement
with both existing and potential institutonal shareholders and
other stakeholders. The Board believes that it 13 important to
explain business developmients and financial results tc the
Company s shareholders and to understand sharghotder
concemns. The princigal communication methods used to
mpart information tg shareholders are news releases (including
results announcements), investor presentatons and Company
publications. The Board recenves a report from the Investor
Relations team at every scheduled meeting and this includes
a summary of investar interactions during the period and a
synopsis of questions and feedback from shareholders.

The Group Chief Executive has principal responsibilty for
nvestor relations. He 1s supported by a dedicated investor
retations department that, amongst other matters. ensures there
1s a full programme of regular dialogue with maor nstitutional
shareholders and potential shareholders as well as with sell-side
analysts thraughout the year. In all such dialogue. care 5 taken
to ensure that ne price-sensitive information 15 reieased.

The Charr of the Board and non-execulive directors are available
0 meet with major shareholders as required, and the Chair

of the Remuneraton Committee communicates with major
shareholders on remuneration matters.

The Company i€ committed to fostering effective communicabon
with all members, be they institutional investors. private or
employae shareholders. The Company communicates formaty
to s members when its full vear and half year results are
published. These results are posted an the carporale websie
as are other external arnouncements and press re‘eases.

The AGM provides an opportunity for the Company 1o engage
with shareholders and for the Board to provide an account of
the progress made by the busingss during the year, along with
a synopsis of current issues facing the business. Unforturately,
it was not possible to allow shareholders 1o attend the meeting
Feld in Septermber 2020 due to Cowd-19.

FURTHER
INFORMATION

Stakeholder engagement

Information an how our culture is embedded
in the way we engage with stakeholders
including our colleagues.

Read more on page 28.

Our stakeholders

The directors are fully aware of thar respensibilities 1o promote
the success of the Company = accordance with section

172(1) of the Act. Tre Board considers the wnpact on. and the
responsibility it nas to, all the Company’s stakeholders as part
of decision-maxing. By considering the Company’s strategic
prionties and having processes in place for decision-making,
they do. however, am to make sure that their decisions are
consistent. The Group communicates with external stakeholders.
including industry bodigs and regulators an the management of
risks and issues. Further mformatiaon on our engagement with
stakehalders is avallable on pages 28 10 31.

Workforce

The Board remains committad to ensunng that 1t gives due
regard to the interests of all of its stakeholders, including
colieagues. In its discussions, the Board has sought 1o
understand and consider the views of our colleagues. Further
details are available in the Capable and Committee Colleagues
section an pages 22 to 27, Further information on workfarce
policies and practices and how the Company invests

and rewards col'eagues s aisc avalable in the Capable and
Committed Colleagues section.

Autharisation of conflicts of interest

Each director has a auty under the Act to avoid a situaton
where they have or may have a conflict of interest. Thay are @lso
required 10 discloge to the Board any interest in a transaction or
arrangement that 1s under consideration by the Company. The
General Counsel and Company Secretary supports the directors
n identifying potental conflicts of interest and reporting them

to the Board. The Board is permitted by the Company's articies
of association to authonse conflicts when appropriate. Potential
conflicts are approved by the Board, o by two Independent
directors if autherisation 13 needed guickly, and then reperied to
the Board at 15 next mesting. A register of directors’ conflicts is
maintamed. Directors are asked fo confirm periodically that the
information on the reqister is corract. The Board is satisfied that
the Compary's procedures to identify, authcrse and manage
conficts of nterest have operated effectively during the year.
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DIVISION OF
RESPONSIBILITIES

Board Structure

The Board 15 comprised of two executve directors, tive
inctependent non-exacutive dircctora and the Chair of the
Board to lirmit the ability for any indwidual or small group to
dominate Board decision making. There is a clear division
of responsihilities between the executive leadership of the
business and the leadershp of the Board.

Director responsibilities

In accordance with the Code. there 1g a clear division of
responsibiity between the Chair of the Board and the Group
Chief Executive. Role descriptions are in place for the Chair

of the Beard. Group Chief Executive and Senior iIndependent
Director and the Nominations Commuttee reviews and considers
these on an annual basis and recommends any changes to the
Board. The role descriptions were last approved by the Board
i January 2021 and are avalable on the Company's website
wwwe dixonscarphone.com. The man responsibilities of the
different components of the Board are set out below.

Chair of the Board’s responsibilities

» overall Board effectiveness and ieadership:

*  Board culture, ncluding the encouragement of
openness and debate and constructve refations
between the execCutive and non-executive directors;

e the appropnate balance of skills. experience and
knowledge on the Board;

+ oversight of the nduction, development, performance
evaluation, and successian planning of the Board,

* promoton of divergity and equalty of opportunity
across the Group;

+ representaticn of ali stakehciders” interests; and

¢ promotion iwith the support of the Company Secretary)
of the highest standards of carporate governance.

Group Chief Executive’s responsibilities
e formulation and proposal of the Group strategy
and delivery of the strategy approved by the Board:

s delivery of Group financial performance:

* lsadership of the Group and senior management
including effective performance and succession planning;
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* representation of the Company to key stakeho!ders:

* communication of Company cuiture and ensuring operational
practices drive apprapnate behav.ours:

«  communication 10 the Beoard of views of the warkforce;

+  promotion of diversity and equality of opportunity acress
the Group:

« dentification of busness development opportunties;

« management of Group Risk profile and ensunng internal
controis and risk mibgation measures are in place:

+ ensurnng comphant management of the Group's
business. and

» oversight of the operational and suppaort functions.

Senior independent Director’s responsibilities

s agvalable to communicate with shareholders;

¢ annual appraisal of the performance of the Chair of the Board;

+ oversignt of an orderly successior for the position of Chair of
the Board;

¢ support the Chair of the Board in the performance of their
duties; and

s« work with the Charr of the Board, other directors and
sharehoiders 1o resolve sigrificant 1ssues and to maintain
Board and Company stability in periods of stress.

Independent Non-Executive Director’s responsibilities
« provision of an independent perspactive;
¢ ensuring constructive challenge of management;

* considering the effectivenass of the implementation of the
strategy within the risk appetite; and

+ contribution of diversity of experience and backgrounds to
Board deliberations.

General Counsel and Company Secretary’s

responsibilities

* trusted advisor to the Board on corporate governance
matters:

« suppcrt for the Char of the Board and non-executive
directors;

* ensunng that the Board and committees have the
appropaate type and quahty of information they need
to make sound business decisions: and

= ensunng that the corporate governance framewcerk
and practices remam fit for purpose.
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Time commitment and attendance

The Nommations Committee has considered the commitment
shown by the non-executive directors to the Company and 1s
satistied that all drectors devote appropriate trme 1o their roles.
There were a number of ad hoo Board meetings and additional
informal update calls durng 2020/21. These were convened
due to the challenging external crcumstances created by the
Covid-19 pandemic. All directors made themselves available to
attend ali these unscheduled calls and update calls including
those that had to be arranged at short notice. The Nominations
Commities considers the external appontments of each of the
directors cn at ieast an annual basis. It was concluded again for
2020/21 that none of the directors had external commitments
thatl would hinder their abikty t0 devote sufficient time o
discharging their Beard role. Detals of the directors' attendance
at the Board meetings that took place dunng the year can be
found on pages 68 and 69.

Board meetings and information

The Chair of the Board 15 respansible for ensunng that all
directors are properly brefad onissues arising at Board
meetings and that they have full and timely access 10 relevant
irformation. A comprehensive reiling agenda is in olace for
the Board and each committee to ensure that all regular
upZates and acprovals can be considered n suffcient detad

whilst leaving appropriate space on meeting agendas for the
consideration of current issues. The Company uses an electronic
board paper systern which enalyles the safe and secure
dissemination of quality information o the Board. Templates and
guidance are provided to ensure that directors are provided with
the information they need to be able o discharge their duties.
Formal minutes of the Board and cormmitteg meetings are
prepared by the General Counsel and Company Secretary,

or therr nominee, and are approved by the Board or commitiee
at the next meeting.

The Charr of the Beard maintains regular communications

with the non-executive directors in between meetings. Tima s
proviced before and after every Board meeting for the non-
executive directors to meet without the executives present, Prior
t0 the Covid-19 pandemic, Board dinners weere held penodically
on an evening prior to a Board meeting to provide the opportunity
o discuss corporate strategy, business performance and other
matters in an informal setting.

Board meetings are usually heid at the Company's head office
and have been held by videoconference since the Covid-19
pandermic. The Board usually holds meetings at other Group
locatons from tme 1o tme. This enables directors 1o visit stores
and operatonal centres throughaout the Group and gam a deeper
understancing of the busmness,
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COMPOSITION, SUCCESS!ION
AND EVALUATION

Board composition and independence

At year end, the Board compnsed eight members: the Chair

of the Board, twa executive directors and five non-executive
directors, each of whom is determined by the Board to be
independsnt in character and judgement and who provids
effective challenge to the Board and the business. The
Nominaticns Committee considers the criteria set out n the
Code when considenng independence, as well as contnbutions
made dunng Board deliberations. Trese irdependent non-
executive directors are Tony DeNunzio., Eleen Burbidge, Andrea
Gisle Joosen, Fiona McBain and Gerry Murphy. More than half
of the Board (excluding the Charr of the Board, Lord Livingston
of Parkhead) s considered to be independent in accordance
wath the Code. Every year the Board, supported by the
Nominations Committee. consders the collective skills,
experence and the compasition of the Board and assesses
whether or not the Board membership enables the effective
delivery of the Company’s strategy.

There have not been any changes to the cormpasiian of the
Board during 2020/21 althcugh Jonny Mason, Graup Chief
Financial Officer will step down fram the Board on 9 July

2021 and will be replaced by Bruce Marsh. The Board. with
the support of the Nominations Committee, considered the
composition of the Board and its commitiees during the year.
The Chair of the Board keeps Board composition under regular
review and addressed this specifically with each dwector as part
of the one to ore meetings held during the Board effectiveness
revievwy process. Overall, the Board is satisfied that the current
composition is approprate given the needs of the business.

In accordance with the Code, all directors other than Jonny
Mason will stand for re-election at the Company's Annual
General Meeting ('AGM’). Biographical information, commitiee
membership and the Board meeting attendance of each of the
directors submiting themselves for te-election 1s shown on
pages 68 and £9.

Board Succession and changes to the Board

The current average director tenure is four years, eight months.
Twao directors have been on tha Board since the formation of
the Company in 2014 and both the Group Chief Executive and
the current Group Chief Financial Officer joined the Board in
2018, However, the Board, with the support of tre Nominations
Commuttee, continues to view the need for robust succession
plans ag a priority. During 2020/21 the Nominations Committee

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INVESTOR INFORMATION

considerad the skills and expertise of the Board and concluded
that the existing composition is appropriate to meet the current
leadership needs of the busingss. However, the Nominatiors
Committee agreed that the appomntment of an additionzl one

or two non-executive directors would be prudent in order 10
manage successon planning for key Board roles. The Chair

of tne Board discussed the future Board succession planning
needs and the role descriptions for these additonal roles during
individual meetings with sach director hetd during April and
May 2021.

In respect of seniar management succession planming, the
Executive Committee completed a detaled talent review of
GLT members during the year and the Board received a report
on the process and outcomes dunng March 2021,

Annual Board Evaluation

2019/20 process outcomes

The 201920 Board performance evaluation was conducted
By way of the carculation of questionnarres and Indnidual
intervews between the Chan of the Board and each director
The outcomes of this process are summarnsed below.

The directors provided paositive feedback on the:

* increased time allocated for Boara meetings:

* use of the Reading Room area of the Board papers portal
for detaled information and appendices;

« use of Board dinners to provide updates on colleague,
cu'ture and succession planning iterms;

o weekly update Board wideoconferences held dunng 2020
to help the Board oversee the Company's response to
Cowid-19: and

s maonty of Board meeling time being allocated o key
business and strategc topics.

The process idertfied some opportunities to enhance Board
sffectiveness:

« scheduling additional videoconference updale calls where
there are significart gaps in between Board meetings:

*  routing updates to be taken as read and not presented
unless there are matenal updates that need 1o be brought
to the attention of the Board and discussed; and

* increasing the amount of Board agenda time allocatea to
colleague and environrment, sccial and governance topics.

Each of these follow up actions has been successfully
implemented.
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2020/21 process

An internal Board evaluation process was undertaken in 2020721
by way of questionraires and individual intarvews with the Charr
of the Board.

The process addressed all matiers relating ‘o the performance
of the Board and included the roles of the executve and non-
exacutive directors. the Board, commuttees, the effactiveness
of each director and the Chair of the Board, leadership, culturg,
strategy and corporate governance. A report summarising

the findings of the review was tabled at the Board meeting on
27 Apnl 2021, Gverall, the directors provided positive feedback
N particular

* that the Board members work together effectively and
constructively to promiote the long-term sustainable
success of the Compary:

* irat the executive team have shown excellent leadership
during the Cov.d-19 panderic:

e that the new calleague iistening forums have been effectue,;

« that there 1s a consistent focus on strategic ssues at avery
Board meetirg:

s trat Board agendas have i proved duning the year to
enable mcreased qualty of discussions on key topics:

» that there is signilicant Board discussion and challenge
on the impact that decisions made will have on the
Company's stakeholders; and

¢ tnat the tatent review updates the Board received during
the year had provided a good view of the talent pipeine
and a framework for executive team succession planning.

The process identified some further actions (o help enbance
effectiveness:

* 1re Board o receive addiional training on topics relevant fo
the Group for examgple. trends in technclogy evoluticr and
the impact of chimate change geals on the busness and is
products and services:

¢ the Board to seek opportumites to enhance diversity — there
15 a good diversity of ski'ls. expenence and gender on the
Boarc but sacral and ethnic diversity should be erhanced:

¢ one or twe additioral non-executive directors should be

recruited 10 support succession planning for key Board roles:

¢ the Board to receve more frequent updatas or tne results of
collgague surveys and fescoack:

s fhe gqualty of Board papers had mproved durrg the
year ut therg was an opporiunity to further improve
consistency: and

* the Board to consider the apprognate balance of meetings
that shouid ke held in person ar by wideoconference
once it was safe 10 resume travel and business mestngs
N persor.

An exterrally facitated Beard efectiveness review wl be
completed for 202122,

Chair of the Board performance

The Semor Independenrt Director collated feedback from the
Board on the performance of the Char of the Board and carried
out his annual performance review. The directors prov.ded
positive feedback on the Chair of the Board's leadership during
the year. The Board is of the opinion that the Chair of the Board
had no othér commitrments durng the year that adversely
affectad his performance, tnat his effectiveness in leading the
Board was not mpaired and that he cultivated an atmosphere
that enabled chaienging and constructive debate.

Individual Director performance

Following the results of the evaluation. the Board corfirms that
all directors. Including the Chair of the Board, contnue to be
effective and cemonstrate commitmert ta the role. -ngluding
hawng tire to attend all necessary meetings and to carry out
other approgriate duties.

Board diversity

The Board compaosition review taxkes account of all forms of
diversity, ncluding gender. social and ethnic backgrounas,
cognitive and personal strengths.

At year end, the Board had three fermale directors (37.5% of the
Board), one of whom s based outzide the UK, one director that
meets the ethnic mimenty ortena as set out in the Parker review
and the maorty of the directors have substantal internationat
busness expenence. 22.2% of the Executve Committee
rMembers are female.

The review this vear again corcluded that the Board pessessed
the necessary personal atinb.les, skils ard expernence to
discharge ts duties ‘ully and to chalenge management effective’y.

The Company is committed 10 developing a diverse workforce
and egual opportumties for all. The Board recognises that
enhancing dessityin allits forms g a eritical part of having an
effective and engaged workforce which in furn supports the
wng-term sustamable suecess of the business Whilst the
Board is sirorgly supportive of enhanrc.ng all forms of dversity
across the Board and workforce as a mat'er of prionty. the
Board does not currerty set spenihic fargets on gender balance
or ethnic.ty. Tre Committee and the Board contmue 10 be

very mindiul of the benefits of greater diversity of gender. social
ard ethnig backgrounds. and cognitve and personal strengths,
i &l appointments,

Inaccordance with DTR 7.2.8A. the Comnittee confrms that
the Board has adopted the Groug Diversity Policy ard s

12 applcable o all co'league. senior management and Board
cies. This po'icy was last revigwed in November Z02C.
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Board induction and training

MNew directors appointed to the Board recernve a personal
mduction programme, together with guidance and traiming
appropnate to their level of prevous experience. Each director

s given the opportunity to meet with senior management and
store colleagues and o visit the Group's key sites. This enables
famibarisation with the businesses, operations, systems and
markets in which the Group operates. New directars a'so mest
with the Group's auditor and advisors. An example of a typical
nduction programme is included in the table below. The Chair of
the Board will meet with a new director on appointment to agree
any appropriate changes to be made before the start of the
induction. Directors are prowded with a comprehensive INduction
pack on appomntment and in additicn. greup information and
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policies are mantaned within the electronic board paper portal

to ensure directors have access to current resources There were

no new appointments to the Board during the 2020/21 financial
vear although Bruce March will join as Group Chief Financial
Officer during July 2021 and receive an induction during 2021,

The direciors are nvited 1o nominate topics that they would
like to receve training on and briefings are arranged from time
to timea on governance. compliance and company knowledge
as requested. During the year, the directors receved a briefing
feom Deloitte on best practice for the non-financial disclosures
n annual reports. Directors arrange individual meetings with
Executive Committee members as required when they require
additional information or ¢context on a topic.

Standard induction programme briefings and information
Induction plans are customised for each incoming director depenaing on their individual requirements but will usuatly cover the

followng key areas. meetings and locations:

BUSINESS AND STRATEGY * business model and strategy
« markets and competitive landscape
» overview of each business area

s market opportunities

FINANCE AND AUDIY * finance, treasury and tax overviews

¢ current financial posilion and futurg projections

s budget

accounting issues

audit report and findings
risk and internal controls

INVESTOR RELATIONS

* communication policies

shareholder base and communications
analyst coverage and perspactives

GOVERNANCE

overview of committees

» UK Corporate Governance Code and bast practice guidance
s UK listed company requirements including Market Abuse Regime

Companies Act and Directors’ duties
Company articles and the role of the Board

PEOPLE TO MEET

Directors
committee chairs

*

General Counsel and Company Secretary

members of the Executive Committee

senior management, including the Group Director of internal Audit
members of the axternal audit team

store and distribution centre colleagues

SITES TO ViSIT

different format stores that are convenient for new director to visit;
the Newark distribution centre; and
the store colleague training centre The Acadermy@FortDunlop.
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AUDIT, RISK
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Audit Committee report is avalable on pages 87 to 95 and
this covers all the reporting included v this section of the Code.

Risk management and internal control

The Board has overall responsibiity for Group’s system of

risk management and internal control and for reviewirg s
effectiveness. The Board is supported by the Audit Committee.
the Group Risk and Corplance Committee. the Regulatary
Complance Committee, business unit risk committees and the
Risk team ih deliverng on this responsibity.

The Group operates a process of continuous identf cation and
review Of Dusingss risks. This includes the montoring of prncipal
nsks. undertaking honzon scanning to identity emerging risks.
evaluating how risks may atfect the achievement of business
objectves and, by taking inta account risk appetite. reviewing
managemeant’'s treatment of the risks.

GROUP RISK
MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

The main business units, locations and functions are responsible
for preparing and mantaining risk registers and operating nsk
management processes for therr areas of responsibility. Risk
registers and the nsk processes arg undertaken In accorgance
with a consistent Group Risk Management methodclogy, toolkit
and process.

The Group Risk and Complance Committee meets at least four
times annually. The work of the Group Risk and Compliance
Committee includes: assessing and chailenging the consolidated
sk profile, agreeng and montonng the Group's principal nsks:
determining the cnertisation of mitigating actions: reviewing the
Company's honzon-5canning processes and 1ts emerging risks;
providing reports and recommaeandations o the Audit Committee
and Board ncluding to assist with the setting of risk appetite with
regard to the principal risks.

Qur approach o risk management continues tc evolve as part
of our crgansational focus on transformation and how we
contnueg in optimal decision making in an increagingly fast-
maving environmert. The Group Risk team has continued to
faciMale the evaluation of the principal rigks tacing the Group.
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I addition to the Group's principal risks, the business faces
emerging threats which have been identified through horizon
scanning that may potertially impact the business in the longer-
term. The Group Risk and Compliance Committee evaluates
the approprateness of management planning 10 address

such emerging risks. In some areas. there may be insufficient
information to understand the scale, impact or velocity of these
nsks. Emerging nsks continue o be monitored as part of the
ongoing risk management process N order to ensure that acuon
s taken at the nght tme.

Thne Directors confirm that they have carried cut a robust
assessment of the princinal and emerging rsks facing the
Group. including these that would threaten its buginess modet,
future performance, solvency or iquidity. A description of these
risks. together with details of how they are managed or mitigated.,
15 set out on pages 46 to 52.

The system of nsk management and internal control can anly
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
errors, losses, raud or breaches of laws and regulations,

The Board also monitors the Gompany's system of nsk
manragement and internal controt and conducts a review of ts
effectiveness at least once a year. This year's review covered
all materal controls duning the year and up to the date of
approval of the ARA 2020/21, which were approved by the
Audit Committee and the Board.

The diagram opposite shows the governance structure in place
over the Group's nsk managemenrt actwities, ag at 29 June 2021,

Risk appetite

Dixons Carphong faces a broad range of risks reflecting the
business environment in which it operates. The risks arising from
the Dixons Carphone business environment and operating model
can be significant, Successiul financial performance for the
business is achieved by managing these risks through intelligent
decision-making and an effestive control environment that detaiis
the processes and controls required to mitigate risk.

The Company's risk appetite is set by the Board and governs the
amount of acceptable risk within which we operate. Our Group
risk appetite is further disaggregated by prnncipal nisk and takes
into consideration the acceptable level of risk across strategic,
cperational. financial and regulatory nisks faced by the business.
Reference to our appetite in business decisions provides
quidance for ohjective, nsk-aware decision-making. A three-pont
scale 15 used to assess the risk appetite for each of our principal
risks. If excessive levels of risk are beng taken, a series of actions
are wdentified to bning the risk back within an acceptable level.

Dixons Carphoneg's general risk appetite is a balanced one

that allows taking measured nsk as the Company pursues its
strategic objectives, whilst aming to manage and mirimise risk
in its aperations. Dixons Carphone recognises that it s not
possible or necessanly desrrable to eminate alt of the risks
inherent in its actwties. Acceptance of some risk s inherent in
operations and necessary 'o foster innovation and growth within
its business practices.
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Committed to effective risk management

The Board has overal! responsibility for the systerm of internal
control and for reviewing its effectiveness. It relies on the Audit
and Risk Committees to agsist in this process. In addition,
members of the Executive Committee. operating through the
Risk Committee. are accountable for identifying, mitigating and
managng risks in thew area of 1espunsbilkly. Management is
aiso responsible for implementing controls that are designed 1o
ensure regulatory complanse, financ-al and ogeratonal control
and to confirm that these operate effectively to protect the
business from loss.

The move o home working for Corporate and Contact Centre
colleagues as a result of Cowd-19 restrichions required a number
of changes to financial, operational, people and technology
processes. Whilst the business needed to adapt s control
environment, the operation of effective control during this period
was not diminished.

The Board has conducted a review over the effectiveness of the
process for identfying, evaluating and managing the sigrificant
risks faced by the Group and the operation of related controls.
The Audit Committee further reviewed aspects of the internal
contrel envitonmant as outhined « the Audit Committee Report
on page 32. The Board has considered the controls indings
rased N the independeant auditor's report on pages 131 to

142 No other significant falings or weaknesses were identfied
during the period ending 31 Aprl 2021. Where areas have been
identified *hat require improverment, plans are in place to ensure
that necessary actions are taken and that progress is mondored.
A report of the Principal Risks together with the Viability Statement
can be found on pages 47 t0 53.

Controls, by their very nature, are designed to manage rather
than elinunate risk and can only provide reasonable assurance
aganst matenal misstatement or loss,
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OUR SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Our system of Internal control s built on the pillars of Governance, the Tone from the Top, risk managerment, control activities and
assurance. These are more fully described below:

GOVERNANCE

The Board has defined a risk appetite which sets the boundaries within which risk-based decision-
making can occur and outlines the expectations for the operation of the control environment,

A Delegation of Authorities operates across the Group.

Business planning, annual budgeting process and the setting of personal business objectives

are aligned 1o ensure focus on delivery of activities to support the gelivery of strategic objectives.
Policies and procedures are in place outlining the requirements for the control in finance,
operational, technology, reguiatory and pecple areas. These include detalled standards for the
operation of Infosec, PGl and Data compliance.

Central functions: Finance, HR, Legal Governance and Rigk, Health and Safety, Technical

Standards, Technology (which includes infosec and Data Management) have responsibility
to manage and improve standards of control in their respective areas of responsibility.

THE TONE FROM THE TOP

The Tone trom the Top communicates a clear commitment to do the right thing for customers,
colleagues and shareholders. Colieague behaviours are outlined in the Code of Business Conduct.

The crganisation demonstrates its commitment to ethical values through its range of ESG
initiatives and programmes.

The business is committed to maintaining an ethical supply chain and undertakes activities to
ensure that our suppliers satisfy our Responsible Sourcing policy.

All senior managers are required to complete an annual Ethical Conduct declaration.

The operation of a 24/7 whistleblowing hotline to enabie the reporting of breaches of ethical or
policy requirements.

CONTROL AGTIVITIES

L]

All major capital and change programmes are evaluated by an Investco process. This includes
cansideration of the risk involved to achievement of successful delivery and the achievement of
projected benefits.

A Transformation Management Office operates tc oversee delivery of our major Perform and
Transform change initiatives.

Control activities operate 10 manage fisk associated with our Technology and information Security.
These conlinue to evolve in line with the deployment of new systems and to meet the challenges
posed by external threats.

A Minimum Controls Framework is in place defining the key fingncial controls that are expected
to operate across the businesses core processes and activities.

A Condust Risk and Conlrol Framework identifies control objectives for activities that underpin

the delivery of Good Cuslomer Qutcomes in our Financial Services regulated activities.

Training and development is provided to colleagues to cover their responsibilities for risk
management, compliance, and their operational obligations.

Our performance management process holds colleagues accountable for their responsibilities.
Fraud and loss prevention processes operate across our omnichannel and Supply Chain activities.
Continuous improvernent takes place throughout the organisation to improve the operation of
processes and controls. This informed by actions identified through Internal Audit and Compliance

Monitoring reviews as well as customer feedback, the results of Quality Assurance and through
the Complaints Management process,
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RISK MANAGEMENT

A risk identification process operates in accordance with the Group Risk Management
methodology. This ensure that risk management takes place consistently across the Group to
identify and gvaluate the significant risks faced by the Group.

The Group risk register covers the principal risks faced by the business, their potential impact
and likelihood of occurrence and the key controls or actions established to mitigate these risks.
The risk management framework operates across the business with key business units

un e Latkin iy tisk dssessinenl and risk managenent aclivities.

The Group Risk team undertakes horizon scanning reviews to identify emerging risks and
opportunities that may impact the business.

The Group Risk and Compliance Committee meets at least four times a year to review the
management of risk arising out of the Group's activities and to monitor the status or risk and
actions at the Group and business unit level.

The Board carries out an assessment of the principal risks, emerging risks together with
matters that would threaten the business model, future performance, solvency and liquidity.

ASSURANGE

The Audit Committee approves the annual internal audit programme, which ensures that
the significant areas of risk identified through the Group's risk management processes are
monitored and reviewed. The progress of the plan and the results of the audits are reviewed
throughout the year.

A Compliance Maonitoring function reviews operation of financial Services regulated activities.

Annual evaluations are undertaken by business management against the Minimum Control
framework in order to ensure that the control environment operates as intended. Any deficiencies
identified are subject to rernedial action.

A broad range of assurance activities are undertaken across the business by functicnai
management 1o review the management of key risks.

The Group communicates with external stakehelders, inclucing industry bodies and regulators
on the management of risks and issues.
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Internal audit

The Group has an internal audit department which conducts
audits of selected business processes and functions. The
Groug's internal audt olan sets out the internal auan programme
for the year and s usually agreed at the April Audt Committee
meeting for the year ahead. The intérnal audit plans are prepared
taking into account the principal nsks acress the Group with
nput from management and the Audit Committee. The internal
audit pian s designed each year 10 fest the robustress of
financial and operational controls and to determing whether
operating procedures are desigred and operating effectively.
The Audit Committes considers the alignment of the mterna
audit plan with the principal nsks taced by the Group as part

of its approval process. The Audit Committee approved the
2021/22 mternal audit plan in Aprl 2021, having considered

the impacts of Covid-19 and the révised audit priorities.

The Aucit Cormrmittee Chair receives and reviews all reports from
the internal audt department detahing 1ts matenal indings from
testing performes and any recommendations for improvement.
The Audit Cormmmitlee recewnes each audit report with a summary
at each meetng. The internal aucit team tracks and reports

on the progress aganst the audit plan ard the implementation
of action plans agreed with management. Once closed, the
action plans agreed with management can be reviewed 10
determ.ne whether any new controls and procedures have been
implemented effectively.

The Audit Comrmitiee considered the effectiveness of the

anternal audit department by considenng: sccpe. resources and
access to information as lad out in the internal audit charter, the
reportng Ine of nternal audit: the annual internal audit work paan:
ard the results of the work of mternal audit. The Audit Committee
concluded that the internal auait functicn operated effectivaly
during the year.

REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee report is avalable on pages 100
to 129 and covers all the reporting in this section of the Code.

Capital and eonstitutional disclosures

Information on the Company’s share capital ard constitution
required to be ncluded in ths Corporate Governance statemsnt
is contained in the Directors’ Report on pages 70 to 72, Such
information is incorporated into this Corporate Governarce
statement by reterence and 15 deemed to be part of it

The AGM provides an coportunity for the Company to engage
with shareholders and for the Boarc 10 provide an acsount of
the progress made by the bus negs dunng the year. along with
a synops:s of current issues facing the business.

For the 2021 AGM, we encourage all shareholders to submit
therr questions and votes in advance of the meeting due to
Covid-18. Shareholders can subm:t any questions to the
Board via the General Counsel and Company Secretary at
cosec@dixonscarphone.com. We look forward 10 receiving
vour feedback and guestions.

Further financial and busingss informaton s avalable on
the Group's corporate website, www.dixonscarphone.com.

eoenal

Lord Livingston of Parkhead
Ghair of the Board
23 June 2021



* Completed tender process
for external Auditor

* Consideration of accounting
and management judgements

* Business deep dives including
IT General controls, information
security, supply chain, payroli
and fraud and l0ss prevention

+ Ongoing considerations of
the continuing chalienge and
implications of the Covid-19
pandemic
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COMMITTEE REPORT
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Com process for the
external Auditor has been a significant
oroject for the Committes this year,
Gerry Murphy
Acting Chair of the Audit Commitice
COMMITTEE Meeting NUMBER OF AUDIT COMMITTEE
MEMBERS Attendance MEETINGS TOPICS COVYERAGE 2020/21 .’?\
Fiena McBain (Chair) B/T oy Bebery and cerruptione 1 Internal controls: 2
Eilegn Burbidge 77 1’/ Data protection: 3 IT Generat Controls: 2
G Murph - Compliance: 5
erry Murphy " Information and cyber security:3  Whislleblowing. 5 ‘~'
2020/21 Chair’s statement
HIGHLIGHTS { am pleased to present the Audit Comimittee {the *Committee’} Report far ihe year

erded * May 2021. This report descrbes how the Committes has carried out its duties
to provide independent scrutiny of the Group's financial reporting, risk management
and internal control systems dunng the year, in order to determine whether these
remain effectve and appropnate.

Unforiunately Fiona McBain was taken il during March 2021 and has taken a
temporary leave of absence from duties. We wish her all the best for her recovery and
lock forward to welcorming her back tater in 2021, Fiona was present for all meetings
other than cne dunng the financial year and | have agreed to char the Committee
meetings urtil her return.

In addition to the scheduled Commitiee mestings, the Committee Chair met regularly
with the Group Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Information Secunty Officer, the Group
Director of Internal Audit and the externai Audhtor in the absence of management to
discuss thair reports as well as any relevant issues. The other Commitiee members
also freguently contact members of management directly when they have questions on
Committee papers recaved. The Committee Coair regutarly meets with members of the
Defoitte LLP audit tearm as part of the ongoing review of their effectivensss. | have met
with Deloitte LLP's Head of Aucht Quality and Risk, UK to discuss Delotte’s approach
t0 audit quality and assurance in comnection with the audit of the Group.

A significant area of focus for the Committes during the year was the management of
the tender to appoint a new external Auditor for the financial year ending in Apal 2023,
A thorough process was completed by the Committee with the support of several
members of the management team. A ¢escription of this process and the outcomes
is ncluded later in the report.

The Committee atso considered the continung imptications of the Covid-19 outbreak
during 2020,21, taking account of external guidance as appropnate as the stuation
has evolved. Detaled impact assessments were conducted on the control ermvironment
and on the “three ines of defence’ — busingss operatons, risk and compliance and
internal audit.

1y ke A MACBArR s abser Fomame Commilio S el iy G g TR g Soe 100 s,

CrGaey Moy maz ape sred 28 AT Charcannz e caalAcBar s arserod
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Duning the year, the Committee considered the accounting
imphcations of the new Future Mobile Offer in the UK. Information
security. IT infrastructure. data management and regulatory
compliance continue to be important areas of Committeg

focus In addition 1© accounting matters and other duties. The
Committes continues 1o have oversight across the irernational
footprint of the Group.

There have not been any significant changes to the
responsibiliies and role of the Committes during this financial
year. The Committee continues to rmonitar with interest the
external market reforms designed to enhance the guality of
audits and anticipates that thare will be an evolution of the
duties of audt committeas. The Committee updated its Terms
of Reference during the year to reflect the wider external
reporting requirements including those relating to Environment,
Social and Governance 1SsLes

The Committee considerad the reguirements ansing from the
Companies (Miscellareous Repaorting) Regulations 2018 and

the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Gode as part of the process
to review the non-financial information included in this Annual
Repart. ncluding in particular the section 172{1] statement on
pages 28 1o 31

Meetings and membership

The Committee met seven times dunng the penod under review.
There were six scheduied meatings. Ore additonal Committee
meeting wag arranged with maragemert during the year to
enable an addihonal detaled discussion on the accourting
judgements for the Annual Report. Since the vear end, there
has been two further Committee meetings. The Chavr of the
Board, Group Chief Executve, Group Chief Financiat Officer.
Group Financial Controller. Group Director of intermal Audit,
Generat Counsel and Company Secretary and renresentatives
from Delsitte LLF hiave a standing invitg from the Commnttee
Chair to join all Committee meetngs. Other members of semior
management attend Committes meetings ty invilation, when
appropriate, Including merrbers of the sencr leadership

team with responsibity for Information Secunty and Data
Mar~agament and the Director of Group Risk and Insurance.

There have not been any changes to the membership of

e Committee during the firancial vear, Ir comgliznce wath
the Cade. *he Committee contirues to consist éxclusnely of
independent non-executive crectors. The Board cortinues
10 e satsfied that tre Char of the Commitiee. a member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Eng and and Wa'ss.
and Gerry Murphy, aiso a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Englang and Walgs, meet the requirement for
recent and re'avant finansial experiarce. The Cormmties, as
awho'e. has competence relevart *0 ™Mie secior nwhich the
Compary operates. Tne Compary Sacretary, or hig nomines.
acts as Secretary to the Committee and atterds al meeiings
The Committee's deiberations are repcrted by s Char at the
sutsequent Board Teeting and the mnutes of each meeting
are crculated o all members of the Board followirg aporoval.

The Committea members meet without management presert
pefore and after each Committee meeting. The Group Direclor
of internal Audit and representatives of Deloitte LLP are nvited
to thase private discugsions penodically to allow discussion of
matters which the external Auditor or Group Director of Inernai
Audit may wish to raise in the absence of management.

In undertaking 15 duties. the Committee has access to the
services of the Group Director of Internal Audit, the Group Chiet
Financial Officer, the Company Secretary and their respective
teams, as well as external professional advice as necessary.
The Board makes funds avallable to the Commitiee 1o enable

't to take Independent legal, accouning or cther advice when
the Committee believes it necessary 16 ¢o so.

Looking ahead

Some aspects of the business fransformation of the Group were
delayed by the mpacts of the Cowvid-19 pandemic. The Covid-19
pandemic has also had extensive impact on the Group's
operations with store closures and resuited in fundamental
changes to current, and most likely future, customer behaviours
and the risks o which companies are exposed. The Commitiee
will continue 1o keep those consderations and risks that fall wishin
tne Committes's remit under review. The Comnuttee wil contnueg
ta support the busingss transformation work by reviewing and
challenging the governance, risk and control environmeants
relating 10 these key strategic plans, The Committee will continue
0 receive presentations from management on the challenges
faced by the business and the operation of internal controls.

The Committes wl also continue o monitor the operation of the
‘three lines of defence’. as well as the evolving enterprise ngk
landscape and regulatory eneronment.

Responsibilities

The Committes assists the Board in fulfiling its oversight
responsibil-ties by acting independently from tne Executive
directors. There s an annual schedule of iterns which are
allocated to the meetings during the year to monitor that the
Commitiee covers fully those tems wathin its Terms of Reference.
These items are supplemented throughout the year as key
matters anse.

Key matters considered
The principal actvties of the Committee durirg 202021 ncluged:

e comolsting a tencer process for the appontment of a new
externar Auditor for tre 2022:23 financial vear:

» cong dering significant accountng ard reporting judgements.
the apprograieness of taxaton disclosures and the
appropratensss of the Groug's going cencern posrion ard
longer-terr wiablity statement;

» considerrg and recommerding that the Annual Report and
Accounts TARA'T 2020021, when taken as & who'e. are far.
ba'anced ard understancab's:

o revevirg the nterm results in December 2020;

s considenng tne presentation. farness. and baance of
the Group's alterrative performance maasures 1'APMs'y
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reviewing all correspondence from and to the Financial
Reporting Council (FRC' following a request for further
information on certain aspects of the ARA 2018/19. Further
information can e found later in the report on page 90;

considering the findings for the FRC's Audit Qualty Review
tearmn's review of the external audt for 2019.20:

considenng the accounting implhcations of the closure of
Dixons Travel and the Carphone Warehouse Ireland stores
and the Future Mohile Offer;

considenng the mplicatons of the Covig-19 cutlbreak
relevant to the remit of the Committee;

reéviewing the Group Risk Register and considering the
gfectiveness of the risk management system and internal
controls. operated by management;

considerng updates on T General Contrals. Information
Security. ITinfrastructure and Data Management;

providing oversight of the businesses regulated by the
Financial Conduct Autharity 'FCAY and receming reports
from the Head of Compliance:

approving the internal audit annual plan, considering internal
aucht reports and management achons, and monitoring

the effectiveness of irkernat audit in line vath the approved
internal audit charter:
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» considering the external audit plan, audit reports and
updates from Deloitte LLP;

» considering the effectiveness of the external Auditor and the
reappointment of the external Auditor: and

¢ receving presentations and challenging management cn
matters such as system access controls, data management,
payment precesses. supplier funding., regulatory
corpliance-related customer clams. mirnmurm control
standards assessments, whistleblowing, procedures in place
to prevent bricery and corruption, stock loss and fraud theft.
Supply Chain and Repairs and colleague payroll.

Accounting and financial reporting matters

The Committee 13 respansible for considering reports from the
external Auditor onits work and findings and maonitoring the
integrity of the intenm staterment and annual report and accounts
In conjunchon with senior maragement. During the year ended

1 May 2021, consideration was given to the surtalility and
apprication of the Group's accounting policies and practices.
mncluding areas where significant levels of judgemeant have

been appled or significant items have been discussead with

the external Auditor.

PRINCIPAL DUTIES OF THE COMMITTEE

Accounting and financial reporting matters

*  monitoring the integrity of the interim statement and annual
raport and accounts, and any formal announcements
relating to the Group's financial performance;

* reviewing significant financial reporting judgements and
accounting policies;

+ advising the Board on whether, as a whole, the
annual report and accounts are fair, balanced and
understandable;

» considering the going concem statement;

¢ considering and reviewing the statement of the Group’s
viability over a specified period;

¢ having regard to the applicable legal, reguiatory anc
best practice requirements and standards for reperting
including the UK Corporate Governance Code, the
UK Financial Repotting Council, the FCAs Disclosure
and Transparency Rules and Listing Rules and the
recommandations of the Taskforce on Climate-related
Financial Disclosurg:

Risk management and internal control

* reviewing the Group's financiat controls and internal
control effectiveness and maturity;

» reviewing the Group's risk management systems
and risk appetits;

* considering whistleblowing arrangements by which
colleagues may raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting or cther matters;

Internal audit

* approving the appcintment of the Group Director of
Internal Audit;

+ monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal audit function;

s approving the internal audit plan;

* considering the reports of work performed by internal
audit and reviewing the actions taken by management
to implement the recommendations of internal audit;

e considering the major findings of internal investigations;

External audit

« considering recommendation of the external Auditor’s
appointment to the shareholders in general meeting and
approving their remuneration;

s reviewing the results and conclusions of work performed
by the external Auditor;

* reviewing and monitoring the relationship with the
external Auditor, inclugding their independence, objectivity,
effectiveness and terms of engagement;

General matters
+ any specific topics as defined by the Beard; and

+ referring matters to the Board which, in its opinion,
should be addressed at a meeting of the Board.
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COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
REPORTING MATTERS

Going concern and
viability statements

MATTERS CONSIDERED AND HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS DUTIES

The Commitiee reviewed the processes and assumptions underlying both the going concern and longerterm
viability statements made on page 53 of the ARA 2020/21.

In particular, the Committee considered:

* the impact in respect of the Covid-19 pandemic situation;

s management's assessment of the Group’s prospects including its current position, assessment of principal
business risks and ifs current business model, fulure cash forecasts, historical cash flow forecasting
accuracy, prefit projections, available financing facilities, facility headroorm and banking covenants;

¢ the appropriateness of the three-year time period under assessment, noting the period is covered by the
Group's detailed strategic plan. as well as the shorter-erm nature of the retall market in which the Group
operates; and

* therobustness and severity of the stress-test scenarios with reference to the Group's risk register, those
principal risks and mitigating actions as descrived on pages 46 10 52 of the ARA 2020/21, the latest Board-
approved budgets, strategic plans, and indicative headroom under the current faciities available — examples
of which included the impact of regulatory, 1axation or information security incidents, and reduced forecast
profitability and cash flow as a rasult of a significant change in mabile phone consumer behaviour.

The Cemmittee concurred with management’s conclusions that the viability statement, including the
three-year period of assessment, disclosed on page 53 of the ARA 2020/21 is appropriate. The Board
was advised accordingly.

Fair, balanced and
understandable

In ensuring that the Group's reporting is fair, balanced and understandable, the Cornmittee reviewed the
classification of items between adjusting and non-adjusting items including consideration of the £123 million
pre-tax adjusting items disclosed in nole A5 in the glossary and definitions section of the ARA 2020/21,

and the lax impact therson. The assessment considered whether items fell within the Group's definition

of adjusting items as well as the consistency of treatment of such items year on year.

The Commiltee gave due consideration to the integrity and sufficiency of information disclosed in the ARA
2020/21 to ensure that they explain the Group's position, performance, business mode! and strategy. An
assessment of narrative reporting was included 1o ensure consisiency with the financial reporting section,
including apprepriate disclosure of material adjusting items, and appropriate balance and prominence

of statutory and non-statutory performance measures. In response to the guidelines on Alternative
Parformance Measures (APMs'} issued by the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA),

the Committee considered the use of such measures and the additional informaticn on those APMs

used by the Group is provided in the glossary on pages 216 to 231.

The Committee concluded that the ARA 2020/21, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable,
and that the measures used and disclosures rmade are appropriate to provide users of the ARA 2020/21
with a meaningful assessment of the performance of the undearlying operations of the Group; the Beard
was advised of the conclusion.

Financial Reporting
Council (‘FRC’)

In March 2620 the Group received a letter from the FRC requesting further information following a review by the
FRC of the annual report and accounts 2018/19, The questions raised principally related to revenue recognition
associated with network commissions, alternative performance measures, tax provisioning, impairment, and
Hguidity risk disclosures.

The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the Group's responses to the FRC. within the current financiai
year, the Group's carrespondenca with the FRC closed satistactorily with agreement on enhanced disclosures.
The Group initially included the enhanced disclosures within the annuat report and accounts 201920 whilst the
constructive correspondence was in the final stages.

Tne enhanced disclosure predorminantly related ta revenue recognition associated with network commissions
and is included within note 15 in this year's Annual Report and Accounts,

The Committee also considered the findings of the FRC's Audit Quality Review team's review of the 2019/20 audit.

Glosure of Carphone
Warehouse Ireland and
Dixons Travel

During the year, the Company announced the closure of its Carphone Warehouse stores in reland and its Dixons
Travel stores. The Committee carefully considered the impact of this announcement on the financial statements
2020/21. In particular, the Commitiee considered the impact of the Store closures on the impairment of assets
including the IFRS 16 right-of-use lease assets, the restructuring provisions recognised, and the assessment of
the existence of any cnerous contracts as a result of the decision. The Committee also considered the treatment
of store closure related costs as adjusting iterms when considering if the ARA as a whole are fair, balanced, and
understandable,

Following detailed review, the Committes agreed with management's conclusions that the judgements and
estimates and accounting treatment applied are appsopriate.
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MATTERS OF SIGNIFICANCE

AND AREAS OF JUDGEMENT

Matters of significance
and areas of jJudgement

Revenue recognition

MATTERS CONSIDERED AND HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS DUTIES

The Committee received reports and recommendations from management and the external Auditor setting out
the significant accounting issues and judgements applicable ta the following key areas. These were discussed
and challenged, where appropriate, by the Committee. Following debate, the Committee concurred with
management’s conclusions.

The Group discloses revenue recognition in relation to network commissions as a *key source of estimation
uncertainty' as set out in nole 1t to the Group financial statements.

The Committee reviewed management's assessment of these policies with reference to contractual terms. the
Group's historical experience of customer behaviour, reliability of information received from MNOs, legislative
changes, future expectation of consurmer behaviour and changes in the trends within the mabile industry.
Particular attention was paid 10 the consistency of application of the underlying assumpticns used., significant
changes in inputs 1o the valuation model, historical forecasting accuracy, and the network commission contract
assets and receivables disciosures included in note 15 to the Group financial statements, The carrying value

of ongoing network commission contract assets and receivables at the balance sheet date was £239 million
(2019/20: £616 million).

Supplier funding

A number of arrangements exist relating to supplier funding across the Group, including prometional support
and volume rebates, The Committes has continued to challenge and debate with management its approach
to its recognition and accounting treatment of supplier funding. in addition, the Committes continues to
rmonitor the effectiveness of the controls in place to mitigate the risk of material misstaternent of suppiier
funding recognition. Further information in relation to supplier funding can be found in note 1d to the Group
financial staterments.

Impairment testing

of goodwill, intangible
assets and store-based
assets

The Group has significant gocdwill, intangible assets and store-based assets which are reviewed for
impairment annually, or where there is an indicater of impairment. The Committee reviewed appropriateness
and accuracy of cash flow forccasts, discount rates and long-term growth rates used in the impairment review
performed at both the Interim and yvear end dates. Specific attention was paid to cash flow forecasts in light

of the Covid-19 pandemic, and the levet of sensitivities applied by management in determining reasonably
possible changes to cash flows. As part of the review of the store-based asset impairment assessment,
whereby a material impairment was recognised within the period, particutar attention was given 10 the key
assumptions of how customers will behave in the future, in terms of shopping in store and/or onling and the
innplications on the impairment modeting.

As aresult of a strategic change, a multiyear ERP solution that was recorded within capitalised developrment
costs is being replaced with a new set of cloud hosted solutions to support the Group's omnichanne! strategy.
Consequently, a significant impairment charge and onerous contract costs were recognised as adjusting
items. The Committee reviewed the strategic decision made and the appropriateness of the impairment and
onerous contract accounting treatment and disclosure. Further information can be found in note 9 to the Group
financial statements.

Taxation

The Group operates across multiple tax jurisdictions. The complex nature of tax legislation in certain
jurisdictions can necessitate the use of judgemsnt.

The Commiittee reviewed the judgements and assumptions concerning any significant tax exposures, including
progress made an matters being discussed with tax authorities and, where applicable, advice provided by

external advisors. The total provisions recognised at the balance sheet date amounted to £65m (2019/20: £83m).

The Cornmittee also reviewed the appropriateness of the disclosures made around tax provisions, and the
disclosure of related contingent liabilities.

Review by the FRC's Audit Quality Review team (the 'Review team’')

The FRC's Audit Quality Review (AQR) tearn monitors the quality of audit work of certain UK audit firms through annual nspections
of a sample of audits ard related procedures at ndividual audit firms. During the year, the FRC's Audit Quaity Review Team (AQRT)
reviewed Deloitte's audit of the Group's financial s1atements for the year ended 2 May 2020 as part of its annual inspection of audit
firms. The Audit Committee receved and reviewed the final report from the AQRT which mdicated that there were no significant

areas of concern.

L]
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Risk management and internal control

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the Group's nsk management and internal control systems. Details of the overall
risk management and governance policies and procedures are given in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 73 to 86 of this
ARA 2020/21. The Committee reviewed management's assessmert of rigk and internat control, results of work performed by

the second lines of defence and internal audit, and the results and controls cbservations ansing from the intenm review procedures
and the annual audit gerformed by the external Auditer. The Committee also ensured that all Risk topics were covered. as defined
By 185 Terms of Reference. wath detailed reviews of risk topics scheduled throughout the year monitoring potential areas of concern.

Specific matters considered by the Committes 1o erscharge its duties are detaied below:

RISK MANAGEMENT AND

INTERNAL CONTROL MATTERS CONSIDERED AND HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS DUTIES

Bribery and corruption « The Committee reviewed the arrangements put in place to satisfy requirements to comply with
regulation for anti-bribery and corruption.

Data protection * The Committee reviewed data protection compliance throughout the Group, particularly in relation to
1he embedding of policies, procedures and processes implemented to comply with the requirements
of EU General Data Protection Regulation {{GDPR').

Compliance » Thea Committee reviewed the nature of financial services regulated activities across the Group's

business operations and the governance and oversight arrangements for the operation of an effective
FCA compliance regime in the business. The Committee considered compliance and regulatory
roports prapared by the Regulatory Compliance Committee (RCC') and monitored key developments
and cngoing aclivities for the compliance team in areas of governance, policy and compliance
monitoring.

information security and  * The Committee regularly reviews the progress of the ongoing security improvement programme and
IT controls framework periodically considers and reviews the IT general controls (ITGC') framework and related improvement
initiatives progressed by the management team, in order to monitor that apprepriate actions are taken.

e The Company is currently undergoing a large transformation programme across many areas of the
business including its IT infrastructure. Al transformation programmes are managed in ling with
the Group risk management methodology to manage the risk appropriately in order to provide
reasonable reassurance against material losses. This control framework is intended to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure and oversight of the security programme is provided by the Audit
Committee that, along with the Board, receives regular updates on the progress and maturity of our
control environment.

During the year, the Coemmittee received a report highlighting a material weakness resulting from

a number of deficiencies in controls for Access Management and other areas such as segregation

of duties due to the limited progress made against the improvement plan agreed with the Board.

This was due to the unforeseen and critical IT demand and impact from the Covid-19 pandemic
response which directly affected operational resource. The Committee has actively ensured that the
improvement plan was appropriate and this has resulted in a revised programme of remediation 1o
re-establish and enhance controls in this area. Repoerting of progress against these plans will continue
at Executive and Audit Committee level.

Internal controls * As per the obligations placed on the Committee under the Cede, the Committee formally considered
a review of the system of risk management and interral control. The Committee noted developments
in the system of risk management and internal control, management plans for 2020/21 and agreed the
statements contained in the ARA 2020/21. The Committee continues to review the results of Internal
Audit reviews and Minimum Controls Standards assessments.

Whistleblowing * The Committee reviews a summary at every meeting of all whistleblowing calls received by the Group,
both through the independently operated hotling and other channels. The Committee contirmed that
the calls had been appropriately dealt with (both incividually and in aggregate) in accordance with the
Group's whistleblowing policy.
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Internal audit

internal audt is an independent, objective assurance funchon that impartially appraises the Group's contro! activiies. Internat audit
works wiih management to help improve the overall control environment and assist Group management. the Audit Commuttee and
the Board n discharging their respectve duties relating o maintaining an adequate and effectve system of internal control and risk
management, and safeguarding the asseis, activities and interests of the Group.

INTERNAL AUDIT MATTERS CONSIDERED AND HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS DUTIES

Audit reviews of + The Committee considered the alignment of the annual internal audit plan with the key risks of
significant risk areas the business.

During the period, internal audits included coverage of the following significant risk areas of
the business:

information security and data protection;
business transtormation;

IT resilience, integrity and disaster recovery;

relaticnships with major suppliers;

health and safety;

business continuity;

product safety; and

financial services regulatory compliance.

¢ The Committee considered the key trends and material findings arising from internal audit's work
and the adequacy of the agreed management actions in refation to those findings.

Assurance programme * The Committee approved the annual internal audit plan and received an update relating to the
execution of the annual plan at each Committee meeting.

* The Committee also considered how the internal audit plan was realigned in light of the Covid-19
pandemic.

* As part of the rolling assurance programme, audits were performed over the following processes
to provide assurance to the Committee that controls were operating within these areas:

- general business controls relating to UK and Ireland operations including the Senior Managers
Cerification regime readiness, HR transformation programme, Identity and Access management,
major change programmes, customer expearience and complaints reporting, Hong Kong sourcing,
supplier funding and financial reguiation adherence;

- Nordics programme assurance, franchisee management, data protection, stock, returns and goods
not for resale processes and controls;

-~ Greek heaith and safety and franchisee management; and

— risk management effectiveness.

* The Committee considered the actions taken by management in relation to the audit findings.

¢ The Committee considered the resuits from these audits during its assessment of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control operated by management. The Committee concluded that the system
of internal control was appropriately monitored and managed.

Effectiveness of internal » The Committee approved the internal audit charter, concluding the role and mandate were appropriate
audit and adequacy of to the current needs of the organisation.

its resources » The Committee monitored the work of internal audit ang formally reviewed the effectiveness of internal
audil and the adequacy of its rasources, considering:
- scope, resources and access 1o information as faid out in the internal audit charter;
- the reporting ling of internal audit;

the annual internal audit work plan; and
the results of the work of internal audit.

* The Committee concluded that the internal audit department had in all respects been affactive
during the period under review and performed its duties in accordance with its agreed charter.

a3
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External audit

The external Auditor 1s appeinted by shareholders o provide an opirion on the annual report and accounts and certain disclosures
prepared by Group management. Deloitte LLP acted as the external Auditor o the Group throughout the year. The Committes is
responsible for oversight of the external Auditor, including approving the annual audit otan and ali asscciated audit fees. The key
matters in relaton to external audit that were considered by the Committee were:

EXTERNAL AUDIT MATTERS CONSIDERED AND HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS DUTIES

Effectiveness of the s The Committee reviewed and agreed the annual audit plan, specifically considering the
external Auditor appropriateness of the key risks identified and proposed audit work, the scope of the audit and
materiality levels applied which are detailed in the independent Auditor's report on pages 131 to 142,

As part of the reporting of the half year and fuil year results, the Committee reviewed the reports
presanted by Deloitte LLP in assassing the Group's significant accounting judgements and estimates,
and considered the audit work undertaken, level of challenge and quality of reporting.

Following the 2019/20 year end, feedback on the effectiveness of the audit process in addressing
areas of koy audit risk was obtained from members of the Committee and regutar attendees,
members of the finance team and senicr management within the businesses via a specifically
designed questionnaire, The responses were then considered by the Cormmittee in conjunction with
the outputs received and rasponsiveness of the Auditor during the audit process, The results showed
a favourable view of the audit process and of Oeloifte LLP as the external Auditor, specifically in
relation to the consistent performance noted for quality of audit delivery, level of challenge, integrity
and service of the team, the constructive relationship and the effectiveness of the communication.

L 3
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Fallowing due consideration of the above, the Committee continues to be satisfied with the quality
and effectivéness of the external audit.

Auditor independence * The Committee considered the external Auditor's assessment of and declaration of independence
presented in the annual audit plan and final audit report, and the safeguards in place to make such
declarations.

The Committee considered the annual audit fee and fees for non-audit services, with due regard
to the balance between audit and non-audit fees and the nature of non-audit fees undertaken in
accordance with the pelicy as set out below.

The Committee reviewed and appraved the Group policy on the employment of former employees
of the external Auditor in March 2021.

Policy on provision of non-audit services provided by the external Auditor
Under the Group's policy on Auditor mdependence. the Auditor may only provide services which include:

fal audit services comprsing 15suing audit opinions on the Group's consolidated financial statements and on the statutory financal
statements of subsidiaries and yoint ventures;

i

audcit-related services compnsing review of the Group's congolidated mtenm fingncial statements. and opinions 7 audit reports on
nformanon provided by the Group upon reguest from a third party such as orospectuses, comiort letters and rent certificates,
ete: and

1cl serwces Gtherwse regured of the Auditor by ocal law or regulat:on.

Any excephons are subject to pre-approval by the Group Criet Firancial Officer. and such permission i€ only granted in exceptional
crroumstances. Where the non-audit assignment s expecied to generate fees of cver £100.000. pricr approval must be cbiained
from the Commuttee.

Durng the perad under rey'evy. the non-audt servces performed by the éxternal Aud tor prmarily arase from the aterm financia!
review procedures and the requirement in Greek law for the axternal Auditor of the Company 1o provide tax complance sarvices.
The Committee has reviewed the serv ces performed Dy the external Aud tor dunng the year ard is satisfied that these servoes
chdd ot prejudice the external Auditor's indenerdence and that T was appropnate for them to perform these services.

The ievel of non-audit fees pad to the external Auditor, which was approved by tha Commitiee, 1s set out n ~ote 3 o the Group
firancial statemeris and amounted to £0.5m 2019:20: £0 &m; compared with £1.6rr 1201920 £1.2m) of audit fees. The nor-auat
fees as a percentage of audit fees were 31.3%;:2019:20: 33.23%. wnich reflects the restrictive cohcy governing the use of Geloitte
LLP for non-audit services.
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2020/21 external Auditor tender process

Deloitte LLP hag been the Company's external Auditor since
the Company was formed on 7 August 2014 by the merger

of Carphone Warehouse and Dixens Retail. Deloitte LLP was
the external Auditor of both Carphone Warehouse and Dixons
Retail prior 1o 2014,

In accerdance with the Competiton and Markets Authority
i'CMA Statutory Audit Services Ordar, which is designed to
ahgn with provisions of the EU Begulations on external audit
tender and rctation. and current guidance. the last peried that
Deoitte LLP can rernain as Auditor 1 the 2022/23 financial year.

In accordance with the Auditng Practices Board Etrucal
Standards, there 1s a five-year rotation of the lead audit partner.
Stephen Griggs, the current lead audit partner, was appointed
for the 2016/17 audit and is therefore reauired to rotate following
cempletion of the 2020/21 audit. David Griffin, currently Key
Audit Partner for UK and Group, wilt move into the role of lead
audit partner for the 202122 financial year.

Dunng the year, the Commitiee led a comprehensive tender
process 1o select a new external Auditor for the 2022/23 financial
year. Five firms were approached. ncluding two 'middie tier’
firms. A formal RFP docurment was then issued to three firms
and two firms participated in the full process. The Committee
agreed a clear set of evaluation critaria and critical success
factors having considered the suggested criteria in the FRC
guidance. The two firms submitted two tead partner Cvs for
consideration and comprehensive tender documents. Both
firms attended meetings with a number of colleagues from
senior management teams and presented 10 a selection panel
comprised of the Audit Committee members and colieaguss
frarm the Finance and Procurement ieams. Each firm orovided
four referees for the proposec Lead Audit Partners.

Both firms submitted high qualty propesals and the scores
against the evaluation critena were very close. The Board
considered the report of the Audd Committee on the process
and concurred with the choice of the preferred audit firm
KPMG LLP will be appointed as the Auditor of the Company
for the financial year 2022/23 subject to sharehoider approval
to be sought at the Company's AGM expected to be held in
September 2022,

Where necessary, any non-audit services provided by KPMG to
the Company ceased by 1 May 2021 in order to meel specified
‘cooling-in' requirements in the year hefare appontment.
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Consideration of external Auditor appointment
and independence

The Committee considers the appropnateness cf the
reappoiniment of the exter~al Auditor each year, iIncluding
the rotaticn of the audit partner.

in acrordance with FRC's International Standards on Auditing
UK and Ireland) 260 and Ethical Standard 1 1ssued by the
Accounting Practizes Board. ard as a matter of best practice,
at year end Deloitte LLP formally confirmed to the Board s
Indeperdence as Auditor of the Comaoary.

In determining whether to recommend the Auditor {or
reappaointrment this year, the Committee considered the Audit
firm’s interna control procedures, the most recent sudit
effectiveness review and ihe tenure of the current lead audit
partner, and thereby affirmed that the sudit processes are
effective and that the approprate independence continues to
be met. Accordingly, the Company confirms that it comphied
with the provisions of the CMA Statuiory Aucit Services Order
for the financiy year under review and the Commiittee concludead
that it was in the best interests of the Company's shareiolders
to reappoint Delortte LLP as the independent Auditor of the
Company. The Committee’s recommendation, that a resolution
to reappont Delotte LLP be proposed at this year's AGM, was
accepted and endorsed by the Board.

Gerry Murphy
Acting Chair of the Audit commitine
29 June 2021

95



96

Dixons Garphone plc Annual Report & Accounts 202021

DISCLOSURE
COMMITTEE REPORT

COMMITTEE Meeting NUMBER OF
MEMBERS Attendance MEETINGS
Jonny Mason (Chair) U7 N

Alex Baldock 77 /

Nigel Paterson 17

Alternate members:
lan Livingston, Chair of the Board and
Tony DeNunzio, Seniot InQependent Director

2020/21
HIGHLIGHTS

* Preliminary results for the financial year ended 2 May 2020
» Interim results for the half year ended 31 Qctober 2020
*  Trading updates

«  Assessment of whether trading performance required the
release of a trading update

Chair’s statement

| am pleased to present the Disclosure Committes (the
‘Committee’) Report tor the year ended 1 May 2021, The
principal roie of the Commuttee 1s to ensure that adeguate
procedures. systems and controls are mantaned o enable
the Company 1o fully meet lis legal and regulatory obligations
regarding the timely and accurate identificat:on and disclosure
of all price sensitve Information.

The Committee 15 comprised of the Group Chuef Financial Officer
[Cemmittee Chain, the Group Chief Executive and the General
Counsel and Company Secretary. The Char of the Board and
the Senior Independant Director receive notices and papers for
all meetings and are able to act as “alterrates’ 1o the Committes
members in the event that the quorur of three cannot be met,
Th:s has not been necessary during the year and all Committee
members have been ab'e 1o attend all meetings. The Company
Secretary, or therr nominee. acts as Secretary 1o the Comnuttee.
The Committee’s delizerations are reported by its Chair at

the next Board meeling and the minutes of each meeting are
circulated to alt members of the Board.

The Committee was consicdered as part of <he internal board
and comrmuttae effectivensss review that was canied cut tris
year and this review goncluded that the Committes discharges
its duties effectvely.

Meetings

There were seven Committee meetings during 2020/21. Since
the financial year end. there has been ore further meeting.
Committes meetings are sciheduled in advance ¢ preliminary
and interim resuits an~ourcements and in advarce of trading
upgates, Meetngs are convened as requested ny any Commitiee
Tember at other tmes as required. The Commitise recaves
INpUt 8s appropnats fom tre other drectors, the Company's
trowers and seror management. The Committes mvtes the
Group Srategy and Corporate Affars Director 1o attend all
rmeetngs and he attended all meetings held dur 1g 2020°21

Responsibilities
The princioal duties of the Disclosure Committee are 10

* estabush and mantain agequate procedures. golicies,
systerrs and contro's to graly'e the Company 1o “ully
cormply wih e legal anc reguiatory obligations regardicg
“he tmely and acourate idenufication and disclasure of &ii
pHee Sersiive informason:

s determine whether information s ingide information and
i requires immediate disclosure;

*  keep uncer review the adeguacy of the Disclosure
and Communications Pocies. implerrent and monitor
compliance:

¢ monitor communications recenved from any regukatory

pody in relation to the conduct of the Group. and review
any proposed responses:

*  consider generally the requirement for announcements,
nchiding in relation to the delayed disclosure of inside
information, substantvve market rumours, and leaks of
nside mformation:

« congider and give final approvai for trading statements
and ¢ or results 10 be released in order 10 meet legal and
regulatory requ rements: and

+ review the content of all maierial regulgtory announcements.
trarsactional shareholder crrculars, prospectuses, and ary
other docurents issued by the Gompany, and ensure that
these comply with all applicable regurements.

Key matters considered

During the year enaed t May 2021, the Comimitiee met 1o

consider the foilowing key matters:

e the prelimirary resulis for the financial year endec 2 May 2020:

» ihe trading update for the 17 weeks ended 29 August 2020;

»  thertenm results for the 26 wesks ended 31 Octeber 2020,

e he Peak ‘racng Lpdate for the 10 weeks ended 9 January
2021

* tho pre-vear end Lpdate -eleased on 28 Apnil 2021 and

o whether currert periormarce corstruted irside nformanon
ard requiren the 1ss.2 of updated financial guidance.

{

Jonny Mason
Chair of the Disclosure Comimittae
29 Jure 2021
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COMMITTEE Meeting NUMBER OF 2020/21
MEMBERS Attendance MEETINGS HIGHLIGHTS
lan Livingsten (Chair) 33 7y ¢ Received an update on talent development in the
Tony De Nunzio 3/3 . _} Leadership team
Andrea Gisle Joosen 3/3 » Considered Board succession planning

* Appointed a new Group Chief Financial Officer
Chair's statement Although succession planning and the oversight of the

| am pleaged to present the Nominations Committee ithe
‘Committee’) Report for the year ended * May 2021 The
Committeg has continued to oversee the structure. size and
compasition of the Board during the year. having regard to

its collective skills, knowledge. experience and diversity in &'l
its forms. This report sets out the key responsibilties of the
Nominatons Commitiee and describes how it has discharged
its duties.

The Committee received an update on the external governance
and best practice standards that retate to s remit in Novermber
2020. The Committes concluded that the Board's size and
composition remaned appropriate to meet the current leadershyp
reeds of the business and operational needs of the Company.

In reaching this conclusion, the Committee considerad the

time commitments of each director, director independence.
director tenure, the diversity of the Board, the collective skils

and expenence of the Board, directors’ external appomntments
and potential conflicts of interests.

The Board currently meets the voluntary diversity targets in both

the Hampton Alexander review and Parker review althougin it will

seek opportunities further to increase diversity in its membership.
The Committee welcomed the establishment of an Inclusion and
Dwersity forum set up during the year 1o focus on increasing the

diversity of the workforce.

FURTHER
INFORMATION

Ll

www.dixonscarphone.com

Committee Terms of Reference last
approved: 21 January 2021 and available
on www.dixonscarphone.com.

The biographical details for each Committee
member are available on pages 66 and 69.

development of a diverse pipeline for succession fall within the
remit of the Committee, these discussions have also taken place
at Board meetngs during 2020/21 in addition to Comimittes
meetings. The Board receved a comprehensive update on
talent and successon planning for key reles during Marcn 2021,
Enhancing diversity and averseeing the succession planning
process for key roles remains a priornty for the whole Board. As
delivenng the cobeague agendais a critical component of the
sucoessful business transtormation of the Group. this work has
neen led by the Commuittee but has warranted further :nput from
all directars.

Meetings and membership

The Commitiee meets as and when required and at 'east twice
a year. The Commitiee held three scheduled meetngs durng
the finarcial year in addimon to the virtual' Board dinner in
March 2021, The miajority of the members of the Committee are
independent non-executive directors as required by the Code.
Other members of the Board or senior management can attend
meetngs at the inviation of the Committee Charr. The Company
Secretary. or their nomeineeg, acls as Secretary 1o the Committee,
The Committeg’s dgeliberatons are reported by its Char at

the next Board meeting and the minutes of each meetng are
circulated 1o all members of the Board.

Responsibilities
The principal duties of the Nominations Committee are 1o

«  review the structure, size and composition of the Board,
and recammend changes 1o the Board as necessary:

s« gve full consderation to orderly succession planning for both
the Board and senior management positions and oversee
the development of a diverse p peline for succession;

s identify and nominate candidates to fill vacancies on the
Board when they arise;

+ carry out a formal, rigorous and transparent selection
process of candidates, giving due regard to promaoting the
benehits of dversity on the Board and semior maragement
team. including gender, social and athnic backgrounds,
and cognitive and personal strengths; and

+ review all the recommendations from the annual board

effectiveness process that relate to Board composition,
dversity or how effectively board members work together,
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Key matters considered
The principal activities of the Committee during 202021
included the:

* consideration and recommendation 1o the Board of
the approval of the appointment of a new Group Chief
Financial Officer:

*» evaluation of the size, composition and structure of the
Board and its committees,

s congideration of the independence and time commitments
of the directors:

« evaluation of director effectiveness during the year and
approval that each deector be recommended for re-election
at the 2021 AGM other than Jonny Mason who will step
down from the Board in July 2021;

« appreval of the Company's diversity policy taking account
of the recommendaticns of the Hampton-Alexander Review,
Parker Review, and McGregor-Smith Review:

» approval of the dirgctor external appointments policy,
+ approval of Committee’s Terms of Reference:

«  approval of the role descriptions of the Chair of the
Board, Senior Independent Director and the Group
Cheet Executive; and

« consideraton of external corporate governance
developments relating to the remst of the Committee,

Board evaluation

Following an externally facilitated Board effectiveness review in
201819, an internal evaluation of the Board was carried out by
way of guestionnaires and ndwidual imerviews win the Char of
the Board for 2020/21. The evaluation process congiuded that
overall the Committee was operating effectvely. Further details
on the outcomes of the Board sffectiveness review are avalag'e
on page 79,

Appointments to the Board

The Commuttes has a formal, ngorous and transparent
procedure for the appontment of new directors. Appontments
are made to the Board based on objactive critena and with due
regard to the benefits of dversity and the leadership needs of
the Compary. Exlernal search corsultancies arg used when
recruiting directors.

The Committee Lsas a sxils matrnx tool when 233885 ng e
skitls and capabities requ red m a rew dreciorn, fa<ing nw
acoount the exsting experience and expertise on the Beard.
The Committee develops candidate profies descrniing the
s«ll3. know'edge ard experence reguired for éach new role.

During the year, the Committee oropcsed tha: Bruce Marsh
be appainted as Group Chief Firancal Officer to fill this
vacancy foliowing Jonry Mason's decision to move an to
réw external opportun tes

The Committee memkbers were involved in the search and
recruitment process for this role and recommended the approval
of Bruce Marsh to the Board for reasons including his strong
track record in delivering complex business transformations and
leading high-quaity finance teams together with his exiensive
retal experience, including in the finance team of Dixons Retall,

Succession planning

The Group reguires a talented Board with appropnate
expenence, exparise and chversity, The Commidies considered
the size of the Board during the year. Whi'e the Cornrmutiee

was satisfied that the current Board size of eight directors was
appropnate and effective, the Commitiee agreed that it would be
prudent to appeint a further one or two additonal non-executive
directors during 2021/22 10 manage the successon planning
needs of key Board roles, Two non-executive directors will reach
a nine-year tenure in August 2023 and the Chair of the Board
and Senior Independent Birector both reach a ning-year tenure in
December 2024, The Committee have therefare prepared a role
profile that takes into account the skills and capabiities of the
curent Board. The Chalr of the Roard discussed the diaft role
profile with each Board director ndvidually during the meetings
held for the Board effectiveness review process to discuss

the Board succession planning rneads and ensure that every
Beard member was able 10 contricute. The Committee will

lead the recruitment search during the next year and propose
any suitable cardidates 1o the Board for approval.

Dunng the year. the Executve Committee carned out a detailed
talent review across every area of the business. Succession
plans are in place for every member of the Executive Committee.
The full Board including the Committes members received an
update from the People team on Talent and Succession plann.ng
dunng the virtual' Board dmner in March 2021, The Char of

the Board who is algo the Committee Charr receives regular
updates during the vear duectly from the Pecp'e team an key
appontments and initiatives. The Committes, together with the
Board, is focused on ensunng that credipie succession plans
ara mantained and that there is a talent pipelne for future
usiness leaders.

Diversity

The Company s committed to deve'oning a diverse workforce
and equal opportunities for all. The Board recognises that
enhancimg diversity N alits forms s a eritical part of hav.ing

an effective and engaged waorkforce which ir tura supports
tre ong-term sustainable success of the businegss.

The Board maets the vo'untary targets recommended by tre
Harmpton-Alexarder Roview and the Parker Review. At the
end of the frmancial year 37.5% of the Board. and 227 of the
Executive Committee. are ‘emale. One mentber of the Board
meets tre critena as set oLt in the Parker Review. Wrilst the
Board 1s strang v sunport ve of enhancing all forms of diversity
ac oss the Board and wider workiorce as a matter of pronty.
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the Board does nat currently set specific targets on gender
balance or ethnicity, The Caommittee and the Board continug

1o be very mindful of the benefits of greater diversity of gender.
social and ethnic backgrounds, and cognitive and personal
strengths, in all appointments. The Board will actively seek to
enhance diversity on the Board during 2021722 by taking steps
to increase the numier of diverse candidates to be nciuded in
&y appaintment Grocess. An Inclusion and Dversity Forum was
established during 2020721 10 seek to enhance diversity across
the workforce.

In accordance with DTR 7.2.84, the Committae confirms that a
Diversity Palicy 1 in place and was last reviewed and approved
by the Committee in November 2020. The Board no longer has

a separate policy that only applies to the Board but has approved
the adoption of the Group policy 10 include all Board and senior
management appointments. The policy does not include any
quotas and emphasises the need for appointments to be made
on the basis of merit.

In performing its annual review, the Board also iooked at other
aspects of diversity relevant to the Group. With a significant
proportion of the business in the Nordics, we have a Swedish
non-executive director on the Board 1o enhance the Board's
knowledge of these international markets. This non-executive
director also attends the International colleague forun to support
colleague listening and engagement. In addition, the current
Group Chief Financial Officer also has wide-ranging financial
experience, beth in the UK and the Nerdics.

Election and re-election

Al the forthcoming AGM. all directors as listed on pages 68

and 69 will present themselves for re-slection other than Jonny
Mason who will step down from the Board in July 2021, Bruce
Marsh will join the Board as Group Chief Financial Gfficer dunng
July 2021 and will present himself for election at the AGM in
September 2021. Biographical details for Bruce Marsh have
been ncluded in the Company's Natice of AGM. Each of the
directors 1s being unanimously recommended by the other
members of the Board due to their expenence, knowledge, wider
management and industry experience, continued effectiveness
and commitment to therr rele. More information on the imdaadual
comnbutions of each director 1s avalable within ther biographies
on pages 68 and 59,

Jecohmmal

Lord Livingston of Parkhead
Chair of the Board
29 June 2021
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REMUNERATION
REPORT

"In determining the Executive Directors’ remuneration outcomes
for the year, the Committee had a clear focus on ensuring

alignment of pay with performance but was equa

ly attentive

10 the need to take into consideration the experience of all
our key stakeholders throughout this extracrdinary year.”

Tony DeNunzic CBE
Chair of the Remuneration Commiltee

Introduction

On behalf of the Board. | am pleased 10 present the 2020/21
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the report of the
Remuneraton Committee {the ' Committee’) for the financial year
ending 1 May 2021, This repart includes a '‘Remuneration at a
glance' section on page 103 and a copy of the Remuneration
Policy on pages 104 to 112, The Beport will be subject 1o an
adwisory shareholder vote at the 2021 AGM.

2020721 was an extracrdinary year. As required bty the
government, the Gompany closed all stgres across the UK,
Irgland and Greece for several substantal penods during the
financial year. However, our online operations in these countries
were able to contnue, and orhing irading went from strength

1o strength, recovenng a significant part of the lost store sales,
In addition, most. but not all. of cur stores in the Nordics have
been able to continue 1o trade throughout the year.

In determining the Executive Directors’ remuneration outcomes,
the Committee had a clear focus on ensuring aligrment cf pay
with performance but was equally attentive 10 the need 1o take
nto consideration the experence of all cur key stakeholders
throughout this extraordinary year,

We have outlned below the key drivers of our remuneration
decisions m the context of a very challenging year.

Remuneration in context
Corporate performance
The executive team successiuly navigated the uncertantes of

the pandermic Despite the significarit and ongong uncertantes.

the mam remained focused on s core purpose cf heiping
everyone enjcy amazng technology. The Compary prontsed
colfeague salety. customer care and financial stabiity, However,
at the same time significant progress was made in the most
impartant strategic programmes whi'st de'ivering *obust
‘mancial resu'ts. This overall outcome was subgiantally betier
than could rave been expecied at the beginn:ng of the year
and substantialty better than in 2019/20 as evidenced belcw

Strategic priotities
Key strategic achievements inciude:

* Electricals onlne sales grow'h +103% to £4.7bn:
UKE&I Electricals onling sales grew +114% to £3.4bn

+  Gained market share in every channel that was open

»  Mobile transformation has been highly cash generative
in the year

»  Signficant acceleration in omnichannel transformation:
Shoplive, our 24/7 e video shopping service launched
in the year generating over £100m sales in the UK; order
& collectis a growing proporhon of sales

« Balance sheet position materially improved though strong
performance on sales, growth in profits and cash flow year
on year.

Financial performance

Our key financial highlights inciude:

s Strong rading in all markets: Flecticais LFL +14%, despite UK,
Ireland and Greece stores being shut for substantial periods

e Croup adjusted profit before tax” £156m 12019:20: C116m).
Adjusted Group EBIT grew +22% 10 £262m

«  Total free cash flow was £438m* compared to £109m in the
prior year. This improved the year end net cash position 10
£1689m aganst net debt of (L204m] at the end of 2018720

Stakeholder experience
Gur colleagues

As aresult of the pandemic. cver 16.500 colleagues were placed
on furlowgh duning 2020721 and we suspended some of our
transformaton aetvies, 10 focus on keeping cur colleagues
safe. wh st managing costs and resources. YWe have spent £14m
to.mp'emenrt extensive hygene and socal distancing measures
at our facitigs and stores to ensure our sites are Covid-secura.
We were glso ong of the first companigs in the UK o roll out
rap-o worktorce testing. Thig has enabled our colleagues to
safely contnue delvernng vital technology to Customers. In the
UK and Irelana. we provded full pay ar enhanced company sick
pay 1o our vulnerabie colleagues in cusiomer-facng ~cles and

to colleagues who were over 28 weeks' pregnant so they could
shig'd at home. We also provided full sick pay and support 10 our
colleagues who tesied positve or wes dsplayirg syTipton s for
Covia-19 anG reeded to quarantine.
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We are continuing to recognise the vital work all our frontling
colleagues are daing. and in May we announced that we plan
to pay all hourly paid UK colleagues the Real Living Wage from
1 October 2021. This will result in an average increase of 9%
for almast 12,000 hourly paid colleagues in the UK. We are
also pleased to confirm that in contrast to last year, there will
be annual performance bonus payouts to all eligibte colleagues
across the Group. We introduced a new recognition bonus for
our Supply Chain colleagues and continued with our colleague
share awards to ensure ai colleagues are shareholders and
nvestad in our future success. We now have over 31.000
colleagues across owr international markets who are members
of our Colleague Sharehcider Award scheme.

Alongswde our commitment to Increase the minimum hourly

pay rate for our frontline UK colleagues. we are making a series
of investments in skills, wellbeing and reward programmes,
totaling nearly £23m over two years. We invested in colleague
wellbaing, providing training and accreditation for 450 Mental
Hegalth First Aiders and traning for & further 315 colleagues to
become Mental Health Champions. The necessary changes in
our business model created opportunities for our colleagues to
be redeployed across the busingss to areas where there was
the greatest need. This enabled them to learn new skilis and
bencfit from new expenences. We redeployed 700 colleagues to
suppart contact centres and Increased the number of colleagues
trained to be Shoplive enabled from 20 in April 2020 to 2,800
by January 2021. We also provided aimost 600,000 hours

of learning during the year and upskilled over 6,000 front line
colleagues in our new selling framework LIFE.

The above investments have contnbuted to a double digit
increase n the UK&I engagement scores, and an industry
leacing overall engagement score for the Group.

Qur customers

Despite our UK stores being shut. we continued to heip our
customers with the technalogy they needed by moving from
being a business with 25% online penetration to 100% overrmght.
This significant change in operation did lead to some customer
chalienges. which were identfied and resolved over time. We
invested in traning and rescurcing, which meant by year end
service levels were significantly better. There is more 10 do. but
irnovations such as zero contact order & collect and Shoplive
have been welcomed by our customers and arg a significant part
of our omnichannel future.

Government suppart

We are grateful for government support received durng the
pandemic. This was used to successfully preserve jobs duning
lock down and we did not make any Covid-related redundancies
in the year. Given our strong financial position at year end, we
reimbursed all of the £73m receved in furlough support in the
year in respect of our UK&I colleagues and made the early
payrment of £144m of VAT deferred by the UK Governmant.

Qur sharcholders

Cur share price has recovered since the depth of the crisis
and we believe we remain on track for a much more valuable
business for shareholders in the longer term. aloeit some
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elemenrts of the transformation have been delayed 6 1o 12
months by the crisis. We've closed the year with a significantly
strengthened balance sheet, new debt facilites and reman

on track for our medium-term guidance of more than £1bn of
cumulative free cash flow over 2019/20 1o 202324, As we look
forward with optrmism the Board has decided to restart a full
dividend of 3.0p for the full year 2020721,

ur commpnities

Our purpose, to help everyone enjoy amazing technology, goes
beyond ensurng customers can choose, afford and enjoy the
right technalogy. During the year. we pledged £1m to help close
the digital poverty gap and tackled isolation among older people
whilst committing to further reducing our environmental impact,

We launched our first *Go Greener’ marketing campaign and
have collaberated with The British Retail Consortium on a
Chmate Action Roadmap to acheve Net Zero by 2040 - a target
also set for the Group. We've introduced our first electric vans as
we move 1o glectric vehicles by 2030 as part of Climate Group
EV100. We have mantained cur FTSE4Good status, scored

in the top decile of 1ISS's ESG Environment rating and st out
our first disclosures against the Taskforce for Climate-related
Financial Disciosures Framewark.

Qur colleagues have a vital role 1o play here, and we have
introduced two new environmental metrics nto our annual
bonus scorecard from 2021/22 1o abgn our ESG gosls with
our reward framewaork.

2020/21 remuneration
Base salary

Due to the impact of Covid-19, all members of the Board agreed
to a temporary 20% reduction in base pay and fees during the
pernod April to June 2020.

Annual performance bonus

Annual performance bonus in respect of 2020/21 was based
on achievement of stretching targets against four metncs of
EBIT (50%), average nel debt (20%). net promoter score {15%)
and employee engagement {15%). Bonus arrangements also
included a potential clawback facility in relation to "Treating
Customers Farrly .

The formulaic outcome given the above performance was 88%
of maximum for the Executive Directors. Full detals on the
targets set and performance against therm can be found on
page 117. The Committee considered whether or not to

adjust the formutac outcome and decided it was satisfied

that the cutcome is both far and apprapriate given the

financial performance delvered in a difficult year and the wider
stakeholder experience outlined above. The Committee were
also mindful that no 2019/20 bonuses were paid to the Executive
Directors. despite the fact that bonus targets were on track
prior 1o the negative impact of the first lockdown in March 2020.
Therefore, for the avoidance of doubt no Committea discretion
was exercised in respect of the formulaic cutcome for 2020721,

Cre third of bonus payments to Executive Directors will be
deferred into shares for a period of two years.

in
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LTIP

The 2018 LTIP award was sulect 1o relative TSR (50%)

and cumulative free cash flow (50%0) targets measured over
three years. Based on the achieved level of performance,

the threshold required for vesting for the TSR elerment was not
met but the free cash flow achieved a vesting percentage of
100%. The cumulative cash flow achieved was £698m against
a target of £574m. Overall LTIP vesting was theretore 50%.

Again, the Committee considered whether or not to make

an adiustment to the formulaic outcome, In the course of its
delberations the Committes noted that the positive impact of
government Covid support was more than counterbalanced by
the negative mpact of Covid store closures. Overall therefore.
it decided that it was satisfied that the cutcome 1s both fair and
approprate given the cash flow performance delivered and the
wider stakeholder experence cutined above

Vested shares will be subjact to a further two-vear halding pencd.

Full detarls on the targets set and performance agsiast them can
be found on pages 119 and 120,

2021/22 remuneration
Base salary

The Commitige reviewed Alex Baldock’s salary as at 1 May 2021
and. in the light of his leadership through the pandemic and the
two years since he last recewved an uphft, applied an increase of
1.5% to £880,000, effective 1 August 2021, This level of iIncrease
15 below the fevel of increase apphed to the wider workforce. The
average increase for the UK&I Corporate Head Office pepulation
1S Circa 2%, effectve 1 August 2021 and 2.7% for the Nordics.
effective 1 April 2021, The move to Real Living wage payments
in October 2021 will give an average increéase of 8% for our
hourly paid UK colfieagues.

Pension

Bruce Marsh will recave a 3% pension allowance on joining

the Company, In fine with the wider workfcrce. Alex will continue
to recave a 0% pension alowance for 202122, however the
Committee confirms that this allowance will De aligned with the
majority of the wider workforee by the end of 2022,

Annual performance bonus — metrics, weightings and
reasons for change against the prior financial year

As in previous years. *he annual performance bonus will

be subject to the achievement of stretching adjusted EBIT,
average net debt. customer net promoter score and emrployee
engagement targets. and a potentdl clawback ‘aciity in rélaten
to "Treating Customers Fairly”

I addition to these measures. the Committee has decded to
introduce an addhonal environmental focus, based on secycling
by increasing e-waste Take Back and reducing our Scope 1 and
2 Carbon Emissions. These measdJres are reflected and desply
embedded :n our strategy. are the nght thing to do - and meet
the growing expectaton from our colleagues. customess and
sharehclders to focus on the climate agenda. ESG measures
including customer net pramoter score and employee engagement;
wiil now represent 40% of the annual Donus weaighting.

iTiP

As in prior years, 202122 LTIP awards will be subject to two
equalty weghted performance conditions, Half of the awards
will be subject 1o the achievement of a relative TSR performance
candtion, measured against a bespoke comparater group
comprsed of 21 BEuropean Special Lires Retallers. The
remaining half of the awards will be subject 10 the achievement
of a cumulative free cash flow target. This year, we plan to set
the targets and make the awards after we have announced our
annual results, to ensure that we have largets in place that are
both stretching for participants and also fully reflective of how
shareholders and the market view the long-term performancs
of the business. We will fully disclose the award details and
targets at the time of the grant announcement and alse nclude
them in next year's Remuneration Report.

Executive director changes

Ag announced in January. Bruce Marsh will be appointed as
Group Chief Financial Officer with effect from 12 July 2021,
Bruce's remuneration arrangements will e in ine wath our
shareholder-approved Remuneration Policy. Further detail
including the award to be made in compensation for ncentives
forfeited at his previous employer) are set out on page 128,

Jonny Mason, current Groug Chief Financial Officer, will remain
in fus existing role to ensure a seamlass and orderly transtion
dunng July. His termination arrangements are in line with the
shareholder-approved Remuneration Policy. His contractual
notice period s 12 months from the date of notice (20 January
2021, After termination, payment in lieu of notice will be paid

in nstaiments untll the end of his notice period or if garler, the
date on which aiternative employment is secured or alternative
engagements with the same or higher salary / fee 1s received.
Jonny will receve payment of the 2020/21 bonus, with two thirds
in cash and one third deferred into shares for two years. The
Committee has determined that Jonny will receive good leaver
status in respect of his outstanding Buy-cut, LTIP and Deferred
Share Bonus Plan awards taking account of hig significant
contrdbution to the strong profit and cash flow performance in the
year and ongoing efforts supperting a successful transition to the
new CFQO. The Buy-out and LTIP awards will be pro-rated for his
period of employment and the LTIPs will retain therr performance
conditons. For the avoidance of doubt Jonny will not be eligite
‘or a 202122 benus or LTIP grart.

I hope you fnd that thus report clearly explans the remungration
approacr we nave taken and how we will implement the Policy
in 2021.22, Ve Fave sought to ensure that a balanced aporoach
has been taken for all stakeholders based on thar expenerces
during the year. As always, we would welcome any feedback or
comments on this Report. We look forward to yvour cortinued
engagement and thark you for the feedhack provided to date.

b Bl

Tony DeNunzio CBE
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
29 June 2021




STRATEGIC REPOAT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMUNERATION AT A GLANCE

BASE SALARY

 Waximum
opportunity

2020/21

INVESTOR INFORMATION

2021/22 proposed

¢ CEO tAlex Baldock) — £867.000
« CFO Jorny Mason) — £479,400

Note. Due to the Covid-19 impact, the
Executve Directors agreed to a 20%
recluction from the above salaries with
effect from 5 Apnl 2020 to 28 June 2020

CEQ (Alex Baldock) — 2880000
CFO (Bruce Marshy - 415,000

+ 15075 of base salary
* One third deferred into shares
for a period of two years

1509y of base salary
Cne third! deterred into shares
for a period of two years

ANNUAL
PERFORMANCE

BONUS Performance

metrics
(weighting)

e EBIT (B0
e Average net debit (20%5)
o ESG{30%)
- Net Promoter Score {157y
- Employee engagement (1523
* EBIT underpin and "Treating
Customers Fairly” clawback

EBIT (45%)

Average net dobt {157

ESG (4055

- Net Promicter Snore (150:)

- Employee engagement (159

= Eowvironmental (10%i)
- E-waste Take Back volumes (5%, and
— Progross to Net Zero (5%3)

EBIT undrrpin and “Treating Cusiomers

Fairly™ clawhack

Maximum
opportunity

Per};lrméhéé-
metrics
{weighting)

SHARE OWNERSHIP
GUIDELINES

o 20005¢ of base salary

Nole: Seated back by 2045 from 250°5
maximurn, N recognition of share prce
mevements and shareholdor expenence

* TSR reative Lo a bespoke group
of UK and European retaiers (50%5)
Cumuliatve free cash How (h0%)

L d

200 of salary 16 ba achicved

withiry five years of appointment

For now appointments, shares o the
value of 200% of salary must be retaned
for the first vear post-cessation and
100% fur the second yvear

TOTAL REMUNERATION EARNED IN THE YEAR

-

250%t of hase salary

TSR relative 10 a bospoke group of UK
and Eurcpean retalers (50%)
Cumwlative free cash flow (50%)

200% of salary to be achieved within five
vears of appaintment

For new appanimaents (Bruce Marsh).
shares o the value of 200% of salary
must be retained for 1he lirst year post-

cessation and 100% for the second year

The chart below reflects the on-target and actual remuneration outcomes for 2020/21, and includes the performance related

2018 LTIP awards made on recruitment.

£4,000 £3,527

£2,977

£3,000
£2,000
£1,000

g0 -L

On Target
Alex Baldock

Actual

£1,944

On Target
Jonny Mason

£1.678

Actual

. Fixed pay
B Annual bonus
W e

LTIP — Recruitment
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REMUNERATION
REPORT CONTINUED

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this Report is to inform shareholders of the
Company's Directors' remuneration for the year ended 1 May
2021 and the Remuneration Policy for subsequent years.

This report is divided into twao sections:

¢+  the Remuneration Policy; and
* ihe Annual Remuneration Report.

The current Remuneration Policy was approved by
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 5 September
20189 and is effective from that date. The Annual Remuneration
Seport will be put to an advisory vote af the Annual

General Meeting.

The next Directors’ Remuneration Palicy will be put ta
shareholders at the AGM, expected to be held during
September 2022.

The role of the Committee is to determine an behalf of the
Board a remuneration policy for Executive Directors and
senior management which promotes the long-term success

of the business through the attraction and retention of
Executives who have the ability, experience and dedication
10 deliver cutstanding returns for our shareholders.

The Committee has adopted the principles of good governance
relating to Directors’ remuneration as enshrined in section 5 of
the Code and has paid close regard to the pringiples of clarity,
transparency, risk management, proportionality and alignment
to culture and strategy. The Committee has complied with
those principles in the year under review.

These reports have been prepared by the Committee on
behalf of the Board in accordance with the Companies Act
20086, Schedule 8 to the Large and Medium-sized Companies
and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008

(as amended) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct
Autherity. The Remuneration Pelicy (which is not subject

to audit) details the role of the Committee, the principles of
rernuneration and cther matters. The Annual Remuneration
Report {elerments of which are audited] details the Direclors’
and former Directors’ fixed and variable pay, share awards,
share opticns and pension arrangements.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The policy set out here s the version approved by shareholders
other than minor updates to certain sections suUch as the
Remuneration Committee objectives, lustration of remuneration
policy, sharehoider and employee consultation and dilution linuts,

The actual version which was approved by shareholders can be
found in the annual report and accounts 201819,

In August 2019, notwithstanding the Policy flexibitty 1o pay up to
10% of base salary as a pension contrioution (or cash allowancs
in tieu of a pension). the Committes announced that the pension
comnbutions for any new Executive Directors woud be aligned
0 pension contributions of the wader workforce.

Remuneration strategy

Put simply. our aim is 10 generate supenor returns “cr our
shareholders and the «ey 1o ach.eving this 1s our colleagues
Qur remuneratior strategy is therefore designea to motivate
high-performing colleagues to deliver our business st-ategy.
The objectves of our remuneraton strategy are o

*  attract. motvate and retain high guality talent;

¢ be fransparent and align the interests of senior management
and Exgcutive Directors with these of sharehclders, by
Encouragng management to have a s1ignificant perscnal
stake N the nng-lerm success of the busingss:

wenght remunerahon 10 vanable pay so that it incentivses

outperformance particularly over the long term whilst

discouraging inappropriate nsk-taking:

s cnsure that superor rewards are only paid for exceptional
performance against challenging targets.

¢ apply polcies consistently across the Group 1o promote
alignment and teamwork:

e recognise the importance of delivenng across a balanced set

of metrics to ensure the right behaviours are adopted and the

long-term health of the busmess 1z protected; and

s avold rewarding falure,

In developing its policy. the Comrmittes has regard to:

+ the performance. roles and responsibiities of each Executive
Chrecter or member of senior management:
the remuneration arrangemants and policy which apply
below semor managament levels, including average base
salary ngreases across the workforce:

e nformaton and surveys from intermal ard indeperdent
SOUrCEs:

¢ the economic envirormert and firancial performarce of the
Company. and

« good corporaie governance practice.
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Guidelines on responsible investment disclosure The Commuttee considers that no element of the remuneration
in Ine with the Investment Assosiation Guidelines on responsiple  PaCkage will encourage inappropriate risk-taking by any member
investrient disclosure. the Committes is satisfied that the of senior management.

ncentwe structure and targets for Executive Direclors do

not raise any environmental, sooial or govermnance risks by

Remuneration Policy table

Inagivertently motivating irresponsible or reckiess behaviour The individual glements of the remuneration packages offered

to Executive Directors are summarnsed in the following takle:

BASE SALARY (FIXED PAY)

Purpose and link to strategy

To aid the recruitment, retention and motivation of high-performing colleagues.
To reflect their skills, experience and importance 1o the business.

Operation

Normally reviewed annually.

The review reflects a range of factors including merit levels, internal relativity, external market data
and c¢ost. Qur overall policy, having due regard to the factors noted, is normally to iarget salaries

at market tevel-taking into consideration FTSES1-150 and retailers of a similar size.

Salaries for new appointments as Executive Directors will be set in accordance with the Recruitment
Policy set cut on pages 110 and 111.

The Committee takes into consideration the impact of base salary increases on the package as a
whole, as other elements of pay (such as pensicn contributions) are generally based on a percentage
of salary,

Maximum opportunity

Ordinarily, increases for Executive Directors will be in line with increases across the Group. Increases
beyond those granted acress the Group may be awarded in certain circumstances, such as changes
in responsibifities, progression in the role and significant increases in the size, complexity or vaiue of
the Group.

Salary levels for current Directors are shown in the Annual Remuneration Report.

Performance
assessment / targets

Salaries are normally reviewed annually by the Commitiee at the appropriate mesting having
due regard to the individual's experience, performance and added value to the husiness.

BENEFITS (FIXED PAY)

Purpose and link to strategy

In fine with the Company's strategy to keep remuneration weighted to variable pay that incentivises
outperformance, a modest range of benefits is provided.

Benefits may vary based on the personal choices of the Director.

Provision of relocation or other related assistance may be provided to support the appointment
or relocation of a Director.

Operation

Executive Directors are entitled to a combination of benefits which include, but are not iimited to:
¢ car allowance ar the use of a driver for company business;

* private medical cover;

= life assurance;

» holiday and sick pay; and

* arange of voluntary benefits including the purchase of additional holiday.

Executive Directors will be eligible for other benefits which are introducea for the wider workforce
on broadly similar terms.

Any reasonable business-related expenses {including the tax thereon) can be reimbursed if
determined to be & taxable benefit.

Should an Executive Director be recruited from, or be based in, a non-UK location, benefits may
be determined by those typically provided in the normal country of residence and / or reflect local
market legislation.

Relocation or other related assistance could include, but is not limited to, removal and other
relocation costs, tax egualisation, tax advice and accommaodation costs.

Maximum opportunity

The cost to the Group of providing such benefits will vary from year to year in accordance with the
cost of providing such benetits, which is kept under regular review.

Performance
assessment / targets

Not applicable.

105



106

Dixons Carphane plc Annual Report & Accounts 2020/21

REMUNERATION
REPORT CONTINUED

PENSION (FIXED PAY)

Purpose and link to strategy

A pension is provided which is consistent with that provided to other Corporate employees in the
UK and in line with our strategy to keep remuneration weighted to variable pay that incentivises
outperformance.

Operation

Defined contribution plans are offered to all employees. A defined benefit pension plan continues
in operation for Dixons' longer-serving employees, which is now ciosed to new participants and
future accrual.

Executive Directors may choose to receive a cash allowance in lieu of pension contributions.

Maximum opportunity

Current Exscutive Directors wilt receive normal Company pension contribution of up to 10% of base
salary, which can be taken in whole or in part as a cash aliowance in liet: of pension. Any Executive
Director appointed after 5 September 2019 will recelve a pansion cortribution in line with the level
paid to the majority of the UK workforce across the Group, up to 10% of base salary, which can be
taken in whole or in part as a cash allowance in lisu of pension.

Performance
assessment / targels

Not applicable

ANNUAL PERFORMANCE BONUS (VARIABLE PAY)

Purpose and link to strategy

Annual performance bonuses are in place to incentivise the delivery of stretching, near-term business
targets based cn our business strategy.

These bonuses provide a strong link between reward and performance and drive the creation of
turther sharcholder value.

The principles and appreach are consistently applied across the Group ensuring alignment to a
common vision and strategy.

They are based on a balanced approach ensuring appropriate behaviours are adopted and
encouraging a longer-term focus.

Operation

Bonus payments are determined after the year end and subject to a minimum profit threshold
being achieved before payment is due.

For thresheld fevel of performance, a bonus of up to 20% of the maximum potential award is
payabie. A sliding scale determines payment between the minimum and maximum bonus payable.

The annual bonus is typically determined in June based on the audited performance over the
previous financial year.

One third of any bonus earned will be deferred inte shareg for a period of two years, with the
remaining two-thirds paid in cash. Any bonus garned is non-pensionable. Where any borus
is deferred dividends (or eguivalents) may accrue.

Performance is reviewed dy the Committee using its judgement where necessary to assess
the achievement of targets. The Committee retains the discretion 1o adjust downwards bonus
payments where achievement of targets would result in a payment of a bonus at a level which
would not be consistent with the interests of the Company and its shareholders.

Recovery and withholding provisions apply for material misstatement, misconduct, calcuiation
error, reputational darmage and corporate failure, enabling performance adjustments and / or
recovery of sums already paid. These provisions will apply for up to three years after payment,

Maximum opportunity

Maximum annual bonus potential for all Executive Directors is 150% of base salary.

No bonus is payable if the minimum profit threshoid is not achieved.

Performance
assessment / targets

All measures and targets are reviewed and set by the Committee at the beginning of the financial
year with a view to supporting the achievement of the Group strategy.

The bonus scheme has targets based on a balanced scorecard. The balanced scorecard may
include both financiat and non-financial measures, such as employee, customer and strategic
measures. The weighting of measures will be determined by the Commitiee each year. Financial
measures (such as profit and cash) will represent the majority of the bonus opportunity, with other
measures representing the balance.
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LONG-TERM INCENTIVE SCHEME (VARIABLE PAY): LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN {‘LTIP')

Purpose and link to strategy  L.ong-term incentive schemes are transparent and demanstrably aligned with the interests of

shareholders over the long-term.

The LTIP is designad to reward and retain Executives over the longer-term, whilst aligning an
individual's interests with those of shareholders and in turn delivering significant shareholder vaiue.

Operation

Discretionary awards ot nil-priced options or conditional share awards are granted over Dixons
Carphone shares.

Awards will be granted annually and will usually vest after three years subject to continued service
and the achievement of performance conditions.

The leve! of vesting is dependent on achievernent of performance targets, usually over a three-year
period. No more than 25% of the maximum will be payable for threshold ‘evel of performance.

The post-tax number of share awards vesting will be subject to a further two-year holding period, during
which they cannot be sold, unless in exceptional circumstances and with the Committee’s permission.

Dividend equivalents may be accrued on the shares earned from any award.

Awards wiif be subject to recovery and withholding provisions for material misstaterment, misconduct,
calculation error, reputational damage and corporate failure, enabling performance adjustments
and / or recovery of sums already paid. These provisions will apply for up to three years after vesting.

If employrment ceases during the vesting period, awards will ordinarily lapse in full, unless the
Committee exercises its discretion.

The Committee has the discretion in certain circumstances to grant and / or settle an award in cash.
For the Executive Directors this would only be used in exceptional circumstances.

In the event of a change of control, any unvested awards will vest immediately, subject to satisfaction
of performance conditions and reduction on a time-apportioned basis.

Maximum opportunity

Grants under the LTIP are subject to overall dilution limits.

The normal maximum grant per participant in any financial year will be a market value of 250% of base
salary, with up to 375% in exceptional circumstances, e.g. recruitment.

More details on the proposed award levels for Executive Directors in 2021/22 are set out in the
Annual Remuneration Report on page 128 and full details will be disclosed at grant.

Performance
assessment / targets

Parformance targets are reviewed by the Committee prior to each grant and are set 1o reflect the key
priorities of the business at that time.

The Committee determines the metrics from a range of measures, including but not limited to,
market-based performance measures such as TSR and financial metrics such as free cash flow.

The Committee retains the flexibility to introduce new measures in the future if considered appropriate
given the business context, although TSR and free cash flow will each not be weighted any less than
30% of the total award. Material changes will be subject to consuliation with major shareholders.

The actual metrics applying for each award will be set out in the Annual Remuneration Report and any
changes in the metrics will be explained,

ALL EMPLOYEE SHARE PLANS

Purpose and link to sftrategy Encourages employees to make a long-term investment in the Company’s shares and therefore be

aligned to the long-term success of the Company.

Operation

Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the Group all-employee share schemes, but not the
Colleague Shareholder Scheme, on the same terms as other eligible employees,

Maximum opportunity

The same limits apply to Executive Directors as to all other participants in the schemes and are in ling
with the appropriate regulations.

The Committee reserves the right to increase the savings limits for future schemes in accordance with
the statutory limits in place from time to time.

Performance
assessment / targets

None of the schemes are subject to any performance conditions.
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SHARE OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES

Purpose and link to strategy  Provides close alignment between the longer-term interests of Executive Directors and shareholders
int termis of the Company's long-term success.

Operation The Company requires Executive Directors to retain a certain percentage of base salary in the
Company's shares, with a five-year period in which to reach these limits. Executive Directors
are &lso required 1o retain a proportion of these shares post the cessation of employment.

The shares which count towards this requirement are beneficially owned shares {both directly
and indirectly).

Maximum opportunity Not applicable.
Performance The Company requires alt Executive Directors to retain 200% of base salary in the Company's
assessment / targets shares during employrment. Any Executive Director appointed after 5 September 2019 will also

be required o retain shares equivaient to 20G% of their base salary on leaving for a period of
12 months and then 100% of their base salery for a further period of 12 months.

Details of the Directors’ shareholdings are shown in the table on page 126

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND CHAIR OF THE BOARD / DEPUTY CHAIR FEES

Purpose and link to strategy  To provide a competitive fee for the performance of non-executive director duties, sufficient to attract
high calibre individuals to the role.

Operation The fees are set to align with the duties undertaken, taking intc account market rates, and are
normally reviewed on an annual basis. Factors taken into consideration include the expected time
commitment and specific experience.

Additional fees ate payable for acting as the Senior Independent Director or as Chair of any Board
committee, and for membership of 2 Board Committes,

Non-executive directors de not participate in the annual performance bonus or the long-term
incentive plans or pension arrangements.

Any reasonable business-related expenses (including the tax thereon) can be reimbursed if
determined to be a taxabie benefit.

For material, unexpected increases in time commitments, the Board may pay extrafeesona
pro-rated basis to reflect additional workload.

Maximum opportunity Aggregate annual imit of £2,000,000 imposed by the Articles of Association for Directors’ fees
(not including fees in relation to any executive office or Chair of the Board, Deputy Chair, Senior
Independent Cirector or Gommittee Chair fees)

Performance Not applicable.
assessment / targets
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Selection of Performance Metrics

The palicy provides flexibility for the Committee 1o determing the measures to be used in the Annual Performance Bonus and the
LTIP. The measures used currently, and their purposes are set out below.

Measure Where used Purpose

EBIT Annual Pertformance Bonus ey measure of anmual financial delivery

Averaye nel debl Annual Performance Bonus  Focus oh the business § cash position

Net promoter score Annual Performance Bonus  Captures the overail perception of our business in the cyes of our customers
Empiovee engagoment Anmual Performance Bonus  Reflects how well we engage our colleagues — a factor which we know to be g

key driver of retention and performance

Cumulative tfree cash flow  LTIP A principal measure of the financial heaith of the business including the
management of working capital, captured over a multiyear ponod

Relative TSR LTIP Seeks to measure the growth in shareholders’ investment in Dixons Carphane
share prce movements plus dividends paid) relative 1o other sirmar companies

Illustration of Remuneration Policy

The Rermuneration Policy scenario chart below illustrates the level and mix of potential total remuneration the ongaing Executive
Directors could receve under the Remuneration Policy at three levels of performance: minimum. target and maximum.

Remuneration Policy scenarig chart

. Fixed pay
£6,000 — £5,622
——— Il Annual bonus
® £5,000
g B Long-term incentives
& £4,000
s
£3,004

2 £3,000 £2,619
E g
E £2,000 £1.384
H £1,002 _
€ £1.000

20 -

Minimum Target Maximum  Maximum +50% Minimum Target Maximum  Maxmum +50%
share price grawth share price growth
Alex Baldock Bruce Marsh

{1) Fixed pay is based on the base salary payable al 1 August 2021, taxable benefits and pension contributions.

{2) Annual variable pay represents the annual performance bonus entiternent. No bonus s assumed at the minimum parformance level.
Target performance assumes a payment of 90% of salary fi.e, 80% of maximum) and at maximum performance a payment of 150% of base salary.

{3 Long-term incentives relate to the LTIP. No awards vest at the minimurm performance level, Target performance assumes a vesting of 137.5% of salary
{.e. 55% of maximum award) and maxmurn performance vesting of 250% of saiary.

{4) Thechart above does not take intp account the impact of share price appreciation, other than the fourth bar, which assumes a growth in the share price
of 50% aver the vesting period for LTIP awards.

Remuneration Committee discretions

The Committee operates the annual performance bonus plan. LTIP and all-employee plans i accordance with therr respective rules,
the Listing Rules and HMRC rules {or overseas equivalent) where relevant. The Committee retans discretion, consistent with rmarket
practice, over a number of areas relating to the operation and administration of these plans. These include but are not imited to:

+  entitterment to partcipate in the plan:

»  when awards or payments are to be made;

* gsize of award and / or payment fwithin the rules of the plans and the approved policyh:

* determination of a good leaver for incentive plan purposes and the appropriate treaiment based on the rules of each plan;

+ discretion as to the measurement of performance conditions and pro-ratng i the event of a change of control;

« any adjustment to awards or performance conditons for significant events or exceptional circumstances: and

» the application of recovery and withholding prowvisions.
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Shareholder and employee consultation

The Committee has a policy to consult with its rmajor
shareholders when making any significant changes to the
Remuneration Pohoy of the Company. Any feedback recerved

is taken into consideration when determining future policy. The
Committes also takes into consideration remuneration guidance
issued by leading investor bodies, in addition to the principies

of good governance relabng to directors’ remuneration as set
out in the Cede.

Whilst employees are not formally consulted on executive
remuneration, a number of them are shareholders and as such
are able to exercise therr nfluence 0 adddtion, the International
Colleague forum is in place to unify the country forums into a
single listening and engagement forum for colleagues. Tony
DeNunzio, the Deputy Chair and Senior independent Director
attends the UK forum meetings with the Chief People Officer

and Andrea Gisle Joosen. Independent Non-Executive Directer,
attends the Nordics colleague forum meetings. Attendance at
these forums provides a welcomed opportunity to directly engage
with the wider workforce and to bring colleagues’ views tc both
the Committee and Board discussions. In 2020421 the forums
were instrumental in supporting a number of critical business
initatives, such as the Implementation of a single payroll across
the UK&I business. and consultation on changes 'o key pay
pohcies, as well as influencing the agenda on issues that matter
most to our colleagues, such as wellbeing. In additon, we monitor
our employee discussion boards and employee forums to ensure
employee feedback in general i1s considered in all our stralegy
execution. The Company also conducts regular employee surveys
throughaout the business. The Committee is kept iInformed of
general employment conditions across the Group. including the
annual pay review outcomes.

Remuneration policy for the wider workforce

Dixons Carphone employs a large number of colleagues across
different countries. Qur reward framework is structured around
a set of common principles with adjustments made to suit

the needs of the dfferent businesses and employee groups
Reward packages differ for a vanety of reasons including the
'mpact on the business, local practice, custom and legislation.

In determining salary increases 10 apply across the wider
workforce. the Company takes ntc consideration Company
performance anc cther market metrics as necessary. Whan
setting the policy for Executive Directors. the Committee takes
nto consideration salary increases throughout the Company
as a whole.

The Company actively encourages wide employes share
awnership. The Colleague Shareholder Scheme provides the
opportunity for ali colleagues. sulzect to eligibility ¢rtena. to
become shareholders in the Company and the Comopany ras
put in place the structure and plar rules ‘or a SIP. for ntraducton
at a future date. In adaition. the Groun's UK & Insh empioyees,
who meet the eligiiity critera, are already invied tc join trg
Company's UK and ireland approved SAYE.

Drscretionary share plans are also extended to both semior
management and other key members of the workforce, as the
Company feeis that it is important (o ncentivise and retain these
employees over the longer-term in order for the Company to
continue to grow.

Recruitment or promotion policy

On appointment or promation, base salary levels wil be

set taking into account a range of factors including market
levels, experience. internal relativities and cost. If an individual
s appointed on a base salary below the desired market
positioning. the Committee retains the discretion to re-align the
base salary over one to three years, contingent on individual
performance, which may result in a higher rate of annuahsed
nerease above ordinary levels, If the Committee intends to

rely on this discretion, it will be noted in the first Remuneration
Report following an individual's appointment. Other elements of
annual remuneration will be N Ine with the policy set out in the
Remuneration Policy table. As such, vanable remuneration will
be capped as set out in the Policy table.

The fotowing exceptions will apply:

* inthe event that an internal appointment 15 made or an
Executive Director joins as a result of a transfer of an
undertaking, merger, reconstruction or simitar recrganisation.
the Commrites retains the discretion to continue with existing
rermuneration prowisions and the prowvision of benefits. This
discretion will not be used n respect of pension contributions
In excess of the Committee’s commitment to ensure that any
newly appointed Executive Director will recenve a pension
contribution N line with the level paid to the maority of the
UK workforce across the Group;

+  asdeemed necessary and appropriate to secure an
appointment, the Committeg retains the discretion to
make additonal payments Iinked 1o relocaton (including
any tax thereony;

s for an overseas appointment, the Committes will have
discretion 1o offer cost-effective benefits and pension
provisions which reflect local market practice and refevant
legislation:

* the Commitige may set alternatve performance conditans
for the remainder of the mital annual bonug performance
penod, taking into account the crcumstances and timing
of the appointment; and

* the Committee retains the discretion to provide an immediate
ntgrest @ Company performance by making a long-term
ncertive award on recraitment (or shortly thereafter fin
a prehibred penod) in accordance with the Policy Table
under its existing long-term incentive schemes cr such
future schemes as may be .ntroduced by the Company
win the approvai of its sharehalders. The Comrmitiee wil!
determire, at the tme of award. the level of the award. the
performance conditions and tme honzon that would appiy
to such awards, taking into account the strategy and
business croumstances of the Compary
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Service contracts will be entered into on terms similar 1o

those for the existing Executive Directors, summarnsed in the
recrutrnent table below, However, the Committee may authorise
the payment of a relocation and / or repatriation allowance, as
well ag other agsociated international motlity terms and benefits,

such as tax equalisation and tax advice.

In addtion to the annual remuncration elements noted above,
the Commitiee may consider buying out, on a ike-for-like basis,
ponuses and / or Incentive awards that an individual forfeits
from a previous employer n accepting the appointment. The
Committee will have the authorily to rely on Listing Rule 9.4.2{2}
or exceptional imits of awards of up 10 375% of base salary
within the LTIP. If made, the Committee will be mformed by

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INVESTOR INFORMATION

and approprate. The Committee may also require the appointee
1o purchase shares in the Company in accordance with its
shareholding policy.

With respect to the appointment of a new Chair of the Board or
non-executive director, terms of appointment will e consistent
with those currently adopted. Variable pay wilt not be considered
and a3 such no maximum apples. With respect to non-executive
directors. fees will be consistent with the policy at the time of
appointment. If necessary. to secure the appointment ¢of a new
Charr of the Board not based in the UK, payments relating to
relocation and / or housing may be congidered,

Elements of remuneration on appointment are set out in the
Recruitment table below.

the structure, time horizens, value and performance targets
associated with any forfeited awards, while retaining the

discretion to make any payment or award deemed necessary

RECRUITMENT TABLE FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Atimely announcement with respect to any director's
appointment and remuneration will be made to the regulatory
news services and posted on the Company's corporate website.

Area Feature

Policy

Service contract  + Notice period
and incentive * Entitements on termination
plan provisions Restrictive covenanis

+ Variable elements

*

-

Up 1o 12 months from either side.

As summarised in the Policy on loss of office.

Provisions for mitigation and payment in lieu of notice.

Gardening leave provisions.

Non-compete, non-soliciiation, non-dealing and confidentiality provisions.
The Commitiee has the discretion 1o delermine whether an individual shall
participate in any incentive in the year of appointrent.

The Committee shall have the discretion to determine appropriate bonus
performance targets if participating in the year of appointment,

Annual Base Salary * To be determined on appointment, taking into account factors including
remuneration market levels, experience, internal relativities and cost.
Salary progression ¢ |{ appointed af below market levels, salary may be re-aligned over the

subsequent one to three years subject to performance in role. In this
situation, the Committee reserves the discretion to make increases above
ordinary jevels.

This initial market positioning and intention to increase pay above the
standard rate of increase in the Policy table (subject to performance) will be
disclosed in the first Remuneration Report following appointment.

Benefits and allowances

The Committee retains the discretion to provide additional benefits as
reasonably required. These may include, but are not restricted to, relocation
payments, housing allowances and cost of living allowances {including any
tax thereon).

Policy on loss of office

Service contracts contain neither liguidated damages nor a

change of controi clause.

The Company shall have a right to make a payment in lieu of

of fermination. There is an obligation on directors to mitigate

any loss which they may suffer if the Company terminates

their service contract. The Committee will take such mitigation
obhgation nto account when determining the amount and tming
of any compensation payable to any departing director.

notice in respect of base salary. benefits. including car allowance
and pension contributions, only for the director’s contractual
period of notice or, If termination 1s part way through the notice
period. the amount relating to any unexpired notice to the date

A director shall also be entitled to a payment in respect of
accrued but untaken holiday and any statutory entitements on
termination. No compensation 1$ paid for dismissal, save for
statutory enttlements,

m
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A director shall be entitled to receive a redundancy payment in
circumstances where, in the judggrment of the Comrmittee, ey
satisfy the statutory tests governimg redundancy payments.
Any redundancy payment shall be caloulated by refarence 1o
the redundancy payment policy n force for all employees in the
relevant country at the tme of the regundancy and may include
modest outplacement costs.

if a director's employment terminates prior 1o the relevant annual
performance bonus payment date, ordinarily no bonus 15 payable
for that financial year. The Committee shall retain discretion to
make a pro-rated banus payrnent N crcumstances where it
waould be appropriate to do so having regard to the contribution
of the Director durning the financial vear, the circumstances of the
departure and the best interests of the Company.

Any entittements under long-term INCentive schemes operated
by the Company shall be determined based on the rules of the
relevant schame. The default position of the Long Term Incentive
Plan s that awards will lapse on termination of employrment,
except where certain good leaver Crrcumstances exist (e.9.
death, il-health, Injury, disability, redundancy, transfer of an
undertaking outside of the Group or retirement or any other
crroumstances at the Committee's discretion) whersby the
awards may vest on cessaton, or the normal vesting date,

in both cases subject to performance and time pro-rating.
Although, the Committee can decide Not 1o pro-rate an award
{or pro-rate to a lesser exteny if it regards it as appropriate to
do soin the particular circumstances.

The Committes shalt be entitied to exercise s judgement with
regard 10 settlement of potential claims. including but not limited
to wrongtul dismissal, unfair cisrmissal, breach of contract and
discrimination, where it 1s appropriale 1o do 50 in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders.

In the gvent that any payment 1s made in relation 1o termination
for an Executive Director, this will pe fully disclosed in the
following Annual Remuneration Report.

A timely announcement with respect to the terminanen of any
director's appointment will be made 1c the regulatory news
service and posted on the Company's corporate website.

Service agreements

Service agreements for Executive Directors

Each of the Executive Directors’ service agreemenis provides ‘or:

s the reimbursement of experses incurred by the Executive
Director in performance of ther duties:

* 25 days’ paid holiday each year for Alex Batdock and
Jonny Mason:

*  sick pay: ana

s notee pencds whereby Alex Baldock has a notice pericd
cf 12 months from either party and Jonny Mascn has a
notice perod of 12 months from the Company and six
months from him.

In situations where an Executive Director is dismissed, the
Committes reserves the right 1o make adational exit payments
where such payments are made n good faith, such as:

* indischarge of a legat obligation; and

* by way of settlement or compromise of any claim ansing
In connection with the termination of the Director's office
and employment.

Letters of appointiment

Each of the non-executive directors has a letter of appointment.
The Company has no age limit for directors. Non-executive
directors dertve No other benefit from their office, except that
the Committee retains the discretion to continue with existing
remunearation provisions, ncluding pension contributions and
the provision of benefits, where an Executive Director hecomes
anon-executive director. It 1s Company palicy not to grant sharg
options or share awards 1o non-executive directors. The Chair of
the Board, Deputy Chair and the other non-executive dirgctors
have anctice period of three manths from either party.

Appontments are reviewed by the Nominations Committee
and recommernidations rmade to the Board accordingly.

External appointments

The Board supports Executive Directors should they chose to
take non-executive directorships as a part of their continuing
development and agrees that the Executive Directors may retain
their fees from one such appointment. Currently nether of the
Executive Directors hotd any non-executive directorships.

Difution Limits

All the Company’s equity-based incentive plans incorporate

the current Investment Association Share Capital Management
Guidelines (‘Guidelings’) on headroom which provide that overall
ditfution under all plans should not exceed 10% over a ten-year
pericd in relation to the Company's issued share capital for
reissue of treasury shares). In addition, the LTIP operates with

& &% in ten-year dilution Imit fexcluding historic discretionary
awards). The Company reguiarly monitors the position and pror
o making any award the Company ensures that it will remain
within these limits. Any awards which will be satisfied by market
purchase shares are excluded from such calculations. As at

29 June 2021, the Company's dilution postion. which remans
with:n the currert Guidelines, was 4.7% for all pfans (aganst
alimit of 10% and 2.7% ‘or the LTIP jagainst a lirmit of 5%,
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REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT
2020/21 COMMITTEE Meeting NUMBER OF
HIGHLIGHTS MEMBERS Attendance MEETINGS
s Approving a new Group reward Tony DeNunzio (Chair) 8/8 Q
framework and pay review Andrea Gisle Joosen 8/8 ( : )
process for the wider UK&I Gerry Murphy i

workforce

* Approving challenging targets for
the 2020/21 annual performance
bonus and fong-term incentives
in light of the impacts of Covid-19
and a particularly challenging and
uncertain environment

* Approving the inclusion of an
environmental measure in the
2021/22 annual performance
bonus design

¢ Agreeing the leaving terms for
Janny Mason and the joining
terms for Bruce Marsh

+ Completed a tender process
and appointed new executive
remuneration advisers

FURTHER
INFORMATION

]

www._dixonscarphone.com

Committee Terms of Reference last approved:

21 January 2021.

i2

[

The biographical details for each Committee
member are available on pages 68 and 69.

8/8
{five scheduled
and three ad hoc)

Remuneration Committee purpose

The Board has delegated to the Committee responsibiity for determinng policy in relation
to the remuneration packages for Executive Direclors. the Chalr of the Board and other
senior management that promote the long-term sustainable success of the business
through the attraction and retention of executives who have the ability, experience and
dedication to deliver outstanding returns for our shareholders. This delegation includes
therr terms and conditions of emplayment in addition to the operation of the Group's
share-based empioyee incentive schemes. The Committee also makes recommendations
and monitors the level and the overall reasonabienass of the structure of remuneration
for the general workforce. The Committee approves the service agreements of each
Executive Dirsctor, including termination arrangements and considers the achievement
of the performance conditions under annual and long-term incentive arrangements.

Meetings

Only members of the Remuneration Commitiee are entrtled to attend Committee
meetings. The Chair of the Board. Group Chief Executive, Group Chief Financial Officer,
General Counsel and Company Secretary, Chief People Cfficer, Group Reward Director,
Head of Executive Reward and Share Plans and other members of senior management.
and representatives from the Company's remuneration adwisar tWillis Towers Watson)
attended the relevant Committee meetings by invitation.

No directors participate in discussions about thewr own remuneration.

The Company Secretary, or his nominee, acts as Secretary to the Committee and
attends all meetings. The Committee's delberatons are reported by its Charr at the
subseguent Board meeting and the minutes of each meeting are crculated to all
membere of the Board following approval.

The Committee meets as and when reguired and at least twice a year. The biographical
detals for each Committee member are available on pages G5 and 69.

The Committee has the following principal duties:

* making recommendations ta the Board on the Company's framework of executve
remuneration;

v determining the fees of the Chair of the Board and Deputy Chair:

v considering and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
the Executive Directors and senior management relative to performance and
market data:

+ approving contracts of employment which exceed defined threshoids of total
remuneration or have unusual terms or termination periods:

» considenng and agreeing changes to the Remuneration Policy or major changes
to ermployee bensfit structures:

* reviewing the reward and benefits structures across the group for all levels of
colleagues; and

¢ approving and operating employee share-pased incentive schemes and assccated
performance conditions and targets.

13
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REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

Activities during the year

The principal activites of the Cammiittee during 2020/21 included:

reviewing and approving the Directors' Remuneration Report:

assessing the performance of Executive Directors against
pre-determined targets set for the 2019/20 annual
performance bonus:

agreeing the desgn of the 2020/21 annual performance
bonus including performance measures and targets;

agreeing the design of the 2020/21 share awards
including the performance measuras and reviewing
the TSR peer group:

reviewing the 2021,22 annual performance bonus
design. including the approval of the inclusion of an
environmental measure:

agreeing new CFO and departing CFO remuneration
arrangements:

agreeng Executive Director pension alignment;

approving share awards 10 sentor management and
SAYE and Colleague Shareholder for the wider workfarce;
under the 2016 Long Term Incentive Plan:

assessing the performance of the CEC's joning LTIP

and approving the vesting of his Buy-out Award
undertaking a tender process and appointing Willis
Towers Walson as exgcutive remuneration advisers

to the Committee;

approving a new framework for workforce reward and

a new pay review pProcess:

monitering the developments in the corporate governance
emaronmant and investor expeclations: and

maornitorng and ensuring alignment of remuneration
practices across the Group.
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ANNUAL REMUNERATION
REPORT 2020/21

REMUNERATION DETAILS
FOR 2020/21

The following sections set cut how the Remuneration Policy was implemanted dunng 2020/21 and how it will be implemented for the
following year.

Single figure of Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 1 May 2021 (audited information)

Annual
Base perfor- Deferred
salary and Pension  Taxable Total fixed  mance Share LTIP Total variable Total
fees™ contributions'® benefits® remuneration bonus Award payments® remuneration remuneration
£'000 €000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £:000 £'000
Executive
Alox Baldock 843 85 34 962 783 381 871 2,010 24977
Jonny Mason AGB 47 13 526 422 211 g 1152 1.678
1,309 132 47 1,488 1,185 592 1,390 3,167 4,655
Non-Executive
Eileen Burbidge® [38] - - 63 - - - - 63
Tory DeNunzio 136 - - 136 - - - - 136
Andria
Gesle Joosen 68 - - &3 - - - - 856
Lord Livingston
of Parkhead "+ 242 - - 2092 - - - - 292
Fiona McBain - 73 - - 73 - - - - 73
Gerry Murphy: 68 - - 58 _ - _ _ 68
700 0 0 700 0 ol 0 0] 700
2,008 132 47 2,188 1,185 582 1,390 3,167 5,355

1 Dugtotag rpact o Cov d-t0 sl e
Basepayz d ly Alex Baio
2 O G August 2020, noroer 1o ahy~ all pay ; & paid on g ottty payrol oy orto 2 foar weskey Dayrad cycie
Or thes bas s roso bxecues Dres

orary 207 EGLOTIGr 0 hase Gy aro
2o 3 May 707010 78 Jane 202

oL

12 Pons gnocor - but ons

comorse Ine Comoary s contibuics or lcawarce ir bew, The co=ribLon amonrlwas 107 saaty for Alex Ha cocs ana Jorny Mz

FO& for Acx Be dock relates o *he
Ie by HMRG Maaaion, for Aok Ba doox

asal ehgib'e onloyess

& Directors nolade povate nedical sumnee ancd oas al ovan
1ax
1 efits also rounes the gar 1esu g from the 20200 Shargaaw

Cce oo
EEE

* penefit amoarts

iFe same kLasl

wplans westng epiesent e value of LHP awaids wheie the
Rl RN “May 2527 and &0 esim
s terunat e date
At tne cate ot Jws S ang the veste

cemance pencd ends on 1 May 2020 and are basad onasaare proe of £ 206

Sider s equiva et Lo o Moy 2070 usmgiae same share ¢ Jonny Masor s
softe LITIP st szt rabeicsaepro ferreciator Reing tr
vang ot tre awarde g 355

S lan Lungsien nas @ ceferred pene or rnthe D e Betreme st and Emp oyee Secdr y Schaire
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Single figure of Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 2 May 2020 (audited information)

Basic salary Pension Taxable Total fixed  Annual LTIP  Total variable Total
and fees™ contributions®  benefits®™ remuneration  bohus payments remuneration remuneration
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 €000 £000 £000
Executive
Alex Baldock 850 &85 103 1.038 8] o d 1.033
Jonny Mason 470 a7 13 530 0 0 0 530
1,320 132 116 1,568 0 0 0 1,568
Non-Executive
Eileen Burbidge 61 9] 1 &b 0 0 0 65
Tony DeNunzio 138 0 2 140 0 0O 0 140
Andrea Gisle Joasen 70 B 5 7h 0 ol o] 74
Lord Lingston
of Parkhead 206 J 1 297 9] 0 0 297
Fiona MoBain 74 0 6 a0 a 0 0 80
Gerry Murphy 69 0 0 6o 0 0 0 69
7M1 0 15 728 0 1] 0 726
. -

S Dustcihe
I (K1

degary fon Alex Bagock and Jonry M

=

Clar Lo gelor Ras g aeferred pensicn ohs Dikens Revrer e oad Enplogee Se2uy 527 00

Annual performance bonus for 2020/21 (audited information)

The maximum bonus opportunity for Exgcutive Directars was 150% of base salary based on performance in the 12-month penod
10 the end of the financial year. The base salary used for the annual bonus calculation was the full annual base salary before the
20% voluntary reduction in pay. This is consistent wath the approach taken for the wider workforce colleagues in a similar position.
The maxamum is payabie at the maximum level of performance. 20% of the maximum opportunity 1s payable on achevernent ¢t
threshold performance (30% of base salary) and 60% on achievement of target performance (80% of base salaryl. No bonus s
payable f the rminimum EBIT threshold 1s not achieved.

The Committee determined at the beginning of the year that the disclosure of performance targets was commercally sensitive
and therefore these were not disclosed in last year's Directors” Remuneration Report. This was because targets were set wathin
the context of a longer-term business plan and this disclosure could give information to competiicrs to the detrierent of busiress
performance. The Committes has. however. disclosed in the table below tre targets on a retrospective basis and the actual
performance aganst tnese. Althcugh EBIT targets were calibrated somewnat lower than these for 201/20, the Commities were
comfortable that the 2020.21 targets when set represented an appropriately stretching lavel of performance in the context of the
plan approved by the Board, market congensus and expectations, particularly taking nio acceunt the anticipated impact of Covid-
erforced store closures. The Committee has a rabust process for considenng and calbrating performance targets, laking int
account Internal and exsernal expectatons, which ensures that they represent a signif-cant streteh which corresponds to the
creation of value for shareholders.,
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Actual 2020/21 performance aganst the targets was substantially better than could have been expected at the beginning of the year
and substantially better than in 2019/20 as evidenced below:

As a percentage of Potential

maximum bonus Bonus %

Measure opportunity Threshold Target Maximum Actual Achieved
Adjusted EBIT” 502 2139m £159m £194m £213m S0P

(s D194 dm 201920

Average net {debl) 208, {£353m) {£23031m) 10253m; C207m 20%5
tvs (2A18m) 2019420

Custorner Net Promoter Score 15% 65 565 B7 65 3%
{vs 67.9 2018/20)

Employee engagement score 0% 84.5 6.2 678 67.8 15%
s B2 2019/20)

Total 88%

Total Awarded 88%

Fowmonthis boss also

aoltrefnaraa year Lo g fige s exc ueng MRS G T
Land AcCounts wihich T scinse Anjusted EBIT aver it bas

10 the o

© EBIT waget andran LAt the oean

al acanrit 1T A8 & sl

of goverrmen:

Average et debr

3. Tre Groun Custome: NS e

Mg wo yea' s

» The UK&l rrard rmix betwoer Gy s PG W a ard Carphons was uouatcn bone TO0 30 #2019 20ie 807, L D2l 21 sus s g closure of e Corchurg
stonaglene stares

. A aolesare st srves duang e crnfted Letyreoy 1meione 10 anite I8 S0 e QRN E 0 neas Lt anged o Y00 s

nlne 201828, 10 4R°% naiore &nd
SASC et e hen sets o resoats

The Connut
cannot he m

1t cgforahle syt the 2020 21 targets were no less streronng inan those sot for 201220, but & o
€.

The Treating Customers Fairly (TCF) withholcing condition applhes to all Executive Directors. This states that the company must
perform at a rate of 90% or better on the "Must Do” assessment regarding regulated products. If this isn't met then 10% of the
bonus must be withheld. The TCF outcome for 2020:21 was 93.75%, and therefore, the 10% withholding has not been appied,

The Commuittee considered whether or net to adjust the formulaic cutcome of 88% of maximum and decided it was safisfied that
the outcome is both far and appropriate given the strong financial performance delivered in a difficult year and the wider stakeholder
expenence outlined in the Remuneration in context section on pages 100 and 101, The Comimittee were also mindful that no
2019/20 bonuses were paid 10 the Executive Directors, even though bonus targets were on track prior 1o the negative impact of

the first lockdown in March 2020, Therefore, for the avoidance of doubt no Committee discretion was exercised in respect of the
formulaic outcome outlined above.

LTIP and other share awards {audited information)
LTIP Awards made during 2020/21
NIl cost option awards of 200% of base salary were made to Executive Directors on 19 August 2020.

As described in the 2020 Directors' Remuneration Report, the Committee determined it appropriate to scale back the numiber of
shares awarded to the Executive Directors from the maximum award level of 250% of salary. This decision was taken in response to
shareholders' feedback on this matter in the prior year and the previous fall in the share price; however the Committee also took into
account the strong recovery in the share pnce since the 2019 award and prior to the onset of the pandemic. Based on this evidence,
the Committee determined that Executive Directors’ awards should be scaled back by 20% (i.e. to 200% of salary).

mz
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The Commitiee also chose to delay the setting of the targets for the awards and therefore the grant date of the awards 10 August
2020 1n order to allow time for a clearer picture to emerge on the effect of the first lockdown and to gauge the market expectation
of the tong-term performance af the business. In order to ensure that this delay did not result in an undue benefit or penalty to
participants, the Committee set the number of shares to be awarded urder the LTIP using the share price on 10 July 2020 (87.05p).
It re-confirmed this decision on the day prior to grant (being 18 August 2020) when targets were set. noting that the share price had
not moved significantly in the meantime, ¢losing on that date at 57p.

The performance penod for the awards is the three financial vears up to the end of the 2022/23 financial year and they have two
equally weighted performance condrtions. Half of the awards will be subject to the achigvement of a relative TSR performance
condition, measured aganst a bespoke comparater group comprised of 21 European Special Lines Retailers and other comparable
companies at the start of the performance period. The list of companies included in the group 18 provided below.

The relative TSR condition wilt be assessed over the three-year performance period, with vasting determined as follows:

Rank of Company TSR against Gomparator Group TSR % of TSR element vesting

Below Median 0%

Median 257

Between Meadan and Upper-Quartile Pro rata hatween 5% and 100%% on a straight-line basis
Upper Quartile or above 1004

Comparator Graup: AQ World, Ceconomy AG. Dufry AG, Dunsim Group, Fenix Outdoor Intermazional AG, Fielmann AG, FNAC Darty
SA, Frasers plc, Grandvision NV JD Sports Fashion, Kingfisher, Maisons Du Monde S.A.. Marks & Spencer Group., Mobilezone
Holding AG, Pets At Home Group, SMCP S.A 8., Superdry, Valora Holding AG, WH Smith, XXL ASA, Zur Rose Group AG,

The free cash flow performance condition is measured cumulatively over the three-year performance period. The percentage of the
award vesting wili be as follows:

Cumulative free cash flow up to the end of the 2022/23 financial year % of the free cash flow element vesting

Below £312m U

£312m 109

Botwoen £312m and £368m Prorata between 109 and 25% on a straight-lne basis
£368m 25%

Between £368m and £423m Pro rata between 25% and 100

Above £423m 100%¢

The free cash flow targets were set taking Into account a number cf nputs Including market consensus at the tme of the award
and the external envirorment wizhin which the Company 1s operating, including the anticipated impact of Covid-enforced store
closures. Aithough free cash flow targets were calibrated somewhat fower than those for the award in the previous year, the
Committee were comfortable that they represented appropriately stretching levels of performance given the ant-cipated mpact

of Cowid at the fime the awards were made. As always. the Committeg will consider the level of performance achieved at the end of
the performance pernod and would be prepared to exercise d-scretion if the formulaic sutcome was not appropriate or aigned with
the shareholder expernence.

Calculations of the achievement agairst the targe's will be incependently performied and approved by the Committee. Free cash fiow
is defined in the glossary on page 218; however the Comm ttee retaing discreton 10 adjust for exceptional tems which mpact cash
flows durng the performance penod and vl make fuil and ciear disclosure of any such adjugiments in the Directors” Rermuneration
Report. together with detals of tre achieved levels of perfarmance, as determrined by the above definitions. at the end of the
performance perod
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Awards will be subject to recovary and withholding provisions for material migstatement, misconduct, calculahon error. reputational
damage and corporate failure, enabling performance adjustments and / or recovery of sums already pad. These provisions will apply
for up to three years after vesting.

The awards are subject o a two-year post vesting holding period. durng which the Executive Director is not permitted to sell any
shares vesting, other than those required to settle any tax oblgations.

The table below sets out the LTIP awards made 10 the Executwe Direclors in 2020/21:

Share price at End of Minimum vaiue at
Nil cost options date of award Face value® performance threshold vesting'®
awarded £ £ period Vesting date £
Alex Baldack ~
200% of salary 1.991.959 0.875 1.742.964 1 May 2023 19 August 2023 305,019
Jonny Mason -
200% of salary - 110,436 0875 Q63,767 1 May 2023 18 August 2023 168,658
Toe face valoe s 0300 ATa DESEA an the rury bl S LDUSAS avaraes i Lpkaed By the shars o 1 the date of award on 12 ALgust 2020 berg &y

2 Tn rruT Lalue at cef g a PRTRME TR L
of moxntu Valle ale Leatthe ga
to A'ex Bu aoc< on 13 ALgast 2020, The Commuttee set e rumber of sb ares 1o 06 auised Laing the shave pace v Dy 2020
15
1, NIl Cast option awe-ds were mads to . lonry Mazon on 18 Ay gust P00 0. The Comvimattee set e numine of snares (o 00 awardad g ng e share o 26 on 10 July 2620

T O

Vesting of awards made under 2016 LTIP (audited information)

Nil cost option awards equivalent to 275% of base salary were made to Alex Baldock on 22 June 2018 and Jonny Mason on

13 August 2018. The performance period for the awards was the three financial years up to the end of the 202021 financial year
and there were two equally weighted performance conditions. Half of the awards were subject to the achievement of a relative
TSR performance condition, measured against the companies ranked FTSE 51-150 from the start of the performance perod.
The remaining half of the awards was subject to the achievement of a cumulative free cash flow target.

The performance periad for these awards ended on 1 May 2021.

The performance measures for the award and the outcomes are shown below.

TSR Target
Level of Performance Below Threshold Threshold Maximum Achieved
TSR Pertormance cver pertormance penod Below Median Median Upper Quartile Below Median
Vesting Level 0 257% 100% 0%

Cumulative free cash flow

Level of Performance Below Threshoid Threshold Target Maximum Achieved
Cumulative froe cash flow

over the performance penod Below 517m C517m $574m £689m Y698m
Vesting 75 s 0% 25% 1009 1005

Based on the achieved level of performance. the threshold required for vesting for the TSR element was not meat but the free cash
flow achieved & vesting percentage of 100°. Overall vesting was therefare 50%. The Committee reviewed whether any discretion
should be applied to the vestng outcomes and determined that 1 was satisfied that the outcome 1s both fair and approgriate given
the averall performance and the wider stakeholder experience outlined in the Remuneration in context section on pages 100 and
101, On this basis the Committee determmed that the awards should be paid in accordance with the vesting cutcome,
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All the awards are subject tc a two-year post vesting holding penod, during which the Executive Director 18 nat permitted to seil any
shares vesting, other than those required to settle any tax obligations.

Nil Cost Options Overall Overall vesting Vesting

awarded vesting % awards Date

Alex Baldock 1187182 5074 598,561 19 July 2021

Jonny Mason 734583 50%¢ 356,243 13 Angust 2021
Codanay Maso's aviaic MAas oeor poorated 1 senice to s tenmirauer date

In addition, awards of 100% of base salary were made to Alex Baldock and Jonny Mason on 3 April 2018 and 13 August 2018
respectively, relating to their recruitment. These awards were subject only 1o the achievement of the relative TSR performance
condition. measured against the companies ranked FTSE 51-150 over the applicabie performance period. The performance
period for Alex’s award was for the three-vear penod to 3 Apnl 2021, and for the three financial years ending on 1 May 2021
for Jonny's award.

Based on the achieved level of performance, the threshold required for vesting for both awards has not been met. The Committee
decided whether any discretion should be applied to the vesting outcomes and determined that the awards lapse on reaching therr
vesting date.

TSR Target
Level of Performance Beiow Threshold Threshoid Maximum Achieved
TSR Performance over performance penod Below Median Medhian Upper Quartile Below Medizn

Vesting Lavel

25% 1005 0%

Vesting of Buy-out award granted in accordance with the Listing Rule 9.4.2(2) of the Listing Rules
{audited information)
On 3 April 2018, the Company granted Alex Baldock a buy-out award to facilitate his recruitment and compensate for awards lost

from hus previnus employer. The award was granted under a cne-off award agreement in accardance with Listing Rule 8.4.212) of
the Listing Rutes.

The award comprised of a nit cost ophon over 889,078 shares n the Company ard vested thrae years from the grant date (the
“vesting date”), subject to continued service and that neither party has served notice to terminale employment prior to such time.
On this basis the Committes determined that the award vested on the 6 Apnl 2021, Following vesting the award then ordinarly
becomes exercisable n three tranches as set out below:

As from an exercise period commencing No. of related vested shares exercisable
6 April 2021 329692 1 Tranche 11
3 Apry 2022 329603 (Trancne 2)
3 Apnl 2023 329.6493 {Tranche 3

Alex exercised Tranche 1 of the award on 7 Apr 2021, An gddnional 37,586 shares were added 10 the tranche on exercise as
accrued dvidend eguivalents, calculated by reference e the value of divdends that would »ave been nayable between the grant
of the award and the start of the exercise pernod.

Alex exercised a total of 367.288 options. made up of 329,697 options and 37.596 accrued dwidend equivalenis. and soid 173.233
shares to cover the tax labilty arising on the transaction. The remaning 194.055 shares were retained

Full detals relatng to the award were chsclosed in the 2017:18 Remuneration Report,
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Performance graph

The graph below shows the value. by 1 May 2021, of £100 invested in Dixons Carphone on 31 March 2011, compared with the value
of €100 invested in the FTSE 350 Index on the same date. The other points plotted are the values at intervening financial year ends.

Total Sharsholder Return (March 2011 - April 2621)

Total Shareholder Return Value of £100 investment over 10 years
£300 — - .

£250

£200 - / \\

/ A‘__\ —a&— Dixons Carphone
£150 \ - --a— FTSE 350
£100 — \/A

£50 -
20 - Data is sourced
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 02 May 30 April 29 April 28 April 27 April 02 May 01 May from S&P
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Capital IQ

The FTSE 350 has been used as 15 a broad market which inciudes the Company and a number of 1ts competitors.

Group Chief Executive pay

The following takle shows, over the same ten-year period as the performance graph. the Group Chief Executive’s single total figure
of remuneration, the amount of bonus earned as a percentage of the maamum remuneration possible, and 1he vesting of long-term
awards as a percentage of the maximum number of shares that could have vested, where applicable.

CEO single figure Annual bonus payout  Long-term incentive vesting rates

of remuneration™ against maximum against maximum opportunity
Year £'000 %o %
2020721 Alex Baldock 2.977 88% 50%
2019,20 Alex Baldock 1,038 0 Nn'a
2018/19 Alex Baldock 1.619 HA% 4=}
201718 Alex Baldock 1,946~ 05 n‘a
201718 Scbastian James 2716 (%5 nia
201677 Sebaslian James 1.795 83%0 n‘a
201516 Sebastian James 1.616 68t n/a
201415 Sebastan James 1.687 100°% n‘a
201415 Andrew Harmson 420 100% nia
2013/14 Andrew Harrson 679 HALs n/d
201314 Roger Taylor 150 n/a n'a
2012/13 Raoger Taylor a58 55%% n'a
201112 Roger Taylor 474 0% na

il Exciuics -oTLNEraus e e schemes estabiishea Dy O
15 ngs o part ol tke cure G - a ted ot Ot Carphor
17e e pacee 31 March 2012 Futule reporis vl imclunde Iong -6 m mcent ves o

Wenenouse incenire scheme
Py e cunsent Grols wen th

21As rorsult of Cov 2418 Alex Baldock volurtarty agresc 10 a enporay A5 e 0186 Day redudiong wil et fon 5 Apnl 208010 28 June 2020

3. Alex Badoo< vol ey Seferred 100 ofhe annuzl perfcrmance Lonus e & snare awand, o

g lwo-vears “omgant

e of e Bly oot aweare of 959 CT8 il cozt ophons chweas graved or 3 Ax 1 2018 Tre face vwalae of tho
Twas U187 .338 Jsng tre shace pros on the date of ¢ P U BIZD As thorewe e nc | Imunce cordit ors attaced 1o this aasd other
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Annual percentage change in remuneration

The table below provides the percentage change in the annual remuneration of Directors and the average UK colicague from
2020/27 onwards,

As the parent company only employs a small number of the warkforce, the average UK colieague was deemed 10 be the maost
appropriate comparator group, as the UK has the largest employee base and the Committee considers remunération levels in the
UK when setting salaries and fees for the Executive and Non-Executive Directors and the Group Chief Executive is based in the UK.

Salary Taxable Annual
and fees® benefits® bonuses®
Executive Directors
Group Chef Exacutive — Alex Batdock -11.84% 67 % 1005
Group Chief Financial Officer - Janny Mason -0.84% -0.836% 10074
Non-Executive Directors )
Eileen Burtidge -1.31% -100% NA
Tony DeNunzie -1.31% 100% NAA
Andrea Gisle Juosen -3.18% -100% NUA
Lord Livingston of Parkhead -1.531%% S100% NA
Fiona McBain -13185 -100%e NAA
Gerry Murphy -1.31% Qs A
Employees T s 0% NoAT
1hNe 3 A e e Groag G Pxecast S No-Cescatve Drectls, poveeue oy valaran v adiesa
a3 with effect from1 3 A 12020t
s thigred ~eprvpact of the 70 =t b I was afe-er - inan o the Jther

C20 bro 0 Juy 30 o Executves

e a o weekly ayc oy cle,

T ETNf - g change niz sy tho rod 2 pay fras
ator UK colsag it - solcy saaty = or s 2

or CEQ Pay Rat ross tma ganoses the wsloazor e ules

ngoatena charaes nlJK e

wreana g beng el oy he s ress areas. saa 00

REUMNE] o 2020 2

IS ’ guicorar anmLalfer'c

Relative importance of spend on pay

The following table sets cut both the total cost of remuneration for the Group compared with acdjusted EBIT and profits distributed
for 2020/21 and the pror year. Adjustad EBIT was chosen by the Commities as it is the most appropriate measure of the Group's
performance. Adjusted EBIT 15 defined in the glossary on page 217.

2020/21 2019/20

Emillion £million Change %
Dividends paid Nil 78 1007 -
Adjusted EBIT 262 214 Z2AZ
Total staff costs - continuing operations®® 1,075 1,123 SN 275,

Number Number Change %
Average employee numbers - continuing operations® 36,087 42209 14.50°:
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CEO Pay Ratio

The legislation requires the publishing of the ratio of total remuneration of the Group Chief Executive to the 25th, 50th and 75th
eguivalent percentile of full-time equivalent collzagues.

The ratio is shown in the table below:

P25 P50 P75
Financial Year Methodology {Lower Quartile) [Median) {Upper Quartile)
2020/21 Option A 1731 146 111
201920 Option A 541 481 371
2018/19 Option A 791 6501 501

Of the three calculation approaches available in the regulations, we have chasen Methodology A because we believe it to be the
most appropriate and robust way for the Company to calculate the ratio.

In determining the figures, the followng should be noted:

*  The single total figure of remuneration of our UK colleagues was calculated as at 1 May 2021 and ranked using 202021 PE0
and P11D data. employer pension contributions and payments under the Company share schemes, in ine with the reporting
regulabons, PEO data was used as it alsc includes the value of any overtime payments made in the year.

+ The caloulation includes data for UK colleagues who were furloughed and had Cowvid-19 related salary reductions in 2020421
s Parttime colleagues’ earnings have been annualised on a full-time equivalent basis.
s Joiners and leavers were excluded from the ranking.

« The 25ih, 50th and 75th percentile colleagues’ single total igure of remuneration was tren identified and compared to the CEO
pay, as shown in the single total figure of remuneration table on page 115.

The following table provides base salary and total remuneration imformation in respect of the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile
colleagues. on a full-time eguivalent basis.

Group Chief P25 P50 P75

Financial Year Remuneration Executive {Lower Quartile} (Median) {Upper Quartile)

2020/ Base salary 840,348 16.007 18.896 22882
Teral rermuneration 2977303 17,254

20327 26,868

The Commiltee has confirmead that the ratio 1s consistent with the Company's wider policies on colleague pay and reward, taking into
account & range of factors Including market practice, experience and National Livsng Wage requirements.

The pay ratio has increased since last year primarily because a 2020/21 bonus was receved by the CEC and 2018 LTIP award
vested, whereas in prior years there was no LTIP vesting and no bornus was paid for last year, Additionally. the calculations reflect
the reduced tatal pay levels for employees during the furlough penod.

Given the nuances of reduced pay levels due to furlough in 2020/21, and larger portions of the CEO's remuneration linked to business
performance than the wider workforce, a base salary only ratio is shown below. This allows us 1o lock at the CEQ vs. the wider
workforce on the one remuneration component that is consistent across both groups, These igures are based on logking at the
full-ime equivalent salary of colleagues as at 30 April 2021, When we do this, we can see that the ratios and values at the 25th, &0th
and 75th percenties are significantly lower than the CEQ pay ratio noted above. In addition, they are consistent between 2019/20 and
2020/21 and much more closely aligned to the CEOQ ratios in 2019/20 and 2018/19 where nuances such as furlough were mited to a
short timeframe or non-existent and the CEO haan't earnad as much in remunigration inked o business performance.

Group Chief P25 P50 P75

Financial Year Remuneration Executive {Lower Quartile} [Median} {Upper Quartile}
2020/21% Base salary £867,000 £18,151 £18,151 £23,460
CEQ Pay Ratio - 1:48 1:48 1:.37

Group Chief P25 P50 P75

Financial Year Remuneration Executive {Lower Quartile) {Median} {Upper Quartile)
2018/20 Base salary 867,000 17,7450 £18.200 £22.500
CEQ Pay Ratio - 1:49 1.48 1:39
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The ratio of the CEQ's pay 1o that of all colleagues 1s likely to be a volatile number, manly resulting from the CEQ hawng a larger
proportion of his total remuneration inked to business performance than cther colleagues n the UK workforce and therefore it
does not necessarily shed any light on the alignment or otherwise with regard to pay, reward and progression for the UK workforce.
This alignment 1s, however, something that the Committee considers as part of its overall responsibilities.

The Compary continues to take s responsibilities to all stakeholders serously. Cur achieverments this year and rénéwed financial
strength has allowed us to invest In our colleagues and announce substantial pay increases for our hourly paid colleagues. in ling
with the rates set by the Real Living Wage from October 2021, This will factor in next year’s calculations. We have also invested in
the customer experience, returned £73m of government furlough, repaid £144m of VAT early and recommenced our divdend.

Service agreements
Service contracts
The following table summarises key terms of the service contracts in place with the Executive Directors:

Date of contract

Alex Baldook 3 Apr18

Jormy Mason

13 Aug 18

More details are set out i the Service agreements section of the report on page 112,

Letter of appointment

Non-Executive Directors are normally appointed for three-year terms. subject to annual re-election at the annual general meetings,
although appointments may vary depending on length of service and successicn planning corsiderations. Appointments are
reviewed annually by the Nominations Gommittee and recommendations made 1o the Board accordingly. The contracts in respect
of the Chair of the Board's, Deputy Chair's and Non-Executive Directars’ services can be terminated by either party. the Company
or the Director. giving not less than three months’ notice.

The date of the letters of appointment are shown belaw:

lL.etters of appointment

Eileen Burbidge 1Jan 13
Tony DaNunzio 16 Cec 15
Andrea Gisle Jotsen & Aug 14
Lord Livingston of Parkhoad 16 Dec 15
Fiona McBan 1 Mar 17
Gerry Murphy 6 Aug 14

External Directorships

The policy relating to external Directorships s cutlned - the Remuneration Poiicy. No Executive Director held extarnal Directorships
dunng 2020/21.

Leavers and joiners (audited information)

No changes took place :n 2020, 21 and no payments were made. Information relating "o ‘eavers and joiners in 202122 are set out on
pages 128 and 128,

Payments lo Past Directors (audited information)

No payments were made 10 past Directors dunng 2020:21.
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Directors’ interests in LTIP {(audited information)
Lapsed or Exerclsed Date from Expiry of
At3May Awarded forfeitedin in the which first the exercise Exercise
Date of grant 2020 in the year the year year At1May2021 exercisable period Price (p}
Alex Baldock
2016 LTIP 19 Aug 2020 - 1,991,959 - - 1,991,959 19 Aug 2023 19 Aug 2030 -
2016 LTIP 25 July 2019 1,737,530 - - - 1,737,530 25 July 2022 25 July 2029 -
201812 DSBP 25 July 2018 506,490 - - - 506,490 25 .July 2021 25 Juy 2029 -
2016 LTIP 22 Jun 2018 1,197,382 - - - 1,197,182 19 July 2021 22 Jun 2028 -
2016 LTIP 3 Apr 2018 455,641 - 455,641 - 0 3Apr2021 3 Apr2028 -
Saction @42 3 Apr2018 989,078 - - 329,692 659,386 3 Apr 2021 3 Apr 2028 -
Total pwvith performance
conditions) 4,926,671
Total fwithout performance
conditions) 1,165,876
Lapsed or Exercised Date from Expiry of
At3dMay Awarded forfeitedin in the which first  the exercise Exercise
Date of grant 2020 in the year the year year At1May2021 exercisable period Price (p)
Jonny Mascn
26 LTIP 19 August 2020 - 1,101,436 - - 1,101,436 19 Aug 2023 19 Aug 2030 -
2016 LTIP 25 July 2019 960,752 - - - 960,752 25 July 2022 25 July 2029 -
201819 DSBRP 25 July 2019 199,494 - - - 199,494 25 July 2021 25 July 2029 -
2016 LTIP 13 Aug 2018 734,583 - - - 734,583 13 Aug 2021 13 Aug 2028 -
2016 LTIP 13 Aug 2018 267121 - - - 267121 13 Aug 2021 13 Aug 2028 -
Sechion 9.42 13 Aug 2018 81,435 - - - 81,435 13 Aug 202t 13 Aug 2023 -
Total (with perlormance
conditions) 3,063,892
Total {without performance
conditions) 280,929
Directors’ interests in Sharesave (audited information)
Lapsed or Exercised Date from Expiry of
Exercise At 3 May Awarded cancelled inthe At1May whichfirst the exercise
Date of grant price (p) 2020 intheyear intheyear year 2021 exercisable period
Alex Baldock
Sharcsave 28 Aug 2020 56,64 - 6,662 - - 6,662 10ct2025 1 Apr 2026
Sharcsave 10 Sept 2019 g7.2s 13,939 - - - 13,939 1 Oct 2024 1 Apr 2025
Total 13,839 6,662 - - 20,601
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Directors’ shareholding (audited information)
The Company share ownership guidelings are designed to encourage shareholding in the Company for Executive Directors,

The level of shareholding requirément for Executive Directors is 200% of base salary to be achigved five yvears from therr
appeintment date.

Beneficially owned shares (including any mterests held by connected persons e.g. spouse) count towards tha guidelines,
together with:

= unvesled awards, an a net-of-tax’ bass. granted under any deferred bonus arrangement or other plan / arrangenment with
no post-grant perfermance conditiens: and

+ shares subject to an unexpired holding period iincluding any shares held under a vested but unexercised optiont, on a
‘net-of-tax’ basis and provided that no further performance targets must be met.

Details of Directors’ interests in shares of the Company as at 1 May 2021 are shown in the following table:

Scheme interests

Beneficially owned Shares Shares  Total beneficial
shares (including subject to without interests under Total beneficial
any interests heldby performance performance share ownership share interests
connected persons conditions conditions guidelines™ as a % of salary®
Executive Directors
Alex Baldock 569,588 4,926,671 1,186,477 1,204,023 194%
Jonny Mason 175,000 3,063,802 280,929 322,909 94%
Non-Executive Directors
Eilgen Buitadge 4,200 - - 4,200 N/A
Tony DeNunzio 200,000 - - 200,000 N/A
Andrea Gisle Joosen 24,976 - - 24,976 N/A
Lord Livingston of Parkboad 205,631 - - 205,631 N/A
Gerry Murphy 100,000 - - 100,000 N/A

Fiona MaBamn 29129 - - 29,129 N/A

e shas Loce ovar the —ont-om - May

sate i rencn ther erarenluimg resu e X 220
There were no changes i the Directors” share interests between 1 May 2021 and the date of this Report.

Non-Executive Directors’ and Chair of the Board’s fees

The fees for the independent Non-Executive Direclors, incluging the Deputy Charr, are determined by the Board igxcluding
Non-Executve Directors} after considenng external market research and are reviewed on an anrual basis. Factors taken into
consideration include the required tme comnutment, specific experience and / ¢r quaifications. A base fee 1s payable and agditonal
fees are paid for channg and memberskio of commitiees. The Chair of the Board is notinvalied in the setting of e own salary,
which is dealt with Dy the Bemuneration Committee annually. Non-Executive Directors receive no vanable pay and recave no
addimonal benefits, except n situations where an Executive Director becomes a Non-Executive Director, and beneft and pension
arrangements continue.

The fees were reviewed dunng 2020/21 and -emain unchanged. The Charr of the Board and Deputy Chair receve at-inclusive fees
reflecting ther duties. Other independent Non-Executive Directors receved a basic fee of £60.000 and additional fees as set out n
the table below for chamnng or membership of committees.
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2020/21@ 2019/20"
£000 £'000
Chawr of the Board” 300 300
Doputy Chair 140 140
Chair of Audit Committes 15 15
Mernber nf Anclit Committes 5 5
Member of Nominations Committes 5 5
Member of Remuneration Committee 5 5
v The Crar o tne Board's fee nc udes Cha rshis of the Nomingticns Conm ttse
12, The Deputy Char's fee noluces the Semige I wlent O rector Charemip or e Remunerghicr Corm tee ars menbsrsup ot the Norminatiors Cormtiee "eas
for attend nathe noars mectnge of the fwd ran eperatng sabsdin es
13 Dz to the vmpact o Covd "8 ail Non Ex oo atenoary 200 redusnen noess wik etect om 5 Apal 202040 28 J e 220
Tt g hgures gz et 9o rot rahiect trs 18 teporary moaEtare
How the Remuneration Policy will be applied in 2021/22
Executive Directors
i) Base Salary
The following salaries will apply during the 2021722 financial year:
Salary at 1 May 2021 % Increasein Salary at 1 August 2021
£'000 salary in 2021/22 £'000
GCurrent Directors
Alex Baldock 867 1.5% 880
Jonny Mason 479 - 479
Bruca Marsh™ 415 - 415

111 Sagry s effentive front dae of apporiment

i} Pension Contributions

Company pension contributions or allowance in lieu of 10% of base salary will be paid to Alex Baldock and Jonny Mason.
Bruce Marsh will receive & 3% pension allowance on joining the Company, in line with the wider workforce. The Committee
also confirms that Alex Baldock's pension allowance will be aiigned with the majority of the wider workforce by the end of 2022

iii) Annual performance honus

The maximum annual performance bonus far 2021/22 will be 150% of base salary. Measures are selected o reflect the Group's

key objectives and for 2021/22 the bonus will include a clawback facility wy order to demonstrate the Company's objective to
reinforce a culture of “Treating Custorners Farly”. A minimum EBIT threshold must be achieved before any bonus 1s paud out. One-
third of any bonus earned will be deferred into shares for two years after payment. The annuat performance bonus for 202122

will include additional environmental measures. These measures are reflected and deeply embedded in our strategy, 15 the right
thing to do — and meets the growing expectation from our colleagues, customears and shargholders 10 focus on the environmental
agenda, These measures are 1N addiion 1o the strong emphasis on ESG already in our annual performance bonus plan through our
Customer. Employee Engagement and Treating Gustomers Fairly measures. The Committee feels that specific targets refating to the
2021/22 bonus scheme are commercially sensitve and as such will not be disclosed. Retrospective disclosure of the targets and
performance aganst them will be provided in next year's Remuneration Report.
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The performance metnics and their weightings for 2021722 are shown in the tatsle below:

Weighting {as a percentage of
maximum bonus cpportunity)

Adjusted EBIT A7

Average net debt 1575
ESG Metrics (40%s3).
Customer Net Promaoter Score 155%
Employae engagemernt 0%
Emvironimental to inclucle:
— Focusing on recycling by increasing e-waste Take Back

— Reducing Scope 1 and 2 Carbon Emissions

Recovery and withholding provisions apply for matenal misstatement. miscenduct, calculation error, reputational damage and
corporate failure, enabling performance adustments and 7 or recovery of sums already paid. These provigions will apply for up
to three years after paymendt.

iv) LTIP

In ing wath the Policy approved by sharsholders in 2019, the Committes intends to make an award of 250% of base salary 1o Alex
Baldock and Bruce Marsh shertly after the announcement of the results for the 2020/21 financial year. As in prior years, the awards
will be subject to two equally weighted performance conditions. Half of the awards will be subject to the achieverment of a relative
TSR performance condition, measured aganst a bespoke comparatar group comprised of 21 European Specal Lines Retalers.
The remaining hatf of the awards will be subject to the achievernent of a cumulative free cash flow target. This year. we plan to set
the targets and make the awards after we have announced our annual results. 1o ensure that we have targets in place that are

hoth stretching for participants and alsc fully refiective of how sharenolders and the market view the long-term performance of the
business. We wil fully disclose the award detais and targets at the time of the grant announcerment and also include them in next
year's Remuneration Report.

These awards will vest after three years based on continued service and will be subject 1o a further two-year post vesting holding
penod. during which the Executive Director is not permitted to sell ary shares vesting, other than those required to settie any tax
obligaticns,

Awards will be subject 1o recovery ana withholding provisions for material misstatement, misconduct, calculaton error, reputational
damage and corporate fature, enabling performance adjustments and 7 ar recovery of sums already pad. These provisions will apply
for up to three years after vesting. Any shares vesting as a result of these awards, net of tax and national Insurance. will be required
0 be held for a further two years post vesting

v) Joiners and feavers
Bruce Marsh

In Jaruary 2021, the Board announced the appoirtment of Bruce Marsh as Group Chief Financial Officer, with effect from "2 July
2021, Bruce had been Finance Director, UK and Ireland, at Tesco pic since 2015, Before that he was at Kingfisher pic, where he was
Managing Director of Kingfisher Future Homes and Group Strategy Director. and previously ~eld a number of senior fnance roles at
Dixgng Retail ple.

His salary from tre date of appointmert will be £415.000. In Ing wath policy. he 1s elgit'e to receive a pensicn allowance of 3% of
base salary and a maxmum bonus of 150%: of hase salary, with one third deferred rto shares for twao years. His normal LTIP wall
be 250% of base salary per anrum. Bruce s on a 12-monih notice perod from the Company and a six months’ notice perod from
the Exgcutive.

Upononing, Bruce will receive 250% of base salary under the 2016 LTIP for the financial year 202722, In additor, ne wllreceve

a buy-out award and cash payment to compensate for bonus and awards lost from s prev ous empleyer. The cash payment of
£271.448 will be paid on ;0ining. The buy-cut award of Dixons Carphone ple shares will be granted in October 2021 with a face value
of ¢.£454,938. The actuai value of the award will be confirmed on grant and wil bg based on Tesco sharg price on elevant dates

N July and October 2021, The buy-out award will be granted under tre Listing Rule 9.4.2 121, and ful details of the award wil be
disclosed at grant.
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The payment and award are consistent with our Remuneration Policy and. we believe, represent an exceilent investrment in securing
a leader with Bruce's experience and capabilities.

Jonny Mason

The Commitiee considered the appropnate termsnaton terms for Jonny on his departure. His termination arrangements were in line
with the approved Bemuneration Policy.

Jonny is on a 12-month notice period to be gven by the Gompany, and nafice was given on 20 January 2021, After termination,
payment in lieu of natice will be paid in Instalments until the end of hus notice period or if earlier, the date on which alternative
employment is secured or alternative engagements with the same or higher salary / fee is received.

Jonny will receive payment of the 2020/21 bonus. which was assessed on the same performance criteria as other participants at the
yvear end. Two thirds of the bonus will be paid in cash and one third in deferred shares vesting in two years. He will not be eligible for
a 202122 bonus or LTIP grant.

The Committee has determined that Jonny will receive good leaver status In respect of his outstanding Buy-out, LTIP and Deferred
Share Bonus Plan awards. taking account of his significant confribution to the strong profit and cash flow perfermance in the year
and ongoing efforts supporting a successful transiton to the new CFO. The Buy-out and LTIP awards will be pro-rated for his period
of employment.

Statement of voting at shareholder meetings

The Company is committed to ongoing shareholder dialogue In respect of Directars’ remuneration and takes an active interest in
voting cutcomes. Where there are substantial votes against resolutions, explanatory reasons will be sought, and any actions in
response will be communicated to shareholders.

The following table sets out the voting results in refation 1o the approval of the remuneration policy when it was fast put to
shareholders at the annual general meeting 201%:

Resolution Votes for % Votes against % Withheld
Approval of Directors’ remuneration policy 831.610.451 29,26 100,031.262 10.74 33.572,688

The follow:ng table sets out the voting results In relation to the resolutions put ta the Annual General Meetng 2020:

Resolution Votes for % Votes against % Withheld
Approval of annual remuneration report 866.8689.921 093.65 58771903 335 2170977
Advice

At the end of the last fimancial year. the Committee agreed that a review of the executive remunerabon adwisers should be camed out
and a full tender process commenced in 2020/21. Willis Towers Watson were appointed as new advisers from € September 2020
following the compietion of the tender process.

Prior to Willis Towers Watson's appointment. both AON and PWC advised the Comnuttee. All advisers listed are members of the
Remuneration Consultants Group and operate under its code of conduct in relation to the provision of executive remuneraton advice
in the UK and have confirmed that they adhered to the Code during 2020/21 for all remuneration services provided 1o the Group

Aon Hewitt received fees of £12,675 (2018/20; £75.255) in relation to the provision of those services, PWC received fees of 163,725
and WTW received fees of £74.745 Fees are charged on a time and expenges basis. During the year, PWC and WTW also provided
other ad hoc remuneration sarvices outside the scops of the Committee to the Company.

Compliance

As required by the Regulations, resolutions to approve this Remuneration Report wilt be proposed at the 2021 Annual General Meeating.

b bl

Tony DeNunzio CBE
Chair of the Remuneration Commitiee
29 June 2021
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STATEMENT OF
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in

accordance with applicable law and regulations.

The direclors are responsible for preparing the annual report
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

Company law reguires the diectors 1o prepare financial
statements for each financial vear. Under that law the directors
are required 1o prepare the consolidated financial statements

in accordance with international accounting standards m
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2000
and IFRS adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 16806/2002

as it applies in the European Union. The censclidated financiat
statements are also prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued
by the Intermanonal Accounting Standards Board. The directors
have also elected to prepare the Company financial statements
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework, Under company law the directors must
not approve the accounts unless they are satished that they give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group and of the profit or loss of the Company and the Groug for
that penod.

In preparing the Company financial statements. the directors
aré required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

*»  make judgements and accountng esbmates that are
reasonable and prudent;

*  stale whether Financial Reporting Standard 101 "Reduced
Disclosure Framework’ has been followed. subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
staternents; and

+ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate o presume that the Compary wil
continue in business,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements. 1AS 1:
‘Presentation of Financial Staterments’ requires that directors:

s properly select and apply accourtng policies:

s present informaticn. including accounting policies. N a
manrer that provides relevant, rehable, comparable and
understandable information;

» provide additional disclosures when complarce with the
specihic requirements in IFRS are nsufficient to enable
users to understand the impact of particular transacticns.
other events and conditions on the Group's financial
postion and financial performance; and

s make an assessment of the Groun's ab ity 1o contirue as
& going concern,

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient 1o show and explain the Company's
transactions and discloge with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financal positon of the Company and the Group and enable
them to ensure that the financiat statements comply with the
Companies Act 2008, They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

The directors arg responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the corporate anc financial information included on the
Group's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom govermning
the preparation and dissemination of financiat statements may
ciffer from legislation in other junsSGCoNs.

Responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

¢ the financial statements. prepared n accordance with the
relevant financial reporting framework, give a true and far
view Of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or
loss of the Company and the undertakings included n the
consolidation taken as a whole:

¢ the Strategic Report includes a fair revew of the
development and performanrce of the business and the
position of the Company and the undertakings included
in the cansolidation taken as a whele, together with &
description of the princpal nsks and uncertainties that
they face; and

« the Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a
whole, are fair. balanced and understandable and provids
the information necessary for shareholders to assess the
Group and the Company's performance, business model
and strategy.

By Order of the Board

W%'Z

Alex Baldock Jonny Mason
Group Chief Exgcutive Group Chiet Financial Officer
29 June 2021 29 Jure 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Report on the audit of the financial statements
1. Opinion
In our opinion:

the financial statements of Dixons Carphane plc {the *Company’ or the “parent company’) and its subsidianes (the 'Group’) give
a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent company's affairs as at 1 May 2021 and of the Group's profit for
the year then ended:

the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in agcordance with international accounting standards m confonmity
with the requirements of the Companes Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards {IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union;

the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practics, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework'; and

the financial statements have baen prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

We have audited the financial statements which compnise:

the consolidated income statement;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

the consolidated and parent company balance sheets;

the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity:

the consohdated cash flow statement: and

the related notes 1 to 34 of the Group financial statements and notes C1 10 C10 of the parent company financial statements

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicadle law,
international accounting standards in conformity with the reguirements of the Companies Act 2006 and IFRSs as adopted Dy
the Furopean Union. The financial reporting framework that has been apphed in the preparation of the parent company financial
statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’
{United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

2. Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (1ISAs {UK) and applicable law. Our
responsibiities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Tinancial statements
section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 1o our audit
of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council's {the 'FRC's’) Ethical Standard as applied to hsted
public intergst entities, and we have fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit
servicas provided 10 the Group and Company for the year are disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements. We confirm that the
non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided o the Group or the Company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient and appropriate to provide & basis for our opinion.

13
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT CONTINUED

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key audit matters that we identified i the current year were:

* Rovenue recognition — valuation of UK network recewvables:
» Impainment of UK & lrctand Electricals goadwill and store assets: and

+ Impairment of UK & Ireland Electnicals assets in the course of construchon,

Materiality The materiahty that we used lor the Group financial statements was £10.5m, Consistent with the prior year, this

was determined onihe basis of considering a number of different roetncs used by investors and other users of
the financial staterments. These included adjusted profit before tax, net assets and revenue.

For further details refer to section G of this reporl.

Scopin Our full scope audit procedures provided coverage at the Group's ey locations, being the retall operations in
g g

the UK and Nardics, representing 94% of the Group's revenue,

Significant changes Last year we included key audit matters in respoct of Carphone Warehouse UK restructunng, gomng concem
in our approach basis of accounting and tax provisoning, which are not considered 10 be key audit matters for this year,

Carphong Warehouse UK 1estiuctunng was a one oif event during 2019720 and thus has no impact in 2020-21
and has been excluded from the key audit inattors.,

Going concern was considerad as a key audit matter in the previous year due 10 the increase in the level

of audit effort, judgemaent and complexity as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. The improved trading
rerformance, despite Covidd-18 restnichons in place for a sustained perind, and the refirancing activibics
undertaken in Apnl 2021, reduced the level of judgament in the current pernod. As such, going concernis no
longer considered a key audit matter,

There have been no significant developrments dunng the perind in respect of tax provisioning for the two
largest exposures in the UK, and as such the extent of our audit procedures in respoct of this audit matter has
reduced compared to the previous period, We theretore have not identified this as a key audit matter in the
current period.

We have refined our mmparment key audit matter to no longer include Company nvestments and central
assets. Whailst there remans potential exposure, as indicated by the pretmium of net assets above markat
capitaisation. there is a significant level of headroom avalable at the combined cash generating unit level
based on management's forecasts. We included a new key audit matter n respect of imparment of UK assets
i1 the course of construction. This reflects the increased level of management judgement required as a result
of recent changes i business strategy in ight of the Covid-19 pandemuc,

4. Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors” use of the going concern basis of accounting n the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate

Qur evaluation of the directors' assessment of the Group's and parent company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting included:

Consideration of the nature of the Group, its business modet and related risks mcluding where relevant the mpact of both

the Covid-19 pandeamic and Brexit. the requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework and the systermn of

internal control:

Cvaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group's ability to contnue as a gong concermn. including challenging the underlying
data and key assumptions used, such as forecast revenue and operating costs, against historcal and forward locking data;
Evaluaton of the directors’ plans for future actions in relation to their going concem assessment;

Evaluation of rrutigations in place and further mitigations availabie to the Group beyond those nciuded within the forecast.

This included chalienging the extent to which these mitigations are withmn the control of management in the context of histerical
performance and costs included in management’s urderlying foracasts:

Assessment of the Group's financing agréements, covenant calculations and forecast covenant complance over the reievant
outlook per-od: and

Assessmerd of the appropriateness of the going concern disclosures in the inancial statements
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Based on the work we have performed. we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to svents or conditions that,
ncvicually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's and parent company’s ability 1o continue ag a going concern
for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In relation o the reporting on how the Group has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material to add
or draw attention to n relaton to the directors” statement in the financial staterments about whether the directors considered it
appropriate to adopt the going concern bas:s of accounting.

QOur responsitilities and the responsibiities of the direciors with respect to going concern are described in the refevant sections of
this report.
5. Key audit matters

Koy audt matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
staterments of the current pericd and inGlude the most significant assessed nsks of material misstatement (whether or not due to
fraud) that we «dentfied. These matters included thase which had the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the allocation of
resources in the audt and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole. and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinien on these Matters,

5.1, Revenue recognition - Valuation of UK network receivables

Key audit matter The Group sells mobile phone contracts on behalf of mobile operators. The valuation of gross network commission

description recenable and contract assets of £405m 2 May 2020: £1,005my, being cormmuission for which there s a contractual
entitlement based an mobile phone connections already made, and for which there are no ongomg performance
abligations, 18 subject 1o significant management judgement.

Included within the gross value are cortract assets of £207m (2 May 2020: €548m). These are recognised where the
performance obligations have been met but the guantum ol consideration from the customer s vanable due to factors
other than the passage of tme. The valuation is hased on managoment's eshimate of the axtent (o wisch s highly
probable that recognised ravenue will nat be subject 1o a matenai reversal in the future.

As described in note 15, the valuation of the expected recelvabile is determined by four key assumplions:

* the expected level of customer spand in excess of their current contracted amount (known as “out of bundle” spend);
* the forecast customer default rate within the contract penod:
* tha forecast rale of customer renewals with the same network provider: and

* the expected customer behawour beyond the imtial contract periud fthe propensity of custumaer s 1o 'sieen’).

We have focused our nisk related to the valuation of contract assets on ihe detenrmination of these four key
assumptions. Due to the level of judgement involved. we have detonmined that there s potential for manipulation of this
halance by management.

The value of those assumptions influences the level of network commission revenue that the Group recognises. A
change in these assumplions can also lead to the adustment of revenuc that has been recognised in prior periods,

In determining these assumptions the Group considers histoncal activity by customers and operators and makes an
assessment as 1o how this activity will change in the future, taking into account other factors such as now regulations.
These future variations can be influenced by exiernal factors. including customer behaviour, operator behaviour and
changes to market regulations.

The current yoar reflects an out of period revaluation gain of $14m (2018:20: loss of £[47m). During the financial year
the contract with one of the network operators ended in Scplember 2020 and in March 20271 the full debtor was
sellled The Group also seltled an ongoing contractual dispute with a counterparty and upon settlenent recognised
a gain of £28m, which has been recognised as other operating mcome.

As described in note 1¢ 1o tha Group financial slatements, remeasurement of prior period assumplions due to changes
in consumer behaviour, or where more recent information becomes available, are recognised as revenue in the income
statement Any changes n prior period assumptions. and their consequential impact on revenue, are eliminated from
the Group's adjusted proft belore tax which is an alternative performance measure. which can be found in Appendix
ABS on page 221, The key jJudgements and estimates involved are described m more detail in the Audit Committee
report on page 91, 1 1he kay sources of estimation uncertainty disciosed in note 1 and innele 15 to the Group
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

How the scope
of our audit
responded

to the key audit
matter

YWe obitained an understanding of the senior management review control of the key assumptions used 1o determing
the UK network receivables balance.

We assessed the valuation of revenue recognised through review of the contraciual agreements. comparnson of
data used by management to data submitted by the mobile oparators, and perforring procedures to assass the
reasonableness of the four key assumptions. We challenged,

* {he forecast customer spoend assumptions by compansan 1o actual customer spend data trends from the network
operators and with reference to extornal market data and trends:

¢ the forecast customer dofault rate by comparison to the actual rates of default seen in the latest data from
the networks and with reference (o the external ceonomic environment and dofault rates observed in external
miarket data:

+ the forecast rate of customer renawals wath the same network provider by Comparison to 1he fatest renewals data
from the network operators and with reference to other external imarket data; and

.

the expocted customear behaviour bevond the initial contract perad by comparison to actual rates of cuslomers
continuing their contract after thelr fed contract term and with reference to external inarket data and analysis.

In considering the assumptions, we analysed existing and forthcoming changes in reguiation and wider macro-
econamic crvironment. We considered whethor these could lead 1o behawoural changes which would inpact the
amourt of reventua recagnised in the current year, Such changes could also risk the reversal of revenue recogrsed in
provious accounting periods and the recoverability of the raceivable on the balance sheet. Specifically. we considered
expented behavioural changes relating 1o the avents descnbed in note 15(M) and challenged the quantum of constraint
apphed 10 the contract asset recognised at the year end. We considered whether management's assumphons in
respact of the impact of possible behavioural chanpes and the 1esuling impact on the valuation of 1he UK network
receivabies balance were reasonable,

We assessed management's judgement that the setttiement of an ongoing dispute with one of the network aperators
should be recognised in other operating income, We reviewed the seftlernent agreement and challenged manageront
on whether 1here was any contradictory evidensce to demonstrate that the setticment should instead be recognised
wathin rovenue. In order o confinn the settlemeants we nspected the recoipt on the bank statements and roviewed the
contracts,

We assessed the changes in assumptons inrelation to the revenue recogrised for cuirent year connections behwoen
consumaors and aperators, and in refation 1o revenue recognised in previous accounting penods. In doing so we
assessed whathor the amount of rovenue recaognised in each croumstance is congistent with the disclosure innote:
15, We assesscd the disclosures relating to the treatment of oul of penod revaluations as an adjustag item in the
reconciiation of adiusted profit before tax, a key alternative performance measure.

Key
observations

We considar the treatment adopted inrelation to the valuation of the UK netwark conmission receivabile and the
related assumptions applied by rmanagement to be appropnate.

We consider the recognition of the gain ansing upon settlement of an ongaoing dispute with one of the netwaork
aperators 10 be appropriately rocognised wiffuin other aperating income.

We agres that the disclosures relating to network comissions. summansed in note 15, provide an appropriate
undderstanding of the cshimates taken by management and how changes in these estimates have influenced the
tota! revenue recognised from notwork commSssions in the year,
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5.2. Impairment of UK & iretand Eiectricals goodwill and store assets

Key audit matter Inlight of the impact of Covid-12. there is a heightoned risk of imparmant in respect of the UK & freland Electricals

description

goodwill of £1.840m (2019/20: £1.840m) and UK stare and right-ol-use asscts of T505m (201920 £548m).

£1.840m of goodwlt 15 reviewed by management for impairmert wilhin the UK & Ireland Electricals group of cash
aenerating urats (CGUs). As set out n note 8b to the Group financial statements, management assesses the
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs by caloulating its value in use using projections covering a five-year period,
Following thesr impairment reviews, management did not ichstify any impan aenl of geodwill being requined.

There is jludgement required by management in deterrmining forecast cash flows, particularly i respect of the later anc
tenminal years of their five-year penod projections.

As disclosed in ncte 8 wa note Ihat a reasonably possible change in management's lorecast annual oparating profit
throughout their Strategic Plan forecasts would result in headroom of the UK & lreland combined groups of CGUs
being eroded 10 nil. We note there s uneartainty in the assumptions underlying these forecasts, particularly n respect
of forecast operating profit and the future EBIT margin that the Group vl generale. Management has included a key
source of estimation uncenainty in nete 11, and provided associaled sensitivity disclosures mrespaect of the long tenm
operating profit of the UK & Irefand Electneals group of CGUs as sot out in note 8 to the financial statements.

Management has completed a fullimpairment review of UK store asscts, consisting of £442m ot right-of-use assets
and LE3m of store assets, by comparing the value in use indicated by management's store ievel forecasts to the
carrying value of tixed assets of that store. As a resull of this review, animpairment of £15m was recognsed as
described in note 3 to the financial statements. There is aninherent key assumption in managemant's forecasts as to
how custamers will behave m tha futurs, in particular the proportion of custorners that wil shop i store or onkne. As
aresuit, managetment has dentified that a reasonably possible change in consumer hehaviour could resull in a further
material impairment, and have included a kay source of estimaton uncenainty in nate 1t 1o the fimancial statements.

Further information in this area is discussed in the Audit Committea report on page 91 and in note 8 1o the Group
financial stalements,

How the scope
of our audit
responded

to the key audit
matter

We have completed the foliowing procodures in respect of qoodwill and store impainment:

* gbtaned an understanding of relevant controls refating 10 the review and approval of the impainment reviews,

» tested the mochanical acouracy of the value in Lse models and cash flow forecasts and assessoed whether the
methodolody Lsed in determining the recoverable amount is consistent with 1AS 36: Impawrment of Assels|

challenged the key assumptions used by management in the impairment reviews through companson 1o
histoncal performance and external evdence. In partoularn, we challenged management inrespect of the farecast
irmprovement in operating probt. We assessed this by:

- challenging managerment on the key reconciing tems that bridge between the EBIT margin generated n the
current and prior pariods to the EBIT margin that s forecast over the term of the strategic plan and into paspeturty:

- considering the reasonableness of managerment's shorl term cash flow forecasts, including cost savings related
to the transtormation of the go to markel strategy for one of the Group's main sales categories that the Group
expects 10 achieve. which forms a key part of managerment’s value in use model used to denve the recoverable
arnount of the group of CGUs. We assessed whethor the Group was comimitted to these plans to the extent tha
the cost savings can be included in an impairment assessmert under 1AS 36;

- challenging management on the forecast propertion of customers that will shop in store or online by comparison
to the historeal propartion before the impact of Cowd-19, the actual proportion experienced during the period and
cansidenng lorward Jooking analysis, and reviewing the assocrted sensitivity disclosures; and

- avaluating management’s assessment of the sensitivity to forecast operating profit margin requircd fo inchcate
an impannant. We compared the breakoven operating profit margin 10 the margins achieved by comparator
companics.

challenged marmagement’s ratonale for the premium of 1he net assets of the Groug above the market capitalisation
ot the Group by evaluating 1he reconciling amounts in management's analysis:

agsessed the completeness of assots bang included N the asset base and the appropriateness of any liability
balances included by imanagement;

evaluated management's assessment of assals which cannot be allocated on a reasonabie and consistent basis 1o
the UK & Ireland Blectricals group of CGUs; and

* assessed the complotaness and accuracy of disclosures agains! the reguirements of IAS 1 and 1AS 38 respectivaly.

Key
observations

We considered that the related disclosures appropriately summarnse the uncertainties associated with management's
impairment reviews. Wo concur with management’s conclusion that no imparment of goocwill is reguired and that the
enpafrment of store assefs recognised is approprdte.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

5.3. Impairment of UK & Ireland Electricals assets in the course of construction

Key audit matter description

The Group invests significant amounts in both tangible and intangible assets n relaton to strategic
change projects. These piojects are typically multyear and therefore signdicant capitalised development
costs are classiivd 4s assets in the course of construction at key reporting dates, The total UK & treland
Electnicals assets in the course of constrction is £47m at 1 May 2021 (2019200 £110m).

Wethin the year, and following a strategic change by the Group, a £55maimpairment chargs was
recognised in relation to mtangible assets. primarily related to software development costs, as
described n note @ 1o the financial statements. Given the recent strategic changes in the busngss,
there remains a nsk of impaimment in respect of the assets in the course of construction held at year
end. anc whether there remains a viable business case for these asscts. Where the business case
18 Nno Ionger viable, then animpairment of the corresponding asset value is recorded.

Further mtormation in this arca 1s discussed in the Audit Committee report on page 91 and Innote 9
1o the Group financial statements,

How the scope of
our audit responded
to the key audit matter

We have compicted the fallowing procetures in respect of asscls n the course of constiuclion:

obtaned an understanding of relevant cortrols relating to the management revicw of the assets ir the
course of construchon ledger and associated business appraval controls;

for & sample of the largest and most aged assets under canstruction, we have obtained the business
case plans pregarcd by management and assossed whether there continues to be a vald busness
case Ly challenging the changes in strategic direction in the vear aganst the onginal business case
plans:

challenged ihe imparment resogirsed in the penod by comparison to the wider trading performance
ol the UK trading business and assessing whether thore is any ndicator of manageiment bias:

made enquiries of management throughowt the organisation to further understand the purpose of
Ihe project and assess whether s appropnate the asset remans in assets urder construction; and

where impainments have ansen in the year, we have understoad why the project costs have been
written-off and challenged management on whether this constiules a prior period error

Key observations

We concur wath management's concluson that the imparment recognised in the year 1s appropriate
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6. Our application of materiality
6.1. Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic
decisions of a reascnably knowledgeable person would be changed or infiuenced. We use matenality both in planning the scope
of our audht work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judqement, we determinad materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Consolidated financial statements Company financial statements
Materiality £10.5m (2019720 £9.5n) £9.9m 2M920: £9.0m)
Basis for determining We considered the following metrics: Company matesality is determined as a
materiality percentage of net assets Detormined company
s " belore sme = A o ., ) e
* Adjusted prabt before lax (se6 note AS) materiality equates to 0 36% (2019/2(: 0.33%) of
* Net assets; and net assets, which is capped at 95% (2018, 20: 95%¢)
s Bovonue. of group materiality.
Using professional judgement, we detarmined
materiality to be £10 Sim (£9.5m).
Materiality for the current year represents 8.6%¢ of
adjusted profit before tax (2018/20; 7.6%. 0.15% of
lotal assets 2019720 0.12%) and 0124 of revenue
(2019/20: 0.09%)
Rationale for the I determining our benchmark for materiality, we Net assels was selected as an approprate
benchmark applied considored a number of different metncs used henchmark for determining materality, as
by investors and other users of the inancial the Company acts as a hoelding company.

staterments.

6.2, Performance materiality

We set performance materiality at a ievel lower than materality to reduce the probability that. in aggregate. uncorrected and
undetected misstaternents exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole.

Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Performance materiality 65% (2019/20: 70%} of group materiality B5% (201920: 705} of parent
company materiality
Basis and rationale for Performance matarialty as a percentage of matenaiity has reduced from 70% to 65% to reflect the
determining performance impact of a remote working ervironment and associated increase n nsk of control failures and error,
materiality In determming performance materiality, we alse cansidercd the following factors:

a. the impact of Covid-19 and industry wide pressure on the financial statements. the judgemeants taken
by managoement and the associated disclosures:

b our ngk assossment. including our assessment of the Group's overall cantrol environment and our
reliance on controls inthe Nordics: and

j2d

our past experience of 1he audit, including the profit impacting misstatements identified i prior
perods and management's willingness to correct any misstatements identified.

6.3. Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report 1o the Committee all audit differences in excess of £0.5m (2019/20; £0.5mj,
as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on gualitative grounds. We alse report to the Audit
Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentaton of the financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1. Identification and scoping of components

Our group audit was scoped by optaning an understanding of the Group and i1ts enviranment. including group-wide controls, and
assessing the risks of matenal migstaternent at the Group fevel. Based on that assessment, we focused our group audit scope
prmarily on the audit work of the significant components, being the retail operations in the UK and the Nardics, which s consistent
with the previous year. Each of these compenents requires a local statutory audit.

These significant components represent the principal business units and account for approximately 94% of the Group's revenue
from continuing operations (2019,20: 94%). Each location was selected to provide an appropriate basis for undertaking audit work
10 address the risks of material misstaternent identified above. Qur audit work at these locations was executed at levels of materiality
applicable to each individual entity which were lower than group matenality and ranged from £5.3m to £9.9m (2019/20: £5.7m to
£9.0m).

Al the Dixons Carphone plc Group level we also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical procedures to confirm
our conclusion that there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the aggregated financial information of the remaining
components not subject to audit of audit of specified account balances

7.2. Our consideration of the control environment

Dixans Garphone ple 1s reliant on the effectiveness of a number of {T applications and controls ta ensure that financial fransactions
are processed and recorded completely and accurately.

UK control environment

We involved our IT specialists to obtan an understanding of the relevant general IT controls. Due to the IT defoencies dentified in
prior years, we did not plan to rely on the relevart controls over & number of operating cycles as these rely on automated controls.

The revenue earned from extended warranty service agreements with customers relies upon a single financal reporting system,
the general IT controls of which we relied on in the past but were unable to rely on the relevant controls this year due to deficiencies
identified in our assessment of these controls.

We planned to rely on the relevant controls associated with the Dixons supplier funding operating cycle, as certan aspects of this
process do not rely upon autornated controls, but were unable to as a result of immaterial errors identffied in our substantve testing.
which indicated a failure in the implementation of controls.

As aresult of the T deficiencies identified in the prior and current years, we completed additional substantive procedures. Whilst, for
audit purposes, the additional procedures performed mitigated the risk presented by the deficiencies. management is in the course
of performing further stabilisation actvities asscciated with the Group's IT infrastructure.

General IT controls continue to be a focus area for management and the Audit Committee. Further information is set out in the risk
management and internal control section of the Audit Committes report on page 92
Nordics control environment

In the Nordics, we relied upon controls across the following operating cycles: inventory. supplier funding, cash. property, plant and
equipment. trade payables, revenue and cost of goods sold, We tested and relied upon the relevant controls of two finance systems
for our testing of these operating cycies.

7.3. Working with other auditors
The same audit team s responsible for both the Group ana UK component audit work.

The Group audit team ergaged a component audit team from Deloitte Norway 1o perform an audit cf tha Nardics sub-corsalidaton.
The Group audit team held regular communicat-on with the component auditor ahead of and during the year end audit process
Oversight of the component audit team incluced revewng the audit work of the component audit tearm wia video conferencing.
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8. Other information

The other information comprises the nformation mcluded in the annual report, othar than the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information cortained within the annual report. Our opinien on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, except 1o the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is 1o read the cther nformation and, n deing so, consider whether the other information s materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtaired in the course of the audit. or otherwise appears to be matenally misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent matenal misstatements, we are required to determing whether this gives nse
1o a rmateral misstatemant in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is & material misstatement of this other information, we are requiredt 10 repoert that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
staterments and for baing satisfied that they give a true and far view. and for such internal contral as the drectors determing is
necessary 1o enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In prepanng the financial statements. the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the parent company's ability
to continue as a gomng concern, disclosing as applicable, matiers related to gong concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend 1o liguidate the Group or the parent company or 10 Cease operations, or have no
reaistic alternative but to do so.

10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from matenal
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and toissue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
15 & high level of assurance. but it 18 not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1ISAs (UK} will atways detect a
material misstaternent when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered matenal if, indnidually or
in the aggregate, they could reascnatlly be expected 1o influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilties for the audit of the financial statements 1s located on the FRC's website at:
www fro.org.uk/auditorsresponsitelities. This description forms part of cur auditor's report.

139
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregulantfes. including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities. outhned abova, 10 detect material misstatements in respect of rrregulanties, including fraud. The extent to which
our procedures are cagable of detecting irregularties, ncluding fraud is detailed below,

11.1, ldentifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identifying and assessing rsks of matenal misstaterment in réspect of rregularities. including fraud and non-complance with laws

and regulations, we considered the foliowing:

s the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance mcluding the design of the Group
rermuneration policies. key drivers for directors’ remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets:

¢ results of our enguines of management, internal audit and the audit commitiee about their own identification and assessment
of the risks of inegularties;

*«  any matters we identified having obtamed and reviewed the Group's documentation of ther policies and procedures relating to:

- identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulationg and whetner they were aware of any instances of non-
compliance;

- detecting and responamg to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alisged fraud:
- the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regutations: and

* the matters discussed among the audit engagement team ncluding significant component audit taams and relevant internai
specialists, Incfuding tax, valuations, pensions, IT, and industry speciaiists regarding how and where fraud might ccour in the
financial statements and any potential ndicators of fraud.

As aresult of these procedures, we considered the opportunites and mcentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and
identified the greatest potential for fraud in the fallowng areas: valuation of UK network recenvables and supplier funding. In common
with all audits under ISAs (UK). we are also requiredd 1o perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management cvernde.

We also gbtained an undarstanding of the legal and regulatary frameworks that the Group operatas in, facusing on provisions
of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material @mounts and disclosures 1n the financial
stafernems. The key laws and reguiaions we considersd n ihis context included the UK Compames Act. Listing Rules. pension
legislations. tax iegislations and FCA regulations.

In addrtion, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but
compllance with which may be fundamental to the Group's abiity 10 cperate or 1o avoid a matenal penalty. These ncluded the
Group's health and safety, nsurance selling and environmental regulatons.

11.2. Audit response to risks identified

As a result of performing the above, we identified the valuation of UK network recenablas as a key audit matter reiated 1o the
potential risk of fraud. The key audt matters section of our report explang the matter in mare detail and also describes the specific
procedures we performed in resporse to this xkey audit matter.

In additon 10 the above, our procedures to respond (0 nsks identfied included the following:

«  rgviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting docurmentation to assess compharce with provisions of
relevant laws and requlations descnibed as having a direct effect on the financ.al staterments;

¢ considenng any indicators of management bias across the key judgements and estimates » the financial statements, in partcular
whether any of the judgements and estrmates indicated sysiematc or congistent direclicnal bias,

¢ enguinng of management, the audit commitiee and external legal counsel concerning actual and potential ingation ana clams;

¢ performing analytical procedures to.dentify any unusual or unexpected relationshing that may irdicate nsks of materal
misstaternent due to fraud;

* reading mirutes of meetngs of these charged with governance. reviewing interngl audit reports and reviewing correspondence
with HMRC:

* assessing the valuation of UK & lreland E'ectrica’s suppler funding related accruals that require the most signficant level of
management judgment by confirrming a sample of accruals directly with the supp'er: and

* n addressing the nisk of fraud through maragement override of cortro’s. testing tne appropriateness of journal entnes and other
adjustments; assessing whether the judgerments rmade in making accouning esimates are indicatve of & potenta bias: and
evaluating the business rationale of any sigrificant transactions that are Lnusual or outside the normal course of Gusress.
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We also communicated relevant dentified faws and reguiations and potential fraud risks to all engagement tearm members including

internal specialists and significant component audit teams, and remained alert to any ndications of fraud or non-compliance with

laws and regulations throughout the audt.

Report on other fegal and reguiatory requirements

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report 1o he audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the

Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

+ the nformation given in the strategic report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared s consistent with the financiat statements; and

s the strategc report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accardance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the parent company and their environment obtaned in the coursa
of the audit, we have not identified any matenal misstatements in the strategic report or the Direclors’ Report.
13, Corporate Governance Statement

The Listing Rules require us to review the directors’ statement in relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part of the
Carpgrate Governance Staternent relating to the Group's compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
specified for our review.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate
Governance Statement 15 materially consistent with the financial statements ana our knowledge obtained during the audit:

s thedirectors' statement with regards 10 the appropnatensgss ¢f adopting the going concern basis of accounting and any material
uncertanties identified set out on page 53

= the directors’ explanation as to its assessment of the Group's progpects, the period this assessment covers and why the period
18 appropriate set out on page 53;

» the directors’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable set cut on page 130:
e the Board's confirmaton that it has carried out a rabust assessment of the emnerging and principal nsks set out on page 53,

+ the section of the annual report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems set
out on page 46; and

+ the secton describing the work of the audit committee set out on page &7,

14. Matters on which we are required to report by exception
14.1, Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required o report 1o you if, in our cpinion:

= we have not receved all the information and explanations we reguire for our aucht; or

« adeguate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for ocur audit have not been
recetved from branches net visited by us: or

¢ the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

14.2. Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report 1If 1n our opinion certain disclosures of directors’ remunération have
not been made or the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited is not :n agreement with the accounting records
and returns.

We have nothing 1o repart in respect of these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

15. Other matters which we are required to address

15.1. Auditor tenure

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appointed by the Board on 31 July 2003 to audit the firancial
staternents of the Group for the year ending 29 March 2003 and subsequent financial perods. The penod of total uninterrupted
engagement as the Group auditors, including previcus renewals and reappeintiments of the firm s 19 years. covening the yearg
ending 22 March 2003 to 1 May 2021. The pericd of engagement as the Company's auditer, following & groug restructunng. since
being incorporated in 2000, is 11 years, covering the years ending 26 March 2011 to 1 May 2021, Ag set out in the Audit Committee
report on page 95, 2021/22 will be the final year of our audit tenure.

15.2. Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the audit committee

Qur audit gpmion 1§ consistent with the additional report to the audit commitee we are required to prowde N accordance with
ISAs (UIK).

16. Use of our report

This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a body. in accordance wih Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are required 10
state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility 1o anyone othar than the Company and the Company's members as a body. for our audit work. for this repart, or for
the opinions we have formed.

L,

Stephen Griggs
Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom

29 Jung 2021
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CONSOLIDATED INGOME STATEMENT

Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
Note £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 23 10,344 10,170
Profit / {(loss) before interest and tax 2.3 147 128)
Finance income ] 10
Finance costs (120) i122)
Net finance costs 5 {114) 112)
Profit / {loss) before tax 33 140
INncome tax expense G (33) 121}
Profit / {loss] after tax — continuing operations - e
Profit / [loss) alter 1ax — discontinued operations 25 12 12)
Profit / (loss) after tax for the period 12 1163
Earnings / (loss) per share {pence) 7
Basic ~ continuing operatinns -p 13.09p
Diluted - continuing opearations -p 13 9Mp
Basic - total 1.0p (14.1p

Dilutad - total 1.0p (141D
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INGOME

Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
Note £m £m
Profit / (loss) after tax for the period 12 163
lterns that may be reclassified to the ncome statement in subsequent years:
Cash flow hedges 23
Farr valug movernonts recognised m other comprenensive income (51) 26
Roclassified and reported in income staterment 11 12
Exchange gain / lloss) arising on translatiun of foreign operations 46 139
6 o
ltenis that walf not e reclassified (0 the meome statemertt i sufisequoent yedars:
Actuanal gans f {losses) on defined benalit pension schemes - UK 22 30 {3
- Overscas 22 - 1}
Farr value through other comprehensive intome inancial assots 13
Gaing 7 losses) arising durng the period 8 18
Tax an mavemaents on defined benefit pension schemes [ 13 39}
) - 51 151)
Other comptrehensive income / (expense) for the period {taken to equity) 57 (62)
?ten]--compre;\ensi\;; income / (e:;pense) for the period 7 - 69 1215)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

1 May 2 May
2021 2020
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwil 8 2,851 2,803
Intangible assats 9 426 469
Property. plant and aequipment 10 184 210
Fight-of-lse assets ik 1,051 1114
Lease receivable 12 3 1
Investments 13 - 10
Trade and other receivabiles 15 138 294
Deferred tax agsets 8] 262 259
4,915 5193
Current assels )
Inventory 14 1,178 970
Lease recevalkle 12 1 1
Trade and other rocovables 15 587 831
Dervalive assets 26 24 6
Cash and cash equivalents 16 175 660
1,965 2538
Total assets 6,880 7731
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 (2,233) 12,017}
Derivative liabilities 26 (42) 52y
Contingent consideration 18 2) 1)
Income tax payable 64) (78)
Loans and ather borrowings 19 (6} [584)
Lease liabitics 20 (216) 1258}
Provisions 21 (58) 1114}
(2,621) 13.104)
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 97 1131)
Contingent consideration 18 - 2
Loans and other borrowings 19 - (=B
Leasc liabiites 20 (1,110 11,188)
Retirement benefit obiligations 22 {482) 1550
Deferred 1ax liabilitiss 5 (162) (182)
Provisions 21 {27) 136)
3 (1,878) 12,347)
Total liabilities ] {4,499) (5.451)
Net assets 2,381 2,280
Capital and reserves 23
Share capital 1 1
Sharg promim reserve 2,263 2,283
Other reservias (764) \775)
Accumuiated profits 881 Il
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company 2,381 2.280

The financial statements were approved by the directors on 29 June 2021 and signed on therr behalf by:

W\

Alex Baldock Jonny Mason
Group Chief Executive Group Chief Financial Officer

Compary registration number: 7105805
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share
Share premium Othet  Accumulated
capital reserve reserves* profits Total equity

Note £m £m £m £m £m
At 27 April 2019 1 2,263 1713 1.089 2.640
Adjustment on mitial application of IFRS 16 - - 145 450
Taxation on IFRS 16 transition adiustment - - - 8 =]
Adjusted balance at 27 April 2019 1 2263 713 1052 2,603
Loss for the penod - - - 163 {163}
Other comprehensive INCome and expenso
recogsed directly in cquity - - (o] 143) 52}
Total comprehegnsive oxpense for 1he period - - 19) 1206) (215)
Amacunts transferred (6 the carrying value of
nventory pulchased during the year - - (4% - (41
Equity dividends 24 - - - (78] 178
Net miovement n relation to shara schames - - - 23 23
Purchase of own shares - - 1) - {12)
AL 2 May 2020 1 2,263 {775} 791 2,280
Prafit for the period - - - 12 12
Other comprehensive ncome and oxpense
recognised drrectly in equity - - 14 43 57
Total comprebensive inGame tor the penod - - 14 55 69
Armnunts transforred to the carrying value
of imventory purchased dunng the year - - 24 - 24
Net movement in relation 1o share schomes - - 4 17 21
Amounts transferred trom investiments
revatuation reserve - - {18) 18 -
Purchase of own shares - - {13) - (13)
At 1 May 2021 1 2,263 (764) 881 2,381

A detalled reconciliation of these reserves is provided in note 230.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
Note £m £m
Operating activities
Cash generated from operatong 27 926 644
Contributions to defined benetit pension suhoeme 47) (46)
Incoms tax paid {35) {203
Net cash flows from operating activities 844 583
Investing activities
Net cash oulflow ansing from acqguistions (1} i3]
Proceads from sale of financial assets at FYTOC! 18 -
Proceads on sale of business 2 2
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and ather intangibles (122) 19t
Net cash flows from investing activities (103) 192)
Financing activities
Interast paid (101) {106)
Capital repayment of lease liabilites (232) 219}
Purchase of ordinary shares (13) 12}
Equity dividends paid - {73
{Repayment) / drawdown of borrowings (326) 36
Facility arrangement fees paig - &)
Net cash flows from financing activities {672} {383)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts 69 B
Cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at the beganing of the penod 120 106
Currency translation differences {20) &
Cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at the end of the period 27 169 120
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation

Dixons Carghone pic tthe Company) is a pubkc cocmpany mited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom, which 1s registered
n England and Wales under the Comparies Act Z2008.

The consalidatedt financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis it accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and IFRS adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606 /
2002 as it applies n the European Unicn and IFRS as issued by the Internatenal Accounting Standards Board.

The financial statements have been presented n Pound Sterling, based on the Group's primary economic environment, and on the
historical cost basis except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments and defined benefit pension obligations, as explanad
below. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest £im, unless ctherwise stated.

Alternative performance measures (APMs)

in addition to IFRS measures. the Group uses certain alternative performance measures that are considered to be additional
irformative measures of ongoing trading performance af the Group and are congistent with how performance 1s measured ntemally.
The alternative performance measures used by the Group 0 addition to IFRS measures are included wathin the giossary and
definitions section of the Annual Report on page 216. This includes further informaticn on the definitions. purpose, and reconciliation
to IFRS measwres of those alternative performance measures that are used for internal reporiing and presented to the Group's Cief
Operating Decision Maker [CODM). The CODM has been determined to be the Board.

Going concern

Going concern s the basis of preparation of the financial statements that assumes an entty wilt remain i operation for a period
of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements. The Group and Company's business activites, factors
lkely 1o affect future development. performance, and position. as well as the prnincipal rigks are set out in the Strategic Report on
pages 1 to 67, The Group and Company's funding arrangements and processes ior managing its exposure o liquidity risk are set
out in notes 19 and 26.

In their consideraton of going concern, the directors have reviewed the Group's fulure cash forecasts and profit projections. which
are based on market data and past experience. The dirgctors are of the opinicn that the Group's forecasts and project:ons. which
-ake INto account reasonably possible changes i trading performance. ncleding the potentially prolonged impact of Cowid-19,
show that the Group 18 able to operate within its current faciliies and comply with its banking covenants for the foreseeable future.
in arriving at their conclusion that the Group has adequate financial resources, the directors considered the ievel of borrowings and
factities as set out in note 19 1o the Group financial staterments and that the Group has a robust policy towards Iguidity and cash
flow management.

As a result of the uncertainties surrounding the forecasts due to the Covid-18 pandemic, the Group has also modelled a reverse
siress test scenano. The reverse stress test models the decline in sales that the Group wou'd be able to abscrb before requinng
additional sources of financing N excess of those that are comrmitted. Such a scenario. and the sequence of events which could
lead to it 15 considerad 1o be remote.

As aresult, the Board believes that the Group 1 well placed 1o manage its Tinancing and other sigrificant rsks satsfactonly and
that the Group will be able to operate within the level of its ‘aciliies for the foreseeable future, For this reason. the Board considers it
approprate for the Group to adopt the going concern basis in prepanng its firancial statements. The long-term impact of Cavid-18
1$ uncertain and should the impacts of the pandemic on trading conditions be more prolonged or severs tan what the directors
consider to be reasonably passitle. the Group would need to impiemert addmicnal operatonal or “nancial measures.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

b) Accounting convention and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financ-al statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entties controlled by the Company
its subsidiaries). Controlis acheved where the Company has the power over the investee: 15 exposed. or has [ghts. to varable
return from itg irvalvement with the investee; and has the ability 1o use its power to affect 1ts returns.

The results of subsicianes and joirt ventures acquired or so'd during the year are includad » the consolicated INncome statement
from the effectve date of acquisition or up to the effectve gate of disposal as appropriate, which s the date from whicn the power 1o
control passes. Where necessary. adjustments are made 10 the inancial statements of subsic ares to bring the acce.~t ng policies
used rto Ine with those used by the Group. Allintercompany transactons and balances arg ehminated on consohdation
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1 Accounting policies continued
¢) Foreign currency translation and transactions

Transactons denominated in foregn currencies are translated to the Group's presentational currency using the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction. The Group usas foreign exchange {FX') forward contracts 1o hedge material transactons denominated in
foreign currencigs, as outlined N note 14,

Materal mongtary assets and liabilities denominatad in foreign currencice are hedged, mainky uging lurward oreign exchange
contracts to create matching liabities and assets. and are translated at the rates prevaling at the balance sheet date.

The results of foreign cperalions are translated each month at the monthly rate, and their balance sheets are translated at the rates
prevaiing at the balance sheet date. Goodwill and acquistion mtangible assets are held in the currency of the cperation to which
they relate. Exchange differences arising on the ranslanon of net assets, goodwill and results of foreign operations are recognised
in the translation reserve.

All other exchange differences are included in profit or loss in the year in which they anse.

Where a foreign operation is disposed of, the gan or 10ss on disposal recognised @0 profit or loss s determined after taking into
account the cumulative currency translation differences that are atirdoutable to the operatien.

The principal exchange rates against Pound Sterling used in these financial statemeants are as follows:

Average Closing

2021 2020 2021 2020

Ewrc 1.12 114 1.15 114
Norwegan Krone 11.90 171 11.50 12.93
Swedish Krong 11.56 1218 11.69 12,31
US Dollar 1.33 1.26 1.38 1.25

d) Revenue and supplier income
Revenue

Revenue prmarily comprises sales of goods and services excluding sales taxes. Revenue is measured based on the consideration
10 which the Group expects 1o bea entitled in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control of a product or service 1o a customer. The following accounting peolicies are
applied to the principal revenue generating activities in which the Group is engaged:

« network commission revenue is recognised at a point in time on completion of the performance obligation under the individuat
contract wath the Mobile Network Operator (MNO), as outlined in note 1e:

» revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point of sale or, where later, upon delivery to the customer. Where
consideration is received. or recavable, in advance of the customer cbtaining contral and the performance obligations being
satisfied. a contract kability is recogrised:

* revenue eamead from the sale of customer support agreements 1s recognised in full as the stand-ready performance obligations
are satisfied under the contracts with the customer. Where consideration 1s received 1n advance of the performance of the
ahligations being satisfied. a contract liability is recognised. Due 1o the cancellation options and customer refund clauses.
contract terms have been assessed to either be monthly or a series of day to day contracts with revenue recognised respectively
in the month to which payment relates, or on a ‘straight-ine’ basis:

*  revenue arising on services (including delivery and installation, product repairs and preduct support) 1s recognised when the
abligation to the customer is fulfited; and

¢ insurance revenue relates 1o the sale of third-party insurance products. Sales commission recewved from third partes 1S
recognised when the insurance palicies ta which i refates are soid. Although there are no ongoing performance obhgations,
future commussion receivable can vary due to consumer behaviour however s only recognised 1o the extent that it is highly
probable that there will not be a significant reversal of revenue. The Group recognises a contract asset N relation o this revenue.
Any amount previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point in which it becomes
billable and is no longer conditioned on something other than the passage of time. Revenue from the provision of msurance
administration services is recognised over the life of the relevant poficies when the Group's performance obligations are satisfied.
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1 Accounting policies continued
dj Revenue and supplier income continued

Itis Group policy 16 grant customers the right to return ther products within a defined penod of time. As thig does not represent a
separate performance obligation, the Group only recognises revenue to which it expects 1o be entitled. The Group uges the most
Ikely amount method to estimate the expected value of goods o be returnad by customers exercising their rights in line with the
Group's refund policy based on the prior period return ratgs.

Arefund fiability is recognised as a component of trade and other payables for the amount of vaniable considerathon that the Group

does not expect to be entitled. A separate right to return asset is recognised within inveniory to represent the night o recover goods
from customers on settlement of the refund liability. This is measured by reference to the former carrying amount of the goods sold

less any recoverability costs and decreass in value.

Income received from suppliers such as volume rebates

The Group's agreements with suppliers contain a price for units purchased as well as other rebates and discounts which are
summarised below:

Vaolume Rebates: This income is inked to purchases made from supphers and 1s recognised as a recuction to cost of goods sold as
inventory s sold. Rebates that relate to inventory not sold are recognised within the value of Inventory at the period end. Where an
agreement spans pericd ends. estimation is required regarding amounts 1o be recognised. Forecasts are used as well as historical
data in the estimaton of the level of income recognised. Amounts are only recognmised where the Group has a clear enttlement to
the receipt of the rebate and a reliable estimate can be made.

Customer discount support: This income is received from suppliers on a price per unit basis. The leve! of estimation is minimal
as amounts are recognised as a reduction to cost of goods soid hased on the agreement terms and only once the item 1 soid.

Marketng income: This income 1s received in relalion 1o marketing activiies that are performed on behalf of suppliers. Marketing
ncome s recognised over the period as set out in the specific supplier agreements and is recognised as a reduction to cost of sales.

Suppler funding amounts that have been recogrised and not invoiced are shown within accrued income on the balance sheet.
Cash inflows for suppler funding received are classified as cpérating cash fliows.

e) Network commissions

The Group operates under contracts with a number of Mobnile Network Operators (MNOs'}, Qver the |ife of these contracts the
service provided by the Group 1© aach MNQO s the procurement of connections to the MNQOS® networks. Each connection made to
an MNO's network relates 1o an individual consumer. The consumer enters into a contract with the MNO for the MNO to supply the
ongaing artme over that contract period.

The Group garns a commission for the service provided ta each MNO I'network cormission’s. Revenus is recognised at the point the
individual consumer signs a contract with the MNO. Consideration from the MNO tecarnes receivable over the course of the contract
between the MNO and the consumer. A judgement associated with this recognition & the unit of account used in measurernent. Ag
there s a large poputation of homogeneous items. n measurng the amount of revenue to recognise the Group has determmed that
the number and value of consumers provided 1o each MNC in any given month fa ‘cohort') represents the best unit of account.

The level of network commission eamed 15 based on a share of the monthly payments made by the consumer 1o the MNO. including
contractual monthly Iire rental payments tegether with a share of ‘out-of-bundle’ spend. spenda after the contractual term. and amounts
due from customer upgrades performed directly by the netwaerk, The total consideration recevable 1s agtermined by consumer
behavour after the pont of recogninon. Tre transaction price includes elements of vanability and is therefore an area of estimation.

The method of measurng the value of the revenue and contract asset ‘1 the month of connection is 1o estimate all future cash flows
that will be received from the network and discount these based on the expected tming of recaipt

A constrained estimate of the determingd commission 15 recognised in fullin the month of connection of the consumer to the MNO
as this 1s the pont at which we have completed the service obligation relating 1o the consumer connachon.

Transaction price 's estimated based on extensve histoncal evidence obtained from the networks and an adjustment 1s made for expectad
and possible changes n corsumer behayviour ncluaing as a result of regulatory changes impactng the sector. The considerahon far

a cohort of consumers 1s estimated by modieling the expected value of the portfdlio of Indivdua sales Revenug s only recognised to

the extert that it is highly probaple that a sgnificant reversal in the armount of revenus recognised will not occur. Maragement makes a
quarterly, and the drectors a twice-yearly, assessrent of 'ris data. This 15 based on & best estimate of gxpected fulure trands.
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1 Accounting policies continued
e) Network commissiens continued

Network cormmission revenue recognised on fulfiment of the service obligation results in a contract asset as the amount that wil
ultimately be collected is variable based on congumer behavicur. Over time, and dependent on the future behaviour of the consumer.
arnounts intially recognised as contract assets become pavable by the network 10 the Group and are transferred to trace recevables.

Contract assets are measurad at present valug, Assumptions are therefore required. particularly in relation 1o levels of consumer
default within the contract period. expectad leveis of cansumer spend. and consumer behaviour beyond the initial contract penod.

in addition to remeasurament dug to changes in consumer behaviour. changes to revenue may also be made where, for exampie,
more recent information becomes avalable enabling the recognition of previcusly unrecognised comrmission. Any such changes
are recognised as revenue in the income statement.

In contracts in which the consideration for the transfer of services ta customers is conditional on somesthing other than the passage
of trne, these amounts are accounted for as a contract assel within ‘trade and other receivables' in the statement of financial
position. Amounts recenvable that are no longer conditional an something other than the passage of time are accounted for as
trade receivables.

f) Discontinued operations and assets and liabilities held for sale

A discontinued operation is a companent of the Group which represents a significant separate line of business, gither through its
activity or geographical area of operation, which has been sold, 18 held for sale or has been cloged.

Where the sale of a component of the Group 18 considered highly probable at the balance sheet date and the busingss is available
for immediate sale in ts present condtion, it is classified as held for sale. Such classification assumes the expectation that the sale
will complete within one year from the date of classification. Assets and latxlities held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying
amount and far value less costs to sell. Once classified as held for sale. infangible assets and property, plant and eguipment are no
longer amortsed or depraciated.

g) Share-bhased payments

Equity settled share-based payments are measured at far value at the date of grant and expensed on a straight-ling basis over
the vesting period, based on an estimate of the number of shares that wil eventually vest. A Monte Garlo model s used 10 measure
fair value.

For all schemes, the number of options expected 1o vest is recalculated at each balance sheet date, based on expectations of
leavers prior 1o vesting. For schemes with Internat performance criteria such as free cash fiow, the number of options expected
to vest s also adjusted based on expectations of performance aganst target. No adjustment is made for expected performance
against external performance criteria such as TSR, because the likelihood that the performance criteria will be met 1s taken into
account when estimating the far value of the award on the grant date. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous
balance sheet date 1s recognised in the income statement, with a corresponding entry in reserves.

h) Retirement benefit obligations

Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes and contriputions made 10 state pension schemes for certain
overseas employees are charged to the income statement on an accruals basis when employees have rendered service enlithng
thern to the contributions.

For defined benefit pension schemes, the difference betwesan the market value of the assets and the present value of the accrued
pension lat:ities 15 shown as an asset or hability in the consolidated balance sheet. The calculation of the present value s
determined using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gang and losses arising from changes i actuarial assumptions 1ogether with experience adjustments and actual return on
assets are recognised in the consolidated staterment of comprehensive INncome and expensed as they arise. Such amounts are not
reclassified 1o the income statement n subseguent years.

Defined benefit costs recognised in the income staterment comprise mainty of net iInterest expense or INcome with such interest being
recognised within finance costs. Netinterest s calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit lability or asset
taking nte account any changes in the net defined benefit obligation during the year as a resuit of contrbution or benefit payments.
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1 Accounting policies continued

i) Leases

A lease s classified as a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the nght to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a penod of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessor

The Group is a lessor predommantly when subleasing retail store properties that are no longer open for trading. Leases for which the
Group 15 a lessor are classihed as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership 10 the lessee. the contract i1s classfied as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases 1s recognised on & straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Inital direct costs
incurred In negotating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on
a straight-tine basis over the lease term.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recogrised as receivables at the amount of the Group's net investment in th
leases. Finance lease income s allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant penodic rate of return on the Group's net
investment outstanding i respect of the leases

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the suolease as two separate contracts. The sublease
is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset ansing from the head lease.
The Group as a lessee

The Group's leasing actvities predominantly relate to retail store properties and disinbution properties as well as distribution vehicle
fleet. The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the centract. The Group recognises a nght-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease lability with respect to al lease arrangements in which it 1s the lessee, except for short-term
leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low vaiue assets (which comprise IT equipment and
small iterns of office furniture). For these leases. the Group recogrises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease with no corresponding right-of use asset.

Lease liabilities
The lease lability 15 imtially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the ncremental borrowing rate and subsequently held at amortised cost In accordance with IFRS 9.

Lease payments included it the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

* Fixed lease payments including in-substance fixed payments). less any lease incentwes recavabie;

* Varable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, nitally measured using the irdex or rate at the commencement date;
¢+ The amount expected 10 be payable by the lesses under residual value guarantees;

*  The exercise price of purchase options, if the 'essee 1s reasonably certan 1o exercise the options; and

¢ Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, f the lease term reflects the exercise of an option o terminate the lease.

The Group remeasures the lease hag lity [and makes a corresponading adjustment to the related nght-of-use asset) whenever:

s Thelease term has changed or there 15 a significant event or change in creumstances resulting in a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease lgbiity 13 remeasured by discountng the revised lease payments Lsing
a revized discount rate.

¢ Thelease payments change due to changes in an index or rate Or & change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, In which cases tre lease llability 18 remeasu-ed py discounting the revised leass payments using an unchanged
discount rate lunless the 'ease payments chargs 1s due to a change in a floating 'nterest rate. n which case a revised discount
rate 15 used).

o Alease contract is modified and the iease modfication s not accounted ‘or as a separate lease. n which case the ease liablity
1s remeasured based on ke lease term of the «odif.ed lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised digcount
rate at the effective aate of the modficaton.
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1 Accounting policies continued
i) Leases continued
Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprse the initial measurement of the corresponding lease lability. lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, any Initial direct costs and any digpidation costs less any lease incentives recewed. They arg subseguently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment i0sses.

Right-of-use assels are depreciated aver the shorter period of lease term and useful ife of the underlying asset.

Right-of-use assets are assessed on an ongoing Hass to determing whether circumstances exist that could lead to the conclugion
that the net book value is not supportable as further described in note 1m.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease hability and the right-of-use
asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the perod in which the avent or condition that triggers those
payments occurs,

i} Taxation
Gurrent tax

Current tax is provided at amounts expacted 10 be paid or recovered using the prevalding tax rates and laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and adjusted for any tax payable in respect of prewous years.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax liabilties are recognised for all temporary differences between the carrying ameount of an asset or lability in the balarce
sheet and the tax base value and represent tax payabie in future percds. Deferred tax assets arg recognised 10 the extent that it is
profaile that taxable prefits will be available aganst which deductible temporary differences can be utiised.

Deferred tax liabiities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries. except where the
Group 1s able to control the reversal of the tempaorary difference and 1t probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. No provision is made for tax that would have been payable on the distribution of retained profits of overseas
subsidiaries or associated undertakings where it has been determined that these profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future.

Current and deferred tax 1s recognised in the income statement except where it relates 1¢ an item recogrised directly in other
comprehensive INCome Or reserves, in which case 1t is recognised directly In other comprehensive INCome or reserves as
appropriate.

Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the years in which the timing differences are
expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted, or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred tax assets and liabiities are offset aganst each other when they relate to mcome taxes levied by the same tax jurisdiction
and when the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabiltes on a net basis. Deferred tax balances are not discounted.

k) Goodwill

On acquisition of a subsidiary or associate, the fair value of the consideration is allecated between the identfiabzle net tangble and
intangible assets and labilities on a fair value basis, with any excess consideration representing goodwill. At the acguisition date,
goodwill is allocated to each group of Cash Generating Units 'CGUs") expected to benefit from the combination and held in the
currency of the operations to which the goodwill relates.

Goodwill is not amortised, but is assessed annually for impairment, or more frequently where there 1 an indication that goodwill
may be impared. Imparment 13 assessed by measuring the future cash flows of the group of CGUS to which the goodwill relates,
at the levet at which this s monitored by manzgemant. Where the future discounted cash flows or recoverable amount is less than
the carrying value of goodwill, an impairment charge s recognised in the income statement.

On dsposal of subsidiary undertakings and businesses, the relevant goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss
on disposal.
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1 Accounting policies continued
I) Intangible assets
Acquisition intangibles

Acquisition intangibles camprise brand names and customer relatonships purchased as part of acquisitions of busingsses and are
capitalised and amortisad over therr useful econamic lives on a straight-line basis. These mtangible assets are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and, where appropriate. provision for impairment in valué or estimated loss on disposal.,

Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of asseis on a straight-line basis as follaws:

Brands 7% — 13.3% per annum

Customaer relationships 13 3% per annum

This amertisation 1s included N the income statement as an administratve expense and, as further described in note A5 on page 221
of the glossary, this is recognised as an adjusting rem.

Software and licences

Software and licences include costs incurred 1o acquire the assets as well as internal infrastructure and design costs incurred In the
development of software in order to bring tha assets into use.

Internally genérated software 1s recognised as an intangible asset only 1t can be separately identiied. 1t 15 prebable that the asset
wilk generate future econamic benefits which exceed one year, and the development cast can be measured reliably. Where these
conditions are not met. development expenditure 13 recognised as an expense in the year in which s incurred. Costs associated
with rmaintaining computer software are recogmsed as an expense as ircurred unless they increase the future economic benefits of
the asset. in which case they are caprtalised.

The expenditure capitalised Includes the cost of inatenals, direct labour and an appropnate proportion of overheads. Subsequent
expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specfic asset to which it relates.

Software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and, where appropriate. provision for impairment in vatue or estimated
loss on disposal. Amaortisation 1s provided to write off the cost of assets on & straight-ine basis between three and ten years, and
is recorded in administrative expenses.

Intangitle assets are assessed on an ongoing basis 1o determnine whether circumstances exist that could lead 1o the conclusion

that the net book valug 15 not supportable. Where assets are 1o be taken out of use, an -mpairment charge is levied. Where the
intangible assets form part of a separate CGU. such as a store or business unit, and business ndicators exst which could lead to
the conclusions that the net book value is not supportabile, the recoverable amount of the CGLU s determined by calcutating its value
N use. The value in use 15 calculated by applying dscounted cash flow modelling 1o management’s prajection of future profitability
and any mparment 18 determined by comparng the net bock value with the value in use.

m) Property, plant and equipment
Property. piant and equipment are stated at cost less accumuiated depreciation and any accumulated mparment Iosses.

Wit the exception of land, depreciation is provided 10 write off the cost of the assets over their expacted useful ives from the date
the asset was brought into use or capable of beng used on a straight-ine basis.

Rates appled to dfferent classes of property, piant and equiprment are as follows:

Land and buildings 1772 — 4% per annum

Fixlures, fitlings and equipmeant 105 — 33.3%% per annum

Property, plant and eguipment are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine whether circumstarces exist that could 'ead to the
conclusior that the net book value 1s not supportable. Where assets are 10 be taken out of use, an iImpairment charge is levied.
Where the property. plant and equipment form part of a separate CGU, such as a store. and bhusiness nd:cators exigt which could
'ead 1o the conclusions that the net hook value is not supportabie, the recoverable amount of the CGU 1s determmined by caloulating
its value N use. The valug In use s calculated by applyirg discourted cash flow meodeling 10 management's projection of future
orofitabity and any impairment 1s deermined by companng the net book value win the value nuse.
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1 Accounting policies continued
n} Inventories

Inventores are stated at the lower of cast and net realisabie value, and on a waighted average cost basis. Cost compriges drect
purchase cost and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventones to their present iocation and condition
less any attrbutable discounts anda bonuses receved from suppliers in respect of that nventory, Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling price, less further costs expected to be ncurred o disposal. Provision is made for obsolete, slow moving

or defective items where appropriate.

Certain purchases of inventones may be subject 1o cash flow hedges to address foreign exchange nsk. Wheare this is the case a
basis adjusiment i made; the inital cost of hedged mventory 1$ adjusted by the associated gain or loss transferred from the cash
flow hedge reserve,

0) Non-derivative financial assets

Financial assets are recognised in the Group's balance sheet when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
investment. The Group's financiat assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, receivables which involve a contractual nght to
receive cash from externat parties, and financial assets designated as at fair value through other comprehiensive income (FVTOGI).
Financial assets comprise all items showrn in notes 12, 13, 15 and 16 with the exception of prepayments and contract assets.

When the Group recagnises a financal asset. it classdies it in accordance with IFRS @ depending on the Group's intertion with
regard to the collection, or sale, of contractual cash flows and whether the financial asset’s casn flows relate solely fo the payment
of principal and interest on principal outstanding. All of the Group's assels measured at amortised cost are subject to impairments
driven by the expected credit Ioss (ECL) model as further stpulated in notes 15 and 26,

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows expire or the Group has trangferred the financial
asset in a way that gualifies for derecognition in accordance with IFRS 9.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initally measured at their transacton price. Where there is a significant financing component, trade and

other receivables are discounted at contract Inception using a discount rate that is at an arm'’s length basis and such that would

be reflected in a separate financing transact:on between the Group and the customer. Other receivables are initially measured at far
value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset. Subsequently, rade and
other recevables are measured at amortised cost.

Investment in listed shares

The Group elected to classify nvestments in listed shares as FYTQCI, recognising the movement in snvestment’s fair value in
other comprehensive Income. These weare long-term equity investments that were not held for frading, but for long-term strategic
purposes, the Group therefore considered this classificaton to be more relevant.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as held at amortised cost, comprising cash at bank and in hand, bank overdrafts and shert
term highly iquid deposits which are subject 1o an insignificant nisk of changes in value. Bank everdrafts, which form part of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement, are shown under current lizbilities.

Cash and cash equivalents include restricted cash which predominantly comprises funds held by the Group's insurance businesses
o cover regulatory reserve reguirgments.

p) Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group's financial labiies are those wivch involve a contractual obligation 1o delver cash to external parties at a future date.
Financial liahilities comprise all tems shown in notes 17 to 20, Financial liabilties are recognised in the Group's balance sheet
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial liabilities (or a part of a financial liabiity)
are derscognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged. cancelled or expires. In the event that the terms in
which the Group are contractually obhged are substantially modified, the financial liatility to which it relates 15 derecognised and
subsequently re-recognised on the modfied terms.

Where the Group has the right and intention to offset in refation o financial assets and liablities under 1AS 32, these are presented
on a net basis. See note 26 for a description of the financial assets and labilities presented on a net basis.
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1 Accounting policies continued
p} Non-derivative financial liabilities continued
Borrowings

Borrowings in the Group’s balance sheet represent bank loans drawn under committed and uncommitted facilities. Borrowings are
initally recorded at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Transachon fees such as bank fees and legal costs associated with
the securing of financing are caprtalised and amcrtsed througn the Income statement over the term of the relevant facility. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in the Income statement in the period in which they are incurred

Subseguent to initial recogrition, borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value
being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Contingent consideration

On initial recognition. contingent consideration is measured at fair value using the income approach. Contingent consideration that
does not qualfy as a measurement period adiustment is subsequently remeasured to far value at each reporting date with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

q) Denivative financial instruments and hedging activity

The Group uses dernvatives to manage Its expasures to fluctuating interest and foraign exchange rates. These instruments are nitially
recognised at fair value on the date the contract is entered nto and are subsequent'y remeasured 1o far value at each prevailing
balance sheet date and are recorded within assets or liabitties as appropriate. The treatment of the resulting gain or ioss depends
on whether the denvative is designated as a hedaing instrument and If so. the nature of the item being hedged. Derivatives that
qualify for hedge accounting are treated as a hedge of a highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedge) in the case of foreign
exchange hedaing. and a hedge of the exposure ansing from changes in the cash fows of a financial liabiity due to mterest rate nsk
on a floating rate debt instrument in the case of interest rate hedging.

Cash flow hedge accounting

Atinception the relationghip between the hedging nstrumert and the hedged iten :s documented. as well as an assessment of
the effectiveness of the derivative nstrument used in the hedging transaction in offsetting changes in the cash flow of the hedged
item. This effectivensss assessment 15 repeated on an ongong basis durng the life of the hedging instrument 10 ensure that the
instrument remans an effective hedge of the transaction.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value is recognised in other comprehensve income and accurmnulated in the cash flow
hedge reserve. Any gain or loss relating o the ineffactive portion is recognised immediately in the income statement within finance
costs. Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income and accurnulated in the cash flow hedge reserve are recycled to the
income statement, in the same line as the recognised hedged itern, i the period when the hedged tem will affect profit or loss. If
the hedging mstrument expires cr 1s sold, or no longer meets the criteria for bedge accounting, any cumulative gain or 1085 existing

in other comprehensive income at that time remains in other comprehensive incorme and is recognised when the forecast transaction
s ultimately recogrised in the income statement, If the forecast transaction 18 no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or
loss N other comprehensive Income s immediately transferred to the income statement and recognised within finance costs.

Wherg hedged forecast transactions result in the recogn-uion of a ron-financiat asset or habilty. the gains and losses previously
recogrised and accumulated in the cash fiow hedge resenve are subsequently removed and inCiuded in the imbal cost of the
ron-financial asset or lability. Such ransfers will not affect other comprehensive sncome.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Dernvatives that do not qualfy for hedge accounting are classified at far value tnrough profit or loss. All changes in far vaiue of dervative
nstruments that do not gualfy for hedge accounting are recogrised immediately in the income statermert within finance costs.
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1 Accounting policies continuad
r) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when a tegal or constructive obligation exists as a result of past events. it 1s prebable that an cutflow
of resources will be required 1o settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the cbligation.
Provisions are discaunted where the tme value of money is considered 10 be material.

Provisions for oncrous contracts are recognised whon the Group belisves that the unavorciable costs af meeting or exiting tha
contract exceed the economic benafits expected 1© be received under the contract. Where the Group has assets dedicated
to the fulfiment of a contract that cannot be redirected. an impairment logs 18 recognised before a separate provision for an
Onerous contract.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has developed a detalled formal plan for the restructuring, and has raised
a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implerment the plan or announcing its main
features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuning provision includes only the direct expenditures ansing from the
restructuning, which are those amounts that are both necessarty entalled by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing
activities of the entty.

All provisions are assessed by reference to the best avalable information at the balance sheet date.

s) Government grants

Gaovernment arants are not recognised until there 1s reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditons attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants arg recognised in profit or 10ss on a systematic basis over the perods in which the Group recognises expenses
as related costs which the grants are intended to compensate. Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expensas or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support 10 the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the perod in which they become receivable.

t) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Criticat accounting judgements and estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements are continually reviewed and
revised a8 necessary.

Whilst every effort1s made 10 ensure that such judgements and estimates are reasonabie, by their nature they are uncertain,
and as such changes may have a matena impact.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Defined benefit pension schemes

The surplus or deficit in the UK defined benefit pension scheme that is recognssed through the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and expense is subject to a number of assumptions and uncertainties. The calculated lisbilities of the
scheme are based on assumptions regarding inflation rates, discount rates and member longevity, Such assumptions are based
on actuarial advice and are benchmarked against similar pension schemes. Refer to note 22 for further information,

Revenue recognition - network commissions

For certain transactions with MNOs, the guantum of commission receivable on mobile phone connections depends on consumer
behaviour after the pont of sale. This leads to a judgement over the unit of account for measurement of the amounts arising from
the MNO and an estimate over the transaction price due to the vanability of revenue. A level of constraint is applied ta the revenue
recognition 1o ensure revenue is only recognised when it is highly probable there wili not be a significant reversal. By the nature

of this constraint, appled in ng with IFRS 15: ‘Revenug from Contracts with Customers’, it 1s possible that additional revenue waill
be recognised In future periods from performance obligations satisfied in prior penods. For example, the network commission

recenables are routinely ncreased each year I line with RPI. however as part of the variable revenue constraint, the Group does not
include this RPI estimate n the revenue recognised at point of sale. For the year ended 1 May 2021, the revenue recognised Includes

avalue of C6m (2018/20: £14m) relating o the application of RPI increases on end consumer contracts by the respactive MNOs
relating to performance obligations satisfied in prior periods. Ag a result of the revenue constraints appiied, it is reasonably possible
that additional revenue may be recognised in future penods from performance obligations satisfied in prior penods of between nil
and £15m.

Further details of the estimations invlved with network cormmissions can be found in note 1g and a reconciiation of the moverments

in the network commission receivailes within the year is included within note 15,

157



158

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report & Accounts 2020421
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1 Accounting policies continued

1) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty continued
Key sources of estimation uncertainly cont nuzd

lmpairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests whether gocdwill has suffered any imparment on an annual basis based on the value of the discounted future cash
flows allocated to the group of CGUs to which it is alocated. The methodology and key assumptions used in assessing the carrying
value of goodwill are set outin note 8. The key assumptions made for long term prorections, sales and costs growth rates, discourt
rate and the potentiat tong term impact of Covid-19 afil include an element of estimation that may give rise to a difference between
the value ascribed and the actual outcomes. Due to the current Cowd-19 global pandemic, there 1s an increased level of risk and
therefore a key scurce of estimation uncertainty with the sales and cost growth assumptions that drive the operating profit forecasts.
It 1s reasonably possible that a change in these assumptions could lead tc a material change in the carrying value of goodwili
specifically withun the LUK & Ireland Elsctricals operating segment, where £1.840m of goodwil 1s allccated. within the next financial
year. Further details of the key assumptions used and the sensitivity analysis in respect of the recoverable amount of UK & Ireland
Electricals goodwill1s disclosed n note 8.

Property, plant and eguiprment, nght-of-use assets, and other non-current assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit is not recoverable, A cash generating unitis
an individual store. The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. In calculabing the value
in use of each store CGU, order & collect sales tand associated costs) have been included, however e-commerce Sales that have
been deliverad directly 1o the consumer {rather than crdered 1n store or collected in store) are nat attnbuted 1o the stores. Due to the
current Cowvid-19 global pandemig, there is an inherent key assumption as to how customers will behave in the future, in particular
the proportion of customeérs that will shop in Stare or on'ine As aresult. there is an incréased level of nisk associated with the
forecast spiit of operating profit contribution generated by the stores and online sales channels. Therefore a key source of estimation
uncertanty associated with the sales and cost growth assumptions that drive the operating profit forecasts attributable directly to the
store portfolio has been identified. [t1s considered reasonably possible that a change in these operating profit forecast assumptions
could lead 1o a matenal change in the carrying value of assets specifically attnbuted to the UK stares. w.thin the next financial year. If
the operating profit generated by the store portfolo including arder & collect reduces by @ reasorably possible 20% from FY2021:22
onwards, this would result in a further impairment of store assets by £18m. The directors do not consider that the relevant change

in this assumption would have a conseguential effect on other key assumptons.

Critical accounting judgements
Taxation

The Group 1s subject to income taxes In a number of different jurisdictions and judgemeant s required in determining the appropnate
provision for transactions where the uitimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group reccgnises a provision when s probable
that an obligation to pay tax will ¢rystaliise as a result of a past event. The quantum of provigon recognised is based on the best
irformation available and has been assessed by in-house tax speciaiists, and where appropriate third-party taxaton and legal
advisers. and represents the Group's best estimate of the most ikely outcome. Where the final outcome of such matters differs
from the amounts intialiy recorded, any differencas will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the year to which such
determination is made. Tax laws that apply to the Group's businesses may be amended by the rélevant authcrities, for example as a
result of changes in fiscal circumstances or priort 3. Such potential amendments end ther application to the Group ara monitored
regularly and the requiremert for recognition of any hiabii tes for changes in existing prov sions) assessed where recessary.

The Group has recognised provisicns in relalion o uncertan tax positions of L85m at 1 May 2021 12018:20: £83m). Due 10 the
nature of the provisons recorded. the timing of the settlement of these amourts remains uncertan,

Furthermare. the Group 1s currently cooperating witn HMRC in relatan to open tax enguines ansing from pre-marger legacy
corporate transactions in the Carphore Warehouse Group. Ore of the undeslying pre-merger transact-ons under enguiry is
considersed to have a "more likely thar not” chance of resulting in settement. The Group therefore determined. due 10 this leve of
rigk, that a growsion was appropriate and this was racognised in the 218,13 financial statements. Thig enauiry 18 <l open and the
treatment as a prevision contnues 1o be deemed appropriate. with £41m (2019:20: 239m: icompnsing beth the amourt of tax due
on settlement together with interest up fo 1 May 2021} included within the uncertain tax provisicns balance expla.ned above as at

1 May 2021. This enguiry 1s heked to ancther pre-merger tax r-sk that has a 'mare lxaly than not’ cnance of resulting i settlement
and has therafore been fully prowided for at £17m 2019:26: £17my icompnsing both the amount of tax due togethar with interest;
where discLssions with HMRC arg held in abeyance perding finalisaton of the cnginal enguiry This provision 1s incl.ded within te
Lncertain tax prowsiors Da'ance exp'aned above as at 1 May 2021,
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1 Accounting policies continued
1) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty continued
Gritical accounting judgements contbinuerd

in addition. the Group has a further open tax enguiry arising from a separate pre-merger legacy corporate transaction. Based on
the strength of third-party iegal advice it is considered ‘more tkely than not™ that this enguiry will not result i an economic outflow
to the Group and therefare no provicion has been mads. The potential range of tax exposures relating to this enquiry 1s estimated 1o
be approximately £nil — ©214m excluding interest and penalties. Interest on the upper end of the range 15 approximately 58m up 1o
1 May 2021, Penalties could range from nil to 30% of the principal amount of any tax. This potential outflow has been disclosed as
a contingent labiity within note 33.

u) Recent accounting developments

In the current year. the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRS Standards and Interpretations issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are effective for the financial year beginning 3 May 2020. Their adopton has
not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amaunts reporied in these financial staterments. The Group has considered
the following standards whose impact 1s not deemed to be material:

s« Amendments to IFRS 9 "Financiat Instruments’, 1IAS 39: *Financial Instruments; Recognition and Measurement” and IFRS 7:
‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures' on Phase 1 of interest rate benchmark reform

s Amendments to JAS 1 and 1AS 8 Defimition of matenal

+  Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a business

* Conceptual Framework Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

+  Amendment to IFRS 18 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions.

Certain other new accounting standards, amendments to existing accounting standards and interpretations which are in issue
but not yet effective, either do not apply to the Group or are not expected 1o have any material impact on the Group's net results
or net assets:

s |FRS 17: 'Insurance Contracts’

* IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (amendments) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

« Armendments 10 IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

«  Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

* Amendments 1o IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use

s Amendments to |AS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a Contract

* Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle: Amendments 1o IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Imternational Financial
Reporting Standards. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases, and 1AS 41 Agriculture

¢  Amendments to IFRS 9: "Financial Instruments’. 1AS 39: *Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, IFRS 7: ‘Financial
fnstruments: Disclosures’, IFRS 4: 'Insurance Contracts’ and IFRS 16; *Leases’ on Phase 2 of interest rate benchmark reform.

2 Segmental analysis

The Group's operating segments reflect the segments routinely reviewed by the CODM and which are used to manage performance
and aliocate resources. This information is predominantly based on geographical areas which are either managed separately or have
simtar trading characteristics such that they can be aggregated together into one segment.

The Group's operating and reportable segments have therefore been identified as follows:

+ UK &lreland Electricals comprises the operations of Currys PCWorld and the Dixons Travel business
* UK & Ireland Mobile comprises the Carphone Warehouse, D Mobile and BZB operations

« Nordics operates in Norway, Sweden, Finland, Denmark and Iceland

«  Greece, consisting of our ongoing operatons in Greece.

UK & Ireland Electricals, UK & Ireland Mohile, Nordics and Greece are involved in the sale of consumer electronics and mobile
technology products and services. primarily through stores or online channgls.

Transactions between segments are on an arm's length basis.
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2 Segmental analysis continued

in accordance with IFRS 5, discontinued opgrations are disclosed separately as a single amount within the Group's consolidated
income staterment after prafit after tax for continuing operatons. Biscontinued operations are therefore excluded from the segmental
analysis. Further information on the Group's cperations classifed as discontinued is outhned in note 25,

a) Segmental results

Year ended 1 May 2021
UK &
Ireland UK & Ireland
Electricals Maobile Nordics Greece Eliminations Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Extornal revenua 4,921 721 4,186 516 - 10,344
Intfer-segmental revenue 66 128 - - {194) -
Total revenue 4,987 84S 4,186 516 (194) 10,344
Profit / {loss) before interest and tax 78 (89) 139 19 - 147
Year ended 2 May 2020
UK &
Ireland UK & lreland

Electricals Mobile Nordics Greece Eliminations Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Exiernal revenue 4,538 1,089 3.573 470 - 070
Inter-segmental revenus 86 G8 - - (184) -
Totai revenue A.624 1.687 3.573 470 (184) 10,170
Profit / (loss) before interest and tax e (282 15 20 - 28]
Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
UK & Irefand Electricals 78 114
UK & Ireland Mobile 89) (282}
Nordics 139 15
Grecoe 19 20
Profit / {loss) before interest and tax 147 128
FInance Income 6 10
Finance cnsts (120) 122)
Profit / (loss) before tax 33 114G

No individual customer represented more than 10% of the Group's revenue withan the current or preceding pencd.
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b) Geographical information

Revenues are allocated to countries according to the entity's country of domicile. Revenue by destination 1s not matenaily different to
that shown by domicile. Non-current assets exclude financial iInstruments and deferred tax assets.

GOVERNANCE

Year ended 1 May 2021
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Year ended 2 May 2020

UK Norway Sweden Other Total UK Norway Other Total
£m €m £m £m £m £m £m £m m
Revenue 5,352 1,269 1,375 2,348 10,344 5.865 1,119 2,065 10170
Non-current
assets 2,886 581 461 684 4,612 3184 519 729 4.885
Capital
expenditure 60 36 7 19 122 11 43 24 191
3 Revenue and profit / (loss) before interest and faxation
Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Revenue 10,344 10170
Cost of sales (8,592) 18.318)
Gross profit 1,752 1.6562
Operating expenses {1,605) {1.880)
Profit / {loss) before interest and tax 147 28)

The Group's disaggregated revenues recognised under ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers” in accordance with IFRS 15
relates to the following operating segments and revenue strearms:

Year ended T May 2021

UK & Ireland UK & Ireland
Electricals Mobile Nordics Greece Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Sale of goods 4,561 190 3,797 491 9,039
Commission revenue 6 463 252 1 722
Suppart services revenue 260 - 60 i7 337
Other services revenue 89 68 77 7 241
Other revenue 5 - - - 5
Total revenue 4,921 721 4,186 516 10,344
Year ended 2 May 2020

UK & Ireland UK & Ireland
Electricals Mobile Nordics Greece Total
fm £m £m £m £m
Sale of goods 4147 397 3.218 446 8,208
COmImiSSIan rovenus o 1.080 268 1 1,354
SuppoM services roventse 285 - 30 17 332
Other services revenue a7 102 57 5] 262
Other revenue 4 - - - 4

Total revenue 4,538 1,589 3.573 470 10‘1?0—

Revenue from support services refates predominantly 1o customer support agreements, while other services revenue comprises
delvery and mstallation, product repars and product support.
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3 Revenue and profit / (loss) before interest and taxation continued
Profit / {foss) before interest and taxation for continuing operations is stated after charging / (creditg) the following:

Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Depreciatian of praperty, plant and equipment 79 81
Imparment of property, plant and cquipmernt 6 5
Depreciation of right-of-usc assets 200 217
Impairment of right-of-use assets 15 a0
Amartisation of acqusition infangibles 26 25
Impainment of acquisiion inlangibles 8 -
Amartisation of other ntangibles 57 44
Impaurment of othar intangibles 47 3
Impairment of inventary 80 92
Net impairment on financial asscts (see ncte 19) - 11
Caost of inventory recognised as an expensc 8,175 7789
Cash ow hedge amounts reclassitiod ard reportoct m inconio statement it 12
Government grant ncome 6) 120)
Net foreign exchange gains {?) [2)
Share-based payments expense 21 23
Other employee costs (see note 4) 1,054 1,400
Rostractunng costs’ 54 56
Other exceptional incorme” {31y -
Regulatory (income) © costs” {7 30

B wetr g costs, of g excepd o0& noome ant e ooy nee e costs e fucther domalea w thim mote AL of e g

Auditor's remuneration compnses the following:

Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Fess payable to the Compatw's auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 01 02

Fees payatle to the Gompany™s auditor and its asscolates for tner audit of the Company's subsiddanes 1.5 13

Total audit fees 1.6 1.5
Audit-related assurance servicss

Revicw of inter:m statenmient .2 03

Other assurance services 0.2 G

Total audt and audit-related assurance services - 7 2.0 19

Tax COMQIANCEe SENICes 01 [oR|

Total audit and non-aurit fees 21 2u
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4 Employee costs and share-based payments
a) Employee costs
The aggregate remuneration recognised in the Income statement for continuing operations is as follows:

Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Salaries and performance bonuses 901 344
Socil securty costs 19 17
Other pension cests 34 34
1,054 1100
Share-based payrnents 21 23
1,075 1123

The average number of employeas for continuing cperations is:
Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
number number
UK & Ireland Electricals 18,591 20,908
UK & Iraland Moo 4,434 8.580
MNordics 10,399 1113
Greece 2,663 2803
36,087 42,209

Compensation earmead by key management, comprising the Board of Directors and senior Executives, 15 as follows:

Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Short-term employee benefits 10 51
Share-based payments 4 3
14 9

Further information about indiwdual directors' remuneration, share interests, share options. pensions and other entitlements, which
form part of these financial statements, is providad in the Remuneration Report.
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4 Employee costs and share-based payments continued
h) Share-based payments
i} Share option schemes

The Group offers discretionary awards of nil-priced options under the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) to senior employees.
Awards are grantad annually and will usually vest after three vears subject to continued service. Some awards are also subject

to the achievement of performance conditions.

For awards granted during the years ended 27 Apni 2018 and 2 May 2020, awards granted to Executive Directors and key
management are subject to performance condtions. For awards issued o other senior management. awards are not subject
to performance conditions. For awards granted dunng the year ended 1 May 2021, awards issued to other senior management

are also subject to performance conditions.

For awards granted during the year ended 27 Aprl 2018, performance conditons arg based on a combination of relative TSR
performance aganst the constituents of the FTSE 51-150 at the beginning of the perfarmance period and cumulative free cash flow.
For awards granted durng the years ended 2 May 2020 and 1 May 2021, performance conditions are based on a combination

of relative TSR performance against a bespoke comparator group of 22 European Speacial Line Retalers and other comparable

cormparies and cumulative free cash flow,

In February 2019, the Group launched the Colieague Shareholder Award which granted every permanent colleague with 12 months
service at least £1,000 of options which will vest after three years These awards are not subject to performance conditions.

The following tabile summarises the number and waighted average exercise price (WAER) of share options for these schemes:

Year ended 1 May 2021 Year ended 2 May 2020

Number WAEP Number WAEP

m £ m £

Quistanding at the beginning of the period 63 - 56 -
Granted durig the period 32 - 26 -
Forfeited during the period {12) - 16} -
Exercised durng the perod (5) - ) -
Outstanding at the end of the penod 78 - 63 -
Exercisable at the end of the penod - - - B
Year ended Year ended

1 May 2May

2021 2020

Welighted average rmarket price of options exercised in the period £1.01 £1.08
Weighted average romaning contractua! life of awards oulstancing 8.5yrs B.3yrs

Exercise pnce for ophons outstanding

£nil il
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h) Share-based payments continued
i) SAYE scheme

INVESTOR INFORMATION

The Group has SAYE schemes which allow participants to save up to £500 per month for either three or five years. At the end
of the savings period. participants can purchase shares in the Company based on a discounted share price determined at the

commencement of the scheme.

The following table summarises the number and WAEP of share options for these schemes:

Year ended 1 May 2021

Year ended 2 May 2020

Number WAEP Number WAEP

m £ m £

Outstanding at the begimning of the penod 15 119 12 190
Granted during the period 14 0.67 14 0.97
Exercised during the penod - 0.86 - 0.47
Forfeted during penod (10} 1.16 (11 1.71
Outstanding at the end of the pariod 19 0.82 15 119
Excrosable &t the end of the penod 1 1.53 1 1.88
Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

20 2020

Weighted average market price of options exercised in the peniod £1.36 077
Weanghted average remaining contractual ho of awards outstanding 2.7 yrs 2.7 yrs
Range of exercise prices fur options outslanding £0.67 ~£3.77 U097 -L377

iiiy Fair value model

The farr value of options was estmated at the date of grant using & Monte Carlo model. The model combines the market price of
a share at the date of grant with the probability of mesting performance criteria, based on the histonical performance of the Group.

The weighted average farr value of options granted during the period was £0.56 12015/20: £0.75). The following table Ists the inputs

to the model:

Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

Exercise price £nil - £0.67 onit— 097
Dividend yield 0% - 3.8% (0% - 5.7%
Histoncal and expected volatibly 41% 3186 - 37%
Expecled option life 4-10yrs 4 =10yrs
Weighted average share pnce £0.91 €1.24

The expected volatility reflects the assurmption that the historical volatiity 1s indicative of future trends.

iv) Charge to the income statement and entries in reserves

During the year ended 1 May 2021. the Group recognised a non-cash accounting charge to profit and loss of £21m 12019/20: £23m)

in respect of equity ssttled share-based payments, with a corresponding credit through reserves.
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4 Employee costs and share-based payments continued

c} Employee Benefit Trust (‘EBT’)

1 May 2021 2 May 2020
Market Nominal Market Nominal
value value Number value value Number
£m fm m £m £m m
Investment in own shares 28 - 20.5 8 - 10.1
Mexamum numibar of shares hald during the period 28 - 20.5 12 - 04

The number of shares held by the EBT, which are shown in the table above, remain held for potential awards under outstanding
plans. The costs of administering the EBT are charged to the income statement in the year 1o which they relate. Invastment in own
shares are recorded at cost and are recognised directly in eguity within other reserves.

The EBT acquired 4.1m of the Company's shares dunng the year ended 1 May 2021 at nominal value and 11.6m via market

purchases for cash consideration of £13.2m. For the comparative penod 2.1m shares were acquired at nominal value and 9.8m

via market purchases for £11.8m.

The EBT has waived rights 1o recerve dividends and agrees to abstain from exercisirg their right to vote. The shares have not been
allocated to specific schemes as further disclosed n the Directors” Report. At 1 May 2021, the EBT held 1.8% [2020: 0.9%) of the

1ssued share caprtal of the Company.

5 Net finance costs

Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Unwind of discounts on frade and other receivables 6 10

Finance income N 6 10

interest on bank overdrafts, inans and borrowings 8) 115)

Interest expense on lease liabilities (77) {80)

Net interest on defined benetil pension obligations 8 {14)

Arnrtisation of facility fees” (1) (2

Other interest expense (16) (11

Finance costs (120) 122)

Total net finance costs (114) M12)
el SUET RS el o U 0L 1AS BEUE GRTLE 0 du Lal

Altfinance costs in the above table represent nierest costs of inancial labilties ana assets, other than amertisation of facility fees which
represent non-financ:al assets and net interest on detined benefit pension obhgations which represent the ret cefined benefit labilites.
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6 Tax
a} Tax expense
The corporation 1ax charge compnses:

Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Current tax
UK corporation tax at 19% (20104200 192) 7 G
Overseas tax 36 24
43 33
Adjustments made N respect of prior years®,
UK corporation tax (12) 9
Overssas tax (1) 1
(13) (4}
Total current tax 30 29
Deferred tax
UK tax 5 13
Overseas tax (6) 3
U] -
Adjustments in respect of prior years:
LI corporation tax 5 4
Chverseds tax {1 4
4 {8)
Tatal deferred tax 3 12
Total tax charge 33 21

Thns zfutae: o i rote Gk

Tax related 1o discontinued operations is included in the figures set out in note 25.

b} Reconciliation of standard to actual (effective) tax rate

The principal differences between the total tax charge shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate of UK
corporation tax o profit 7 {loss) before taxation are as follows:

Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Profit / (loss) before taxation 33 (140)

Tax at UK statutory rate of 1956 (2019:20: 195%) 6 127
erns attracting no tax relief or Hability 12 7
Movement in unprovided deferred tax 16 52
Eftect of change in stalutory tax rate 1 =
Differences in eifective overseas tax rates 6 3
INcrease m Provisions 1 N
Adjustments N respect of prior years — provisions {13) [17i
Adjustments in respect of prior years — ¢ihor 4 H
Total tax charge 33 21

v ltents 3 actr g no tex relie’ on atlty relate mamily 13 or-deduet bie depren 5

o oraymsntsn the UK ousmess

i Deferred] tax assets selatng prncislly "o taxosecsin the UK bus ncertarty O oer e G a 2o b utlres

Ll Preasior elea

tv Otner ad ustnien,
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6 Tax continued
¢) Deferred tax

Accelerated Retirement Losses Other
capital benefit carried temporary

allowances obligations forward differences Total

£m £m £m £m £m

At 27 Aprit 2019 139 a7 5 63 126

Taxation on IFRS 16 transtion adjustiment - - - 5] 6

Adjusted balance at 27 Apnl 2019 139 a7 5 69 132

Charged) / credied directly to income stalomeant 12) - 34 (13 a

Charged 1o eguity - {44y _ _ (A4}

At 2 May 2020 (51) 53 39 56 97

(Charged) » crodited directly to incoime staterment W] - (13} 1" 3)

Credited 1o eguily - 6 - - 6

At 1 May 2021 (52) 59 26 B7 100
Deferred tax comprises the following balances;

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m fm

Deferred tax assels 262 2549

Deterred tax liabilites {162) 162)

100 a7

Analysis of deferrad tax relating 1o items cradied 7 icharged) to equity In the pericd:

Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Defined benefit pansion schemes 6 144
1 (44

The Group has 1ota) unrecognised deferred tax assels relating o gross tax losses of £1,491m (2012200 £1.257n) of which £71.459m
relates to the UK 2019/20: £1.242m). €1.052m (2018/20: £1,052m) of these losses relate to carmed forward captal losses in the
legacy Dixons Group. The balance of the losses relates to carrisd forward trading 165ses, principally due to the losses realsed in the
Carphone Warehouse business in the UK in the current pencd and in the prior penod.

A deferred tax asset has not been recogrised in respect of the losses for the perod (£274m), otrer deductible lemporary differences
1C100m] and pension contributions (£170m) expected 1o reverse after the period of the Group's 5-year plan which is used 1o
determing the availatiity of future taxable profits,

There were no temoorary differences associated with non-distributab.e earmings of subsidianies for wihieh deferred tax iabiities had
not been recognised at the erd of the current penod or the prior penod.

The Group has a current tax credit of £7m (2015:20: £5my recogrisad thraugh equity in -elat on 0 pensions.

On 24 May 2021 the Finance Bill 2021 passed through &l stages in the House of Commons and became substantvely enacted.
which included a legislative change to increase the rate of corporation tax 10 25% witn effect from 1 Apnl 2023, As the Bill was not
substantively enacted at the ba'ance sheet date, its effects are not ircluded in these financial statements. However, itis Iikely that the
overall €¥ect of the change. had it been substanively enacted by the balance sheet date, would be to increase the deferred tax asset
to £120m.
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7 Earnings / (loss) per share
Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Total profit/ {loss)
Centinging onerations - 1161)
Discontinued operations 12 &
Total 12 {163
Million Million
Weighted average number of shares
Average shares o ssue 1,166 1182
Less average holding ty Group EBT {14) 15
For basic eamings 7 (loss) per share 1,152 1157
Dilutive: effect of share options and other incentive schemoes 42 25
For diluted earnings / (loss) per share 1,194 1182
Pence Pence
Basic earnings / (loss) per share
Total {continuing and discontinued operations) 1.0 {14.1)
Adijustment In respect of discontinued operations (1.0} 02
Continuing cperations - 13.9)
Diluted earnings / {loss) per share
Total icominumg and discontinued operations) 1.0 (141
Adjustment in rospect of discontinued operations 1.9 0.2
Contnuing operations - (13.9)

Basic and diluted earnings / {losses) per share are based on the profit / (loss) for the pariod attributable to equity shareholcers.
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8 Goodwill
Cost £m
As at 27 Apnl 20189 3,065
Foreign exchange (37)
As at 2 May 2020 3,028
Foreign Exchange 48
As at 1 May 2021 3,076
Accumulated impairment £m
As at 27 Apnl 2019 and 2 May 2020 (225)
Impairiment -
As at 1 May 2021 7 {225)
Carrying amount £m
As at 27 Apnl 2019 2,840
As at 2 May 2020 2,803
As at 1 May 2021 2,851
a) Garrying value of goodwill

The components of goodwilt comprise the following businesses:

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m m

UK & Irefand Electricals 1,840 1.840
Nordics 1,011 963
2,851 2.803

No imparment charge has been recognised over goodwill in the current or pricr penod.

b) Goodwill impairment testing
As required by IAS 36, goodwili is subject to annugl impairment reviews. These reviews are carmed out using the following criteria:

* businese gcquisitons generate an attributed amount of goodw!l;

* the manner in which these busingsses are run and managed -s used to determine the CGU grouping as defined in 1AS 36:
‘Imparment of Assets’;

« the recoveranle amount of each CGU Group 1s determned based o calculating its valee n use "VIU
= the VIU s caicuiated by applying discourted cash flow modeling to maragemsnt's own projections covering a five-year perod:

* cash flows beyond the five-year penod are extrapdlated usicg a lang-term growth rate equivalent to long-term forecasts of Gross
Domestic Product { GDP'! growth rates far the relevant market; and

s the VIU s then compared to the carrying amount in order to determine whether impairment has occurred.

The key assumptions Lsed in calculating valug ir use are:

*  management's projections:
* the growth rate beyond five years; and
* 1he pre-tax dscount rate.
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8 Goodwill continued
b) Goodwill impairment testing continuedi

The long term projections are based on Board approved budgets for 202122 together with the Board approved five-year strategic
plan. These projections have regard to the relative performance of competitors and knowledge of the current market together

with management’s views on the fulure ach:evable growth in market share and impact of the committed initiatives as wel as any
longer term impact of the Govid-19 pandemic. The cash flows which derive from these five-year projections include ongoing sapital
expenditure regured to develop and upgrade the store network in order to mantain and operate the businesses and to compete

in therr markets. In forming the five-year projections. management draws on past expenence as a measure 1o forecast future
performance.

Key assumptions used in determining the five-year projections comprise the growth in sales and costs over this period. The compound
annual growth rate in sales and costs can rise as well as fall year-on-year depending not only on the year five targets. but also on the
current financial year base. These targets, when combined, accordingly drive the resuiting profit margins and the profit in year five

of the projections which is in turn used to caloulate the terminal value in the VIU calculation. Histonical amounts for the businesses
under impairment review as well as from other parts of the Group are used to generate the values attnbuted 1o these assurmptions.

The value attributed to these assumptions for the most significant components of goodwill are as follows:

1 May 2021 2 May 2020
Compound Compound Growth Compound Compound
annual annual rate Pre-tax annual annual Growth rate Pre-tax
growth in growthin beyond five discount growth in growthin beyond five discount
sales costs years rate sales costs years rate
UK & Ireland Electricals (1.8)% 2.00% 1.4% B.7% 4.2 4.0% t.4% 785
Nordics 3.2% 3.1% 1.8% 7.8% 3% 31% 1.8% 7.6%;

Growth rates used were determined based on thrd-party long-term growih rate forecasts and are based on the GDP growth rate for
the terrtories In which the businesses operate. The pre-tax discount rates apphed 1o the forecast cash flows reflect current market
assessments of the ime valug of money and the risks specific to the CGUs.

Within the Group's UK & Ireland Electncals operating segment and the UK & Ireland Mobile operating segment there are corporate
assets that are not allocable to these separate groups of CGUs on a reasonable and censistent basis, Accorcingly, the Group tests
such assets for impairment by comparing the combined recoverable amount of the UK & lreland Electricals and UK & Ireland Mobile
group of CGUs with the combined carrying value of assets of these respective groups of CGUs including the corporate assets.

¢} Goodwill impairment sensitivity analysis

In ling with the assumptions noted ahove and highlighted in note 1t, the Group underteok an impairment review of the UK & ireland
Electricals group of CGUs, where £1,840m of goodwill is alocated. These impairment tests are prepared using the methodology
required by I1AS 36. The recoverable amount, based on valug in use, shows headroom of £801m above the carrying amount of UK
& treland Electnicals CGU. Within the value in use model growth in sales and growth In costs assumptions drive the operating profit
forecasts in ine with the Group's strategic plan. The key assumphon within the value in use model is therefore the operating profit
forecast in the strategic plan which is underpinned by the recovery from the impact of Covid-19 and the successiul delivery of a
number of key strategic nitiatives that are currently underway within the business.

In accordance with 1AS 36. the Group performed sensitivity analysis on the estimates of recoverable amounts and found that the
excess of recoverable amount over the carrying amount of the UK & lreland Electricals CGU would be reduced to il as aresult of a
reasonably possible change in the key assumption. The recoverable amount would equal the carrying value if operating profit were
reduced by 21% within the value in use modei, and then extrapalated for the remainder of the forecast pericd ncluding the period
beyond the strategic plan. The dirsctors do not consider that the relevant change in this assumption would have a conseguential
effect on other key agsumptions.

For the Nordics group of CGUs, where £1.011m of goodwill is allocated. the directors do not consider that any reasonably possible
changes to the key assumptions would reduce the recoverable amount 10 1ts carrying value.
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9 Intangible assets

Acquisition intangibles

Customer Software and
Brands relationships Sub-total licences Total
m £m fm £m £m
Balance at 3 May 2020 218 2 220 249 469
Additions - - - 84 84
Amortisation (24) (2) (26) (57} (83)
Impainner 8 - 8 (40 (55)
Disposals - - - m {1)
Foreign exchange 5 - 5 7 12
_Balance at 1 May 2021 19 - 191 235 428
Cost 372 73 445 802 1,247
Accumulated amortisation and imparrment losses (181) {73) (254) {567) {821)
Balance at 1 May 2021 191 - 191 235 426
Included in net book vaiue as at 1 May 2021
Assets i tho course of construction - - - 50 50
Acquisition intangibles
Customer Software and
Brands relationships Sub-total licences Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 28 April 2619 246 3 249 214 464
Adddihons - - -~ 20 Y0
Reclasslicaton fram property, plant and equiprment - - ~ 3 3
Amorhigation {24} (il 125) 144) 169)
Imparment - - - 1S5 i)
Forcign exchange {4 - & 16) 10)
Balance at 2 May 2020 218 2 220 249 469
Cost 367 73 140 2 1,152
Accumutacd amartigation and mpainient losses 1149 71 1220 {463 383
Balance at 2 May 2020 213 2 220 243 469
Included in net book value as at 2 May 2020
Assets 1N the course of construction - - - 5 5

Foliowing the unprecedented effects of the Cowd-18 pandemic and the enforced store closures throughout the year ended 1 May
2021, the Group accelerated the operationg! roll out of its long term strategic plan in moving fowards & full omnichannel offerng
Thig resulted in ar imparment charge of £47m being recognised over software development ¢osts and T réfated assets. wihin

the UK & Ireland Electricals operating segment. that coid not be repurposéd follewing the transition to cloud based solutons.

A further C8m impairment was recognised over aoquis.tion intangicles. that arose on the Dixons Retall Merger. following the decison

to close the Dixonsg Travel business.

Further informaton on the jmparments recognised n the year is disclosed in note AS,

Inthe year ended 2 May 2020, an impairment of £9m was recognised in the UK & Ireland Mobile operanng segment following the
announcement to c'ose the Carphone Warehouse standaleone stores within the Unnad Kingdom.
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9 Intangible assets continued
Individually materiat intangible assets

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Customer relationships and brands include intangible assets which are considerad individually material to the financial staterments.
The pnmary intangible assets. ther net book values and remaining amaortisation penods are as follows:

1 May 2021 2 May 2020
Remaining Remaining
Net book amortisation Net baok amortisation
value pericd value period
£m Years £m Years
Currys PCWorld 94 9 106 10
Elgiganten 43 9 47 10
Elkjop 31 g 31 10
Gigantti 22 g 25 10
10 Property, plant and equipment
Land and Fixtures, fittings and
buildings other equipment Total
£m £m £m
Balance at 3 May 2020 25 215 240
Additions 9 17 26
Depreciation (6) (73) {79)
Disposals - (2) (]
Impainment - {5) 5}
Foreign exchange - 4 4
Balance as at 1 May 2021 28 156 184
Cost 61 702 763
Accumulated depreciation (33) (546} {579
Balance as at 1 May 2021 28 156 184
Inciuded in net bock value as at 1 May 2021
Assets in the course of construction = 15 15
Land and Fixtures, fittings and
buildings other equipment Total
£m £m £m
Balance at 28 April 2019 &9 207 276
Adjustment an initiad application of IFRS 167 141) - {41
Additions 7 91 98
Reclassification 1o intangible assets - 1)) (3
Depreciation 17) 174) 181)
Disposals 2 12
Impanment 13} {2} {3)
Fureign exchange - 12 @)
Balance as at 2 May 2020 25 215 240
Cost 52 593 745
Accumulated depreciation 27) {478) {505)
Balance as at 2 May 2020 25 215 240
Included in net book value as at 2 May 2020
Assets i the course of construction - 35 36

< for the: frst e
Tom pravetty plant ard equ

MEIR e
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11 Right-of-use assets

1 May 2 May
2021 2620
£m £m
Land and buldings 1,026 1.084
Vehicles, equipment and Gther 25 30
1,051 1114
Adaitions to the nght-of-use assets for the period werg £337m (2019/20: £228m).
The total cash cutflow for leases amounts to £310m (2018¢20: £300m).
1 May 2 May
20 2020
Amounts recognised in profit and loss £m £m
Depraciation expense an nght-of-use assets:
Land an buildings 191 207
Vericles, equinment dand other 9 10
Total depreciation onright-of-use assets i 200 217
Imparment of nght-of-use assets 15 50
Interest expense nn 1ease liabilites 77 80
Expense relating to short-term leases 10 21
Expense relatng to leases of low value assels 1 1
Expense relating to vanabie icase paynients not included in the measurement of the lease hability 5 18
Income from subleasing nght-of-use assets 3 2]

12 Lease receivables

Under IFRS 16. an ntermediate lessor accounts for the head lease and sublease as two separate contracts. The ntermediate lessor
is reguired to classify the sublease as a finance or cperating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset ansing from the head lease.

The Group's inance lease arrangements do not Include vanable paymenrts.

1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m

Netinvestment in the lease analysad as:
Recoverable after 12 manths 3 1
Reooverabie wethin 12 roonths 1 1
4 5

The Group applies the simplified model In accordance with iFRS @ to recognise ifet me expected credit losses on lease receivables.

The value of the expected credit 'oss on lease recenvables is immaterial.



STRATEGIC hEPOIIT GOVERNANCE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |NVE§TOH INFORMATION 175

12 Lease receivables continued

The Group is not exposed ta foreign currency nsk as a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in functional
CUrrency.

t May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Undiscounted amounts receivable under finance leases:
Year 1 1 1
Year 2 1 1
Year 3 1 1
Year 4 1 1
Year 5 1 1
Onwards - 2
Undiscounted amounts receivahle i 5 7
Less: unearned finance ncome 1) {2
Net investimeant in the lease 4 5
13 Interests in investments
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Financial assets desgnated as at FYTOC - 14

During the year ended 1 May 2021 the Group disposed of its equity investment in Unieuro S.p.A. an Itakan retailer of consumer
electronics and housenhold appliances listed on the Borsa ltaliana, for consideration of £18m.

At 2 May 2020, given a readily determinaple far value was available based on the market price of the Iisted shares. the investment
was valued at £10m.

These investments N equity instruments were not held for trading and instead were held for long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly.
the Group had elected 10 designate these nvestments in equity instruments as at FVTOC) with the movement in investment value
being recognised in ather comprehensive income. However, the investment was soid within the year as it no lenger aligned 1o the
Group's long-term strategic direction.

The farr valuation technigues used arg cutlined in note 26.
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14 Inventory

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Finished goods and goods for resale 1,178 970
15 Frade and other receivables

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Trade roceivables 347 396

Less expected credit loss alowances (21) 126

326 370

Contrdet assets 220 565

Prepayments 55 50

Other recorvablos 60 1Al

Accrued income 64 69

725 1,125

Nan-current 138 294

Currant 587 831

725 1125

The majority of trade and other recewvables are non-interest bearing. Non-current receivables mainly comprise comimission
receivable an sales, as described below. Where there is a significant financing compenent, trade and other receivables are
discounted at contract nception using a ciscount rate that s at an arm's length basis and which would be refected in a separate
fimancing transaction between the Group and the customer.

Included within other recenvatles s £3m of government grants recervalle (2019,20: £20m). This relates to compensation for expenses
already incurred by the Group that have been pledged by national governments in light of the Covid-18 pandemic. This s further
disclosed i note 30C.

As set outin the table below. adjustments are made in the trade recevables balance for expected credit loss allowances. Managemenrt
also consider the counter party nsk relating to ts accrued incame balance, which compnise amounts where the Group has fulfilled

115 performance okligations but not yet invaiced. pnmarity due from farge multi-naticnals and blue chip companies. As such. the
allowances made are not material.

1 May 2021 2 May 2020

Expected Expected
QGross trade credit loss Net trade Gross trade credit loss Net trade
receivabil alle 5 receivables receivables allowances receivables
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Agemny of grass trade recewvables and
expooled credit loss allowances:

Nat yet due 308 {1) 307 312 i3) 309

Past duc:

Under two monthg 13 {1) 12 35 b 34
Two o four months 5 (1) 4 13 12) 11
Over four monthg 2 {18) 3 36 20 16

39 (20) 19 a4 123 61

347 {21) 326 396G 126) 370
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15 Trade and other receivables continued
Moverrents in the expected credit loss allowances for trade receivables is as follows:

1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Opening balance {26) (17}
Charged 1o the income stalement (3) 12
Raceavables wntten off as inecovarabls 4 2
Amounts recavered during the year 3 1
Disposal of business 1 -
Closing balance {21) 26}
Further details with regards to trade receivables credit nsk are included in note 26.
Contract assets
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Insurance cormmission contract assets 13 19
Network comrssion contract assets 207 545
220 565

Tne Group recognises contract assets where the performance obligations have been met but the nght to consideration from the
customer is conditronal on something other than the passage of time. This occurs on both Insurance commission revenue and
network COMMmISSIon revenue as detaled in note 1d.

Upaon the :nitial recognition of revenus from contracts with customers. the Group considers the risk profile for amounts dug from
network and insurance customers based on historical experience and forward focking information in accordance with IFRS 15. Ag
such, credit nsk is fastored into the initial recognition of revenue, while contract assets are adjusted at each reparting date to reflect
the future expected value. Therefore, no further expected credit loss is recognised as it is included within the initial measurement
of the Group's contract assets. Further information s disclosed in note 26. while additional information on the measurement of
expected consideration 15 detailed below.

The significant changes in the contract asset balances within the year occurred within the network commission contract assets.
Further detail and a full reconciliation of movements within the financial year have therefore been prowded below.

Network commission contract assets and receivables

As described in note 1e. the revenue earned by the Group for the acquisition of consumers on behalf of third-party network
operators 15 subject to variable congsideration. Some congideration is paid by the MNOs at the time of conneaction with the remainder
paid over the duration of the consumer’s contractual relationship with the MNO which is usually between cne and five years. Whilst
the underlying contract with the consumer predominately constitutes a fixed monthiy value. variability anses due to future expected
pehaviour of such consumers after the pont of connection.

Under IFRS 15: ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers' the Group only recognisas revenue 1o the extent that it is highly probable
that there will not be a significant reversal in the future. Determining the amount of revenue 1o recognise 1s judgemental and subject
to a degree of estmation uncertainty in particular due 1o the nature of the variable revenue constraint applied in line with IFRS 15

as descnbed n note 1. In previous periods. the Group has estimated such revenue with a high level of accuracy. as evidenced

and regularly menitored by the level of cash the Group receives from MNOs in the periods subsequent 1o acquinng consurmers

on their behalf,

In determining the amount of revenue to recognise. the Group estimates the amount that 1t expects to receve In respect of each
consumer based on historical trends and anticipated changes in consumer behaviour. The Group also discussés and analyses
emarging behavioural trends with the respectve MNOs, considers external sources of industry and market analysis and models
the impagct of potential regulatory changes. if any are proposed.
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15 Trade and other receivables continued
Network commission contract assets and receivables continued

A discounted cash flow methodology is used to measure the expected consideration, by estimating all future cash fiows that

will be received from the MNG and discounting these based on the timing of receipt. The key inputs to the model are:
* revenue share percentage — the percentage of the consumer's spend {to the MNO} to which the Group is entitled:
s minimum contract period - the length of contract entered nto by the consumer:

« out-of-bundte spend - additional spend by the consumer measured as a percentage of total spend;

s consurer defaull rate — rate at which consumers disconnect from the MNO;

* gpend beyvond the initial contract pericd - penod of tmé the consumer remains connected to the MNG after the initial contract

term; and

s upgrade propensity —the percentage of consumers initially conrected by the Group estimated to be subsequently upgraded

by an MNO.

Having estimated the expecied consideration, the Group applies a constraint to reduce 1o a level where any future significant
reversal of revenue weuld be considered highty improbatle. Management makes a regular assessment of historical amounts and
market data to ensure that the amounts recagnised still meet the requirements of IFRS 15. In the current year ended 1 May 2021,
the net revaluation recognised from perfarmance ob'igations satsfied in previous periods was an increase of £3m (2018/20: L4Q)m,

2018/18: 2(3m).

Amounts recognised in the financial staterments in respect of such vanable consideration are summarised and reconciled from prior

year below:
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
Note £m £m
Gross network commission eceivable and contract asset: Openng balance il 1,005 1,291
Less: armounts recenvad N advance from MNOs (389) 1407
Net network commession recaivabie and contract asset” Opening batance {nj 616 97
Revenue recognised inrespect of current yoar sales 1iif) 388 Q%7
Revaluation of opening network comeissien contract asset fiv) 14 {47
Revenue reversed in respect of prior penod sales not praviously mcluded in the estimaton
of revenia recognised ) {11} 1)
Revenue recognised « reversed) in respect of prior penod sales 3 149)
Revenus reconrscd in the period 39 944
Cash recenved from network operagors Fei) (774) 11,139
Moverments dug 1o the effect of ascounting 6 10
Net network commmiss on receivable and contracl asset, closing balance vy 239 616
Comprising
Net network camimission recervable and cenlract assel In more an one year 100 259
MNet network cormmission receivable and contract asset in 1285 than one year 139 a57
239 6516
Less amount bibed fnetwork commission trade recenahlic) 1N 32) 17C0
Net network commission nontract asset 1%} 207 548
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15 Trade and other receivables continued
Network commission contract assets and receivables continued

vi.

Wil

viit.

Net of discounting for the time value of money. The unwind of this discounting 1s recognised as finance ncome in the relevant
pericd. The amount of related finance income within the year, as shown in the table above, was £6m (2018/20: £10m).

Payment terms with the MNOs are based on a mix of cash received upon connection and future payments as the MNQO receves
manthly instalments from end congumers over the lifo of the consumer contract. This balance shows the net amourits | e¢gvable
from the MNQOs. Further mformation is included below to explain the classification split of this balance between trade recevables
and contract assets.

Thes relates to revenue recognised from connections made in the current year. This revenue s recognised at pont of sale as
explaned within the accounting policies in note 1e. Thig figure includes in-year adustments 1o the carrying value of revenue
recognised (net of constraints) where the estimaled consideration has changed since point of recognition within the year.

The Group continues to monitor the evel of this revaluation as an indicator of estimation uncertainty in respect of previously
recognised variable consideration. The current year reflects a positive revaluation of the prior period contract asset and is what
the Group would expect as a resuit of the varable revenue constraint under IFRS 15. In the prior year the reversal of revenue was
related to a number of everts that were previously considered highly improbable in the recognition of vanable revenue. Thase
inciuded the closure of all standalone Carphone Warehouse stores in the UK, Covid-1€ assessment due to expected consurmer
behaviours, and Ofcom regulation changes. This revaluation of £14m (2019/20: £i47)m) discussed above is the figure that has
historicaiy been used by the Group 10 monitar the accuracy of assumptions made in previous penods and 1s excluded from
measuring the performance of the UK & Ireland Mobile segment in our alternative performance measures as explaned within
the glossary o the Annual Report. This amount is also presented as the Group has received feedback from certain slakeholders
that its separate presentation is helpful. in order to present more cléarly the underlying performance in year

These amounts were not previously recognised as revenue due to the application of the constraint (described above) and mclude
a value of L8m (2019/20: C14m) relating to the uplift in the profit share the Group receives associated with RPl on comimission
recenvable where the performance obligations were satisfied in prior periods. These amounts also include other out of period
amounts settied with MNOs in respect of prior peniod transactions of C117im (2019/20: £(16im). As the Group does not recognise
an estimate of these amounts within revenug at the pont of sale, they are recognised in revenue within each financial year once
the amounts for that period are known. Therefore, the RPI uplft and the other out of penod amounts settled with MNOs are
ircluded within the Group's alternative performance measures as explained within the glossary to the Annual Report.

Cash received in the period. This includes the cash settliement of £183m received from EE on 1 Apnl 2021 to settle the
outstanding EE network debtor recevable. The majonty of this payment was previously expected over the course of 2021/22
and 2022/23.

Gross network recevable and contract asset balance of £405m, offset by amounts receved in advance of £1866m. This is in line
with the explanation in (i) above.

Amounts that have been nvoiced to the network operators and are no longer conditional on something other than the passage
of trme. These amounts are therefore classified as trade recevables.

This is the contract asset element of the network commugsions receivable. This s vanable based on future consumer behaviour
and hence conditional on something other than the passage of time therefore as per IFRS 15 thus 1s classified as a contract asset.

16 Gash and cash equivalents

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m em

Cash at bank and on deposit 178 660

Cash at bank and on deposit Incluges short-term bank deposits which are avalilable on demand. Within cash and cash eguivalents,
£35m {2019/20: £32m) s restncted and predominantly comprises funds held by the Group’s insurance businesses to cover regulatory
reserve requirements. These funds are not available to offset the Group's borrowings.
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17 Trade and other payables

1 May 2021 2 May 2020

Current Non-current Current Non-current

£m £m £m £m

Trade payables 1,420 - 1,249 -
Other taxes and social secunty 236 - 363 -
Other creditors 1 - 2 -
Contract kabilities 203 g2 184 02
Accruals 373 5 219 39
2,233 97 2.7 131

The carrying amount of trade and other payables approxsimates their fair value.

Included within trade and ather payables for the prier year ended 2 May 2020 was £5Tm of amounts due where extended payment
terms had been agreed with the supplier using a suppher firancing facility. These payment terms are customary in the industry and
N ine wath credit terms offered by our other suppliers of similar progucts, These terms are made available and admnistered undear

arrangements batween the suppher and third-party banks selected by the supplier. No such facility was in use as at 1 May 2021,

Gontract liabilities
Movements in the contract ligbifities balance are as follows:

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Opening balance 276 272
Revenue recognised ni the period that was included n e opening batance (165) 147)
increase n contract labdties n the perod not yet recogniscet in revenue 184 15
Closing balance 295 276G

Contract lablities predominantly relate to the sale of customer support agreements. Revenue 1S recognised n full as each
performance abligation is satisfied under the contracts with the customer. Where consideration is received in advance of the
performance of the obligations beng satisfied, a contract liabilty is recognised. Dug to the cancellation optons and customer
refund clauses, contract terms have been assessed to either be manthly or a series of day 1o day contracts with revenue recogrised
raspectively in the month 1o which payment relates, or an a “straight-line’ basis. The reduction in the contract liability balance due 1o
amounts recognised as revenus within the year that werg ncluded in the balance at the start of the year have been more than offset
by new sales made and consideration received n advance of satisfying the performance obligasions.
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18 Contingent consideration

1 May 2021 2 May 2020

Current Non-current Current Non-current

£m £m £m £m

Contingent cansdoration 2 - 1 2
1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Opening balance 3 5
Setilements 1 (2)
Closing balance 2 3

Earn-out consideration of up to £2m s payable in cash 12019/20: £3m) and is contingent on the performance of the Epog kitchen
business aganst earnings growth targets in the penod following the balance sheet date. The fair value of contingent consideraton
arrangements has been estimated by applying the income approach. A change in growth assumptions used in the fair value
methadology could result in the amount of contingent consideration payable decreasing o L,

19 Loans and other borrowings

1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £fm
Current liabilities

Bank overdrafts 6 540
Loans and other borrowngs - 44
6 584

Non-current liabilities
Loans and other barrowings - 280
6 564

Committed facilities as at 1 May 2021

In April 2021, the Group refinanced its existing debt with two new Revolvwing Credit Facilities totalling £551m, which expire in April
2026. Al other faciities were cancelled as part of the refinancing. The Group's facilites available throughout the current and prior
vear are detailed below:

£200m Revolving Credit Facility

In Apnl 2021, the Group signed a £200m Revalving Credit Facility tBCF') wath @ number of relationship banks which expires in April
2025. The interest rale pavable for drawings under this facility 15 at a margin over risk free rates (or other applicable interest basis)

for the relevant currency and for the appropriate period. The actual margin applicable to any drawing depends on the fixed charges
cover rato calculated in respact of the most recent accounting perad. A non-utilisation fee 1s payable in respect of amounts avarlable
but undrawn under this facility and a utiisation fee is payable when aggregate drawings exceed certain ‘evels. This facility was
undrawn at 1 May 2021,

NOK 4,036m Revolving Credit Facility

In April 2021, the Group signed a NOK 4.036m (£351m1 RCF with a number of relationship banks which expires in Aprl 2025,
This 1s on broadly simdar terms to the £200m faciity. This facility was undrawn at 1 May 2021.
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19 Loans and other borrowings continued

Facilities previously available that have now lapsed or been cancelled

£800m Revolving Credit Facility

In October 2015, the Group signed a five-year £800m RCF with a number of relationship banks; this facility was extended in October
2016 and 2017 by an additional year and the facility was due to expire in October 2022. The interest rate payable for drawings under
this facility was at a margin over LIBOR {or other applicable interest basis) for the relevant currency and for the appropriate penod.
The actual margin applicable to any drawing dependead on the fixed charges cover ratio calculated in respect of the most recent
accounting period. A non-utilisation fee was payable in respect of amounts available but undrawn under this facikty and a utilisation
fee was payable when aggregate drawings exceeded certan levels. This facility was cancelied in April 2021. At 2 May 2020, the
Group had drawn down on this facility by £280m.

£250m Revolving Credit Facility

In October 2018, the Group signed a four-year £250m RCF with & group of retationship banks: this facility was on broadly sirnilar
terms to the CBOOm RCF; this facility was extended in February 2019 by an additonal two years and the faciity was due to exprre
in Octaber 2022, This faciity was cancelled in Apnl 2021, This faciity was undrawn at 2 May 2020 and was cancelled in Aprit 2021

£266m Revolving Credit Facility

In Apnl 2020, the Group sigred a one-year £266rm RCF 1o mitigate any potential impact of the Cowd-19 pandemic with a group of
re'ationship banks; thes facility was on broadly simar terms to the $800m and £250m RCF. The facility was due to expire in April
2021 and was cancelied in February 2021 with no amounrts having been drawn down.

€50m term loan

The Group had access to a £30m term loan with BBVA. The terms of this facility were broadly similar to the £8C0m and £25Cm
RCF and was fully drawn at 2 May 2020. This facility expired in October 2020.

Uncommitted facilities

The Group aiso has overdrafts and short-termn meney rmarket ines from UK and European banks dencminated in vanous currencies,
all of which are repayable on demand. Interest is charged at the market rates applicable in the countries concerned and these
taciities are used to assistin shortterm lguidity management, Total avalable facilites are £70m (203&/20: C57m.

All borrowings are unsecured.

20 Lease Liabilities

1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Analysed as:

Current 216 258
Nan-current 1,110 1186
1,326 1444

Total undiscounted future commiited payments due are as ‘cliows:
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m

Amounts due;

Year 1 271 308
Year 2 253 261
Year 3 227 237
Year 4 200 209
Year 5 162 173
Orward 534 5RO
1,647 1,781

The Group does not face a significant 1quidity rsk with regare 1o 1ts lease labilit:es, Lease kabites are monitcred winin the Group's
Treasury function.
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21 Provisions
1 May 2021 2 May 2020
Rearganisation Sales Property Other Total Reorganisation Sales Property Other  Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At beginning of period 39 7 64 40 150 16 7 93 30 151

Adjustenet on rtal
apphcation of IFRS 16 - - - - - - - 47} - 1171
Additions 54 10 21 5 0 a1 14 45 37 147
Released in the penod {6) - (22) (19) (47} - - - 5 {6
Utllisad! in the pericd (77) (11) {12) 9 (109) 28 13) 32 121) (94)
Foreign exchange - 1 - - 1 - ) - - (1}
At end of period 10 7 51 17 85 34 7 G4 40 150
Analysed as:

Current 10 5 34 58 30 5 31 39 114
Non-current - 17 27 - 2 33 1 36
10 7 51 17 85 39 7 64 40 150

Provigions held by the Group at the reporting date are detailed below while iInformation on the Group's provision recogrition and
measurement pohcies are further disclosed in note 1r.

Reorganisation

Reorganisation provisions of £8m relate to redundancy costs incurred following the announcement on 21 April 2021 that the Group
would be closing the Carphone Warehouse Ireland business while a further £2m has been provided for redundancy programmes
within central operations. Regrganisation provigions are only recogrised when a detalled formal plan 1s in place and it has been
communicated to those affected. As at 1 May 2021, all employees affected stll retained employee status and will be departing
between Jung — August 2021,

£6m of reorganisation provisions related 1o restructuring the legacy concession agreements were released following their
successful exit.

Sales

Sates provisions relate to ‘cash-back’ and similar promotions and product and service warranties. The anticipated costs of these
are assessed by reference 1o historical trends and any other information that 1s considered refevant. Management estimates the
related provision for future related claims based on historical nformation, as well as recent trends that might suggest that past cost
information might differ from future claims.

Preperty

Following the previously announced store closure programmes, the Group has a number of present obligations related to its property
portfolio that are explicitly excluded from the measurement of lease liabilities in accordance with IFRS 16. As such, the Group has
onerous contracts for unavoidable store closure costs including service fees. legal costs and dilapidations of £32m primarily relating
to the Currys PCWorld 3-in-1 programme and Carphone YWarehouse UK store closures at the reporting date.

Provisions for the costs descnbed above are only recognised where there is a definitive business decision to exit a izased property,
it is believed the unavoidable cost of meeting or exiting the obligations exceed the expected benefit 10 be received and after any
impairment being recorded gver right-of-use and store related assets in accordance with 1AS 36,

The amounts of future expenditures for store closure costs are reviewsd throughout the year and are based on readily available
information at the reporting date as well as management’s historical experience of similar transactions.
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21 Provisions continued
Property continued

Of the £32m refated to ciosure programmes announced in prior penods, utiisaton s to be incurred in conjunction with the profile of
the leases to which they relate. The longest lease will unwind over the next nine years. Where appropriate and in the interests of the
Group, management will proactively seek to ext any habiites early. Where there is a substantive expectation that the unavoidable
costs provided for will be reduced as a result of exil negotiations, the provision will be remeasured based on the best available
information and an amount released, as seen N the period.

As a resuit of the announcement to close the Carphone Warghouse lreland business. as disclosed above, additional property
provisions akin to those in the UK bave been recognised to the total of C6m. As with the Group's other onerous property related
contracts, utihsation is expected to be incurred n line with the lease lakilities, of which the longest will be over the next 15 years.

As further disclosed In note A5, management alsc made the dacision 1o close the Dixons Travel business during the year ended |
1 May 2021. The Group has calculated the least net unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under their property contracts
as being £13m. with £8m expected to be utilised within the following 12 months and £5m within 12 months thereafter.

Other

Other provisions predominantty relate to regulatory costs, data incident costs. and warranties in relation 1o discontinued operations.

In the vear ended 27 April 2019 the Group reported that «t was subject to a £28m fine mposed by the FCA following the conclusion
of an investigation into historical Geek Squad mobile phone insurance seling processes for a perod prior 10 June 2015. The Group
ran two valuntary customer redress programmes which led to the refund of £1.5m paid in the year ended 2 May 2020.

The Group subsequently receved claims from a number of customers who believe they were mis-sold Geek Squad potcies. Al
customer claims are carefully considerad by the Group on a case by case basis with the majority of claims received being invald
and no new claims having been received during the penod. Nevertheless, the valume and value of outstanding claims remains
uncertain with utiisation of the provision expectad to be incurred over the next two years as the Group continues to co-operate with
the relative aulhorities. Management astimates the related provision based on historical claims information and applying this agamst
any remaining potental clamants using an expected value approach. As at 1 May 2021, this particular provison had a carrying value
of C13m 1209/20: £25m). with a release of £8m recogn-sed in the income staterment during the pencd.

A further release was recognised during the vear as the Group successfully settled a historical warranty claim n relation 1o
aperations classified as discontinued. Further information can be found in note 25.

In determiring the amounts to be provided management have considered the utlisation profile and do not consider the time value
of money 1o be material.

22 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Ratirement benetit obligations — UK 482 550
- Nordics - _

482 550

The Group operates a defined benefit and a number of defined contnbution schemes. The principal scherme which operates in

the UK includes a funded final salary defined benefit secticn whose assets are held in a separate trustes administered fund. The
scheme 1s varued by a qualified actuary at least every three vears and contrdutions are assessed in accordance with the actuary’'s
advice. Since 1 September 2002, the defined beneft section of the scheme nas besn ciosed to new entrar ts and on 30 Apnl 2010
was closed to future accrual with automatic entry nto the defined contribution section being offered to those active members of the
defined benefit sectan at that tme. Membership of the defined contribution section 1s offered 'o eligble employees.

In the Nordics division. the Group operates small funded secured defined benefit pension schemes, which are also closed to new
artrants, with assets held by a Ife irsurance company as weil as an Unsecures pension arrangemert. I addition. cortrputions are
mauge 1o state pension schemes with defined benefit characteristics.

The defined benefit pension schemes expose the Group to actuanal nisks such &s longer than expected longevity of members, lower
than expected return on inuestments and Figher than expected riflabon. which may increase the labiltes or reduce the valus of
assets of the plars.
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22 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued
a) Defined contribution pension schemes

The pension charge in respect of defined contribution schemes was £34m (2012/20: £34m).

b) UK defined benefit pension scheme - actuarial valuation and assumptions

A full actuanal valuaton of the scheme was carried out as at 31 March 2012 and showed a shorifall of assets compared with
liatiitizs of TO40M. A recoveny plan’ based on Lhig valugtion was agreed with the Trustees such that contnputions in respect of the
scheme weare £47m for the 2020/21 financial year. rising to £78m per year from the 2021/22 financial year untl 2027/28, with afinal
payment of £52m in 2028/29.

The principal actuarial agsumptions as at 31 March 2019 were:

Rate per annum

Discount rate for accrued benefits — Equity portiolio 3.85%:
- Multi-asset credit portfalio 3.00%
- Matching portioho 150%
Rate of increase 1o pensions .00 - 3800
Inflation 3.40%
Tre discount rae s oased ona lngar de-nskirg imett the Bohomc s s A hEs
! 1o nateh g avsets 'such as 15 ana melt s of eyl yeans PO sahat b
OO rvested nomatthing assets anc mut fsce Lredit

At 31 March 2019, the market vaiue of the scheme’s investments wag £1.210m and, based on the above assumptions. the value of
the assets was sufficient to cover 5% of the bencfite accrued to members wath the lakilities amounting to £1,855m.

¢) UK Defined benefit pension scheme - IAS 19

The following summarises the components of net defined benefit expense recognised in the consolidated income staterment,

the funded status and amounts recognised in the consclidated balance sheet and other amounts recogrised in the staterment of
comprehensive Income. The methods set out I 1AS 19 are different from those used by the scheme actuaries in determining funding
arrangements,

(i) Principal assumptions adopted

The assumptions used in calculating the expenses and obligations are set by the directors after consultation with the independent
actuaries

1May 2 May
2021 2020

Rates per annum:
Discaunt rate 1.90% 1.60%,
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 7 deferred pensions (pre 4 post April 2006 acerual 3.20% / 2.20% 2.55% 7 1.95%
Inflation 3.20% 2.50%

The Group uses demographic assumptons underlying the formal actuarial valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2019, Post
retirement mortality has been assumed to follow the standard mortality tables *S3" All Pensioners tables published by the CMI,
basad on the expenencea of Self-Administered Pension Schemes (SAPS) with multipliers of 108% for males and 104% for females.
In adcition, an allowance has been made for future improvements in longevity by using the new CMI 2020 Core projections with
along term rate of mprovement of 1.5% per annum for men and 1.25% per annum for women. Applying such tables results iy an
average expected longevity of between 86.5 years and 88.1 years for men and between 82.0 years and 90.4 years for women for
those reaching 65 over the next 20 years.
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22 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued
¢} UK Defined benefit pension scheme - [AS 19 continued
(it} Amounts recognised in consolidated income statement

Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Past service cost 1 -
Net interest expense on delined benefit obligation 8 14
Total expensc recognised in the mcome statement 9 14

On 20 November 2020, the High Gaurt issued a judgement in relation to histerical transfer values mpacted by Guaranteed Minimum

Pensions (GMPs) equalisation in the Lioyds Banking Group's defined benefits pension schemes. This judgement is in addition to
an earlier judgement on unequal GMPg In October 2018, We estimate that this wil ncrease the kability by £1m, and theretare have

recorded this as a past service cost in the current penod.

(iii) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income:

Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation — actuanal gains # (losses) ansing from:
Changes in demographic assumphions 4 93
Changes in financial assumplions {70) {13868
Expenence adustiments 17 146)

Remoeasurement of schemae assets:

Actual retlrm on plan asscts (excluding amounts included i net interest exponsat 87 86
Cumudlative actusnal gain / (105s) 30 13

For the year ended 2 May 2020, amounts recognised in ather comprehensive income included amounts ansing from changes in
demographic and membership modeling estimales identfied from the full actuarial valuation of the Scheme as at 31 March 2019,
Changes in demographic assumpticns ncluded gaing of C37m arising from the updaie of pensicner longevity assumptions by using
the rew CMt 2018 Core projections. Experience adjustments included logses of £58m to align modelling of future liabilities with

updated membership data used for the actuanal valuation at 31 March 2019,

(iv) Amounts recognised in the consolidated halance sheet

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Presant value of defined benefit obhgations {1,885) 11850
Fair val.e of plan assets 1,403 1.200
Net cohigation (482) 15508
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22 Retirement and other post-employment henefit obligations continued
¢} UK Defined benefit pension scheme — 1AS 19 continued
{iv) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet ~orinusd
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation:
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Opening chligation 1,850 1775
Past servics cost 1 -
Interest cost 29 45
Remeasurements in other comprehensive incomea - acluarial (gains) / losses arising from changes in:
Demographic assuimptions 4 [33)
Financial assumpticns 70 136
Expericnce adjustments {17) 48
Benells paid {52} 159)
Closing cbligation 1,885 1.850

The wesghted average maturity profile of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 18 20 years (2019/20: 21 years).
comphsing an average matunty of 25 years (2019/20: 25 years) for deferred members and 12 years (2019/20: 13 years) for pensioners.

Changes in the far value of the scheme assets:

1 May 2May

2021 2020

£m £m

Cpening far value 1,300 1196
Interest INcome 21 31
Employor special contnbutions 47 AG

Remeasurements in oiher comprehensive income:

Actual return on plan assets (excluding interest income) 87 26

Benefts pad (52) 159}
Closing far value 1,403 1.300
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22 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued
¢) UK Defined benefit pension scheme — IAS 19 continued

(iv} Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet cor trced

Analysis cf scheme assets:

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Multi-asset credit funds - Listed 125 133
- Unlisted 176 151

Private equity - Unlisied 18 1
Corporate bonds - Listed 10 108
Other credit linked funds” - Ligted 345 355
- Unligtod 41 8

Liabilty drivan invesiments {LDIs')* - Listed 104 855
— Uriisted {43) {302
Synthetic couty” - Unlsted 499 1243
Cash and cash instrumeants - Listed - 1
- Unlisted 27 -

Other - Urlisted 1 1
1,403 1,300

Trese Asse's 2'e marayges 10gee as patof ore mesir oot oo i

The table above provides the market value of the Scheme's assets spiit into key categories as at 1 May 2021, The Scheme's nvestment
strategy 1S to:

* gain economic exposure 1o equity markets equivalent to a third of its assets through derivatives:
e invest athird of its assets in credit markets; and
* use athird of its assets to hedge inflation and nterest ratg risk.

The Scheme invests part of its assets in a bespoke fund to acnieve this strategy. The fund consists of a synthetic equity portfclic.
a credit portfolio and a liability hedging partfolio. The synthetic equity portiolic uses equity total return swaps and equity futures 1o
provide 8coNamIc xposure 10 a range of equity markets while the cradit porticlio provides economic exposure o short duration
global credit. Tre objectwe of the lability hedging portfolio is to hedge the Scheme’s llabilities aganst inflation and nterest rate risk
up to the value of the Scheme's assets.

In the fair value hierarchy. isted investments are categonsed as level 1. Unlisted investments necluding urdisted LDIs and synthetic
eguity] relate to denvatives, which are categorsed as level 2, and private credit and privale eguity funds which are calegornsed as
leve’ 3. Private credit investmenrts are valued by aggregating brd and offer quates from brokers where this information is available.
If this information s not availabie, Investments are valued at amortised cost, with provision forimparment where approgriate.
Prevate equity fund valuatons are based on the last aucited accounts of each nvesiment plus any known maovements includirg
dstributions since the last audited accounts.

The investment strategy of the Scheme 15 determired by tre ndependent Trusless through advice provided by an independent
investment consultant. The Trustee's objective 1s to achieve an above average long ‘erm return on the Scheme’s assets from a
mixture of capial growir and ncome, whilst managing Nvestment sk and ensunrg tre strategy remains within the gudelines

set out In the Pensions Act 1995 and 2004 and tre Scheme's starement of nvestment principles. In setting the strategy. the nature
ard duration of the Scheme's habilities are taken into accoun:, ensuring that an ntegrated approach 1s taken 1o investmert rsk
and both short term and long term funding recurrements. Tre Scherme mvests na civerse range of asset ciasses as set oLt above
with matching assets primarly compnsing hoidings in inflation Lnked gilts, corporate bords and labilty dnver investmenrts.
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22 Retirement and other post-employment henefit obligations continued
¢} UK Defined benefit pension scheme - 1AS 19 continued
{iv} Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet cortinued

To reduce volatiiity risk a liability driven investment [LDI) strategy forms part of the Trustee’s management of the UK defined benefit
scheme’s assets, Including government bonds, corporate bonds and denvatives. Repurchase agreements are entered into with
counterparties to better offset the scheme's exposure to inlerest and inflation rates, whilst remawning invester! in assats of A similar
risk profile. Inlerest rate and inflation rate dervatives are also employed to compiement the use of fixed and index-linked bonds in
matching the profile of the scheme’s liabilities.

Actual returin on the scheme assets was a gain of £87m i2019/20: gain of £86m).

(v} Sensitivities

The vaiue of the UK defined bengflit pension scheme assets is sensitive 1o market conditions. Changes in assumptions used for
determining retrement benefit costs and habithes may have a material impact on the 2020/21 income staternent and the balance
sheet. The main assumptions are the discount rate. the rate of inflation and the assumed mortality rate. The following table provides

an estimate of the potential mpacts of each of these vanables If applied to the current year consolidated income statement and
balance sheet.

Net finance costs Net deficit
Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May 1May 2 May
2021 2020 2021 2020
£m £m £m £m
Positive / (negative) eftect
Discount rate: 0.5% increase 1 3 179 184
Inflation rate: 0.5% increase 2 A (147) s
Mortality rate: 1 year increase (1} (2 (75) {7)

© Tre rarease necherz bena’ s prosdes 10 mamne s o relremon s sibeect ' an et il on nan,

The sensitrvity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined bereft obligaton as it 1s
unlikely that the changes in assumptions would occur inisolation of one anather as some of the assumptions may be correlated.

d) Other post-employment benefits — IAS 19
The Group cffers other post-employment benefits to employees in overseas terntories, N particular in Greece. These benefits are

unfunded. At 1 May 2021 the net obligation in relation to these benefits was £5m (2018/20: £5m) which is included in trade and other

payables.

23 Share capital, retained earnings and reserves
a) Share capital

1 May 2 May 1 May 2 May

2021 2020 2021 2020

million million £m £m

Authorised, allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 0.1p cach 1,166 1162 1 1
1 May 2 May 1 May 2 May

2021 2020 2021 2020

million million £m fm

Ordinary shares of 0.1p each in igsue at the begnning of the penod 1,162 1160 1 1
lssued during the period 4 2 - -
Ordinary shares of 0.1p each inissue at the end of the penod 1,166 1162 1 1

During the year ended 1 May 2021, 4,098,442 (2019/20: 2,149 777} crdinary shares with noninal valug of 0.1p each wera issued for
consideration at nominal value (2019:20: at nominal value) to satisfy awards under the Group's share option schemes.

189



190

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report & Accounts 2020/21

NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

23 Share capital, retained earnings and reserves continued
b) Retained earnings and reserves

Moverments in retained earnings and reserves auring the reported periods are presented in the consolidated statement of changes
in eguity.

Movements within the individual reserves are as folows:

Investmentis Investment
Hedging revaluation in own share Translation Demerger
reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
£m fm £m £m £m £m

Az at 27 Aped 2019 11 18 1) g (7503 (713}
Other comprehensive income and
expense recognised dirsctly in equity 38 L) - 39 - ]
Amounts transterred 1o the carrying value
of inventory purchased durng tbe year “an - - - (41
Purchase of own shares - 12} - - 12
Asat 2 May 2020 8 10 {13} 130 {750} 1775)
Other comprehensive incorne and
expense recognised directly in equity {40) 8 - 46 - 14
Amounts transferred 1O the carrying value
of inventory purchased dunng the vear 24 - - - - 24
Amounts transferred to accumulated profits - {18} 4 - - {14}
Purchase of own sharos - - {13} = - (13)
Asat 1 May 2021 {8) - (22) 16 {750) (764}

The hedging reserve 15 used to recognise the effective portion of gains or losses on derivatives that are designated and qualify

as cash flow hedges. Amounts are subsequently either transferred to the inibal cost of inventory or reclassified to profit or loss
as appropriate.

The nvestments revaluation reserve represents changes in the fair value of investments in listed shares which the Group has elected
10 classify as FYTOCH These changes are accumulated within the mvestments revaluation reserve. and amaounts are transferred
from this reserve to accumulated profitss when the isted shares are sold. As further disclosed in note 13. the Groug disposed of

s investment in Isted shares during the period with the cumulative change in far value being transferred to accumulated profits
follewing this disposal.

The nvastment in own shares reserve 1s used 1o recognise the cost of shares held by the EBT. When shares are issued by the EBT
to satisfy employee share awards, the cost of these shares 1s transferred to accumulated profits.

The translation reserve accumulates exchange differences arising on tfranslaton of foreign subsidianes which are recognised in
other comprehensive mcome. The cumulative amount 1s reclassified to accumulated profits when the related net irvestment 1s
disposed of.

The demerger resérve arose as part of the demerger of the Group from TalkTalk in 2010
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24 Equity dividends
1 May 2 May
201 2020
£m £m
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity shareholders in the period
-on ordinary shares of 0.1p each
Final dwidend for the year ended 27 Apnil 2019 of 4.50p per ordinary share - 52
Interim dividend 1or the year ended 2 May 2020 of 2.25p per ardinary share - 26
- 78

The following distnibution 1s proposed but has not been effected at 1 May 2021 and is subject to sharehoiders’ approval at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting:

£m

Fimal dividend for the year ended 1 May 2021 of 3.00p per ordinary share 34

The payment of this dividend will not have any tax conseguences for the Group.

25 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale
There have been no additional operations classified as discontinued during the year ended 1 May 2021. The following were clagsified
as discontinued in previous years and have continued to incur costs and cash flows In 1hé current financial year:

honeybee

No profit or loss has been recognised in relation to the d'spesal of the honeybee operation in the current or comparative pariod.

Spain
On 29 September 2017, the Group completad the disposal of The Phone House Spain S.L.U. Connected World Services Europe

S.L. and Smarthouse Spain S.A., which fogether represented the trading cperations in Spain. For the year ended 1 May 2021,
a L2m credit was recognised in refation 1o the reversal of previcusly held prowisions no longer reguired.

Other

During the prior year, VAT assessments were 1ssued for histarical periods relating to the disposed Phonghouse Germany business.
These assessments fell under warranties given as part of the sale agreement and as such, the full amount was provided for with a
charge of £6m being recognised. The claim was subsequently settled within the year ended 1 May 2021 resuiting in the release of
£5m. reducing the provision to nil.

As a result of the settlement of the Phonehouse Germany set out above. the Group does not expect any further warranty claims in
respact of tax nsks i territories within which the legacy Carphong group used to operate. As such, £5m has been released dunng
the year.

For the year ended 2 May 2020 an additional £4m credit was recognised following the release of provisions relating to other legacy
European Carphone operations which are now in fiquidation.
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25 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale continued

a) Profit / (lass) after tax from discontinued operations

Year ended 1 May 2021

honeyhee Spain Other Total

£m £m £m £m

Revenue - - - -

Expenses - 2 5 7
Profit before tax - 2
Incoma tax - "

- 2 10 12

Year ended 2 May 2020

honeybee Spain Other Total

£m £m £m £m

Revenue - - - -

Expenses - - 12 2)

lLoss bafore tax - - 12 2)

Income tax - ~ _ _

- - 2 (2]

b} Cash flows from discontinued operations

The net cash flows incurred by the discontinued operaton dunng the year are as follows. These cash flows are included within the

consolidated cash flow statement:

Year ended 1 May 2021

honeybee Spain Other Total

£m £m £m £m
Cperating actwities - - 3 (3)
Investing activities 2 - - 2
- (] (1

Year ended 2 May 2020

honeybee Spain Other Total

£m £m £m £m

Operating activities . - i1) ]
Investing activities 2 - - z

2

il

1
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26 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments

Financial instruments that are measured at fair value in the iinancial statements require disclosure of fair value measurements
by level based on the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

¢ level 1 - quoted pnces lunadjusted) in active markets far identical assets and liabilties;

e Level 7 —inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the agset or liabiity either directly
ithat 1, as prices) or indirectly (that 1s, denved from pricesy; and

+  Level 3 —inputs for the asset or lability that are not based on observable market data ithat 1s, unobservable inputs).

Listed investrments held are categorised as level 11 the fair value higrarchy and are valued based on quoted bid prices in an active
market.

Contingent consideration s categonsed as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy as the valuation regurres the use of significant
unobservable inputs. An explanation of the valuation methodologies and the inpuis to the valuation model is provided in note 18.
The impact of Covic-19 has had no material impact on the fair value of contingent consideration.

The significant inputs required to fair value the Group's remaining financial instruments that are measured at fair value on the
balance shest, being dervative financial assets and fiabilities. are observable and are classified as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.
There have also been no transfers of assets or liabilities between levels of the fair value hierarchy.

Farr values have been arrived at by discounting future cash flows (where the impact of discounting 1s material), assuming no earty

redemption. or by revalumg forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to period end market rates as appropriate 10
the instrument.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and habilites recorded at amertised cost and ther far valug are
not materially different.

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets, habilites and derivative financial instruments are as follows;

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Investments - 10
Cash and cash equivalents 175 660
Trade and other receivables excluding denvative financial assets: 450 310
Derivative financial assets’ 24 76
Derivative financial liabilties 42) 152)
Tracle and other payables (1,799) 11.509)
Contingent consicleration 2 13)
Loans and other borrowings (6) 1864

v Held at far va ue icugt Cimer sorprehens oo orooro

ol gt ar vsed Los”

Rl at fa rcaus trguge ceolit nnass,
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26 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group has forward foreign exchange contracts and cash that are subject to enforceable master netting arrangernents and cash
poocling arrangements that do not meel the 1AS 32 cntena for offset in balance sheet

{i) Financial assets

1 May 2021
Net amounts of Financial
Gross amounts  financial liabilities financial assets ingtruments not
of recognised presented in the set off in the
financial assets balance sheet balance sheet Net amount
£m £m £m £m
Forward foraign exchangs contracts” 24 24 {23) 1
Cash and cash eqguivalents 175 175 {6) 169
199 199 (29} 170
2 May 2020
Net amounts of Financial
Gross amounts financial liabilities financial assets instruments not
of recognised presented in the set off in the
financial assets balance sheet balance sheet Net amount
£m £m £m £m
Forward foregn exchange contracts® 76 Iis) (39 37
Cash and cash equivalents 660 660 1540) 120
736 736 (579 157
(i} Financial liahilities
1 May 2021
Net amounts of Financial
Gross amounts financial assets financial liabilities instruments not
of recognised presented in the setoffin the
financial liabilities balance sheet balance sheet Net amount
£m £m £m £m
Forward foreqn exchange contracts” (42) 42) 23 (19)
Overdrafts € (6) 6 -
48) 48) 29 (19)
2 May 2020
Net amounts of Financial
Gross amounts financial assets financial liabilities instruments not
of recognised presented in the set offin the
financial liabilities balance sheet balance sheet Net amount
£m £m €m £m
Forward foreign exchange contracts’ Hovey 157) 33 113)
Overdraits 1540 1540 540 -
{592 1532} 79 113
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26 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued
a) Financial risk management policies

The Group's activities expose it to certain financial risks including market nsk (such as foreign exchange rsk and interest rate risk;,
credit nsk and liquidity risk. The Group's treasury function, which operates under treasury policies approved by the Board, uses
certain financial nstruments to mitigate potentially adverse effects on the Group's financial performance from these risks. These
financial instruments consist of bank loans and deposits. spot and forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange swaps
and interest rate swaps,

Throughout the penod under review, N accordance with Group policy, no speculative use of derivatives, forelgn exchange or ather
mstruments was permitied. No contracts with embedded derivatives have been identified and, accordingly, no such derivatives have
been accounted for separately.

b) Foreign exchange risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions that are denominated in foreign currencies and as a consequence has exposure 1o
axchange rate fluctuations. These expasures primaridy ariga from inventory purchases, with mast of the Group's exposure being
to Euro and US Dollar fluctuations. The Group uses spot and forward currency contracts to mitigate these exposures, with such
centracts designed to cover exposures ranging from one month to one year,

The translation nsk on convetting overseas currency profits or losses 1s not hedged and such profits or kosses are converted into
Sterling at average exchange rates throughout the vear. The Group's principal translaticn currency exposures are the Furo and
Norwegian Krone.

At 1 May 2021, the total notianal principal amount of cutstanding currency comtracts was £2.872m (2012/20: £2, 201m) and had a
net far valug of £18m liability 12019/20: £24m asset). Monetary assets and labilities and foreign exchange contracts are sensitive to
movements in foreign excharige rates.

There is no impact from the movement in foreign exchange rates on the Group's profit and loss as ali monetary assets and liabilties
i foreign currency are offsel by non-hedged dervatives or offsetting monetary assets or habilities.

This sensttivity can be analysed in comparison to year end rates fassuming alt other variables remain constant} as follows:

Year ended 1 May 2021 Year ended 2 May 2020

Effect on profit Effect on Effect on profit Effect on

before tax total equity before tax total equity

£m £m £m £m

102 movemert in the US dollar exchange rate - 13 - 13
10% movernent in the Buro exchange rate - 60 - 62
10%: movernent in the Norwegian Krone exchange rate - 30 - 30
10% maoverment 01 the Swedish Krona exchange rate - 27 - 26
10% movement in the exchange rate Danish Krone - 17 - 17

10% movement in the Chiness Yuan Offshore exchange rate - 6 - 5]
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26 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued
c) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate nsk arises primarily on ¢ash. cash equivalents and loans and other borrowings. all of which are at floating
rates of interest and which therefore expose the Group 10 cash flow interest rate risk. These floating rates are inked 1o risk free rates
and other applicable interest rate bases as approprate to the instrument and currency. Future cash flows arising from these financial
instruments depend on interest rates and penods agreed at the time of rollover. Group policy permits the use of long-term interest
rate derivatives in managmng the risks associated with movements in interest rates.

The eifect on the income statement and equity of 100 basis point movements in the interest rate for the currencies 1N which most
Group cash, cash eguivalents. lcans and other borrowings are denominated and on which the valuation of most derivative financial
instruments is based 15 as follows, assuming that the vear end positions prevail throughout the year:

Year ended 1 May 2021 Year ended 2 May 2020

Efect on Effect on Effect on Effect on

profit before total equity profit before total equity

tax increase / increase / tax increase / increase/

{decrease) {decrease) {decrease)} (decrease)

£m £m £m £m

1%, increase in the Sterling intarest rate 2 - 1 12)

d) Liquidity risk

Liguidity nsk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in mesting the cbligations associated with its financial labities that are
settled by delvenng cash or ancther financial asset. The Group manages its exposure to kguidity nsk by reviewing regularly the long
term and short term cash flow projections for the business against the rescurces avalable to i, In response to Covid-19. the Group
entered into a one year facility of £266m in Apnl 2020; this was cancelled in February 2021.

In order to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing and future developments, the Group has committed bank facilities,
excluding overdrafts repayable on demand, totalfing £551m (2019,20: £1.360m). The lower amaunt of facilities reflect strong cash
flow gerieration in inancial year ended 1 May 2021 and a lower reguirement for debt going forward. Further details of committed
borrowing facilities are shown in note 19,

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilitas and dervative assets and labilities inte refevant maturity groupings. The
amounts disclosed n the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. inchuding both principal and interest flows, assuming
that interest rates remain constant and that borrowings are paid in full in the year of matunty.

1 May 2021
In more than one
Within year but not more In more than
one year than five years five years Total
£m £m £m £m
Lease liabilities (271) (842) (534} {1,647)
Derivative inanc@al instruments — gross cash outflows:

Forward foreign exchange contracts (2,872) - - {2,872)
Derivative financial instrurents — gross cash intlows:

Farward foregn exchange contracts 2,854 - - 2,854
Laans and other borrowings 6 - - {6)
Defarred cunsideration 2) - - 2
Trade and oiher payabies (1,794) (5) - (1,799}

(2,091) {847) (534) (3,472)
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26 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued
d) Liquidity risk continued

2 May 2020
In more than one
Within year but not more In more than
one year than five years five years Total
£m £m m fm
Lease habilitics 1306 836) 1589) (1,787
Derivative financial instrumonits — gross cash outflows:

Forward foreign exchange cuntracts 12.201 - [2.2(1)
Derivative financial Instruments — gross cash inflows:

Farward foreign exchange contracts 2225 - - 2,225
Loans and other borrowings {589 1287} - 1876)
Deferred consideration i 2 - {3
Trade and other payables 11,4700 129 - (1.509)

2.342) 1.214) (589 14.145)

e) Credit risk

Credit risk is the sk of inancial ioss to the Group if a counterparty fails to meet its contractual oblgatons and arises principally
from the Group's receivables from consumers. The Group's exposure 1o credit nsk is regularty monitored and the Group's policy

is updated as appropriate.

The credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents and dervative financial Instruments are closely monitored and crediit

ratings are used in determining maximam counterparty credit nsk.

Surplus cash is invested in nvestment grade institutions using only low risk, highly liguid instruments such as overnight deposits and
money market funds. For the purposes of short term operational requiremnents in Greece, local banks which are below investment
grade are used to service short term liguidity needs. Any surplus cash in Greece is moved 1o an nvestment grade institution.

1